



Easy | Illustrated | How-To

# Microsoft® Office



**Carole Matthews, Marty Matthews, and Bobbi Sandberg** 





CAROLE MATTHEWS MARTY MATTHEWS BOBBI SANDBERG



New York Chicago San Francisco Lisbon London Madrid Mexico City Milan New Delhi San Juan Seoul Singapore Sydney Toronto Copyright © 2010 by Matthews Technology. All rights reserved. Except as permitted under the United States Copyright Act of 1976, no part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

#### ISBN: 978-0-07-163495-3

MHID: 0-07-163495-9

The material in this eBook also appears in the print version of this title: ISBN: 978-0-07-163496-0, MHID: 0-07-163496-7.

All trademarks are trademarks of their respective owners. Rather than put a trademark symbol after every occurrence of a trademarked name, we use names in an editorial fashion only, and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark. Where such designations appear in this book, they have been printed with initial caps.

McGraw-Hill eBooks are available at special quantity discounts to use as premiums and sales promotions, or for use in corporate training programs. To contact a representative please e-mail us at bulksales@mcgraw-hill.com.

Information has been obtained by McGraw-Hill from sources believed to be reliable. However, because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by our sources, McGraw-Hill, or others, McGraw-Hill does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or the results obtained from the use of such information.

#### TERMS OF USE

This is a copyrighted work and The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. ("McGrawHill") and its licensors reserve all rights in and to the work. Use of this work is subject to these terms. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act of 1976 and the right to store and retrieve one copy of the work, you may not decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer, reproduce, modify, create derivative works based upon, transmit, distribute, disseminate, sell, publish or sublicense the work or any part of it without McGraw-Hill's prior consent. You may use the work for your own noncommercial and personal use; any other use of the work is strictly prohibited. Your right to use the work may be terminated if you fail to comply with these terms.

THE WORK IS PROVIDED "AS IS." McGRAW-HILL AND ITS LICENSORS MAKE NO GUARANTEES OR WARRANTIES AS TO THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY OR COMPLETENESS OF OR RESULTS TO BE OBTAINED FROM USING THE WORK, INCLUDING ANY INFORMATION THAT CAN BE ACCESSED THROUGH THE WORK VIA HYPERLINK OR OTHERWISE, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. McGraw-Hill and its licensors do not warrant or guarantee that the functions contained in the work will meet your requirements or that its operation will be uninterrupted or error free. Neither McGraw-Hill nor its licensors shall be liable to you or anyone else for any inaccuracy, error or omission, regardless of cause, in the work or for any damages resulting therefrom. McGraw-Hill has no responsibility for the content of any information accessed through the work. Under no circumstances shall McGraw-Hill and/or its licensors be liable for any indirect, incidental, special, punitive, consequential or similar damages that result from the use of or inability to use the work, even if any of them has been advised of the possibility of such damages. This limitation of liability shall apply to any claim or cause whatsoever whether such claim or cause arises in contract, tort or otherwise.

# Contents at a Glance

Chapter 1	Stepping into Outlook	
Chapter 2	Receiving and Handling E-mail	N
Chapter 3	<b>Creating and Sending E-mail</b>	ω
Chapter 4	Managing Contacts	4
Chapter 5	<b>Scheduling and the Calendar</b>	СЛ
Chapter 6	Using Tasks	တ
Chapter 7	Using a Journal and Making Notes	7
Chapter 8	Managing Files and Folders	œ
Chapter 9	Using Forms, Labels, and Mail Merge	ပ
Chapter 10	<b>Using Outlook in Other Ways</b>	10
Index		

This page intentionally left blank

# Contents

Acknowled	gments	X
Introduction	٦	xi
Chapter 1	Stepping into Outlook         Image: Starting Outlook in Other Ways         Start Outlook         Use the Start Menu to Start Outlook         Use the Startup Wizard         Upgrade to Outlook         Exit Outlook         Image: Start Outlook         Exit Outlook         Exit Outlook         Image: Start Menu to Start Outlook         Exit Outlook         Exit Outlook         Exit Outlook         Explore Outlook         Explore He Outlook Window         Become Familiar with the Ribbon         Use Tabs and Menus         Change Views         Use the Navigation Pane         Customize the To-Do Bar         Use Outlook Today         Personalize and Customize Outlook         Work with File View         Customize the Ribbon         Customize the Ribbon         Customize the Quick Access Toolbar         Get Help         Find a Message         Customize Outlook         Setting Preferences         Update Outlook	$\begin{array}{c} & & 2 \\ & & 2 \\ & & 2 \\ & & 3 \\ & & 4 \\ & 5 \\ & & 6 \\ & & 6 \\ & & 6 \\ & & 6 \\ & & 9 \\ & & 10 \\ & & 10 \\ & & 10 \\ & & 10 \\ & & 11 \\ & & 12 \\ & & 13 \\ & & 14 \\ & & 15 \\ & & 13 \\ & & 14 \\ & & 15 \\ & & 15 \\ & & 18 \\ & & 20 \\ & & 20 \\ & & 21 \\ & & 25 \\ & & 25 \end{array}$
Chapter 2	Receiving and Handling E-mail.         Set Up E-mail.         Image: Constraint of the second	31 32 33 34 35 36 36 36 39 41 41 41

N

	Arrange Messages in a Folder	43
	Make Up Your Own Rules	45
	🎨 Manipulating the Rules	46
	Delete Messages	46
	Manage Attachments	
	💋 Archiving Messages	48
	Print Messages	48
. 3	Creating and Sending E-mail	51
0	Write Messages	52
	Create a Message	52
	Address a Message	
	Use a Contact Group	
	Add Carbon and Blind Copies	55
	Edit a Message	
	I formatting Messages	58
	Use Stationery	
	Secondiniery Including Hyperlinks	50
	Attach Files	
	Sign Messages	04
	Image: Using Signatures	65
	Use Digital Signatures	65
	Check Spelling	
	Send Messages	
	Reply to Messages	
	Forward Messages	
	Set Message Priority	71
	Request Receipts	
	Sending Messages	72
	Delay Delivery with a Rule	/2
• 4	Managing Contacts	75
4	Create Contacts	
	Add a New Contact	/8
	C Editing Contacts	81
	Copy Contacts from E-mail	81
	Create a Contact Group	
	Remove a Name from a Contact Group	
	Use Contacts	
	Add Contacts to E-mail	84
	Arrange Contacts	85
	🕄 Working with Color Categories	86
	Manage Your Contact Views	
	Find a Contact	
	Print Contact Information	
	Phone a Contact	
	See a Map for a Contact's Address	
	💋 Using Keyboard Shortcuts with Contacts	99
	Create a Mail-Merged E-mail	99

# ↔ Chapter

Chapter 5	Scheduling and the Calendar	
	Use the Calendar	
	Explore the Calendar	
	🕄 Navigating the Calendar	
	Customize the Calendar	
	🕄 Using the Navigation and Reading Panes	
	Customize Calendar Views	
	Set Up the Calendar	
	Maintain Multiple Calendars	
	Share a Calendar	
	💋 Understanding Internet Calendars	
	Use the Calendar	
	Entering Dates and Times	
	Create Appointments	
	Enter Recurring Appointments	
	Move Appointments	
	Use Reminders	
	Print Calendars	
	Plan Meetings and Request Attendance	
	Schedule a Meeting	
	Respond to an Invitation	
Chapter 6	Using Tasks	
1	Use the Task Window	
	Explore the Tasks Window	
	View Tasks	
	Q Customizing Task Settings	
	Create Tasks	
	Create a New Task from the Ribbon	
	Set Recurring Tasks	
	Categorize a Task	
	Assign a New Task	
	Recepting or Declining a Task Assignment	
	Make a Task Private	
	Manage Tasks	
	Mark a Task as Complete	
	Choose to Not Display a Completed Task	
	Delete a Task	
	Rename a Task	
	Q Linking a Task to a Contact	
	Create Status Reports	
	Work with Follow-up Flags	
	Add a Flag to an Existing Task	
	Set a Quick Click Flag	
	Work with the To-Do Bar	
	Set the To-Do Bar to Show Only Tasks	
Chapter 7	Using a Journal and Making Notes	
'	Explore the Journal	
	Locate the Journal Icon	
	Explore the Journal	
	· ·	

## 

တ

🕄 Setting Up the Journal	
Add a Journal Entry	
Change a Journal Entry	
Delete a Journal Entry	
Move a Journal Entry in the Timeline	
Attach Contacts to Journal Entries	
Q Viewing Journal Entries	159
Assign a Category to a Journal Entry	159
Print Journal Entries	160
Make Notes	
Find the Notes Folder	
Create Notes in Another Outlook View	
Add Notes in the Notes View	
Change the Note Icon Size	
Setting Up Notes	165
Delete a Note	
Categorize Notes	
Categorize Notes in Other Outlook Areas	105
🕄 Using Notes in Other Outlook Areas	100
Organize Notes by Category/Color Forward a Note	167
View Notes	
Print Notes	170
Managing Files and Folders	171
Managing Files and Folders	171
Work with Folders	1/1
Create a Normal Folder	
Create a Search Folder	
	4 50
🕄 Copying and Moving Folders	
Copying and Moving Folders Rename Folders	173 174
Copying and Moving Folders     Rename Folders     Delete Folders	173 174 174
Copying and Moving Folders Rename Folders Delete Folders Set Folder Properties	173 174 174 174
Image: Copying and Moving Folders         Rename Folders         Delete Folders         Set Folder Properties         Manipulate Files	173 174 174 174 175
Image: Copying and Moving Folders         Rename Folders         Delete Folders         Set Folder Properties         Manipulate Files         Image: Opping and Moving Files	
<ul> <li>Copying and Moving Folders</li> <li>Rename Folders</li> <li>Delete Folders</li> <li>Set Folder Properties</li> <li>Manipulate Files</li> <li>Copying and Moving Files</li> <li>Delete Files</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Copying and Moving Folders</li></ul>	173 174 174 174 175 176 176 176
<ul> <li>Copying and Moving Folders</li></ul>	

00	Chapter 8
----	-----------

O Chapter 9

🐯 Creating and Using a Template	
Publish a Form	
Use a Custom Form	
Selecting Contacts	
Perform a Mail Merge	
Prepare Contacts	
Prepare a Mail Merge Document in Word	
Perform a Mail Merge	
Print Labels	
Print Envelopes	
1	
Chapter 10 Using Outlook in Other Ways	
Use Instant Messaging with Outlook	
Set Up Instant Messaging	212
Respond to an Instant Message and Chat	
Implement RSS Feeds	
Locate and Subscribe to RSS Feeds	
Read and Work with RSS Articles	
👧 Organizing RSS Articles	
Transfer RSS Feeds	
Cancel an RSS Feed	
Use Other Extensions of Outlook	
Use the Office Clipboard	
🍕 Using Microsoft Word Features	
Create Electronic Business Cards	230
Index	235

# **About the Authors**

**Carole** and **Marty Matthews** have been connected to computers for over 35 years. During that time, they have been on all sides of software products: as programmers and systems analysts, and as managers and founders and co-owners of a software company. They have authored or co-authored more than 70 books. Titles include *Windows 7 QuickSteps, Microsoft Office Word 2010 QuickSteps, Dynamic Web Programming: A Beginner's Guide, Photoshop CS4 QuickSteps, and Microsoft Office PowerPoint 2010 QuickSteps.* 

Carole and Marty live on an island in Puget Sound in Washington State with a very old cat. They have one son, Michael.

**Bobbi Sandberg** has been involved with computers and accounting for five decades. Her extensive background combined with her ability to explain complex concepts in plain language has made her a popular instructor, speaker, and consultant. Bobbi has been a CPA and was a geek long before it was popular. She is the co-author of *Quicken 2007 Personal Finance Software QuickSteps*. Currently semi-retired, she lives on an island surrounded by deer, chipmunks, and trees—and has at last count, 23 computers in various stages of operation.

# **Acknowledgments**

This book is a team effort of truly talented people. Among them are:

**Roger Stewart**, sponsoring editor, believed in us enough to sell the series and continues to stand behind us as we go through the third edition. Thanks, Roger!

Joya Anthony, acquisitions coordinator, always a friendly and positive voice from McGraw-Hill, has made sure that the manuscript and art are intact and people have what they need. Joya is often the silent hand that makes things happen. Thanks, Joya!

Janet Walden, editorial supervisor, and Harleen Chopra, project manager, greased the wheels and straightened the track to make a very smooth production process. Thanks, Janet and Harleen!

**Lisa McCoy**, copy editor, added greatly to the readability and understandability of the book while always being a joy to work with. Thanks, Lisa!

**Madhu Prasher**, proofreader, has carefully gone through each page, catching errors no one else could see, always keeping the integrity of the book intact. Thank you, Madhu!

**Valerie Perry**, indexer, who adds so much to the usability of the book, and does so quickly and at the last moment. Thanks, Valerie!

# Introduction

*QuickSteps* books are recipe books for computer users. They answer the question, "How do I..." by providing a quick set of steps to accomplish the most common tasks with a particular operating system or application.

The sets of steps are the central focus of the book. QuickSteps sidebars show how to quickly perform many small functions or tasks that support the primary functions. QuickFacts sidebars supply information that you need to know about a subject. Notes, Tips, and Cautions augment the steps; they are presented in a separate column so as not to interrupt the flow of the steps. The introductions are minimal rather than narrative, and numerous illustrations and figures, many with callouts, support the steps.

*QuickSteps* books are organized by function and the tasks needed to perform that function. Each function is a chapter. Each task, or "How To," contains the steps needed for accomplishing the function, along with the relevant Notes, Tips, Cautions, and screenshots. You can easily find the tasks you need through:

- The table of contents, which lists the functional areas (chapters) and tasks in the order they are presented
- A How To list of tasks on the opening page of each chapter
- The index, which provides an alphabetical list of the terms that are used to describe the functions and tasks
- Color-coded tabs for each chapter, or functional area, with an index to the tabs in the Contents at a Glance section (just before the table of contents)

# Conventions Used in this Book

*Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps* uses several conventions designed to make the book easier for you to follow:

- A 🐼 or a 💋 in the table of contents and in the How To list in each chapter references a QuickSteps or QuickFacts sidebar in a chapter.
- **Bold type** is used for words or objects on the screen that you are to do something with—for example, "click the **File** button, and click **Print**."
- *Italic type* is used for a word or phrase that is being defined or otherwise deserves special emphasis.
- <u>Underlined type</u> is used for text that you are to type from the keyboard.
- SMALL CAPITAL LETTERS are used for keys on the keyboard, such as ENTER and SHIFT.
- When you are expected to enter a command, you are told to press the key(s). If you are to enter text or numbers, you are told to type them.

This page intentionally left blank

## How to...

- 🖏 Starting Outlook in Other Ways
- Use the Start Menu to Start
   Outlook
- Use the Startup Wizard
- Upgrade to Outlook
- Exit Outlook
- Reviewing Versions of Office 2010
- Explore the Outlook Window
- Become Familiar with the Ribbon
- Use Tabs and Menus
- Change Views
- Use the Navigation Pane
- Customize the To-Do Bar
- Use Outlook Today
- Work with File View
- Customize the Ribbon
- Customize the Quick
   Access Toolbar
- Obtain Help
- Find a Message
- Set Preferences
- Update Outlook

# Chapter 1 Stepping into Outlook

When someone mentions Outlook, the first thought is generally the sending and receiving of e-mail. Outlook does handle e-mail quite competently, but it also does a lot more, including managing contacts, scheduling activities, tracking tasks, keeping a journal, and using notes. Outlook also provides the means to collaborate with others, it can be used with and from other applications, and can link to and synch up with both a team Web site using Windows SharePoint Services, and with a smart cell phone or PDA (personal digital assistant).

In this chapter you will familiarize yourself with Outlook; see how to start and leave it; use the windows, panes, ribbons, toolbars, and menus in Outlook; learn how to get help; and find out how to customize Outlook. N

ω

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

ഗ



In addition to using All Programs on the Start menu,

UICKSTEPS

STARTING OUTLOOK IN

**OTHER WAYS** 



If you don't see Outlook on the Start menu, click All Programs, scroll down and click Microsoft Office, rightclick Microsoft Outlook 2010. and click Pin To Start Menu. Once the Outlook icon is on Start menu, you need only to open the Start menu and click the Outlook icon to start it.

Continued . .

# Start Outlook

1

How you start Outlook depends on how it was installed and what has happened to it since its installation. In this section you'll see a way to start Outlook and some alternatives; you'll see how to use the Startup Wizard and how to upgrade from several other e-mail packages. You'll also see how to exit Outlook.

## Use the Start Menu to Start Outlook

If there are no other icons for or shortcuts to Outlook available on your desktop, you can always start Outlook using the Start menu.

- 1. Start your computer if it is not already running, and log on to Windows if necessary.
- 2. Click Start 👩. Click All Programs, scroll down and click Microsoft Office, and click Microsoft Outlook 2010, as shown in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1: The foolproof way to start Outlook is through the Start menu.

S

ယ

ດ

00

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

00

6

# STARTING OUTLOOK IN

## **OTHER WAYS** (Continued)

## CREATE A SHORTCUT TO START OUTLOOK

An easy way to start Outlook is to create a shortcut icon on the desktop, and then double-click it to start the program.

Click Start, click All Programs, click Microsoft Office, right-click Microsoft Outlook 2010, click Send To, and click Desktop (Create Shortcut).

Send to	۰ 🔒	Compressed (zipped) folder
Cut		Desktop (create shortcut)
Copy		Documents

#### **USE THE TASKBAR**

Depending on the version of Windows that you have, you can place an Outlook shortcut on the taskbar at the bottom of your screen in two different ways. In Windows XP and Vista, you can place the Outlook shortcut in the Quick Launch toolbar, or in Windows 7 you can pin the shortcut to the taskbar itself.

#### **USE THE QUICK LAUNCH TOOLBAR**

In Windows XP and Vista, the Quick Launch toolbar is a small area on the taskbar next to the Start button. You can add an Outlook icon on the Quick Launch toolbar and use it to start Outlook. If your Quick Launch toolbar is not visible, open it and add an Outlook icon there.

- If you don't see a Quick Launch toolbar, right-click a blank area of the taskbar, click **Toolbars**, and click **Quick Launch**. The Quick Launch toolbar is displayed.
- Click Start, click All Programs, click Microsoft Office, and drag the Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 icon to where you want it on the Quick Launch toolbar.

To start Outlook, click the icon on the Quick Launch toolbar. *Continued* . . .

## **Use the Startup Wizard**

The first time you start Outlook on either a new computer with Office 2010 or a new installation of Office 2010, the Outlook 2010 Startup Wizard will open with the Outlook 2010 Startup screen.

- 1. Click Next. Accept the default response of Yes to configure an e-mail account, and click Next.
- 2. Type your name, e-mail address, and password. Then retype the password. Click Next.
- 3. E-mail configuring will take several minutes. Click Next for both an encrypted account and one that is unencrypted. If necessary, click Manually Configure Server Settings, click Next, click Internet E-mail, click Next, enter the information provided by your Internet mail provider, and click Next.
- 4. When the configuration has finished, you will see a dialog box showing the steps that were taken and the results, as shown in Figure 1-2. Click Finish. The wizard will close and Outlook will open. See "Explore Outlook" later in this chapter.

inline seal	rch for your server settings		×.
onfiguring			
Ionfiguring	e-mail server settings. This might take several minutes:		
~	Establish network connection		
~	Search for server settings (unencrypted)		
-	Log on to server and send a test e-mail message (unencrypted)	<b>,</b>	
	onfigure server settings		Add another account
Manually c			

#### Figure 1-2: You will see this message when your e-mail setup has successfully completed.

# 

## STARTING OUTLOOK IN OTHER WAYS (Continued)

## **PIN OUTLOOK TO THE TASKBAR**

In Windows 7, you can pin an Outlook icon to the taskbar where it will remain to be restarted after you have shut the program down. You may have noticed in pinning Outlook to the Start menu that you could also choose to pin it to the taskbar. Another way to accomplish this is after you have started Outlook.

 Start Outlook in any of the ways already described. Once Outlook is running, its icon will appear on the taskbar.



2. Right-click the Outlook icon on the taskbar, and click Pin This Program To Taskbar.

Outlook is started by clicking the icon on the taskbar

# NOTE

If you have been running another e-mail program such as Outlook Express, Windows Mail, or Windows Live Mail, and then install Outlook, you may see a message when you run the Outlook 2010 Startup Wizard asking if you want to upgrade from your other e-mail program and if you want to import your messages and addresses. See "Upgrade to Outlook."

TIP

You can save the Import Summary report by clicking Save In Inbox.

- If you have been using another e-mail program, you'll be asked if you want to make Outlook 2010 your default e-mail program. If you do (this is recommended), click Yes.
- 6. If you are asked if you want to add an Outlook Connector account and you have a Web-based e-mail account on Google mail, Hotmail, or Yahoo!, click Next; enter your e-mail address, password, and name you want to use; and click OK.

## **Upgrade to Outlook**

If you have been using Outlook 2003 or 2007, Outlook 2010 should automatically locate your previous message and contact files and move them over to it. You cannot have two versions of Outlook on your computer, so Outlook 2010 will uninstall your previous version and pick up your old files.

If you have been using Outlook Express, Windows Mail, or Windows Live Mail and you install Office 2010, you may be asked if you want to upgrade from your

Microsoft Outlook
 Pin this program to taskbar
 Close window

previous program. If you choose to upgrade, you will be asked if you want to import your e-mail messages and addresses. Click **Yes**, and you will see the progress as the files are being imported and a summary upon completion.

If you have been using one of these programs and were not asked by the Outlook 2010 Startup Wizard if you want to upgrade, you can still import your

e-mail files into Outlook.

- Start Outlook in one of the ways described earlier in this chapter.
- Click the File tab, click
   Open, and click Import.
   The Import And Export
   Wizard will open.
- 3. Click Import Internet Mail And Addresses, and click Next.

#### Import and Export Wizard



4

S

ယ

00

N

# 

If you want to import Outlook Express, Windows Mail, or Windows Live Mail files from another computer, locate the files by starting the program on the other computer, click the **Tools** menu (if you don't see the Tools menu, press **ALT**), choose **Options**, click the **Advanced** tab (the Maintenance tab in Outlook Express), click the **Maintenance** button (skip this in Outlook Express), and click **Store Folder**. Drag across the entire address line, press **CTRL+C**, and click **OK** to close the Store Location dialog box. Then click **Start**, click **Computer**, click the computer icon at the left end of the address bar, press **CTRL+V** to copy the contents into the address bar, and click the **Go To** button or press **ENTER**. This will show you

Store Location

Change...

the e-mail files. Copy these e-mail files to the new computer, import them into your previous e-mail program on that computer, and then use the instructions under "Upgrade to Outlook" to import the files into Outlook.

If you are still having problems importing from Outlook

start your other e-mail program, click File, click Export,

click Messages, click Microsoft Exchange, click Next,

and click OK. Select All Folders and click OK. You will

see a message that your messages are being exported

Outlook, click File, click Open, click Import, select Import From Another Program Or File, and click Next. Select

and their progress. When it is done, click Finished. In

Outlook Express 4.x, 5.x, 6.x Or Windows Mail, and click Next. Your imported messages will be placed in a folder by the name \Storage Folders\Imported Folder\.

Express, Windows Mail, or Windows Live Mail after reviewing all the previous steps or the Note in this section,

TIP

 Click Outlook Express (which includes Windows Mail), and make sure that the Import Mail and Import Address Book check boxes are selected.



 Click Next, choose how you want to handle duplicates, and then click Finish.

You will be told the progress as the files are being imported and will see a summary upon completion.

## Exit Outlook

Your personal message store is located in the following folder:

C:\Users\Marty\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows Live Mail

OK

When you are done using Outlook, you can exit the program.

• Click the File tab, and click Exit.

X

Cancel

-Or-

Click Close on the right of the title bar.

–Or–

Press ALT+F4.

ဖ

0

5

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

<u></u>



## REVIEWING VERSIONS OF OFFICE 2010

Office 2010 has a newly expanded set of versions and platforms upon which Office will run. Office is now available on three separate platforms:

- Office 2010 is a resident program running on the user's desktop or laptop computer, as available for many years, generally referred to as the "desktop platform," although it also runs on laptops
- Office Web Apps accessed through a Web browser such as Internet Explorer or Firefox, which is a newly available platform with Office 2010
- Office Mobile accessed through a mobile device, such as a smart phone, is another newly available platform

Office 2010 on the desktop platform is available in four versions:

- Office Starter 2010 is available preinstalled on a new computer, includes Word and Excel, has reduced functionally, and is paid for with advertising. It can be directly upgraded to one of the following full versions of Office 2010 through a product key card purchased from a retail outlet.
- Office Home & Student 2010 is available to be installed from a DVD or via Click-To-Run over the Internet, and contains the full versions of Word, Excel, PowerPoint, and OneNote.
- Office Home & Business 2010 is available to be installed from a DVD or via Click-To-Run over the Internet, and contains Word, Excel, PowerPoint, OneNote, and Outlook.

Continued . . .

# **Explore Outlook**

Outlook uses a wide assortment of windows, ribbons, toolbars, menus, and special features to accomplish its functions. Much of this book explores how to find and use all of those items. In this section you'll see the most common features of the default Outlook window, including the parts of the window, the buttons on the principal toolbars, and the major menus. Also, you'll see how to use the Navigation pane and Outlook Today.

## **Explore the Outlook Window**

The Outlook window takes on a different appearance depending on the function you want Outlook to perform. The initial view when you first start Outlook is for handling mail, as shown in Figure 1-3. However, this view changes as soon as you start to do anything else, even create e-mail, as you'll see in this chapter. Other functions are described in their corresponding chapters. The principal features of the Outlook window are described in Table 1-1.

OUTLOOK FEATURES	DESCRIPTION
Ribbon	Contains the primary controls for Outlook.
File tab	Opens the File menu and File views for opening, saving, and printing documents, and setting the options for Outlook itself.
Control menu	Contains controls for the window itself.
Quick Access toolbar	Contains the tools you most often use.
Tabs on the ribbon	Provide access to the sets of tools and features shown on the ribbon.
Reading pane	Displays the contents of the selected message in the open folder.
Title bar	Name of the open folder; contains the Control menu for the window.
Ribbon groups	Collections of tools relating to a common function.

Table 1-1: Principal Features of the Outlook Window

N

က

ယ

S

ດ

00

# QUICKFACTS

## REVIEWING VERSIONS OF OFFICE 2010 (Continued)

 Office Professional 2010 is available to be installed from a DVD or via Click-To-Run over the Internet, and contains Word, Excel, PowerPoint, OneNote, Outlook, Access, and Publisher.

There are also two enterprise editions and one academic edition available through a volume (multicopy) license. Office Standard 2010 adds Publisher to Office Home & Business, and Office Professional Plus 2010 adds SharePoint Workspace, InfoPath, and Communicator to Office Professional. Office Professional Academic 2010 is the same as Office Professional.

This book, which covers the full version of Outlook 2010, is applicable to all the editions with a full version of Outlook.

OUTLOOK FEATURES	DESCRIPTION
Minimize button	Minimizes the window to an icon on the taskbar.
Maximize button	Maximizes the window to fill the screen. When maximized, this becomes the Restore button; clicking it returns the window to its previous size.
Close	Exits Outlook and closes the window.
Help icon	Opens the Help window with information on using Outlook.
Vinimize ribbon	Reduces the size of the ribbon so only the tabs show.
/linimize To-Do bar	Reduces the size of the To-Do bar to a half-inch wide summary.
Dialog Box Launcher	Opens a dialog box related to the group it is in.
Scroll arrow	Moves the contents of the pane in the direction of the arrow.
Scroll button	Moves the contents of the pane in the direction it is dragged.
Scroll bar	Moves the contents of the pane in the direction it is clicked.
To-Do bar	Contains the current month's calendar, appointments, and tasks.
Zoom buttons	Controls the magnification of the reading pane.
/iew buttons	Closes and opens the To-Do bar.
People pane	Displays social media and other information about the sender or receiver of e-mail, including their recent messages.
older pane	Displays the contents of the selected folder.
Vavigation pane	Contains the means for selecting what you want to do and look at.
Status bar	Displays information about what is selected.
Button bar	Additional Outlook components not in Outlook views.
utlook views	Allows selection of the major Outlook components or views.
older List	Contains the folders within the selected view.
collapse/Expand uttons	Minimizes or expands the current list, whatever it might contain.
Minimize Navigation	Reduces the size of the Navigation pane to a half-inch wide summary.

 Table 1-1: Principal Features of the Outlook Window (Continued)

10



Figure 1-3: The default Outlook window is used for handling mail.

N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

## **Become Familiar with the Ribbon**

The familiar toolbars and menus from versions of Outlook prior to 2010 are gone. The original menu structure used in earlier Office products (File, Edit, View, Tools, Help, and others) was designed to accommodate fewer tasks and features. That menu structure has simply outgrown its usefulness. Microsoft's solution to the increased number of features is the *ribbon*, the container now at the top of all Office program windows that holds the tools and features you are most likely to use (see Figure 1-3). The ribbon collects tools for a given function into groups—for example, the Respond group provides the options for responding to a message. Groups are then organized into tabs for working on likely tasks. For example, the Send/Receive tab contains groups for various sending and receiving tasks. Each Office program has a default set of tabs, with additional *contextual* tabs that appear as the context of your work changes. For instance, when you select a picture, a Format tab containing shapes and drawing tools that you can use with the particular graphic object appears beneath the defining tools tab; when the object is unselected, the Format tab disappears.

The ribbon contains labeled buttons you can click to use a given command or tool. Depending on the tool, you are then presented with additional options in the form of a list of commands, a dialog box, or galleries of choices that reflect what you'll see in your work. Groups that contain several more tools than can be displayed in the ribbon include a Dialog Box Launcher icon that takes you directly to these other choices. The ribbon also takes advantage of Office features, including a live preview of many potential changes (for example, you can select text and see it change color as you point to various colors in the Font Color gallery without finalizing the color selection).

At the left end of the ribbon is the File tab, and above the left end of the ribbon is the Quick Access toolbar. The File tab provides access to the File menu and File view, which lets you work *with* your document (such as saving it), as

The ribbon adapts to the size of your Outlook window and your screen resolution, changing the size and shape of buttons and labels. You can see the difference yourself by increasing or decreasing the size of the window. For instance, if your Outlook window is initially not maximized, maximize it and notice how the ribbon appears, and then click the Restore button on the title bar and again notice the ribbon. Drag the right border of the Outlook window toward the left, and see how the items on the ribbon adapt to reflect their decreasing real estate.

N

က

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

# 

To gain working space in the document pane, you can minimize the size of the ribbon. To do this, click the **Minimize The Ribbon** button to the left of the Help button in the upper-right corner of the ribbon's tab bar, or press CTRL+F1 to toggle the size of the ribbon. You can also double-click the active tab name. Double-click it again to restore the size of the ribbon.

			Send Receive Folde
Nev Item:			
	More Jtems 🔸		Post in This Folder Contact <u>G</u> roup Task Reguest Journal Entry
		8 2 2 3 3	Internet Fag Ch <u>o</u> ose Form Choose InfoPath Form Outlook Data <u>F</u> ile

opposed to the ribbon, which centers on working *in* your document (such as editing and formatting). The Quick Access toolbar provides an always-available location for your favorite tools. It starts out with a small default set of tools, but you can add to it. See the accompanying sections and figures for more information on the ribbon and the other elements of the Outlook window.

## **Use Tabs and Menus**

Command tabs are displayed at the top of the ribbon or in a dialog box. Menus are displayed when you click a down arrow on a button on the ribbon, a dialog box, or a toolbar. You can use tabs and menus in the following ways:

- To open a tab or menu with the mouse, click the tab or menu.
- To open a tab or menu with the keyboard, press ALT and the letter that appears in a small box for the object, tab, or menu name. For example, press ALT+F to open the File view.
- To select a command on a tab or menu, click the tab or menu to open it, and then click the command.
- The ribbon command may have a small arrow on the icon indicating that a menu exists for that option. That menu's options may contain their own submenus as well. To open them, simply move the mouse pointer over the options you want and the submenus will open with their own options.

## **Change Views**

The view you will have on the main Outlook window can be changed, depending on what you want to see. Typically, as shown earlier in Figure 1-3, you will see the Navigation pane, Folder pane, Reading pane, and To-Do bar, with the middle two related to the mail component. You may change these by clicking another Outlook view. For example, clicking Calendar view in the lower part of the Navigation pane will replace the Folder pane, Reading pane, and To-Do bar with the current day's calendar. Alternatively, in Mail view, clicking the Reading view button on the right of the status bar closes the Navigation pane and the To-Do bar to provide a lot more room to read an e-mail message.

20





## **Use the Navigation Pane**

There are three main areas of the Navigation pane, as shown in Figure 1-4:

- Folder List, at the top, is where you can select the folder you want to open.
- Outlook views, in the middle, are where you can select the view in which to work.
- Button bar, at the bottom, lets you access views not available in the Outlook views.

## **SELECT A VIEW**

The Outlook view determines which area of Outlook you will work in—for example, Mail, Calendar, or Contacts. To select a view:

Click the appropriate Outlook view.

–Or–

Click the appropriate button in the button bar (see Figure 1-4).

### **OPEN A FOLDER**

The folder that is open determines which specific documents you will work on, for example, incoming messages in the Inbox folder or notes in the Notes folder. To open a folder:

Click the appropriate folder in the Folder List.

–Or–

Click the related Outlook view or button in the button bar.

#### DISPLAY OUTLOOK VIEWS

The number of Outlook views displayed depends on the size of the Outlook window and the size of the pane dedicated to these views. To change the number of views displayed:

Drag the bottom window border up or down.

–Or–

• Drag the handle between the top view and the bottom of the Folder List.



N

ω

4

G

တ

**S** 

00

N

က

4

S

ယ

*	Show <u>M</u> ore Buttons Show Fe <u>w</u> er Buttons Na <u>v</u> igation Pane Options		
	Add or Remove Buttons		<u>M</u> ail
			<u>C</u> alendar
		8	C <u>o</u> ntacts
			Tasks 🕞
			Notes
			<u>F</u> older List
		2	Shortc <u>u</u> ts
		1	Journal

splay buttons in this order	
☑ Mail ☑ Calendar	Move Up
Contacts	Move Down
V Tasks	24
V Folder List	Font
Shortcuts	
Dournal	Reset
ОК	Cancel

		vigator	
Numb	per of mo	nth row	s:
/ Show	Appoint	nents	
🔽 Sł	how All D	ay Even	its
🔽 Sł	how Deta	ils of Pr	ivate I
Show	Task List	:	
Show	Task List		

## **DISPLAY BUTTONS**

The buttons in the button bar are just an extension of Outlook views. When you reduce the number of view bars, the options become buttons on the button bar. To change the buttons on the button bar, in addition to changing the number of Outlook views that are displayed:

**1.** Click the **Configure** button on the right of the button bar.



2. Click Add Or Remove Buttons, and then click the button you want to add or remove.

#### **REORDER NAVIGATION PANE BUTTONS**

To change the buttons or the order of the button in the Navigation pane:

- 1. Click the View tab, click Navigation Pane, and click Options. The Navigation Pane Options dialog box will appear.
- 2. Check the buttons you want on the Navigation pane.
- 3. Highlight a button, and click Move Up or Move Down to reorder the list. Click OK twice.

#### **MINIMIZE THE NAVIGATION PANE**

If you need more room to display a folder and its contents, you can close the Navigation pane.

• Click the **Minimize** button at the top of the Navigation pane to reduce its size. Click it again (now the Expand button) to restore the Navigation pane to its regular size.

1

Favorites

Click the View tab, click Navigation Pane, and click Minimize. To



# restore the Navigation pane, repeat the process, clicking **Normal** so that a check mark is in the check box.

## Customize the To-Do Bar

To customize the To-Do bar and determine what is displayed in it:

1. Click the View tab, click To-Do Bar, and click Options.

–Or–

–Or–

Right-click the To-Do Bar, and click Options in the context menu.

2. Click the check boxes next to the options you want, and click OK.

 $\sim$ 

12

ດ

ω

4

G

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

#### **MINIMIZE THE TO-DO BAR**

Minimize the To-I	)o Bar

If you need additional room for the Reading pane, you can minimize the To-Do bar.
Click the Minimize button at the top left of the To-Do bar. Click it again (now the Expand button) to restore the To-Do bar to its regular size.

–Or–

• Click the **View** tab, click **To-Do Bar**, and click **Minimized**. To restore the Navigation pane, repeat the process, clicking **Normal** so that a check mark is in the check box.



## Use Outlook Today

Outlook Today gives you a summary of the information in Outlook for the current day. You can see a summary of your messages, your appointments and meetings, and the tasks you are slated to do, as shown in Figure 1-5.

### **OPEN OUTLOOK TODAY**

If the Navigation pane is open, click **Personal Folders** at the top of the Folders List ("Personal Folders" might also be called "Outlook Data File"). If the Navigation pane is not open, click the **View** tab, click **Navigation Pane**, and click **Normal**.

*Figure 1-5:* Outlook Today provides a summary of information for the current day, such as appointments and tasks.

10

	영  쿱 ㅋ   <del>-</del>	Outlook Today Options - Microsoft	Outlook 🗖 🗖 💌
V	File Home Send / I	Receive Folder View	۵ 🚱
0	Navigation Reading To-Do Pane * Pane * Bar * Layout P	People Reminders Open in New Close Pane + Window Window All Items eople Pane Window	
	<ul> <li>Personal Folders</li> <li>Inbox (8)</li> </ul>	Customize Outlook Today Startup When starting, go dia	Save Changes Cancel
F	Drafts [1]  Sent Items  Deleted Items (1)  Solution E-mail	Messages Show me these folders: [ Calendar Show this number of days	Choose Folders     and an
	ia News Feed ia Outbox 高 RSS Feeds ig RSS Feeds	Tasks In my task list, show me:	All tasks     Today's tasks     Include tasks with no due date
	Þ		Date  then by: (none)  Ascending  Descending  Conservation
	Mail Calendar	Styles Show Outlook Today in th	his style: Standard
	Contacts		TO         TO <thto< th="">         TO         TO         TO<!--</td--></thto<>
	Reminders: 4		100% 🔿 🔍 🔶

#### **CHANGE OUTLOOK TODAY**

Click Customize Outlook Today in the upper-right corner of the Outlook Today folder. Customize Outlook Today will open, as shown in Figure 1-6.



## MAKE OUTLOOK TODAY YOUR **DEFAULT PAGE**

To display Outlook Today by default when you open Outlook:

- 1. In the Customize Outlook Today pane, opposite Startup, click When Starting, Go Directly To Outlook Today.
- 2. Click Save Changes.

name and initials. You can customize Outlook by changing the general default

customizing the ribbon, the Quick Access toolbar, the display, and other options.

settings with regard to editing, proofing, display, and other options. Many of these options are discussed in the other chapters. Here, we will look at

We'll begin by looking at Office 2010's new File view.

# Personalize and **Customize Outlook**

You can personalize Outlook, or make it your own, by changing the settings Outlook has for options such as the layout and contents of the ribbon, the tools available on the Quick Access toolbar, or your user

Figure 1-6: You can tailor Outlook Today to contain only the information you want.

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

14

ດ



Figure 1-7: File view provides information about the document and handles many file-related tasks.

## **Work with File View**

Outlook 2010 shares with the other Office 2010 programs an improved way that you can easily do many of the customization tasks, as well as access tasks that affect a total document, such as opening, closing, printing, and saving from one screen, thus avoiding the need to open several dialog boxes. This all-encompassing view is called the File view (also sometimes called the "Backstage view") since it handles many file-related tasks like saving or opening a file, an example of which is shown in Figure 1-7.

To display the File view:

- Open Outlook using one of the methods described in "Start Outlook" and "Exit Outlook" earlier in this chapter.
- Click the File tab, and then click one of the areas of interest on the left of the window.
   For example, clicking Print provides a document preview and options for printing your work.
- **3.** When finished, click the **File** tab again (or any other tab) to return to the Outlook window.

## **Customize the Ribbon**

The default ribbon consists of five tabs, including File (see Figure 1-3), each tab containing several groups and subgroups that contain related tasks. While Outlook strives to provide a logical hierarchy to all the tasks available to you, it also recognizes that not everyone finds Microsoft's way of thinking to be the most convenient and offers you the ability to change how things are organized.

Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Stepping into Outlook

15

N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

# 

N

က

4

S

0

00

ດ

You'll see two types of tabs on the ribbon. The Main tabs appear when you open a document and contain a generalized set of tools. Contextual Tool tabs appear when you are working with certain Outlook features, such as tasks, and contain specific tools for working with these features.





You can remove groups from the existing Main tabs, create new tabs and groups, and populate your new groups from a plethora of available commands and tasks.

To customize the ribbon:

 Click the File tab, and in the left pane, click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box, also in the left pane, click Customize Ribbon.
 –Or–

Right-click any tool on the ribbon, and click **Customize The Ribbon**.

2. In either case, click the Choose Commands From drop-down arrow, and click All Commands. The Customize The Ribbon view, shown in Figure 1-8, displays the list of available commands, tasks, and tools on the left and a hierarchy of tabs and groups on the right.

### **REARRANGE TABS AND GROUPS**

You can easily change the order in which your tabs and groups appear on the ribbon.

Figure 1-8: You can easily modify the tabs and groups on the ribbon and assign tools where you want them.

10

N

	2. To rearrange tabs, select the tab whose position on the ribbon you want to change, and click the Move Up and Move Down arrows on the right side of the tabs list to reposition the tab. (The topmost items in the list appear as the leftmost on the ribbon.)	с. С
	<ol> <li>To rearrange groups, click the plus sign next to the tab name to display its groups. Select the group to be moved, and then click the Move Up and Move Down arrows to the side of the tabs list to reposition the group.</li> </ol>	
	4. When finished, click <b>OK</b> to close the Outlook Options dialog box.	4
CF	REATE NEW TABS AND GROUPS	
	You can create new tabs and groups to collect your most often used tools.	
	To add a new tab from within the Outlook Options dialog box, Customize Ribbon option:	G
	1. Click <b>New Tab</b> at the bottom of the tabs list. A new custom tab and group is added to the list.	
	<ol> <li>Select the new tab, and move it where you want it (click the up and down arrows on the right as described in the previous section "Rearrange Tabs and Groups").</li> </ol>	0
	<b>3.</b> Rename the new tab and new group by selecting the item and clicking <b>Rename</b> at the bottom of the tabs list.	
	-Or-	
	Right-click the tab or group, and click Rename.	7
	4. In either case, type a new name, and click <b>OK</b> .	
	To add a new group:	
	<ol> <li>Select the tab where you want to add a new group, and then click New Group at the bottom of the tabs list. The list of all groups in that tab appears with a new custom group at its bottom.</li> </ol>	00
	<ol> <li>Rename and rearrange the group within the tab as previously described (with Rename Group, you can also select an icon to represent the group).</li> </ol>	9
	<b>3.</b> When finished, click <b>OK</b> to close the Outlook Options dialog box.	

**1.** On the Customize The Ribbon view, click the **Customize The Ribbon** down arrow on the right, and select the type of tabs (Main or Tool) that contain the groups you want to

work with.

Rename 2 X Display name: New Tab OK Cancel

Don't be afraid to experiment with your ribbon by adding tabs and groups. You can always revert back to the default Outlook ribbon layout by clicking **Reset** under the tabs list and then choosing to either restore a selected tab or all tabs.

TIP

 Reset 0
Reset only selected Ribbon tab
Reset all customizations

3

N

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

You can create a file that captures your customizations to the ribbon and the Quick Access toolbar so that you can use them on other computers running Outlook 2010. In the Outlook Options dialog box, click either Customize Ribbon or Quick Access Toolbar, click Import/Export in either view, and then click Export All Customizations. To use a previously created customization file, click Import/Export and then click Import Customization File. Depending on whether you're exporting or importing a customization file, a File Save or File Open dialog box appears that allows you to store a new file or find an existing one, respectively.

TIP



#### ADD OR REMOVE COMMANDS AND TOOLS

Once you have the tabs and groups created, named, and organized, you can add the tools you want to your custom groups. You can't add tools to an existing group.

- 1. On the Customize The Ribbon view, click the **Choose Commands From** down arrow. You will see a menu of categories of commands and tabs, such as Commands Not In The Ribbon or Tool Tabs. Choose a category of commands or tabs, or choose All **Commands** to see the full list. Select (highlight the tool by clicking it) the first tool you want to add to a custom group.
- 2. In the tabs list on the right, select the custom group to which you want to add the tool.
- 3. Click Add between the lists of commands and tabs. The command or tool is added under your group.
- **4.** Repeat steps 1 through 3 to populate your groups with all the tools you want.
- 5. If you make a mistake, remove a tool from a custom group by selecting the tool and clicking Remove.
- 6. Use the Move Up and Move Down arrows to the right of the tabs list to organize the added tools within your groups, and click OK when finished.

## **Customize the Quick Access Toolbar**

The Quick Access toolbar can become a "best friend" if you modify it so that it fits your personal way of working.

## ADD TO THE QUICK ACCESS TOOLBAR

The Quick Access toolbar should contain the commands you most commonly use. The default tools are Send/Receive and Undo. You can add commands to it if you want.

1. Click the down arrow to the right of the Quick Access toolbar, and select one of the commands on the drop-down menu to add it to the toolbar.

-Or-

Click the Quick Access toolbar down arrow, and click More Commands to view a more expansive list of Outlook tools.

-Or-

Click the File tab, click Options, and click Quick Access Toolbar.

0

ດ



# *Figure 1-9:* You can customize the Quick Access toolbar by adding to and removing from it commands for easy and quick access.



You can add a command to the Quick Access toolbar from the ribbon by right-clicking the button and choosing **Add To Quick Access Toolbar**.

In either of the last two cases, the Outlook Options dialog box appears with the Quick Access toolbar customization options, as displayed in Figure 1-9.

- 2. Open the **Choose Commands From** drop-down list, and select the source of the commands you want from the available options.
- **3.** In the leftmost list box, find and click the command you want to add to the toolbar, and then click **Add** to move its name to the list box on the right. Repeat this for all the commands you want in the toolbar.
- 4. Click **OK** when you are finished.

19

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

က

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

Remove from Quick Access Toolbar
Customize Quick Access Toolbar
Show Quick Access Toolbar Below the Ribbon
니라 Customize the <u>R</u> ibbon
Minimize the Ribbon

۵ ک ک	付 🤮 Ax 🧼	Q	
		🔹 🔎 Search 🔹	
3.Office			
	support image	s template	s
	intige	5 cempiace	,
downloads			
Getting st	arted with O	utlook 2010	
Octang st		UTOOK ZOTO	
	Getting starte	ed with Outlook 20	10
	• Outlook 2010	product team blo	g
		ic Replies when o	
	Find a messa	age or item by usir	ng Instant Sean
Browso ()	utlook 2010	support	
DIOWSCO	UTOOK ZOTO	support	
Attachm	ents	E-mail me	ssages
<ul> <li>Calendar</li> </ul>	r)	Microsoft	Exchange
Contacts		accounts	£1
<ul> <li>E-mail a profiles</li> </ul>	ccounts and	<ul> <li>Personaliz</li> <li>Views</li> </ul>	sing
promes		- views	
All Outlook		Connect	ted to Office.com

Figure 1-10: The Outlook Help window provides links to several avenues of online and offline assistance.

#### **MOVE THE QUICK ACCESS TOOLBAR**

You can display the Quick Access toolbar at its default position (above the ribbon) or directly below the ribbon using one of the following methods:

 Right-click a tool on the Quick Access toolbar or on the ribbon, and click Show Quick Access Toolbar Below The Ribbon (once located below the ribbon, you can move it above the ribbon in the same manner).

–Or–



Right-click a tool in the Quick Access toolbar, and click Customize
 Quick Access Toolbar to open the Customize The Ribbon pane. Click the Show
 Quick Access Toolbar Below The Ribbon check box in the lower-left area, and click
 OK (to return the toolbar above the ribbon, open the pane and clear the check box).

## **REARRANGE TOOLS ON THE QUICK ACCESS TOOLBAR**

You can change the order in which tools appear on the Quick Access toolbar.

- 1. In the Customize The Quick Access Toolbar pane, select from the list on the right the tool whose position you want to change.
- Click the Move Up or Move Down arrows to the right of the list to move the tool. Moving the tool up moves it to the left in the on-screen toolbar; moving it down the list moves it to the right in the on-screen toolbar.
- 3. Click OK when finished.

# **Get Help**

Microsoft provides substantial assistance to Outlook users. Outlook tailors much of the assistance offered, depending on whether you are working online or offline. If you are offline, you will get quick but more limited help. If you are or can be online, it will be slower but more comprehensive.

## **Obtain Help**

You can obtain help in Outlook using one of the following techniques.

## **DISPLAY OUTLOOK HELP**

The Outlook Help window, shown in Figure 1-10, provides links to several assistance tools and forums, including a table of contents, access to downloads,

10

contact information, and late-breaking news on Outlook. To display the Outlook Help window:	N
<ul> <li>Click the Microsoft Office Outlook Help icon on the tab bar.</li> <li>–Or–</li> </ul>	
Press F1.	ω
Either of these commands will open the Help window shown in Figure 1-10. You can also click <b>File</b> and click <b>Help</b> for a different Help window (see "Access Other Help Options" below). There, if you click <b>Microsoft Office Help</b> , you will see the window shown in Figure 1-10.	4
ASK A QUESTION	
You can quickly ask a question about Outlook using the Outlook Help window.	
1. Type your question in the text box at the top of the Help window.	(5
<ol> <li>Press ENTER or click Search. The Outlook Help dialog box will appear, as you can see in Figure 1-11. Click one of the search results, and Microsoft Office Outlook Help will open and display the requested information.</li> </ol>	J
ACCESS OTHER HELP OPTIONS	
Click the <b>File</b> tab, and click <b>Help</b> . The Support window will open, as you can see in Figure 1-12, with these options:	0
• <b>Microsoft Office Help</b> , is the same as clicking the Help icon, described previously.	
<ul> <li>Getting Started connects to the Microsoft Web site and provides information on what's new in Outlook 2010, along with tips on the basics of Outlook.</li> </ul>	7
<ul> <li>Contact Us connects to the Microsoft Web site and provides suggestions on how you can contact solution centers and computer manufacturers.</li> </ul>	
• <b>Options</b> opens Outlook Options discussed in several places in this chapter.	00
<ul> <li>Check For Updates allows you to check for and download updates for Microsoft Windows and Outlook, as described in "Update Outlook" at the end of this chapter.</li> </ul>	
Find a Message	9
No matter how many messages your e-mail folders contain, Outlook can help	
you find a specific one. You can perform instant searches for large files, related	

- 0 23 Outlook Help 📀 💿 🗭 🚯 🚮 🚔 Aš 🧼 🍳 ASK A QUEST - 🔎 Search -Import contacts Outlook Home Search results for Import contacts Back Next Import contacts from Windows Live Hotmail to Outlook Article Import your data into Business Contact Manager Article Transfer contacts between Outlook and Google Gmail Article Contacts can be exchanged between Outlook and Go... Resolve or delete duplicate contacts Article Learn how Outlook helps to prevent duplicate contac... Synchronize your Business Contacts with Outlook, SharePoint,... Article Add people to the Address Book Article Make your contacts part of the Address Book. Set up Business Contact Manager for your business Article Business Contact Manager for Outlook is flexible eno... Export your business records from Business Contact Manager Article Where does Microsoft Outlook 2010 save my information and ... Article The following is a list of locations where ollong out!... All Outlook Connected to Office.com Find a M

Figure 1-11: From the Outlook Help dialog box, you can search both online and offline Help, as well as other sources.

\_ 0

N

က

4

S

ယ

00

ດ



Figure 1-12: The Help option of the File view provides support for Outlook and Office.

messages, or messages from a particular sender. You can further qualify the search by having Outlook search only certain folders, or by specifying content for which you're searching.

## **PERFORM INSTANT SEARCHES**

Click in the search text box in the Inbox Folder pane (or whichever folder you want to search in), and type the text for which you want to search. The search

0 -



Figure 1-13: Instant Search is immediate and highly versatile for finding specific e-mail. will immediately display beneath the search text box the found messages (see Figure 1-13).

You have these options:

- Click Clear Search to clear the text box and restore the previous contents. You can enter a new search.
- Click Arrange By to change the order for search results from the context menu.
- Click Oldest/Youngest On Top to toggle the date ascending/descending sequence.
- Click Try Searching Again In All Mail Items to expand the search to additional folders.

#### **REFINE SEARCHES**

In addition to the instant search found on the Folder pane, you can use the Search Tools Search contextual tab to refine your searches.

1. Perform an Instant Search as described previously. When you complete the search, the Search Tools Search contextual tab will open with the following tab groups that can be used to refine a search:





- **Scope** lets you choose the folders you want to include in the search.
- **Refine** lets you choose the elements you want to search on. The More drop-down list provides many more elements you can search on.
- **Options** lets you repeat previous searches and open one of several dialog boxes for more sophisticated searching:
- Indexing Status displays a message box telling you the extent to which Outlook messages have been indexed.
- Locations To Search lets you choose which of your accounts you want to search.

N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6
Look for: Messages In: Inbox		Browse	box, where you define a search on multiple criteria with considerable detail.	
Messages         More Choices         Advanced           Search for the word(s):		Find Now Stop	<ul> <li>Search Options opens Outlook Options with the Search option selected. See the following section.</li> </ul>	
In: subject field only From Sent To		New Search	<ol> <li>Click your choice and type the information needed. Click OK if needed. (If your choice of option does not require a dialog box, you will not need to click OK.)</li> </ol>	
Where I am: the only person on the To line Time: none Anytime	•	9	<b>CHANGE SEARCH OPTIONS</b> You can change some of the search defaults used with Instant Search in the Outlook Options Search options	
			<ul> <li>shown in Figure 1-14.</li> <li>1. Display the Search options, either as described in the previous section or by clicking the File tab, clicking Options, and district in Computer</li> </ul>	
			clicking <b>Search.</b>	
	Outlook Options		? <b>**</b>	1
Reference tools provided with Outlook, such as a thesaurus, are available with Outlook message windows	General Mail	8	Change how items are searched with Instant Search.	
Reference tools provided with Outlook, such as a	General		Change how items are searched with Instant Search.	
Reference tools provided with Outlook, such as a thesaurus, are available with Outlook message windows	General Mail Calendar Contacts	Source	Change how items are searched with Instant Search.  Change how items are searched with Instant Search  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search Indexing Options Is Include results only from:  Current folder	
Reference tools provided with Outlook, such as a thesaurus, are available with Outlook message windows	General Mail Calendar Contacts Tasks Notes and Jou Search Mobile Language Advanced Customize Rib	Irmal	Change how items are searched with Instant Search. es Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search Indexing Options	
Reference tools provided with Outlook, such as a thesaurus, are available with Outlook message windows	General Mail Calendar Contacts Tasks Notes and Jou Search Mobile Language Advanced	Irmal	Change how items are searched with Instant Search.  Change how items are searched with Instant Search  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Change the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distribution of the Outlook stores indexed by Windows Search  Include results only from:  Distributic only from: Distributiono	

Search.

10

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

- Click Indexing Options and then click Modify to select the drives and folders to be indexed so that searches can be faster. Click OK and then Close to close both Indexing dialog boxes.
- **3.** Choose, as a default, whether to search just the currently selected folder or all folders.
- 4. Determine whether you want to change the defaults to display results as you type the search text, to limit the number of results so that the searches are faster, or to highlight the search text in results and change the highlight color.
- **5.** If you choose, deselect the default to display a message if the indexing is incomplete for a selected file. If this message is displayed, it tells you that the indexing is still in process and that results will be incomplete.
- 6. Click OK.

# **Customize Outlook**

Outlook provides a number of ways to customize both how it looks and how it operates in addition to the ribbon, Quick Access toolbar, and search customization described previously in this chapter. In this section, you'll see how to set general preferences, create a user profile, and update Outlook. Other ways to customize Outlook will be discussed in later chapters.

### **Set Preferences**

Setting preferences allows you to adapt Outlook to your needs and work style. The Outlook Options window provides access to these settings.	7
Click the <b>File</b> tab, and click <b>Options</b> to open the Options dialog box.	
SET GENERAL OPTIONS	00
The General options are displayed when you first open the Outlook Options window, as shown in Figure 1-15.	

- 1. Select the user interface options that are correct for you. You will see more how these items are used in Chapter 2, so you might want to leave the defaults at this point.
- 2. Enter the user name and initials that you want to use with Outlook.

Ways of setting preferences in each of the major areas—Mail, Calendar, Tasks, Contacts, and Notes—are discussed in the chapters that pertain to those subjects. Here, you'll see how to set general and security preferences.

10

25

General	General options for working with Outlook.		et Defau F Set Program Associations	<b>▼ 4</b> 9 St
Mail		File Edit View	Tools Help	
Calendar	User Interface options	Set associatio	ns for a program	
Contacts	Show Mini loolbar on selection 🛈	Select the extension	ns you want this program to open by defau	ult, and then click
Tasks	Color scheme: Silver	Microsoft ( Microsoft (	Corporation	
Notes and Journal	ScreenTip style: Show feature descriptions in ScreenTips	http://offic	e.microsoft.com	
Search				
Mobile	Personalize your copy of Microsoft Office	Name	Description	Current Defau
Language	User name: Marty	Extensions	E-mail Message	Microsoft Out
100.0	Initials: M	.hol	Outlook Holidays	Microsoft Out
Advanced		I mics	(Calendar File	Microsoft Out
Customize Ribbon	Start up options	.msg	Outlook Item	Microsoft Out
	Make Outlook the default program for E-mail, Contacts, and Calendar Default Progr	June oft	Outlook Item Template	Microsoft Out
Quick Access Toolbar	Peradic program for penalty, condets, and calcinat	pst	Outlook Data File	Microsoft Out
Add-Ins		Vcf	vCard File	Microsoft Ou
Trust Center		.vcs	vCalendar File	Microsoft Out
inust center		Protocols	URL:Outlook Add RSS Feed	Microsoft Out
		MAILTO	URL:MailTo Protocol	Microsoft Out
			Charles and the second s	Microsoft Out
	OK	curren	EEDS URL:Outlook Add RSS Feed	Microsoft Out
		STSSYNC	URL:Outlook Add Sharepoint Folder	
iqure 1-15: The O	utlook Options window provides a number of general preference se		URL:Outlook Add Internet Calendar	
iguie i io. Ine O	anoon opnono minuon province a number or general preference se	WEBCALS	URL:Outlook Add Internet Calendar	

Figure 1-16: File extensions help identify which program you are using and what kind of a file it is.

- **3.** Keep the **Make Outlook The Default Program For E-mail, Contacts, And Calendar** check box selected, if that is what you want.
- 4. Click Default Programs. The Set Associations For A Program dialog box will appear as you see in Figure 1-16. The default is for all associations to be selected, meaning that all files with the listed file extensions and all protocols will use Outlook. Make any desired changes, and click Save.

### **SET ADVANCED OPTIONS**

 With the Outlook Options window open, click Advanced on the left. The Options For Working With Outlook window will open (see Figure 1-17).

26

σ

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

က

4

S

ဖ





eading Pane opt	ions
Mark items as	read when viewed in the Reading Pane
Wait 5	seconds before marking item as read
Mark item as r	ead when selection changes
🕖 Single key rea	ding using space bar

2. Click **Reading Pane** to open its dialog box (Navigation pane and To-Do bar options are discussed earlier in this chapter). Select under what circumstances you want items marked as read. Choose whether to keep the default of using the SPACEBAR to iterate through messages.

27

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

G



N

က

- Ŋ
- ဖ

 $\infty$ 

ົ

# 

28

Setting up multiple users in Windows is different from setting up multiple Outlook user accounts. Each Windows user has a unique Outlook user profile with his or her folders and files. The multiple Outlook user accounts discussed in this chapter are for a single Windows user.

- **3.** Click **Browse** next to Start Outlook In This Folder to open the Select Folder dialog box. Click the folder you want displayed when you open Outlook.
- Under Send And Receive, click Send/Receive. Create or edit your e-mail accounts, and then choose how you want to perform your sending and receiving of e-mail. Click Close when you are ready.

ÊS		up contains a collection of ( cify the tasks that will be p e.	
	Group Name	Send/Receive when	L
	All Accounts	Online and Offline	New
			Edit
			Copy
			Remove
			Rename
ietting	for group "All Accounts	) in send/receive (F9),	
		matic send/receive (r9).	30 🚔 minutes
		natic send/receive every natic send/receive when ex	Land)
w	hen Outlook is Offline	Iaur send/receive when ex	iang.
		) in send/receive (F9).	
		matic send/receive every	30 🚔 minutes

- 5. Review the other options, and make any changes you want.
- 6. Click OK to close the Outlook Options window.

### ADD A NEW E-MAIL ACCOUNT

- 1. Click the **File** tab. In the File view, Info should already be selected with your account information displayed, as shown in Figure 1-18.
- 2. Click Add Account near the top. The Add New Account dialog box appears.
  - a. Type your name, e-mail address, and password twice.
  - **b.** Choose if you want to use text messaging or manually configure your server settings, and then click **Next**.



Figure 1-18: You can add, repair, change, or remove new e-mail accounts and change the folder where e-mail messages are stored.



- C. An online search will be made to verify your settings with your server. Click Next. Outlook will initially test for an encrypted mail server. If one is not found, click Next to test for an unencrypted mail server.
- **3.** When the settings have been confirmed, click **Finish**.

29

ယ

က

4

S

6

# TIP

To empty your Deleted Items folder and reduce the storage required for old items, right-click the folder, click **Empty Folder**, and click **Yes** to confirm the action. Your folder will be emptied.

# **Update Outlook**

Periodically, Microsoft comes out with updates for Office and Outlook (these are almost always problem fixes and not enhancements). You can check for available updates and download and install them from the Microsoft Web site.

- 1. Click the File tab, and click Help.
- 2. On the Support page, click Check For Updates. Your Web browser may open and connect to the Microsoft Online Web site. Then the Windows Control Panel will open to Windows Update, as shown in Figure 1-19. This will update both Windows and Office.
- 3. Click Check For Updates. Your system will be checked for any necessary updates, and you will be given the opportunity to download and install them if you choose. When you have downloaded the updates you want, close your Web browser.

Edit View Tools Help		
ontrol Panel Home	Windows Update	
heck for updates		
hange settings	A Na imparte	ant undatas ausilable
ew update history		ant updates available
estore hidden updates	37 optional up available	dates are No updates are currently selected.
pdates: frequently asked uestions	available	selected.
	Most recent check for updates:	Today at 6:42 PM
	Updates were installed:	12/14/2009 at 11:26 PM. View update history
	You receive updates:	For Windows and other products from Microsoft Update
	Find out more about free sof Click here for details.	tware from Microsoft Update.
ee also		

Figure 1-19: One of the primary reasons to check for and download Office and Windows updates is to get needed security patches.

00

ດ



# How to...

- 🖏 Getting a Gmail Account
- Get Online
- Check for E-mail
- Read E-mail
- Download Sender and Subject
   Information Only
- Filter Junk Mail
- Mark Messages as Read
   or Unread
- Change the Time for Being Read
- Flag Your Messages for Follow-up
- Arrange Messages in a Folder
- Make Up Your Own Rules
- 🖏 Manipulating the Rules
- Delete Messages
- Manage Attachments
- Archiving Messages
- Print Messages

#### <u>.</u>

G

ത

00

ഗ

0

N

# **Receiving and Handling E-mail**

Most people get Outlook so that they can send and receive e-mail. For anyone who has Internet access, e-mail has essentially replaced letter writing. As great as e-mail is, however, it's possible to get overwhelmed by the amount of mail that arrives—much of it *spam*, or anonymously mass-mailed junk. In this chapter, you'll learn how to create e-mail accounts, receive e-mail, and deal with the messages that come in.

# Set Up E-mail

Chapter 2

The Internet provides a global pipeline through which e-mail flows; therefore, you need a connection that lets you tap into that pipeline. Both local and national Internet service providers (ISPs) offer e-mail with their Internet connections. At your work or business, you may have an e-mail account over a local area network (LAN) that also connects to the Internet. You can also obtain e-mail accounts on the Internet that are independent of the connection. You can access these Internet accounts (Gmail by Google, for example) from anywhere

### **GETTING A GMAIL ACCOUNT**

Gmail by Google, one of many Internet-based HTTP services, is free, and you can access it from any Internet connection in the world, so you don't even need to own a computer. You can see the Gmail opening window in Figure 2-1. To set up a Gmail account:

- In Windows XP and Vista, click Start and click Internet. In Windows 7, click the Internet Explorer icon on the taskbar.
- 2. In your browser's address bar, type <u>www.gmail</u> .com, and press ENTER.
- 3. Click Create An Account.
- 4. Fill in all the applicable fields on the registration form. Enter the login name you want for the account, leaving out the "@gmail.com" part, and then click Check Availability to check whether the login name you want is available. Read the Google Terms of Service agreement, and click I Accept.
- Read the introductory information, and click Show Me My Account to look at your Gmail account on a browser, as shown in Figure 2-2.
- 6. When you are ready, reopen Outlook, click the File tab, and in Info view click Add Account. Enter your name, your new Gmail e-mail address (someone@gmail.com), and your Gmail password (twice); and click Next.
- When you are told that your new account has been found and set up, click Finish. Back in Outlook, your Gmail messages will appear, as shown in Figure 2-3.



Figure 2-1: A Google Gmail account gives you a large amount of free storage and allows the sending and receiving of large files.

Gmail - Inbox (2) -	tary PREP Kit 🖉 Get More Add-ons 🔻	🖓 🕶 🚮 🕶 🖃 🚔 🕶 Page 🕶 Safety	- Tools - 🔞
nall <u>Calendar</u> Docu	ments Reader Web more •	Settings	<u>Help</u>   <u>Sign ou</u>
Compose Mail	Interested in an OUTLOOK? - w	Search Mail Search the Web Show cearch Create a filte www.Chevrolet.com/Traverse - View Traverse Feature:Spons	r ored Link
Inbox (2) Starred 🙀	Archive Report spam Delete	Trene out	1 - 3 of 3
Sent Mail	Select: All, None, Read, Unrea	ad, Starred, Unstarred	
Drafts	🗄 🛅 🎲 Gmail Team	Import your contacts and old email - You	4:39 pm
	💳 🗄 🕅 🏫 Gmail Team	Customize Gmail with colors and the	4:39 pm
Logic Transition	🗐 🏦 Gmail Team	Access Gmail on your mobile phone	4:39 pm
Junk E-mail			
Personal			
Personal Travel 6 more •			
Personal Travel 6 more • Contacto			
Personal Travel 6 more •			

*Figure 2-2: Gmail's browser mail application allows you to work with your mail anywhere, with any computer.* 

N

4

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

S

00

ດ

10



To get a Gmail account, you must already have an Internet browser and a connection to the Internet. The instructions here assume you do.



Figure 2-3: In addition to seeing your Gmail in a browser window, you can see it in Outlook.

in the world. These three ways of accessing Internet e-mail—ISPs, corporate connections, and Internet e-mail—use different types of e-mail systems:

- **POP3** (Post Office Protocol 3), used by ISPs, retrieves e-mail from a dedicated mail server, and is usually combined with SMTP (Simple Mail Transfer Protocol) to send e-mail from a separate server.
- MAPI (Messaging Application Programming Interface) lets businesses handle e-mail on Microsoft Exchange Servers and LANs.
- HTTP (HyperText Transfer Protocol) transfers information from servers on the World Wide Web to browsers (that's why your browser's address line starts with "http://") and is used with Hotmail and other Internet mail accounts.

ω

4

<u></u>

ဂ

 $\infty$ 

ဖ

10

TIP

To find out where your e-mail data files are located, click the **File** tab, in the Info view that opens by default, click the **Account Settings** down arrow, and select **Account Settings** from the drop-down menu. Click the account you want to locate, and in the lower part of the Account Settings dialog box opposite Change Folder, you'll see the path and file name of the Personal Folders.

Selected account delivers new messages to the following location:

#### Change Folder Personal Folders\Inbox

in data file O:\Users\Marty\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Outlook\Outlook.pst

To remove an e-mail account, click the **File** tab, in Info view click the **Account Settings** down arrow, and then click **Account Settings** again to open the Account Settings dialog box. Click the account to select it, and then click **Remove**. Click **Yes** to confirm the removal of the account, and click **Close**.

If you like where the old Preview pane was located in earlier versions of Outlook, you can place the Reading pane beneath the Folder pane: Click the **View** tab, click **Reading Pane**, and click **Bottom**. (You can also turn it off and open its Options dialog box.)

## **Get Online**

Whether you choose dial-up or a high-speed service like DSL (digital subscriber line) or cable Internet, getting online requires hardware, software, and some system configuration. It's possible that everything you need is already installed or that your computer came with extra disks for getting online. First, find an ISP:

- Get a recommendation from satisfied friends.
- Look in the yellow pages under "Internet Service Providers" or "Internet Access Providers."
- Look on your computer. Many computer manufacturers include software from nationwide Internet providers, such as AOL, EarthLink, and others.

If you find what you want in an Internet provider already on your computer, double-click the provider's icon, or click the link and follow the instructions. If you have a disk that came with your computer or from an ISP, pop it in and follow the instructions. If you use a local provider, their tech support people will usually walk you through the entire setup process on the phone.

# **Receive E-mail**

With at least one e-mail account installed in Outlook, you're ready to receive mail. Everything is done in Outlook's Mail view, shown in Figure 2-4, and opened by clicking **Mail** in Outlook views in the lower-left area of the Outlook window.

## **Check for E-mail**

Once you are set up, it's easy to download mail.

 Make sure you're connected to the Internet or can be automatically connected and that Mail is selected in the Outlook views of the Navigation pane.

릅

2. Click Send/Receive on the Quick Access toolbar.



Press F9.

-Or-

က

00

ດ









**3.** If it is not already open, click the **Inbox** icon in the Navigation pane, and watch the mail come in. If you have several e-mail accounts, you can select the Inbox icon from among the several that you have. You may need to scroll through the Folder List and first click the account to see the Inbox.

🔄 Inbox (9)

ω

4

G

ဂ

<u></u>

00

ယ



Figure 2-5: The Options dialog box is where you can customize many Outlook processes.

#### **RECEIVE E-MAIL AUTOMATICALLY**

Not only can Outlook periodically check your e-mail provider for you, but it can also do it automatically. Desktop alerts are subtle, given the way they quietly fade in and out.

- 1. Click the File tab, click Options, and click Advanced.
- Under Send And Receive, click Send/Receive. The Send/Receive Groups dialog box appears, as you can see in Figure 2-5.
- Under the Setting For Group "All Accounts" section, click Schedule An Automatic Send/Receive Every, type or click the spinner to enter the number of minutes to elapse between checking, and click Close.

## **Read E-mail**

Besides being easy to obtain, e-mail messages are effortless to open and read. There are two ways to view the body of the message:

- Double-click the message and read it in the window that opens, as shown in Figure 2-6. –Or–
- Click the message and read it in the Reading pane, scrolling as needed.

Of course, you can also control which accounts you check, what kinds of e-mail you let in, and how it is presented to you.

## **Download Sender and Subject Information Only**

If you are inundated with e-mail, or if messages contain really large files (like lots of photos), you might want to choose among your messages for specific ones to download to Outlook. You can save time downloading e-mail, especially with large files—which you may want to download at a later time. This only works on your POP server e-mail (not on HTTP server e-mail, such as Gmail). First, you instruct Outlook to download only the headers, and then you mark the headers for which you want to download the messages.

36

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ



Figure 2-6: An e-mail message window contains all the information and tools you need to respond.



### **RECEIVE HEADERS MANUALLY**

- 1. Click **Inbox** (or whatever folder you want to download).
- 2. Click the Send/Receive tab, and click Download Headers.

The headers, assuming you have e-mail waiting to be downloaded, will be downloaded to your selected folder. There will be an identifying icon like this:

37

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ



### MARK HEADERS TO DOWNLOAD, COPY, OR DELETE

 Double-click a header-only message in the Inbox folder to open the Remote Item Header dialog box, which allows you to unmark the header or mark its message to be downloaded, copied on the server, or deleted.

-Or-

Right-click a header-only message in the folder to open the context menu, which also allows you to mark the header message to be downloaded or deleted, as well as many of the moving and categorizing actions on a message's Home tab.

 Repeat the process for all headers, and then click Send/ Receive to perform the actions selected.

### **RECEIVE HEADERS AUTOMATICALLY**

If you want to download only headers from your POP server accounts every time, you can set up Outlook to do so.



- 1. Click the File tab, click Options, and click Advanced.
- Under Send And Receive, click Send/Receive. The Send/ Receive Groups dialog box will appear.
- Make sure All Accounts is selected, and click Edit. All your e-mail accounts are listed on the left.
- 4. Click the desired POP account.
- Under Folder Options, click Download Headers Only, as shown in Figure 2-7, click OK, click Close, and click OK once more to return to Outlook.

#### **PROCESS HEADERS**

When your headers have been marked, you can download them.

- 1. Click the Send/Receive tab.
- Click Process Marked Headers in the Server group.

🖌 Process Marked Headers 🔻



Figure 2-7: Outlook can be set up to download only headers for all messages.

T

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

0

00

10

The *domain* in a person's e-mail address is the part of the address after "@." In an Internet address (URL, or uniform resource locator), the domain is the part after the "http://www"—for example, "whidbey.net" (a local ISP) or "loc.gov" (the Library of Congress Web site).

# 

One easy way to reduce the junk e-mail you get is to *avoid* replying to any suspicious message. If you reply and tell them to go away, they learn that they reached a valid address, which they will hit again and again.

Options	Safe Senders	Safe Recipients	Blocked Senders	International		
0	Outlook can move messages that appear to be junk e-mail into a special Junk E-mail folder.					
	Choose the level of junk e-mail protection you want:					
	No Automati Junk E-mail f		om blocked senders	is still moved to the		
	O Low: Move the most obvious junk e-mail to the Junk E-mail folder.					
		ınk e-mail is caugh :k your Junk E-ma		r mail may be caugh		
	Safe Lists Only: Only mail from people or domains on your Safe Senders List or Safe Recipients List will be delivered to your Inbox.					
	Permanently Junk E-mail f		i junk e-mail insteac	l of moving it to the		
	Disable links (recommend		nality in phishing me	essages.		
	Warn me ab (recommend		nain names in e-mai	il addresses.		
		ıg e-mail, Postmar egular e-mail from	k the message to h junk e-mail	elp e-mail clients		
		_	K Canc	el Apply		

Figure 2-8: Blocking image and sound files protects your computer, but you can easily unblock a message by clicking in its top banner.

# **Filter Junk Mail**

Outlook can automatically filter out a lot of annoying spam before you ever see it, and it can set aside suspicious-looking messages in a Junk E-mail folder. It does this in two ways: by analyzing message content based on a protection level you choose, and by having you identify good and bad senders.

Outlook also prevents pictures and sounds from being downloaded into messages that contain HTML formatting. Up to now, savvy spammers have been able to design messages that only download images when you open or preview the message. They plant *Web beacons* in the messages, which tell their server that they have reached a valid address so that they can send you even more junk. Outlook blocks both the external content, as shown in Figure 2-8, and the beacon, unless you tell it to unblock it.

### **CHOOSE A PROTECTION LEVEL**

The amount of junk e-mail you receive suggests the level of protection you need. By default, Outlook sets the level at Low, but you might decide that another option would work better for you. Table 2-1 shows some considerations in choosing a level.

To set the protection level:

- 1. In the Home tab Delete group, click the **Junk** down arrow, and click **Junk E-mail Options**.
- Beneath Choose The Level Of Junk E-mail Protection You Want, click the desired protection level. See Table 2-1 for explanations.

### ADD ADDRESSES TO FILTER LISTS

The four other tabs in the Junk E-mail Options window provide a means for you to specifically identify good and bad e-mailers.

• Safe Senders specifies e-mail senders from whom you always want to receive messages. This list automatically contains your contacts, so Outlook never identifies their messages as junk, no matter how silly their jokes are. If you subscribe to a newsgroup or some other mass mailing, you might need to specifically add it to the list.

ŝ

4

G

တ

**S** 

00

OPTION	RESULT	PROS	CONS
No Automatic Filtering	Only mail from blocked senders goes to the Junk E-mail folder.	You have total control.	Your Inbox could be stuffed; you or others might see unsolicited pornography.
Low (default)	Outlook scans messages for offensive language and indications of unsolicited commercial mailings.	The worst of the junk gets caught.	Some canny spammers will still find ways around the protections.
High	Pretty much all the junk e-mail gets caught.	Considerably fewer rude shocks in the Inbox.	Some regular mail will inadvertently get sent to the Junk E-mail folder.
Safe Lists Only	Only mail from Safe Senders and Safe Recipients lists goes to the Inbox.	Complete protection.	Lots of friendly mail will be junked.
Permanently Delete Suspected Junk E-Mail Instead Of Moving It To The Junk E-Mail Folder	Filtered junk mail never gets onto your computer.	You never have to inspect the Junk E-Mail folder.	Unless you chose the No Automatic Filtering option, you are sure to lose some friendly mail.
Disable Links And Other Functionality	Phishing mail is less dangerous.	You don't have to worry as much about phishing mail.	None.
Warn Me About Suspicious Domain Names	Warning message is produced with suspicious names.	Added level of protection.	May get an occasional unwanted warning.
When Sending E-Mail, Postmark The Message	Sent messages are not held up.	Your messages get to the addressee.	None.

- Table 2-1: Junk E-mail Protection Levels

σ

- Safe Recipients ensures that mailing lists you subscribe to treat you as a safe sender when you contribute messages to the list.
- **Blocked Senders** sends messages from specified senders straight to the Junk E-mail folder. It's especially useful to add obnoxious domains to this list so that no address from that source makes it to your Inbox (see Figure 2-9).
- International allows you to block international e-mails by foreign domain codes or by language.

### **UPDATE LISTS QUICKLY**

- Sender and recipient addresses can be added quickly to the Safe Senders, Blocked Senders, and Safe Recipients lists from an Outlook folder. Right-click a message whose sender you want to put on a list.
- **2.** Point at Junk, and click the appropriate option.

N

က

4

S

ဖ



Figure 2-9: It is worth entering the addresses of senders you want to block if you think you'll otherwise see more of their mail.

eading Pane opt	ions
Mark items as	read when viewed in the Reading Pane
Wait 5	seconds before marking item as read
Mark item as r	ead when selection changes
🕖 Single key rea	ding using space bar

### UNBLOCK PICTURE DOWNLOADS

By default, picture downloads are blocked to speed up the downloading of e-mail. To change that for specific items:

- For a **single opened message**, click **Click Here To Download Pictures** in the information bar at the top of the message, or rightclick an individual picture.
- For all mail from the source of the open message, right-click a blocked item, point at Junk, and click Never Block Sender's Domain (@example.com).
- For all HTML mail (not recommended), click File, click Options, click Trust Center, and clear the Don't Download Pictures Automatically In HTML E-Mail Messages Or RSS Items check box. Click OK.

# Handle E-mail Messages

E-mail has a way of building up fast. Outlook lets you sort your messages just about any way you want. You will learn all about managing folders in Chapter 8. For now, we'll consider ways to sort and mark messages so that they don't get lost in the crowd.

## Mark Messages as Read or Unread

A message is marked as "read" after you have selected it so that its contents display in the Reading pane for a designated time (see "Change the Time for Being Read"). The header in the Folder List changes from boldface to plain type. A message can get lost in the pile if it's accidentally selected and you don't notice or forget about it. You can easily mark it as unread again by right-clicking the message and clicking **Mark As Unread**.

# **Change the Time for Being Read**

To change the time that a message must be selected before it is marked as read:

- 1. Click the File tab, click Options, and click Advanced.
- **2.** In the Outlook Panes area at the top, click the **Reading Pane** button. The Reading Pane dialog box will appear.

N

ŝ

Right-click here to download pictures. To help protect your privacy, Outlook prevented automatic download of this picture from the Totocost

4

ရ

7

00

ശ

0

# N

က

4

S

# TIP

You can scroll through a selected message by pressing SPACEBAR. To disable this feature, click the View tab, and click Reading Pane in the Layout group. Click Options, and in the Reading Pane dialog box, clear the Single Key Reading Using Space Bar check box.

> 🔿 Hours left! Free Christmas de... Lands' End Mon 1:35 PM 🙈 David Harris Blog--Iran: The ... Mon 12:26 PM Tim Connor Click to flag as a to-do item Right-click for all options

# NOTE

You can also insert a Today red flag beside a selected message by pressing INSERT on the keyboard. (Press again to toggle between the Follow-Up red flag and a Complete check mark.)

Arrange Conversations TIP By -Date (Conversations) To group all of your flagged 🗟 From messages, click the View tab, 🚳 <u>T</u>o click Arrange By (or click the Cat<u>eg</u>ories More button in an enlarged Flag: Start Date window), and click Flag: Start 🚩 Flag: D<u>u</u>e Date Date or Flag: Due Date.

1↓ -

- 3. Click one of these options:
  - Mark Items As Read When Viewed In The Reading Pane allows you to set the number of seconds that a message must be selected before being marked as read.
  - Mark Item As Read When Selection Changes marks the message as read as soon as the pointer selects another message in the Folder pane. This is the default settina.
  - Click OK to close the dialog box.

# Flag Your Messages for Follow-up

You can place colored flags beside messages you want to do something with later. The flag will appear in the flag column of the Folder pane.

Y Filt

Y Follow Up N

Tomorrow

This Week

Next Week

No Date

Custom...

Add Reminder...

Mark Complete

Set Quick Click...

Clear Flag

Y Today

Y

P

Y

P

P

4

1

 Click the flag outline in the flag column of the message header in the folder pane to add the default red flag for a task that is due today. This is a toggle between the Follow-Up red flag and the Complete checkmark.

-Or-

Select the message you want to flag, in the Home tab Tag group, click the Follow Up down arrow to open its context menu, and click the type of flag you want to insert.

-Or-

Right-click the flag column of the selected message, and on the context menu, click the type of flag you want to insert.

### **FINE-TUNE YOUR FLAGS**

You can fine-tune the follow-up actions of the flags and specify that a reminder be made so that an e-mail message can be responded to in a timely manner.

**1.** In the Folder pane, right-click the flag column, and click **Custom**.

-Or-

For a message open in the Reading pane, click Follow Up in the Tags group of the Home tab. and click Custom.

-Or-

ດ

00

-	Flag to:	Do not Forward
`	Start date:	Tuesday, December 22, 2009
	Due date:	Tuesday, December 22, 2009
Rem	inder:	

To remove a flag, or to indicate that the e-mail no longer needs to be handled, right-click the flag and click either **Clear Flag** or **Mark Complete**.

Due in

Open Item

-

Dismiss

Snooze

NOTE

1 Reminder
Merry Christmas!

Subject

Dismiss All

5 minutes

Click Snooze to be reminded again in:

Merry Christmas!

Follow up: Thursday, December 24, 2009 5:00 PM

For a message open in a message window, click
Follow Up in the Tags group of the Message tab,
and click Custom.

- 2. In the Custom dialog box, click the Flag To down arrow, and click an action.
- **3.** Click the **Start Date** down arrow, and click a date to indicate when the message is to be flagged.
- Click the Due Date down arrow, and click a date that indicates when the response to the e-mail is to be completed.
- **5.** Click **Reminder** to place a check mark in the check box and to display the date when the reminder is to begin. Click the date down arrow, and click a date. Click the time down arrow, and click a time for the reminders to begin.
- 6. Click the **Sound** icon **I** to remove the default setting in which a sound file is played when the reminder displays on the screen.
- 7. Click OK.
- 8. At the designated time, a reminder will be displayed, as shown in Figure 2-10. To repeat the reminder, click the snooze down arrow, click an interval until the next sound, and then click **Snooze**.

### Arrange Messages in a Folder

Outlook contains 13 types of Inbox arrangements. You can
have Outlook organize messages by the date they were sent,
which Outlook uses by default; alphabetically by who sent
them or by first word in the subject line; or by clustering
those with attachments, colored flags you give them, or
categories you created for your own use. Outlook can even
group conversations, e-mail exchanges in which senders
clicked Reply, thus preserving the subject line. To arrange
messages:

- 1. Click **Inbox** or another specific mail folder in the navigation bar on the left side.
- 2. Click the View tab, in the Arrangement group, click Arrange By (or click the More button in an expanded window), and click one of the arrangements listed.



rrange Conversations	↓ ■ •
Date (Conversations)	-
🗟 <u>F</u> rom	
😼 То	
Categories	
🚩 Fla <u>q</u> : Start Date	
Flag: D <u>u</u> e Date	
<u>S</u> ize	
Subject	
Type	
Attachments	
Acc <u>o</u> unt	
Importance	•
Sho <u>w</u> in Groups	
View Settings	

N

4



0

<u></u>

00

10

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

# 

The expand and contract symbols to the left of an item indicate that you can expand or contract a list by clicking the symbol. The symbols can be used for a group of folders in the Folder List of the Navigation pane or to group messages by day (such

as messages for Tuesday) in the Folder pane.

Personal Folders



NOTE

> Favorites

The first time you use a category, you are asked if you want to rename. If you do, type a name and click **Yes**. Otherwise, click **No**.

	<u>C</u> opy <u>O</u> uick Print		
	<u>R</u> eply Reply <u>A</u> ll For <u>w</u> ard		
	Mark as U <u>n</u> read Ca <u>t</u> egorize		Clear All Categories
٣			Blue Category
2			Green Category
5	<u>Q</u> uick Steps More <u>A</u> ctions		Orange Category
	Rules		Purple Category Red Category
	<u>M</u> ove		Yellow Category
	<u>Ig</u> nore		<u>A</u> ll Categories
% X	<u>J</u> unk Delete	× [	Set <u>Q</u> uick Click

Figure 2-11: The Categorize menu shows colors, which you can define as categories according to your needs.

### **ADD COLORED CATEGORIES**

Assigning categories to mail is one way of separating your messages by a colored code that you determine. You might categorize by project, priority, sender, etc. You determine what a color will mean when it is assigned to a message. Once your e-mail contains categories, it can be sorted and arranged so that you can find or track it more efficiently. The colors make the categories highly visible in lists. Mail is only one kind of item that you can categorize. You can assign categories to whatever you create in Outlook—tasks, appointments, contacts, notes, journal entries, and documents. You can also create new categories in the list.

- Right-click a message header in the Folder pane, and click Categorize. The Categorize menu opens, as shown in Figure 2-11. (You can also click Categorize in the Tag group of the Home tab.)
- **2.** Do one of the following:
  - Click a color category for the item.
  - Click All Categories to assign more than one category to a message (or to edit a category—see "Edit a Category" below).
     Click a color to select it (place a check mark in the check box), and then click OK.

Nam	e
1	Blue Category
	Green Category
1	Orange Category
1	Purple Category
(proj	Red Category
	Vellow Category

**3.** View items sorted into categories by clicking the **View** tab, selecting **Arrange By** (or the **More** button), and clicking **Categories**.

### **EDIT A CATEGORY**

You can edit a category to change its name, color, or assigned shortcut.

- 1. Right-click a message to be categorized, click **Categorize** from the context menu, and click **All Categories**.
- 2. Select from among these options:
  - To create a new category, click New. In the Add New Category dialog box, type a name; click the Color down arrow, and click a color; click the Shortcut key down arrow, and click a shortcut key if you want one. Click OK.
  - To rename a category, click a category, click **Rename**, and type the new name in the category name text box.
  - To delete a category, click the category and click Delete.

10

# TIP

You can reverse the sort order of categories by clicking the sort bar at the top of the sorted item in the Folder pane. For example, if at first your sorted categories are at the bottom of the list, click the sort bar to place sorted categories at the top.

		-0	
🔺 📕 Red Category			
Carole Matthews	11:45 AM		
Meeting at 5:30pm	4	14	

- To change the color, click the **Color** down arrow, and click a replacement color.
- To assign a shortcut key, click the **Shortcut Key** down arrow, and click a shortcut key combination.
- **3.** Click **OK** to close the Color Categories dialog box.

# **Make Up Your Own Rules**

When it comes to sorting e-mail, you can make up the rules as you go along, and Outlook will follow them. Or you can pick from a list of predefined rules for common situations, like having Outlook send a message to your cell phone if you win an eBay auction or flagging all messages from your son at college for follow-up. (This only works for POP3 server accounts.)



Figure 2-12: The Rules And Alerts dialog box's New Rule button opens the Rules Wizard, which is where you establish rules for handling e-mail, including alerts for the arrival of e-mail.

 With Mail selected, click the File tab, and in the default Info view, click Manage Rules & Alerts. The Rules And Alerts dialog box appears, as shown in the background of Figure 2-12.

Color:

None

- **2.** Click New Rule (shown in the upper-left area of Figure 2-12) to open the Rules Wizard, and click one of the options in the list under step 1 in one the following categories. In step 2, if desired, click the option link and complete the dialog box:
  - Stay Organized lets you move and flag messages in a variety of ways.
  - Stay Up To Date alerts you when new mail arrives by displaying it in a special window, playing a sound, or alerting your mobile device.
  - Start From A Blank Rule lets you build a completely custom rule for receiving or sending messages.
- **3.** Click **Next**. Click all conditions under which you want the rule applied in step 1, clicking any underlined value in step 2 and changing it as needed. The information is added to the scenario. Click **Next**.

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

00

0

0

## MANIPULATING THE RULES

To get to Rules And Alerts, in the Home tab Move group, click the Rules button and then click Manage Rules & Alerts. The Rules And Alerts dialog box appears and

A Move -

Aules •

Create Rule..

Manage Rules & Alerts..

A

(A)

🚔 Unread/ Read

Always Move Messages From: Carole Matthews

Edit Rule Settings...

Display in the New Item Alert window

Rename Rule

Play a Sound...

Move to Folder...

Copy to Folder...

Mark as High Priority

Mark as Low Priority

Delete Message

1

9

1

X

📲 Categorize 🔻

Find a Contact -

🔯 Address Book

lists the current rules under the names you gave them.

### LEARN THE RULES

Select a rule in the list, and review it in the description pane below it.

### **CHANGE THE RULES**

1. Click a rule in the list, click Change Rule, and click an action from the drop-down list.

-Or-

Double-click the rule to open the Rules Change Rule 🔨 🔄 Copy... 🗙 Delete 🛛 🔺 💌 Ru Wizard.

- 2. If you opened the wizard, change the contents as needed, click Next, click Finish, and click OK.
- 3. If you selected an option under Change Rules with an icon beside it, add any requested information or fill in any new underlined variable in the description, and click **OK** until the window is closed.

#### MAKE A SIMILAR RULE

1. Click a rule in the list, click **Copy**, accept the default folder or type a folder name to copy the rule to, and click OK.

Copy of Micoa Continued . .

- 4. Step through the wizard, selecting circumstances and actions, changing values as needed in step 2, and clicking Next.
- 5. Type a name for the rule where requested, click an option specifying when the rule goes into effect, click Finish, and click OK.

## **Delete Messages**

Outlook creates two stages for deleting messages by providing a Delete folder, which holds all the items you deleted from other folders. In the first stage, you remove deleted items to a separate folder, and in the second you remove the messages from your computer.

### **DELETE MESSAGES FROM THE INBOX**

Delete messages by opening a folder in the Navigation pane and performing one of the following actions:



 Delete one message by clicking a message in the Folders pane and in the Home tab Delete group, clicking Delete.

-Or-

Right-clicking a message in the Folders pane and clicking **Delete**.

- Delete a block of messages by clicking the first message, holding down SHIFT, clicking the last message (all of the messages in between are selected as well), and in the Home tab Delete group, clicking Delete.
- Delete multiple noncontiguous messages by pressing CTRL while clicking the messages you want to remove and then in the Home tab Delete group, clicking Delete.

### **EMPTY THE DELETED ITEMS FOLDER**

- 1. Click the **Deleted Items** folder. Deleted Items (1)
- 2. Choose one:
  - Right-click the Deleted Items folder, and click Empty "Deleted Items" Folder. -Or-
  - Press CTRL+A to select all items in the folder, click Delete, and click Yes.
    - -Or-
  - Select files to be permanently deleted as you did earlier, click Delete, and click Yes.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

0

00

ດ

### MANIPULATING THE RULES (Continued)

- 2. Double-click the copy.
- Step through the wizard, changing settings as necessary and clicking Next as you go.
- 4. Give the rule a new name, and click Finish.

#### **CANCEL A RULE**

- 1. Select a rule in the list, and click Delete.
- 2. Click Yes.

### **REARRANGE THE RULES**

You might want rules to be applied in a certain order.

- **1.** Select a rule in the list that you want to move.
- Click the Move Up or Move Down arrow until the rule resides where you want it in the sequence.

### BASE A RULE ON A MESSAGE

- In the Mail Folder pane, right-click the message, click Rules, and click Create Rule.
- 2. Check the desired options in the Create Rule dialog box.
- To use the more detailed specifications in the Rules Wizard, click Advanced Options, step through the wizard (with information from

the dialog box supplying some of the underlined values), click **Next** as needed, and then click **Finish**.

4. If using the Create Rule dialog box, click **OK**.

# **Manage Attachments**

X

Messages that contain files, such as pictures and documents, display a paper clip icon in the second message line within the Folder pane to show that there's more to see. Attachments are listed in the message itself in the Reading pane, as shown in Figure 2-13. Since computer vandals like to broadcast debilitating viruses by way of attachments, you should be sure that you are dealing with a trusted source before you open any attachments. Also, it's important to have an up-to-date antivirus program running on your system, as well as any protection provided by your ISP. Make sure you have it, and keep your virus definitions up-to-date. If you are running Windows Vista or Windows 7, several Internet and e-mail protections are built into it.

When a message comes in with an attachment, you can preview the attachment, open it, or save it first.

#### When I get e-mail with all of the selected conditions From Carole Matthews Subject contains Meeting -Sent to me only Do the following Display in the New Item Alert window Browse... V Play a selected sound: Windows Notify.wav Move the item to folder: Carole Select Folder.. OK Cancel Advanced Options...

A 1 1 1

Move Up

Create Rule



Figure 2-13: A single message can contain one or many attachments, consisting of all kinds of files, which may be previewed before opening.

Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Receiving and Handling E-mail

1:04 PM

တ

00

6

47

N

ŝ

# 

Remember to review the contents of the Sent folder on a regular basis and delete what you can, as it can get huge.

AutoA

🔽 Ru

V Pr

Durin

.

AutoArchive tab

### **OPEN ATTACHMENTS**

The attachment can only be opened or viewed in the Reading pane.

- Double-click the attachment.
  - -Or-
- Right-click the attachment and click either **Preview** or **Open**.

### SAVE ATTACHMENTS

If you have My Computer or Windows Explorer open to the folder where you want to save the attachment, you can drag the attachment there. Otherwise:

- 1. Right-click the attachment icon, and click Save As.
- **2.** Use the Save Attachment dialog box to navigate to the desired folder.
- 3. Type a name in the File Name text box, and click Save.

### **OPEN SAVED ATTACHMENTS**

- 1. Navigate to the folder where you saved the file.
- 2. Double-click the file.

## **Print Messages**

Cancel

OK

Occasionally, you might receive something that you want to print and pass around or save as a hard copy. Outlook lets you print in a hurry with the default print settings, or you can control certain parts of the process.

### **PRINT QUICKLY**

Right-click the message or an attachment, and click **Quick Print**. The message will be printed on your default printer.

### **CHOOSE PRINT SETTINGS**

- **1.** Select or open the message.
- Click the File tab, and click Print. The Print window appears with a preview of what you will print and settings you can configure, as shown in Figure 2-14.

# QUICKFACTS

### ARCHIVING MESSAGES

Archiving is for people who have a hard time throwing things away. Outlook is set up on a schedule, which you can see by clicking the **File** tab, clicking **Options**, clicking **Advanced**, and under AutoArchive, clicking **AutoArchive Settings**.

The AutoArchive dialog box that appears allows you to turn on AutoArchive, set the time interval between archive functions, determine when to delete old messages, specify the path to the archived file, and other settings. Click **OK** when you are finished.

If you selected **Apply These Settings To All Folders Now**, a dialog box appears, asking if you are ready to archive files; you can click **Yes** and be assured of finding the messages later. They are saved in a file structure that mirrors your Personal folders yet compresses the files and cleans up the Inbox.

To open archived files, click Expand beside Archive Folders in the Navigation pane, and click a folder.

Archive Control Contro
un AutoArchive every 14 🚔 days
ompt before AutoArchive runs
g AutoArchive:
Delete expired items (e-mail folders only)
Archive or delete old items
Show archive folder in folder list
Default folder settings for archiving
Clean out items older than 6 🚔 Months 👻
Move old items to:
O:\Users\Marty\Documents\Outlook Fil Browse
Permanently delete old items
Apply these settings to all folders now
To specify different archive settings for any folder, right-click
on the folder and choose Properties, then go to the

0

48

ດ

00

N

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

ယ

10

49



If you preview an attachment, it will open in the Reading pane, where you can scroll through the document. To return to the message body, click the **Message** icon next to the attachment at the top of the message (see Figure 2-13).

# TIP

To select multiple attachments in an e-mail at one time to copy or save them, for instance, right-click one attachment and click **Select All**. Then right-click one of the selected attachments, and choose the activity.

Printer			
Name:	\\ASUS\HP Photosr	nart 2600 series	<ul> <li>Properties</li> </ul>
Status: Type: Where: Comment:	HP Photosmart 260	D series	Print to file
Print style			Copies
	Table Style	Page Setup	Number of pages: All
	Momo Stylc	Define Styles	Collate copies
			11 22 33
Page range			
IIA (O			
Pages:			
commas co	numbers and/or pag unting from the start ype 1, 3 or 5-12.	e ranges separated by of the item. For	
Print option	ıs		
	tached files. Attachr printer only.	nents will print to the	

Save As 💁 Save Attachments Info	Print Settings Specify how you want the item to be printed and then click Print.	Brykinen
Open	Printer 0	Termi La Far Vender Handlager Bandhan Han Band Bandhan Hannes T. 2020 B. Statistic Bandhan Hannes Hannes Hannes Hannes Manamana Hannes
Print	HP Photosmart 2600 series on ASUS	(c) Mary, for attached unite disapprovering the conditioning and the investment of the disapprover in the condition of the second and a single flucture difference on the condition. The second area retrieved in this is served. Second Second Seco
Help Doptions X Fuit	Print Options Print What	
	Table Style  Memo Style	
		↓ I of 1 ⇒ 3 3 3 10
ure 2-14: You car	n customize how a message is printed	

- **5.** Click **Properties**, select the layout or quality, and click **OK**.
- **6.** Click **Page Setup** to open the Page Setup dialog box. Review the Format, Paper, and Header/Footer tabs for settings you may want to make, and click **OK**.
- 7. Click Print to begin printing.



# How to...

- Create a Message
- Address a Message
- Use a Contact Group
- Add Carbon and Blind Copies
- Edit a Message
- Restaura Contemporation Contemporatio Contemporation Contemporation Contemporation Contemporatio
- Use Stationery
- // Including Hyperlinks
- Attach Files
- Sign Messages
- Using Signatures
- Use Digital Signatures
- Check Spelling
- Reply to Messages
- Forward Messages
- Set Message Priority
- Request Receipts
- Sending Messages
- Delay Delivery with a Rule

# Chapter 3 Creating and Sending E-mail

As the saying goes, you have to send mail to get mail. The beauty of Outlook e-mail is that the messages are so easy to send and respond to that you can essentially carry on conversations. Outlook also makes it just as easy to send a message to one person or to 50, bedeck messages with fancy backgrounds known as *stationery*, insert links to Internet sites, include pictures—even add a distinctive signature. In this chapter you will learn how to create and enhance messages, as well as how to send copies, respond to others, and control how and when e-mail is sent. ω

Ь

G

ത

00

ഗ

N

10

4

S

ıЮ

The Outlook 2010 new Message window has many of the features of the Microsoft Word 2010 window and provides many of the tools available in Word.

To gain more working space, you can minimize the size of the ribbon. To do this, click the **Minimize Ribbon** button on the right next to the Help icon, or double-click the active tab name. Either click **Minimize Ribbon** or double-click the active tab again to restore the size of the ribbon. You can also press **CTRL+F1** to toggle the size of the ribbon.

0

 $\infty$ 

ဖ

# Write Messages

Creating an e-mail message can be as simple as dispatching a note or as elaborate as designing a marketing poster. It's wise to get used to creating simple messages before making an art project of one. Without your having to impose any guidelines, however, Outlook is set to create an attractive basic e-mail message.

# **Create a Message**

One click starts a message, and the only field you have to complete is the address of the recipient. Normally, at least three fields are filled in before you send the message:

- Recipient One or more e-mail addresses or names in your Address Book
- **Subject** Words indicating the contents of the message (used by the Find tool in a search)
- Message body Whatever you want to say to the recipient

To start a message:

With Outlook open and Mail selected in the Navigation pane, click the **New E-mail** button in the Home tab, New group. The new Message window opens, as shown in Figure 3-1.

## **Address a Message**

Outlook is the lazy person's dream for addressing messages. Of course, the address itself is simple: *username@domain.extension* (such as "mary@someisp .com"). Once you have entered names in the Contacts workspace, however, you can address your messages with almost no typing. (See Chapter 4 for a complete explanation of how to add contacts to the Address Book.) In this chapter we will focus on what happens to the e-mail itself. The following alternatives come into play as soon as you create a new message by clicking **New E-mail** on the ribbon.

New E-mail



52

ດ



Figure 3-1: The window for creating a message contains important differences from the one in which you read them.

### **TYPE THE ADDRESS**

This is the most basic addressing technique. As soon as you click **New E-mail**, the cursor blinks in the To field on the message.

- То...
- For a single recipient, type the address.
- For **multiple recipients**, type each address, separating them with semicolons (;) and a space.

53

N

ω

4

S

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

ယ

Chirs       Go       Contacts -       Advanced         Name       Display Name       E-mail Address         S Catherine Schwarezkov       Catherine Schwarezkov (csch@somei csch@someisp.com         Chris Adams       Chris Adams(chrisadams@anisp.com)       debm@anisp.com         S Debroah Millner       Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)       debm@anisp.com         S Debroah Millner       Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)       fsmith@anisp.com         S Jackson Johnson       Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com)       jack@ouco.com         S Jackson Johnson       Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com)       jack@ouco.com         S Juan and Song Cruz       Juan and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp, jscruz@someispcom         Lilly Brown       Lilly Brown (lillyb@myisp.com)       lillyb@myisp.com         S Linda Alexson       Linda Alexson (minda@fineco.com)       inda@fineco.com         S Marlene Evans       Marlene Evans (mevans@anisp.com)       martym@myisp.com         S Marty Matthews       Marty Matthews (martym@myisp.com)       matym@myisp.com         Mary Adams       Mary Adams@finco.com       madams@finco.com	Sea	rch: 💿 Name only 🛛 🔘 More	e columns	Address Book		
S Catherine Schwarezkov       Catherine Schwarezkov (csch@somei csch@someisp.com         S Chris Adams       Chris Adams (chrisadams@anisp.com)         Chris Adams       Chris Adams (chrisadams@anisp.com)         S Debroah Millner       Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)         B Debroah Millner       Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)         Jackson Johnson       Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com)         Juan and Song Cruz       Juan and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp) jscruz@someisp.com         Lilly Brown       Lilly Brown (lillyb@myisp.com)         Linda Alexson       Linda Alexson (linda@fineco.com)         Marlene Evans       Marlene Evans (mevans@anisp.com)         Mark Matthews       Marky Matthews (martym@myisp.com)         Mary Adams       Mary Adams (madams@finco.com)	Chir	s	Go	Contacts -	•	Advanced
Chris Adams         Chris Adams (chrisadams@anisp.com)         chrisadams@anisp.com           © Debroah Millner         Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)         debm@anisp.com           © Fong-Lee Smithson         Fong-Lee Smithson (flsmith@anisp.com)         flsmith@anisp.com           © Jackson Johnson         Jackson (jack@ouco.com)         jack@ouco.com           © Jackson Johnson         Jackson Gruz         jacn and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp, jscruz@someisp.com           © Lilly Brown         Lilly Brown (lillyb@myisp.com)         lillyb@myisp.com           © Linda Alexson         Linda Alexson (incda@fineco.com)         mevans@anisp.com           @ Martene Evans         Martene Evans (martym@myisp.com)         mevans@anisp.com           @ Marty Matthews         Marty Matthews (martym@myisp.com)         metym@myisp.com           @ Mary Adams         Mary Adams (madams@finco.com)         madams@finco.com	Na	me	Displ	ay Name	E-mail Address	
S         Debroah Millner         Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com)         debm@anisp.com           S         Fong-Lee Smithson         Fong-Lee Smithson (flsmith@anisp.com)         flsmith@anisp.com           S         Jackson Johnson         Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com)         jack@ouco.com           S         Jaan and Song Cruz         Juan and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp, jscruz@someisp.com)           S         Lilly Brown         Lilly Brown (lillyb@myisp.com)         lillyb@myisp.com           S         Linda Alexson         Linda Alexson (linda@fineco.com)         mevans@anisp.com           S         Marlene Evans         Marlene Evans (mevans@anisp.com)         mevans@anisp.com           S         Marty Matthews         Marty Matthews (martym@myisp.com)         matym@myisp.com           S         Mary Adams         Mary Adams (madams@finco.com)         madams@finco.com	8	Catherine Schwarezkov	Cathe	rine Schwarezkov (csch@somei	csch@someisp.com	
S         Fong-Lee Smithson         Fong-Lee Smithson (flsmith@anisp.com)         flsmith@anisp.com           S         Jackson Johnson         Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com)         jack@ouco.com           S         Juan and Song Cruz         Juan and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp, jscruz@someisp.com)           S         Lilly Brown         Lilly Brown (illyb@myisp.com)         lillyb@myisp.com           S         Linda Alexson         Linda Alexson (linda@fineco.com)         inda@fineco.com           S         Marlene Evans         Marlene Evans (mevans@anisp.com)         mevans@anisp.com           S         Marty Matthews         Marty Matthews (martym@myisp.com)         martym@myisp.com           S         Mary Adams         Mary Adams (madams@finco.com)         madams@finco.com)	8	Chris Adams	Chris	Adams (chrisadams@anisp.com)	chrisadams@anisp.c	om
No. Internet and the second seco		Fong-Lee Smithson Jackson Johnson Juan and Song Cruz Lilly Brown Linda Alexson Marlene Evans Marty Matthews	Fong- Jacks Juan Lilly Br Linda Marler Marty	Lee Smithson (flsmith@anispcom) on Johnson (jack@ouco.com) and Song Cruz (jscruz@someisp rown (lilyb@myisp.com) Alexson (linda@fineco.com) ne Evans (mevans@anisp.com) Matthews (martym@myisp.com) Adams (madams@finco.com)	flsmith@anisp.com jack@ouco.com jscruz@someisp.com lillyb@myisp.com linda@fineco.com mevans@anisp.com martym@myisp.com	

Figure 3-2: Your Outlook Address Book can become a valuable repository.

You can turn off AutoComplete if you wish: Click the File tab, click **Options**, and click **Mail** in the left pane. Under Send Messages, clear the **Use Auto-Complete List To** 

Suggest Names When Typing In The To, Cc, And Bcc

Use Auto-Complete List to suggest names when typing in the To, Cc, and Bcc lines

Lines check box. Click OK to close.

NOTE

### **SELECT FROM THE ADDRESS BOOK**

- Click To. The Select Names dialog box displays your Address Book, shown in Figure 3-2.
- **2.** Scroll through the list, and double-click the name you want.
- For multiple names, if a comma or semicolon wasn't automatically added after a name you selected or entered, type one of those characters between names or e-mail addresses.
- Repeat steps 2 and 3 as needed until all desired names are listed in the To text box. An alternate way is to hold down CTRL while you scroll manually and click all desired names. Then click To.
- 5. Click OK.

### **COMPLETE ADDRESSES AUTOMATICALLY**

Outlook runs AutoComplete by default. As soon as you type the first letter of an address, Outlook begins searching for matches among names and addresses you've typed in the past.

- 1. Begin typing a name or address in the To field in the Message window. The closest names to what you have typed will be displayed in the Name list.
- 2. If the name you want appears in the list, click it, or press DOWN ARROW (if necessary) until the name is highlighted, and then click it or press ENTER to accept the address. The name displays, a semicolon follows it, and the cursor blinks where the next name will appear.

То	c	
Cc	Carole Matthews (carolem@myisp.com)	×
Subject:	Catherine whwarezkov (csch@someisp.com)	
	Chris Adams (chrisadams@anisp.com)	

- If you wish to add another recipient, begin typing another name, and repeat the process as needed.
- Press TAB to go to the next desired field.

4

6

ດ

00

### **Use a Contact Group**

You can group your contacts into *contact groups* or distribution lists (see Chapter 4), giving you an even quicker way to add multiple addresses to messages. Use any of the preceding procedures to enter individuals in the Address Book, and enter or select the name of the contact group as it appears in the Address Book. After selecting the contact list, its name will have a plus sign next to it, which you can click to expand the contact list name and see the individuals in the list (you will be warned that once expanded, you can't contract it). When you To. ∃ Fineco; send it, the message will go to everyone on the list.

## Add Carbon and Blind Copies

🖄 Delay Delivery

More Options

Save Sent

Item To 🔻

🚨 Direct Replies To

You may never have seen a real carbon copy, but Outlook keeps the concept alive by way of this feature located just below the To field in the new Message window. Persons who receive a message with their e-mail address in the Cc

-

~

Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Creating and Sending E-mail



### INCLUDE OR REMOVE BCC ON **NEW MESSAGES**

- 1. In the Message window, click the Options tab.
- 2. In the Show Fields group, click Bcc to toggle the Bcc field on and off. Bcc



It's party time! On Wednesday December 23<sup>rd</sup> we will have our annual Christmas party starting at 3 PM. Bring any gifts you want to share, and prepare to enjoy yourself!

Christmas party! - Message (HTML)

🙀 Use Voting Buttons 🔻

🔲 Request a Delivery Receipt

Request a Read Receipt

Tracking

Catherine Schwarezkov (csch@someisp.com); Debroah Millner (debm@anisp.com);

Marlene Evans (mevans@anisp.com); Molly Davidbloom (molly@ourisp.com);

Review

Format Text

Click the Bcc

button to display it

Insert

Bar Bec

Show Fields

Fineco;

Christmas party!

Options

Permission

Permission

1 2 7 5

A

0-

Themes

Aa

Themes

Send

Hi All

Use for names of

main addressees

Use for secondary

addressees (FYI)

Use for hidden

addressees

4 \* =

Message

Page

Color

From -

To ..

• Cc.,

Bcc...

Subject:

Catherine Schwarezkov

6

0

55

00

N

တ

**S** 

N

4

то

Replace a

Move a

Delete a

56

ω

റ

### **ADDRESS THE COPIES**

Type addresses in the Cc and Bcc fields completely or with the aid of AutoComplete. You can also use the Address Book: click **Cc** or **Bcc** in the Message window, begin typing a name to scroll through the names, and double-click the name(s) in the Address Book you want to be copied.

### Edit a Message

Click where new text belongs, and type new text.

Click before the first letter of the paragraph, and press TAB.

E-mail can be created in any of three formats and has the additional option of using the powerful formatting capability of Microsoft Word for composing messages. Outlook handles all three formats quite easily, but sometimes you need to consider your recipients' computer resources and Internet connections.

 HTML (HyperText Markup Language), the default format, lets you freely use design elements, such as colors, pictures, links, animations, sound, and movies (though good taste and the need to control the size of the message file might suggest a little discretion!).

Type new text.

Drag to a new location in the

Press DELETE.

message.

- Plain Text format lies at the other extreme, eliminating embellishments so that any computer can manage the message.
- Rich Text Format (RTF) takes the middle ground, providing font choices—including color, boldface, italics, and underlining basic paragraph layouts, and bullets.

With Outlook, you can edit messages you create as well as those you receive. Regardless which of the three formats you choose, some editing processes are always available, as shown in Table 3-1.

Using HTML or Rich Text Format provides a wide range of options for enhancing the appearance of a message. See the "Formatting Messages" QuickSteps for a rundown of additional formatting selections.

Table 3-1.	Standard	Editina	Operations
	Stanuaru	Euling	Operations

Insert new text in message body

Word

Line

Word

Line

Word

Line

Paragraph

Paragraph

Paragraph

Indent the start of a paragraph

DO THIS

Double-click the word.

Double-click the word

Double-click the word.

Click to the left of the line.

Click to the left of the line.

Click to the left of the line.

Double-clicking to the left selects a

paragraph. Triple-clicking to the left

selects all the text in the message.

Double-click to the left of the paragraph.

Double-click to left of the paragraph.

Finally, you can also create the message in another program and copy and paste it into a message body. HTML will preserve the formatting exactly, and Rich Text Format will come close.

### SELECT A MESSAGE FORMAT

The type of message format being used is displayed in the title bar of the new Message window. You can either set a format for an individual message, or you can set a default for all message formats. Christmas party! - Message (HTML)

To set a default format for all e-mail:

- 1. In either the Outlook window or in a Message window, click the **File** tab, click **Options**, and click Mail in the left pane to open the Mail options, some of which are shown in Figure 3-4.
- 2. Click the Compose Messages In This Format down arrow, and select one of the choices.



**3.** Click **OK** to close the Options dialog box.

Figure 3-4: You can create personal message designs that distinguish you as the sender.

N

ω

G

4

6

\_ 0



To set formatting for an individual message:

1. In the Message window, click the Format Text tab.

In the Format group, click the formatting button you want.

# **Use Stationery**

It's easy to choose stationery for a message. You can pick a different type of stationery for every new message or set a default style for all messages (until you change it).

Aa HTML

Aa Plain Text

Ag Rich Text

Format

### SET A DEFAULT STATIONERY THEME

You can set a default for your stationery that will be used each time you write a new e-mail. You can also select a theme for your stationery and still have your own unique fonts. You can vary fonts as well, either for new e-mails or for those you reply to or forward. To set a default stationery:

- 1. Click the File tab, click **Options**, and click **Mail** in the left pane.
- 2. Make sure that HTML has been selected as the message format.
- 3. Click the Stationery And Fonts button. Click the Personal Stationery tab to open the dialog box shown in Figure 3-5. Select from these choices:
  - Click the Theme button, and under Choose A Theme, click the theme you want, and click OK. When you choose a theme, the fonts will be automatically defined for you, and those buttons will become unavailable or graved.
  - If, after choosing a theme, you want to use another font, click the Font down arrow, and click either Always Use My Fonts or Use My Font When Replying Or Forwarding Messages. This will enable you to select a font for all new messages or for replying to and forwarding e-mails.

N

**UICKSTEPS** 

FORMATTING MESSAGES

To format text in the Message window, use the Format

you can select text and then format it after composing the

message. See Table 3-1 for a list of selection methods.

Text tab or the Message tab to access formatting commands. You can format text before you start typing, or

က

4

ယ

ດ

00

0

### FORMATTING MESSAGES (Continued)

### **COLOR THE FONT**

Select the text, click the **Font Color** down arrow, and select a color.

### ALIGN PARAGRAPHS

Select the text and click an alignment, which, from left to right, provides a left-aligned margin, centered text, a right-aligned margin, or justified margins (where both the left and right margins end evenly).

# CREATE NUMBERED, BULLETED, OR MULTILEVEL LISTS

Select the text to be affected, and click the **Bullets**, **Numbering**, or **Multilevel List** button (the latter is only in the Format Text tab Paragraph group).  $\boxed{\vdots \pm * \frac{1}{2} = * \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}}$ 

#### SHIFT THE PARAGRAPH

The Decrease Indent and Increase Indent buttons move the selected paragraph in fixed increments. You can alternate clicking them until you are satisfied with the location. However, because they will not move the paragraph beyond the message margins, they have limited effect on centered paragraphs.

Click within a paragraph to be shifted, and click the appropriate button.

#### **INSERT LINES OR BORDERS**

Set off paragraphs with lines or borders.

- Click where a line is desired (usually at the end of a paragraph), or select the paragraph(s) around which you want a border.
- In the Format Text tab Paragraph group, click the Borders down arrow, and click the type of line or border that you want.

-mail Signature	ersonal Stationery		
heme or stationery	for new HTML e-mail message		
Meme	o theme currently selected		
Font: Use theme	's font		*
ew mail messages			
Eont		Sample Text	
eplying or forwardi	ng messages		
Font		Sample Text	
Mark my comm			
PICK a new cold	when replying or forwarding		-
omposing and read		Comple Taut	
omposing and read		Sample Text	·
		Sample Text	
		Sample Text	
		Sample Text	

*Figure 3-5: You can design custom stationery for your e-mail with your own theme, fonts, and colored replies and forwards.* 

- If you want to use your fonts, click the appropriate Font button, and select the font, font style, size, and color you want.
- If you want to insert your name, click the Mark My Comments With check box. Type over the default text, if desired.
- If you want your replies or forwards to be in a different color, click Pick A New Color When Replying Or Forwarding.
- **4.** Click **OK** twice to close the Options dialog box.

### **APPLY STATIONERY TO A SINGLE MESSAGE**

- Click the Insert tab in the Outlook Message window, and click the Signature button in the Include group. Click Signatures on the menu. The Signature And Stationery dialog box appears.
- 2. Click the Personal Stationery tab.
- 3. Change the theme and fonts, as described in "Set a Default Stationery Theme."
- 4. Click OK.



59

N

ω

СЛ

4

O

 $\infty$ 

6


က

4

S

# TIP

You can also edit received messages when you forward them. This can be handy if you want to forward only the final comment and eliminate the original message text and other comments.

44

2

👬 Find 🔻

ab Replace

Select \*

Editing

## NOTE

If your Message window is not maximized, you may not see all available formatting Editing buttons. In some cases, the commands will be available in menus. You can click the group down arrow to see the menu of commands. or click the Maximize button on the title bar to increase the size of the window.



Figure 3-6: Using a standard Office theme allows you to coordinate your e-mail and regular Word correspondence.

### **USE A STANDARD MICROSOFT OFFICE THEME**

You can use a standard Microsoft Office theme in your e-mail that differs from the Outlook themes used for stationery. You might use these to coordinate your regular Word correspondence with your e-mail, thus creating a consistent and professional look. These themes are easy to use and available in your new Message window.

- 1. In the new Message window, click the Options tab if it is not already selected.
- 2. In the Themes group, if you can't see Colors, Fonts, and Effects, click Themes. Then, in any case, click the Themes down arrow, and click the standard theme you'd like to use for your e-mail, as shown in Figure 3-6.
  - Click Colors and click a combination of colors to change the color scheme.
  - Click Fonts and click a font style to change the fonts used.
  - Click Effect and click an effect to change the special effects of the graphics.
- 3. Type your new message and send it.

### **CHOOSE TO NOT USE STATIONERY**

If you don't want to use your selected stationery for a single new message:

In the Outlook window Home tab New group, click New Items, click E-Mail Message Using, and select HTML. A new message will appear without your stationery.

00

ດ

New Delete 80 Items 1 E-mail Message Appointment 00 Meeting 8= Contact 3 Task h Text Message E-mail Message Using More Items Plain Text Rich Text

[22220]



0

In the Message window, when you click the Themes button in the Themes group on the Options tab, you will see additional options at the bottom of the gallery of theme thumbnails. You can search for additional themes online by clicking Browse For Themes. If you alter a standard theme with new colors, fonts, or effects, you can save these changes as a custom theme to use again later by clicking Save Current Theme.

# UICKFACTS

### INCLUDING HYPERLINKS

You can add hyperlinks (whether links to an Internet site, to other locations in the current document, or to other documents) to your e-mail by typing them into the message body or by copying and pasting them. Outlook creates a live link, which it turns to a blue, underlined font when you type or paste any kind of Internet protocol (such as: http://, mailto:, or www.something.com:), regardless of what mail format you use. In HTML and Rich Text Format, you can substitute different text for the actual Uniform Resource Locator (URL) or e-mail address and still retain the link-by dragging to select the hyperlink and typing something different. An example might be displaying a link entitled, "Click here to view the photo gallery" with an actual link of "www.someorg .com/mygallery.html." In addition to typing the hyperlink address, you can click the **Insert** tab and click **Hyperlink** in the Links group. Then find the location of the link-in an existing file, a place in a document, a Web page, a new document, or an e-mail address-and click OK.

### To stop using stationery as a default:

- 1. In the Outlook window, click the File tab, click Options, and click Mail in the left pane.
- 2. Click the Stationery And Fonts button.
- **3.** On the Personal Stationery tab, click **Theme** and click (No Theme) at the top of the theme list.
- 4. Click OK three times.

### **Attach Files**

Sometimes you will want to send or receive a message that is accompanied by other files: pictures, word-processed documents, sound, or movie files. Creating attachments is like clipping newspaper stories and baby pictures to a letter. If you are editing or otherwise working on the item you want to attach, make sure that you save the latest version before you proceed. After that, click New to open the new Message window, and use one of the following attachment procedures.

### **DRAG A FILE TO A MESSAGE**

Find the file to be attached by using My Computer or Windows Explorer, and drag it to the message.

	From *		
Send	То	Bill Schwartz (bill@ourbiz.com);	
	Cc	]	
	Subject:	New Business presentation	
Hi Bill, Here is	the preser	ntation we discussed	<b>F</b> 3
		XxxxxX	



N

4

0

61

S

 $\infty$ 

ດ

### **INSERT A FILE**

When you attach a file to an e-mail message, it can either be attached as a file or entered as text into the body of the message. In some cases, it may be attached as a hyperlink. The attached file and its commands are identified with a paper clip icon.

- **1.** To display the Insert File dialog box:
  - Click the Insert tab, and then click Attach File in the Include group.

–Or–

In the Message tab, click the Attach File icon in the Include group.



U

Attach

File

- 2. The Insert File dialog box appears. Find and select the file to be attached. Then:
  - Click Insert to insert the file as an attachment. If the e-mail format is HTML (HyperText Markup Language) or plain text, it will be attached in a field labeled "Attached" beneath the Subject field. If the format is Rich Text Format, the file attachment will be in the body of the message.

		Hi Bill,
		Here is the presentation we discussed
Subject:	New Business presentation	New Business Presentation.ppt

Attachment identified for HTML or plain text format

#### Attachment identified for Rich Text Format

- Click the Insert down arrow, and choose between inserting the file as an attachment and inserting it as text in the body of the message. If you choose Insert As Text, the file is entered as text in the message. The file content of certain file types, such as .txt, .doc, and .eml, and the source code of others, such as HTML or HTA (HTML Application), will become part of the message. Everything else—pictures, sound, and movies—will generate nonsense characters in the message body.
- Click **Insert As Hyperlink** to insert the selected file as a hyperlink. (This option is often not available from the Attach File command.)
- Click Show Previous Versions to list the previous versions of the files so that you
  can select the version you want to attach.
- **3.** Complete and send the e-mail message.

Insert

Insert

Insert as Text

Show previous versions

Cancel

10

Organize 🔻 New folder			•
0 Microsoft Outlook	Pictures library Sunsets		Arrange by: Folder 🔻
🔆 Favorites	-		
💻 Desktop		Anilla ce a	17 M
Libraries Documents	SV400369.JPG	SV400373.JPG	SV400008.JPG
Music			
Pictures		No.	
🛃 Videos 🜏 Homegroup			
Marty	SV400374.JPG	SV400371.JPG	SV400010.JPG
n Computer	-	1	
I Control Panel	A. 1	and	mar it. It
🧃 Recycle Bin	SV400352.JPG	SV400370.JPG	SV400353.JPG
			-
	town to be	A STATE	A
	SV400351.JPG	SV400366.JPG	SV400367.JPG
SV400366.JPG JPEG image Date	State: 33 Shared e taken: 10/10/2006 1:22 PM	Rating: ☆ Dimensions: 112	హాహాహాహ 20 x 840
F3	V400366.JPG	- All Dicts	ires (*.emf;*.wmf;*.jpg;*

Figure 3-7: You can insert a picture or a link to it using the Insert Picture dialog box.

### **EMBED A PICTURE INTO A MESSAGE**

Though any kind of file you save on your computer or on a disk can be sent by following the previous steps, you have the added option of placing pictures (.gif, .jpg, .bmp, .tif, and so on) right into the message body.

- **1.** Click in the message body to set the insertion point.
- 2. Click the **Insert** tab, and click **Picture** in the Illustrations group. The Insert Picture dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 3-7.
- Select the picture file you want, and click the **Insert** down arrow. From the submenu:
- Insert Cancel Insert Link to File Insert and Link Show previous versions
- Click Insert to embed the picture in the message. You can then drag it to size it correctly for your message or right-click to display the Format Picture dialog box and edit the photo.



ဂ

4

00

10

63

ယ

N

က

4

S

ယ

# NOTE

If you link a picture to your message rather than embed it, you will need to either send the picture with the document or store the picture in a shared network folder available to the message recipient. Otherwise, your email will be seen with a red X where the photo should be.

# TIP

If you are on a Microsoft Exchange Server network, you can even insert voting options that the recipient has only to click for a response. To do this, create a message, click

the **Options** tab, and click the **Use Voting Buttons** down arrow in the Tracking group. Select the kind of reply you need, or click **Custom** to type new options separated by semicolons (;) in the Use Voting Buttons text box.



- Click Link To File to send a link to where the file is stored. This reduces the size of the message, but requires that the recipient have access to where the file is stored.
- Click Insert And Link to both embed the photo and send a link to its location.
- Click **Show Previous Versions** to list the previous versions of the files so that you can select the version you want to attach.
- 4. Complete and send the e-mail message.

### **Sign Messages**

You can create closings, or signatures, for your e-mail messages. Outlook signatures can contain pictures and text along with your name. You can create signatures in different styles for the different kinds of messages you write: friendly, formal, or business.

### **CREATE A SIGNATURE**

With Outlook open:

1. Click the File tab, and click **Options**. The Outlook Options window opens. Click **Mail** in the left pane.



- 2. Click Signatures in the right pane, and then click New.
- **3.** Type a name for your signature, and click **OK**. This identifies the signature group that the signature serves. It will not be displayed on the message. The Signatures And Stationery dialog box appears with the E-mail Signature tab selected.
- **4.** In the Edit Signature text box, type (or paste from another document) any text you want to include in your closing, including your name, as shown in Figure 3-8.
- 5. To apply formatting, select the text and click any of the formatting buttons in the toolbar. You can even insert a business card, picture, or hyperlink. Use the tips found earlier in the "Formatting Messages" QuickSteps. Plain text messages, by definition, cannot be formatted.



6. Click OK twice to close the dialog boxes.

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{\infty}$ 

64

See Chapter 10 on how to create and use electronic business cards and insert them within a signature.

ດ

### USING SIGNATURES

You can use certain signatures for certain accounts, and you can still pick a different one for a particular message.

Click the **File** tab, click **Options**, and in the Outlook Options window, click **Mail** in the left pane.

#### **ASSIGN SIGNATURES TO ACCOUNTS**

- Click the Signatures button, and then click the E-mail Signature tab.
- Click the E-mail Account down arrow, and select an account.
- Click the New Messages down arrow, and click the signature name to be used.
- Click the Replies/Forwards down arrow, and click the signature name to be used.
- Repeat steps 2–4 for each of your accounts, and then click OK twice.

#### **INSERT A SIGNATURE IN A MESSAGE**

Sometimes, you will want to replace a defined signature with another one or define a signature when you create a message.

- 1. Create an e-mail message.
- Click in the body of the message where you want the special closing. Click the Insert tab, and click Signature in the Include group. Choose one of the following options:



E-mail Signature	Personal Stationery					
5ele <u>c</u> t signature t	o edit			Choose default signa	ature	
Carole w artsy Carole w Busin	background		*	E-mail <u>a</u> ccount:	On Hotmail	-
MT Queries	ess card			New <u>m</u> essages:	(none)	•
			1994	Replies/ <u>f</u> orwards:	(none)	•
Balaka						
Delete	New	<u>S</u> ave <u>R</u> e	name			
Edi <u>t</u> signature						
Garamond					During Could 🔯 🙆	
Garamonu	▼ 12 ▼ B	I U Aut	tomatic		🛛 📓 Business Card 🛛 📓 🧕	
Thanks for	contacting us,		tomatic		E Business Caro Ma So	*
Thanks for			tomatic		E Business Caro Ma So	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro A So	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro A So	<b>^</b>
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro Ara So	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro Ara So	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro A	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro A	
Thanks for	contacting us,		comatic		E Business Caro A	•

N

сл

တ

4

*Figure 3-8: You can create one or more signatures with custom-designed characteristics that will be included in the bottom of your e-mail.* 

### **Use Digital Signatures**

A *digital signature* certifies that everything contained in the message documents, forms, computer code, training modules, whatever—originated with the sender. Computer programmers and people engaged in e-commerce use them a lot. To embed a formal digital signature, you need to acquire a *digital certificate*, which is like a license, from a certificate authority, such as VeriSign, GeoTrust, or GlobalSign.

Alternatively, you can create your own digital signature, although it is not administered by a certificate authority. A self-signed certificate is considered unauthenticated and will generate a security warning if the recipient has his or her security set at a high level.

10

65

6

### USING SIGNATURES (Continued)

- Click the name of an existing signature, and it will be inserted in the message. If you already have a message that was inserted automatically, it will be replaced by the one you select.
- Click Signatures, and the Signatures And Stationery dialog box will appear. Create a new signature, as described in "Sign Messages."
   For the current message, once again click Signature in the Insert tab, and click the name of your new signature.

### TIP

You can also do an Internet search on "Get a digital ID" and find other sources of digital IDs, some of which are free for an initial period.

#### Encrypted e-mail

Encrypt contents and attachments for outgoing messages
 Add digital signature to outgoing messages
 Send clear <u>t</u>ext signed message when sending signed
 messages
 Request S/MIME receipt for all S/MIME signed messages

### **ACQUIRE A DIGITAL CERTIFICATE**

If you do not already have a digital certificate, Outlook can lead you to a Web site where you can find a commercial certification authority to issue one. Make sure you are online before you begin.

- Click the File tab, click Options, click Trust Center, and click Trust Center Settings. The Trust Center window opens. Click E-mail Security in the left pane.
- 2. Under Digital IDs (Certificates), click Get A Digital ID. A Microsoft Web page on digital IDs will open.
- **3.** Follow the instructions on the page to select a vendor and obtain a certificate.

### **IMPORT OR EXPORT A DIGITAL ID**

If you already have a digital ID in another application, you can import into Outlook or you can export your digital ID in Outlook so you can use it in another application.

- Click the File tab, click Options, click Trust Center, and click Trust Center Settings. The Trust Center window opens. Click E-mail Security in the left pane.
- Under Digital IDs (Certificates), click Import/Export. The Import/Export Digital ID dialog box appears.
- **3.** Click **Import Existing Digital ID From A File** to import a digital ID, or click **Export Your Digital ID To A File** to export your own digital ID.
- 4. Fill in the requested information, and click OK three times.

#### ADD A DIGITAL SIGNATURE TO MESSAGES

- 1. Click the File tab, click Options, click Trust Center, and click Trust Center Settings. The Trust Center window opens.
- 2. Click the E-mail Security option.
- **3.** Under Encrypted E-mail, click the **Add Digital Signature To Outgoing Messages** check box.
- 4. To make sure that recipients can read the message if they don't have Secure/ Multipurpose Internet Mail Extensions (S/MIME) security, click the Send Clear Text Signed Message When Sending Signed Messages check box.
- 5. To receive a message confirming that your message got to the recipient, click the Request S/MIME Receipt For All S/MIME Signed Messages check box.
- 6. Click OK twice.

N

4

00

ດ

0

### TIP

For exploring misspelled words, you will find a reference source by clicking **Research** in the Proofing group on the Review tab of the Message window.



### **Check Spelling**

Even though many abbreviations have emerged with e-mail, instant messaging, and texting, unintentional spelling errors still can be a problem. You can have Outlook check the spelling of your message when you finish, or you can have it automatically check messages as you are writing them.

Create a message and keep the cursor in the body when you are finished. Any

spelling errors will be automatically flagged for you with a red wavy line. You

#### **CHECK A MESSAGE**

will have these options:

spelling is suggested, click it.

Right-click the flagged word, and if a correct



- If you do not see the correct spelling, then the flagged word cannot be found in the dictionary. Either look it up in a reference source and type it in, or type another spelling to see if it is correct.
- If you know the flagged word is correct and you want to add it to the dictionary, rightclick the word and click Add To Dictionary. Also, see "Add a Word to the Dictionary," next.



Figure 3-9: The default spelling dictionary contains everyday words rather than technical or scientific terms. You can add special words to it.

### ADD A WORD TO THE DICTIONARY

67

4

G

ω

N

7

00

The personal, or custom, dictionary can get long, and misspellings can be added accidentally. To edit the dictionary from Outlook, click the **File** tab, click **Options**, and click **Mail** in the left pane. Click **Spelling And AutoCorrection**. In the Editor Options window, click **Custom Dictionaries**. In the Custom Dictionaries dialog box, click **Edit Word List**. Remove a word by clicking it, pressing **DELETE** (to fix it, type the correct spelling instead), and then clicking **OK** four times.

W <u>o</u> rd(s):			
Dictionary:			
Accoutrements Marly Matthews QuickSteps			
	Add	Delete	Delete all
		ОК	Cancel

### CHECK MESSAGES BEFORE SENDING

To automatically check spelling in messages before sending them:

 Click the File tab, and click Options. The Outlook Options window opens. Click Mail in the left pane.

ABC

2. Click Always Check Spelling Before Sending, and click OK. Always check spelling before sending Ignore original message text in reply or forward

# Send Messages

No extra postage, no trip to the post office, no running out of envelopes. What could be better? Once a message is ready to go, you can just click a button. Outlook provides features that let you exercise more control over the process than you could ever get from the postal service, or "snail" mail.

Make sure that your message is complete and ready to send, and then click **Send** on the upper-left area of the message.

When you have more than one account, your Message window contains a From button that is not available otherwise. To send a message from a particular account:

Click **From** above the To button in the Message window, select an account, and click Send.

	From •
-	То
	Cc

=

Send

### **Reply to Messages**

When you receive a message that you want to answer, you have three ways to initiate a reply:

• Open the message and click **Reply** in the Respond group on the Message tab.

–Or–

- Right-click the message in the Folder pane, and select **Reply** from the context menu.
   –Or–
- Click the message in the Folder pane, and click **Reply** in the Home tab's Respond group.

N

4

00

ດ

0

File	Message	Insert Options Format T	ext Revie	ew Developer			0
1		U HEYHEY III II Y ■ E E E B Boo Boo	ess Check ok Names Names	<ul> <li>Attach File</li> <li>Attach Item *</li> <li>Signature *</li> <li>Include</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Follow Up -</li> <li>High Importance</li> <li>Low Importance</li> <li>Tags G</li> </ul>	Zoom Zoom	
	From *	On Gmall					
send	То	Business Daily Times					
	Cc						
	Bcc						
	Subject:	RE: BDT Newsletter					
	hanks,	ormation on subscriptions.					
	Sent: Thur	ress Daily Times sday, January 07, 2010 2:01 PM ie@someplace.com D⊺ Newsclatter					
	Subject. P		10				•

Figure 3-10: The Reply window uses the sender's message format and subject to make the e-mail conversation easy to track and respond to.



Whichever way you choose, a reply Message window opens, as shown in Figure 3-10. The message will be formatted using the same format the sender used, and the subject will be "RE:" plus the original subject in the Subject line. By default, the pointer blinks in the message body above the original message and sender's address (see also "Change the Reply Layout" below). Treat it like a new Message window: type a message, add attachments or links, and click **Send**.

### **REPLY TO ALL RECIPIENTS**

If the To field in the message contains several recipients, all of whom should read your reply, Outlook makes it simple. Using any of the three ways just listed, select **Reply All**. The reply Message window will list all original recipients in the To and Cc fields. Send the message as usual.

#### CHANGE THE REPLY LAYOUT

You can select from five different ways to incorporate the original message. Also, if you'd rather just insert your responses into the original text, Outlook lets you decide how to identify your remarks.

- **1.** Click the **File** tab, click **Options**, and click **Mail** in the left pane.
- Beneath Replies And Forwards, click the When Replying To A Message down arrow, and select how you want the original message included.
- Click the Preface Comments With check box, and type the label you want.
- **4.** Click **OK**.

N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

0

1 4 9

Paste

Ű

3

Message

Calibri (Body)

BI

00

# 0

-

ດ



### **Forward Messages**

When you forward a message, you send an incoming message to someone else. You can send messages to new recipients, using the same techniques as with the Reply feature.

When you receive a message that you want to forward to someone else, use one of these techniques:

 Open the message and click Forward in the Respond group on the Message tab.

-Or-

Right-click the message in the Folder pane, and select Forward from the context menu.

-0r-

a 🕜

9

Zoom

- 0 X

1

Tags

Click the message in the Folder pane, and click **Forward** on the Home group.

A Forward Message window opens, with the cursor blinking in the To field and a space above the original message for you to type your own. Once the Forward Message window opens, the simplest action is to enter the recipient(s) address(es), insert attachments as needed, and send as usual.

### FORWARD MULTIPLE MESSAGES

Rather than forward a bunch of messages one by one, you can bundle them and forward them in one message.

- 1. Press CTRL while you click each message in the message list that vou want to forward.
- **2.** Right-click one of the messages in the group, and click **Forward**. A new mail message opens with the messages included as attachments, as seen in Figure 3-11. You may also see the attachments in the Attached box rather than in the message area.
- Complete the message and send as usual.

Clipboard 🗔 Basic Text Include 700m From -\_ To... Jackson Johnson (jack@ouco.com); Send Cc... Weekend reading Subject: 🖂 Meeting at 5:30pm (537 KB); 🖂 Meeting at 5:30pm (5 KB); Attached: 🖂 Merry Christmas! (8 KB) 123 4 For next week. \* ^ Jackson Johnson Figure 3-11: You can group and forward e-mails as attachments.

Format Text

00

Names

Review

Attach File

💵 Attach Item

🚵 Signature 🕶

🚸 🗇 😓 Weekend reading - Message (HTML)

A

-\*

Options

11

\* 1 - \*

=

Insert



Forward

### Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Creating and Sending E-mail

N

S

### **Set Message Priority**

message as important so that it will stand out in his or her Inbox. Outlook includes a red exclamation point in the message list to call attention to messages Y Follow Up set with high importance and a blue down arrow to indicate messages with low 🕴 High Importance importance. In the Message window, you flag your e-mail messages with the Low Importance appropriate flag.

> 1. Create a message. In the Options group on the Message tab, select one of these options:

If your recipient gets a lot of messages, you might want to identify your

- Click High Importance to insert a red exclamation point to indicate high importance.
- Click Low Importance to insert a blue down arrow to indicate low importance.
- 2. Send the message as usual.

### **Request Receipts**

Anyone who has sent an important message and has not heard a peep from the recipient can appreciate receipts. When the addressee receives or reads the message, you are notified. You can request receipts for all your messages or on a message-by-message basis.

### **OBTAIN RECEIPTS FOR ALL MESSAGES**

- 1. Click the File tab, click Options, and click Mail in the left pane.
- 2. In the Outlook Options window, scroll down to Tracking.
- To request a receipt, click Read Receipt Confirming The Recipient Viewed The Message, Delivery Receipt Confirming The Message Was Delivered To The Recipient's E-mail Server, or both.
- **4.** If you like, choose an option for responding to other senders' requests for a receipt—Always Send A Read Receipt, Never Send A Read Receipt, or Ask Me Each Time (the default).
- Click OK three times.
- received. Not all e-mail servers and applications support sending receipts. For all messages sent, request: Delivery receipt confirming the message was delivered to the recipient's e-mail server Read receipt confirming the recipient viewed the message For any message received that includes a read receipt request: Always send a read receipt Never send a read receipt Ask each time whether to send a read receipt Automatically process meeting requests and responses to meeting requests and polls Automatically update original sent item with receipt information Update tracking information, and then delete responses that don't contain comments After updating tracking 🗑 Deleted Items

Delivery and read receipts help provide confirmation that messages were successfully

information, move receipt to:

Tracking

Tags

71

0

# G

4

တ

**S** 

00



You can fire off your messages now or later or on a schedule.

#### SEND MESSAGES MANUALLY

By default, as long as you are connected to the Internet, clicking **Send** in the Message window sends the completed message. You can turn this off so that clicking Send in the Message window only puts the message in the Outbox folder. You must then click **Send/Receive** in the Outlook standard toolbar to send all the messages in the Outbox folder.

#### **TURN OFF AUTO-SEND**

To prevent a message from being automatically sent unless you click Send in the Message window:

- Click the File tab, click Options, and click Advanced in the left pane.
- 2. Under Send And Receive, clear the Send Immediately When Connected check box.
- Click Send/Receive. Under Settings For Group "All Accounts," clear the Schedule An Automatic Send/Receive Every check box. Also clear the Perform An Automatic Send/Receive When Exiting check box.
- 4. Click Close and then click OK.

#### SEND MESSAGES AT A CERTAIN TIME

- 1. Create the message and click the **Options** tab.
- Click the Delay Delivery button in the More Options group. The Message Options dialog box appears.

Create a message and click the **Options** tab in the Message window.
 In the Tracking group, click **Request A Delivery Receipt**,

**OBTAIN A SINGLE RECEIPT** 

**Request A Read Receipt**, or both. (If you have set these options for all mail, this message will reflect those settings.)

### Request a Delivery Receipt Request a Read Receipt Tracking

### **Delay Delivery with a Rule**

You can create a rule to control when messages leave your system after you click Send.

 In the Outlook window Home tab Move group, click Rules, and click Manage Rules & Alerts.



Figure 3-12: Outlook's rule-making feature has a large number of conditions that you can organize into rules.

- If you are told that messages sent and received with HTTP (such as Hotmail, Gmail, and Yahoo!) cannot be filtered using rules and alerts, click OK.
- **3.** In the Rules And Alerts dialog box, click **New Rule**.
- In the Rules Wizard, under Start From A Blank Rule, click Apply Rule On Messages I Send, and click Next.
- Click to select any desired conditions that limit which messages the rule applies to, and then click the link in the description pane (shown in Figure 3-12), which may display a dialog box to specify the exact criteria. Complete the dialog box, click OK, and click Next.

N

LO

0

00

0

2

Delay

Delivery

Continued . . .

10



•

 In the submenu, select whether you want to save the message to the default folder, to another folder (which you find and select in the Select Folder dialog box), or to not save the message at all.

- 6. Under Select Action(s), click Defer Delivery By A number Of Minutes.
- **7.** In the description pane, click the link for *a number of* minutes, and in the Deferred Delivery dialog box, type the total minutes (up to 120) that you want messages delayed, click **OK**, and click **Next**.
- Click any exceptions, specify them in the description pane, click OK if necessary, and click Next.
- **9.** Type a name for the rule, and click **Finish**. You are returned to the Rules And Alerts dialog box, which will now show your new rule, as you can see in Figure 3-13.

nail Rules Manage Alerts	<i></i>	
New Rule Change Rule - 📄 Copy 🗙 Delete		
Rule (applied in the order shown)	Actions	A
<ul> <li>Delay if message is at least 100 and at most 1000 kilob</li> <li>Clear categories on mail (recommended)</li> </ul>	bytes	A COLOR
j clear categories on mail (recommended)		<u>~.</u>
		-
le description (click an underlined value to edit):		
Apply this rule after I send the message		
with a size <u>at least 100 and at most 1000 kilobytes</u>		
lefer delivery by <u>90</u> minutes		
Enable rules on all messages downloaded from RSS Fee	de	
Chable rules on all messages downloaded from Koo Fee	us	
	45×	

Figure 3-13: The Rules And Alerts dialog box, opened from the Home tab Move group, provides for the creation and management of rules.

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

<u></u>

00

ယ

0



### How to...

- Add a New Contact
- Editing Contacts
- Copy Contacts from E-mail
- Create a Contact Group
- Remove a Name from a
   Contact Group
- Add Contacts to E-mail
- Arrange Contacts
- Working with Color Categories
- Manage Your Contact Views
- Find a Contact
- Print Contact Information
- Phone a Contact
- See a Map for a Contact's Address
- Using Keyboard Shortcuts with Contacts
- Create a Mail-Merged E-mail

# hapter 4 Managing Contacts

Taking a moment to create contacts can save you from typing—and later correcting—the whole e-mail address every time you send a message. Once you've entered a name as a contact, you can add business or personal information—like phone numbers, addresses, or an important anniversary—at your convenience. In this chapter, you will learn how to create and maintain your contacts, as well as different ways to use contact information.

## **Create Contacts**

The kind of address books that fit in your pocket have spaces so tiny that you're forced to write phone numbers trailing down the margins. Often, entries get scratched out and replaced because people move. Other listings are almost unreadable because family members now have multiple phone numbers.

N

ω

ດ

 $\overline{\phantom{a}}$ 

00

ဖ



Figure 4-1: The Contacts window, where you manage your contacts, displays current contact information for viewing, editing, or adding new ones.

Outlook Contacts provides a satisfying alternative, helping you keep everything straight and up-to-date, even information for acquaintances who don't have e-mail. You can create a new contact from within Outlook, from an e-mail message, from an electronic business card, and even from a public folder. Figure 4-1 shows an example of a list of contacts.

-

ດ

0 -

A name is all you need to save a contact. The New Contact window, shown in Figure 4-2, however, also provides a flexible layout that can store an immense amount of information, which you can use later for professional



Figure 4-2: The Contact window displays fields into which you can enter information for reaching a contact in a variety of ways.

N

10

က

す

Ŋ

ဖ

 $\sim$ 

# NOTE

There is a significant distinction between the "Contacts window" (plural) that lists the people in a Contacts list (shown in Figure 4-1) and the "Contact window" (singular) where you enter and edit a contact (shown in Figure 4-2).

00

σ

78

Mail Calendar Calendar Contacts Tasks Notes Folder List Shortcuts and social purposes. The ribbon provides for data entry and control in five different groups:

- Actions provide file management commands, including Save & Close, Delete, and Save & New. Click the Save & New down arrow, and click Contact From The Same Company to quickly add a new contact from the same company as the last entry you made. You can also forward the contact information to a third party or to OneNote.
- Show commands include all information about your new contact:
  - **General** contains basic information for identifying and getting in touch with the person (shown in Figure 4-2).
  - Details provides business and personal data.
  - Activities, a search tool, lists Outlook items (e-mail messages, notes, tasks, and so on) associated with the person.
  - **Certificates** imports and maintains a contact's digital ID. (See Chapter 3 for an explanation of digital certificates.)
  - All Fields lets you quickly look up the contents of a variety of fields completed for that contact.
- **Communicate** commands give you tools to send an e-mail message to the new contact, set up a meeting, send an instant message, telephone your new contact, connect to the contact's Web site, assign him or her to a task, create a journal entry about him or her, or see a map based on the contact's address.
- **Names** commands let you display the entire Address Book as well as verify names and e-mail addresses to ensure you have typed the information correctly.
- **Options** commands allow you to add or modify the contact's electronic business card and add a picture to your Contact dialog box.
- **Tags** commands let you categorize your contact with any one of six categories that you can customize, create follow-up flags and reminders for this contact, and mark an item as private.
- The **Zoom** command lets you zoom in on the data in the Notes section of your contact.

### Add a New Contact

To add a new contact to Outlook 2010:

1. Open Outlook and choose **Contacts** from the Outlook View, if it is not already selected.

2. On the Contacts Home tab. click New Contact. -Or-Press CTRL+N. -0r-From anywhere in Outlook, press CTRL+SHIFT+C. In any case, the Contact window opens. **3.** If you don't see the Contact window shown in Figure 4-2, in the Contact tab Show group, click General. This opens a number of fields that allow you to enter basic contact information. Use the TAB key to move through the fields, or click in the desired fields. **a.** Full Name Click the button to enter separate fields for title, first, middle, and last name; or type a full name in the text box. This is all that is required to create a contact. **b.** Company Type the name of the company or organization with which the person is affiliated. **C. Job Title** Type any title that you need to remember. **d.** File As Click the down arrow beside the text box to select the combination of name and company that will dictate its place in the Contacts window. You need to enter the name and company first before you can access this information. e. Internet fields allow you to enter: i. E-mail Click the down arrow to select up to three e-mail addresses to be associated with the person. For each one, type an address in the text box. **ii.** Display As Press TAB or drag to select the default display, and, if desired, type a new name. This is the field that determines how the person's name will appear in the To field in an e-mail message. **III. Web Page Address** Type the person's URL. **IV. IM Address** Type the Internet mail address that the person uses for instant messaging. **f.** Phone Numbers Click the down arrow beside each button to select among 19 number types, and then click the label button to enter detailed information about it; or type the number in the text box. **g.** Addresses Click the down arrow beside the button to select among three types of addresses, and then click in the text box to enter detailed information; or type the address in the text box. If you have more than one address for a contact, click This Is The Mailing Address to specify the address to be used for mail. **h.** Notes Type any comments or notes in the large text box.

TIP

A quick way to create an e-mail message from the Contacts window is to right-click the contact, select **Create**, and click **E-mail**. N

ŝ

 $\mathbf{\nabla}$ 

G

တ

<u></u>

00

6

0

က

 $\overline{}$ 

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

Save & Close	Delete Save & Forward New * Forward	General Details Show
Sho <u>w</u> :	All Items	•
	All Items Contacts E-mail Iournal Notes Upcoming Tasks/Appoir	Itments

- In the Contact tab Show group, click **Details** to display the Detail fields.
  - **a. Specific Office Information** Complete the text fields as needed, such as department, manager's name, etc.
  - b. Personal Information Type information such as the person's nickname, spouse's name, and birthday, selecting from drop-down date boxes, as appropriate.

<u>B</u> irthday:	Fri 11/13/2009							
Anni <u>v</u> ersary:		N	love	mbe	r 20	09		
	Su	Mo	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa	
	25	26	.27	28	29		31	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	
	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	
	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	
	29	30	1	2	3	4	5	
		Tod	lay		N	lone		

- **C. Internet Free-Busy** Type an Internet address (Uniform Resource Locator, or URL) that has information about the person's schedule availability.
- 5. In the Contact tab Show group, click Activities, click the Show down arrow, and select an area from which to list items related to the person. The search can take quite a while before producing a list.
- In the Contact tab Show group, click Certificates, and click Import to browse for the person's digital certificate. (See Chapter 3 for information about digital certificates.) Click a certificate in the list, and click Properties to review details. Click Set As Default to use the selected certificate by default.
- **7.** In the Contact tab Show group, click **All Fields**, select a type of field from the dropdown list, and review the contents of the associated fields.
- 8. In the Contact tab Actions group, click **Save & Close** when finished. If you need to enter another contact, click **Save & New** to open a new Contact window.

### ADD A CONTACT FROM THE SAME COMPANY

If you already have a contact for someone in a company and you want to add another, Outlook helps you out by filling in the company information.

- 1. Open an existing contact from the company.
- In the Contact tab Actions group, click the Save & New down arrow. Click Contact From Same Company. A new Contact window opens with the company data displayed.
- **3.** Fill in any other information, save the contact, and close the window.



80

ດ



### **EDITING CONTACTS**

Once you have created a contact, you can change the information as much as you want. Just open the contact and change or enter new information. The following tasks all begin with an open Contact window and end with clicking **Save & Close**.

#### **ADD A PICTURE**

To insert an image into your electronic business card:

- In the Contact tab Options group, click Business
   Card to open the Edit Business Card dialog box.
- 2. Click Change in the Image field.
- Locate the photo file on your computer, and double-click the image to select it.
- 4. Click OK.

Image:	Change		
Image Area:	16%	-	
Image Align:	Fit to Edge	-	

### **Copy Contacts from E-mail**

When you copy an address in the From or Cc e-mail message fields, the Contact window opens with the name and e-mail address fields filled in.

- 1. Open an e-mail message you have received.
- Right-click the name in the message window, and click Add To Outlook Contacts. Fill in any additional information you want.
- 3. Click Save & Close. The name and e-mail address are added to your contacts.

#### **CREATE CONTACTS BY DRAGGING**

Any Outlook item, like an e-mail message, turns into a contact if you drag it onto the Contacts view bar in Outlook View. This is especially useful with important e-mail messages whose senders you need in your contacts. The name and e-mail address go into their respective fields, and the important message displays in the Contact window Notes text box. The New Contact window opens in back of the Mail window, and when it is saved, it closes automatically.

#### **CREATE A CONTACT FROM AN ELECTRONIC BUSINESS CARD**

Electronic business cards pack contact information into a small, easy-to-share package. If another Outlook user sends you an electronic business card attached to an e-mail message, you can automatically create a new contact when you save the message.

- 1. Open the e-mail message.
- Double-click the electronic business card attachment (it should be a .vcf file). You might see a warning about only opening trustworthy attachments. If so, click **Open** if this is a business card you trust.
- **3.** The Add A Contact dialog box appears. You may modify the information. To save the contact, click **Add Contact**. If you do not want to save the information, click **Cancel**.

### **Create a Contact Group**

Avoid entering the address for each member of an organization to which you send messages. Instead, create and name a contract group for the organization,

N

ŝ

7

0

81



Attach Outlook Dusine File Item Card Include		e Table Tables	Picture	Shapes = SmartArt Clip Art Lustrations	S Hyperlink A Bookmark Links	Text Bo	Parts * 🛃 Date & Time	π Equation ▼ Ω Symbol ▼ A= Horizontal Line Symbols
Full Name	Mary A	fams					Mary Adam	s
Company: Job title:	FineCo				as P		FineCo (360) 553-557: (555) 914 657:	LWork
Fil <u>e</u> as:	Adams	Mary		- 624	A CONTRACTOR		(555) 321-6673	Home
Internet							Mary@whosis P O Box 12	
🛄 E-mail	Mary@	hosis.org					Ther. ST 22554	
Display as: <u>W</u> eb page address: IM address <u>i</u>	Mary A	iams (Mary@	whosis.org	J	No	tes 🖂		8
Phone numbers								
Business	[360] 5	3-5571				RE: classes	s logo short.tif	Schmidt Bob _ Marti.vcf
Home	(555) 3	1-6677						
Dusiness Fax	(555) 3.	1-6776				$\checkmark$	4	
Mobile	(555) 9	4.6571				Meet with L		
Addresses						new hires		
Business	P O Bo Ther, S			1 22	A			
This is the mailin address	g iner. s	22004		l.	Aap It			

Figure 4-3: Attach any type of file in your Contact window for easy reference.

as shown in Figure 4-4. It will appear as an entry of its own in your Contacts list, so sending a message to the group will send a message to each member. Review Chapter 3 to see how to send e-mail messages using a contact group.

- From the Contacts window, in the Home tab, select New Contact Group. The Contact Group window opens.
- Type a name for the group in the Name text box. In the ribbon's Contact Group tab Members group, click Add Members to choose the location of the members you want to include.
- 3. Click From Outlook Contacts or Address Book to choose names.
- Click New E-mail Contact to enter a name and e-mail address. The Add New Member dialog box appears.
  - Click Add To Contacts if you want to include the name in your regular Contacts list.
  - Clear the Add To Contacts check box if you only want this name included with this contact group.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

00

ດ

1	-	Community Board - Conta	act Group			X
File Contact Grou	p Insert F	ormat Text Review				۵
Save & Delete Forward Group Group * Actions	Members Show	Add Remove Update Members - Member Now Members	E-mail Meeting	Categorize *  Follow Up *  Private Tags	Q Zoom Zoom	
Name: Community Boa	rd					
Name A		E-mail				
💵 Cruz Juan and Song (d	ruzfam@whther.co	m) cruzfam	@whther.com			
💵 Davidbloom Molly (da	vandmol@wheethe	n.net) davandi	nol@wheethen.net			
💵 Debroah Millner (d.mi	llner@theris.net)	d.millne	r@theris.net			
💵 Evans Marlene (marlye	e@thiisc.net)	mariyee	@thiisc.net			
💵 Field Montrose (m.fiel	d@hereco.net)	m.field@	Dhereco.net			
	@wherein.net)	mat@w	herein.net			
💵 Marinez Mathew (mat						

Figure 4-4: Contact groups make it easy to send a message to every member of your organization.

• Click **OK** to close the Add New Member dialog box.



- You may add notes to your group. In the Contact Group tab Show group, click **Notes** to display the Notes window. Type any notes that pertain to this contact group.
- In the Contact Group tab Actions group, click Save & Close to save your new list.

### **Remove a Name from a Contact Group**

You can count on change affecting the people in your list. To keep your messages going to the right places, you can add or remove members and update current information directly from your contacts.

- 1. To remove a name, open the Contact window, and locate the contact group. Doubleclick the list to open it.
- In the Contact Group tab Show group, click Members to display the list of members, if it isn't already displayed.
- **3.** Click the member name you want to remove. In the Members group, click **Remove Member**. The name is removed from your contact group. This does not remove the name from your Contacts list, only from the contact group.
- 4. In the Actions group, click **Save & Close** to save your changes.



N

ω

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

TIP

When you send e-mail to a contact group, you don't have to let the members see who's on it—enter the name of the list into the Bcc field. To display the Bcc field from the e-mail message window, in the Options tab Show Fields group, select **Bcc**.



You can create a new contact group from anywhere in Outlook 2010. Press **CTRL+SHIFT+L** to open a new Contact Group window.

# **Use Contacts**

Once you enter a contact, you can do a lot with it besides fill in e-mail addresses quickly and accurately-though that alone makes it worth far more than any effort involved. You can share contact information, sort contacts, flag them for future action, use an automated telephone dialer built into the contact, and even create a Postal Service letter using the contact.

### Add Contacts to E-mail

The information you have for a contact may be useful to someone else. Whether it's a business associate or a relative, sharing the information by way of e-mail prevents typos, copying errors, and tedium. You can send the contact as an item—both in text and as an attachment—or as an electronic business card. which you can send to other Outlook users, or you can send a vCard (.vcf file) to those who don't use Outlook. No matter how you send it, the recipient treats the contact like any other attached file.

### **ADD A CONTACT TO E-MAIL**

×

OK

Cancel

Insert as

Text only

Attachment

.

÷

You can include an Outlook contact as an attachment to an e-mail message, as plain text, or as an electronic business card.

To include a contact with your e-mail as an attachment or as plain text:

1. In the e-mail message window, in the Message tab Include group, click the Attach Item down arrow. A menu is displayed.



- 2. Click Outlook Item. The Insert Item dialog box will appear.
- 3. Under Look In, click **Contacts** and under Items, select the contact you want to include.
- 4. Click Attachment to send the information as an attachment.

-Or-

Click Text Only to send the information as plain text. All of the contact's information will appear in the body of the e-mail message.

5. Click OK to close the Insert Item dialog box.

~ ·

84

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

 $\overline{}$ 

00

ດ



*Figure 4-5:* You can insert any business card in your Contacts list into an e-mail message.



Chapter 10 has a discussion about creating and using electronic business cards.



You can select multiple contacts using the keyboard and mouse. Hold down **CTRL** while you click all desired contacts. Or hold down **SHIFT** while you click the first contact in a sequence, and then click the last contact. To include a contact as an electronic business card:

- 1. In the e-mail message window, in the Insert tab Include group, click Attach Item.
- 2. From the drop-down menu, click **Business Card**.
- **3.** Click **Other Business Cards** to display the Insert Business Card dialog box.
- Click the contact name you want to include. The electronic business card will appear in the body of the e-mail message as seen in Figure 4-5.
- 5. Click **OK** to close the dialog box.

If you choose to send your contact as an electronic business card, the way your e-mail recipient sees it depends on his or her computer system.

- If your recipient uses Outlook 2010, she will see the card exactly as you see it, with all
  of its graphics and color. She may save the information on the card by right-clicking it
  and saving it to her Contacts list.
- If the recipient uses an e-mail application that views e-mail as HTML (HyperText Markup Language), he will see the electronic business card as an image. The same recipient receives the information in the form of a .vcf file that is attached to the e-mail. He can save the contact information to his Address Book from that .vcf file.
- If the recipient uses a plain-text e-mail viewer, she will not see the graphic electronic business card. Instead, the recipient will receive an attached .vcf file from which the information can be saved.

### SEND A CONTACT GROUP

You can send a contact group through e-mail.

- 1. Open the Contacts window, and locate and select the contact group you want to send.
- Press CTRL+F. This opens an e-mail message window. The contact group appears as an attachment.
- 3. Create and send the message as usual.

### **Arrange Contacts**

You probably create contacts for different reasons, to serve various purposes, with some more important than others. Therefore, Outlook provides different ways for you to organize and look at them. N

ŝ

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

0

### WORKING WITH COLOR CATEGORIES

Outlook 2010 color categories give you a way to organize your contacts and other items. You can assign a color category not just to a contact, but also to e-mail messages, calendar items, and so forth. There are 25 colors you can use to designate a category, including the 6 standard colors that are displayed. Only the 10 most recently viewed color categories are displayed on the Categorize menu, but you can see the rest by clicking **All Categories** in the Categorize menu.

#### **CREATE A NEW COLOR CATEGORY**

To create a new color category:

- 1. In the Contacts ribbon Home tab Tags group, click Categories.
- Click All Categories to display the Color Categories dialog box.
- Click New. The Add New Category dialog box appears.
  - a. Enter the name you want for this category.
  - b. Click the Color down arrow, and click a color from the palette. You can use any of the 25 colors.
  - Click the Shortcut Key down arrow, and click a keyboard shortcut. You have 11 choices of keyboard shortcut keys.
  - **d.** Choose one of the keyboard shortcuts displayed, or leave the default selection (None).



Continued . .

e. Click OK to complete the process and close the Color Categories dialog box.

### **CATEGORIZE YOUR CONTACT GROUP**

If you use color categories to organize Outlook 2010, you can easily assign one or more to your contact group. See the "Working with Color Categories" QuickSteps for further information.

24

Call

Y

N

X Delete

Move

Eorward Contact 🕨

Create

Categorize

Follow Up

OneNote

- To assign one color category to your contact group, open the Contacts window, and locate the contact group. Double-click the list to open it.
- In the Contact Group tab Tags group, click Categorize to display the Categorize menu.
- **3.** Click the category you want. The category is displayed above the name of your contact group. The menu closes automatically.
- To assign more than one color category, follow steps 1–3, except click All Categories at the bottom of the Categorize menu. The Color Categories dialog box appears.
- 5. Click the check boxes for the categories you want.
- **6.** Click **OK** to close the dialog box and return to your contact group. All of the color categories you chose appear above the name of your contact group.
- 7. In the Contact group tab Actions group, click **Save & Close** to close the Contact group window.

### **CATEGORIZE MULTIPLE CONTACTS**

After you have created a number of contacts, you might want to group them into their respective categories.

- 1. In the Contacts window, select the contacts you wish to place in a specific category.
- 2. Right-click any of the selected contacts to open a menu.
  - Click Categorize and select the color category into which you want them grouped.
  - **4.** The menu closes automatically, and the color category is added to your contact grouping.

4

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

S

ဖ

00

ດ

### WORKING WITH COLOR CATEGORIES (Continued)

#### **RENAME A COLOR CATEGORY**

To rename an existing color category:

- Open the Color Categories dialog box, as described in the previous section, or by clicking Categorize on the ribbon and clicking All Categories.
- 2. Select the category and click Rename.
- **3.** Type a new name for this category in the text box that is now selected.
- 4. Press ENTER to complete the process.
- 5. Click OK to close the Color Categories dialog box.

#### **DELETE A COLOR CATEGORY**

To delete an existing color category:

- Open the Color Categories dialog box in either of the two ways described previously.
- 2. Select the category and click Delete.
- A warning message will appear, informing you that deleting the category removes it from your list but does not affect previously categorized items.
- Click Yes to delete the category, or click No to leave it on the list.

### **CHANGE THE VIEW OF CONTACTS**

Just as you can select and customize the view of other parts of Outlook, you can choose from four standard views of the Contacts window, and you can change the view to suit your needs.



- Business Cards shows the electronic business cards for each contact.
- **Cards** shows names, e-mail addresses, phone numbers, mailing addresses, and notes for the contact.
- Phone List gives each contact one line in a table, with telephone and fax numbers displayed, as seen in Figure 4-6.
- List displays each contact on one line in the same manner as Phone List. However, the contact's e-mail address is displayed first.

### **Manage Your Contact Views**

It's easy to try the various views to find which one works best for you and then to customize that view.

 From the Contacts window Home tab, click the More button on the lower-right area of the Current View group.



D 0	Full Name	Company	File As 🗢	Business Phone	Business Fax	Home Phone	Mobile Phone	E-mail	Journal	Categories 🖗
	Click here to add a new									
8=										8
8=	Chris Adams		Adams Chris	360-555-3214	360-555-1438			chris.a@admas.com		Ÿ
8=	Mary Adams	FineCo	Adams, Mary	(360) 553-5571	(555) 321-6776	(555) 321-6677	(555) 914-6571	Mary@whosis.org		Ŕ
8=	Linda Alexson		Alexson Linda			360-558-5712		linda@homwork.com		Ÿ
8	Lilly Brown		Brown Lilly			(555) 123-5711	(555) 987-6542	operator@wherethen.ne		Ŕ
8=	Manette Collins	<b>Canter Industries</b>	Collins Manette	(555) 123-6547	(555) 123-5674	(555) 321-7457		m.collins@canter1.net		F
8	Community Board		Community Board							🔲 Personal Errands/Tasks, 🖓
8=	Juan and Song Cruz		Cruz Juan and Song			(555) 654-3211	(555) 555-1234	cruzfam@whther.com		P

Figure 4-6: Displaying Outlook Contacts in Phone List view gives quick access to both work and home phone numbers.

N

ŝ

G

တ

10

87

View Name	Can Be Used On	View Type	*	Nev
<current settings="" view=""></current>	All Contact folders	Table		
Business Card	All Contact folders	Business Card		⊆op
Card	All Contact folders	Card		
Phone	All Contact folders	Table		Modif
List	All Contact folders	Table		Renar
				Res
Description			-	
Fields:	File As, Full Name, Last (	Nama E mail Homo	Dhone	Mobilo D
1 16105.	The Hs, Tui Name, Laser	vanie, c-mail, nome	rnone,	PIODIIC P
Group By:	None			
Sort:	Last Name (ascending)			
	Off			

Figure 4-7: Use the Manage All Views dialog box to customize the way you view your contacts.

–Or–

From the Contacts window's View tab, click **Change Views** in the Current View group.

 In either case, choose Manage Views from the context menu that displays. This will open the Manage All Views dialog box, seen in Figure 4-7.

### **CREATE A NEW VIEW**

If none of the preset views meet your needs, you can create a new view.

- In the Manage All Views dialog box, click New. The Create A New View dialog box appears.
- **2.** Type a name for your new view.

- Create a New View Name of new view: New view Type of view: Table Timeline Card Business Card Day/Week/Month Icon Can be used on This folder, visible to everyone This folder, visible only to me () All Contact folders OK Cancel
- 3. Select the type of view you want. There are several from which you can choose.
  - Table displays your information in a list, such as the Phone or List views.
  - **Timeline** displays your contacts in a timeline format, showing the contact name on the date you added the contact. For example, you might have added a new contact at the last company conference, but you don't remember the person's name. Use a timeline view to see the names you added around the date of the conference.
  - Card view displays your contacts with all of the information entered for each contact.
  - **Business Card** view displays only that information shown on a business card, such as name, address and phone numbers.
  - **Day/Week/Month** views show the same information as the Timeline view, but in a calendar grid with the Task pane visible.
  - Icon view shows each contact as a small icon in your Contact window.



_	

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

Ŋ

ဖ

00

σ

0

X Show Columns Maximum number of lines in compact mode: 2 Select available columns from: Frequently-used fields -Available columns: Show these columns in this order: Assistant's Phone . Add -> Icon **Business Address** Attachment Business Home Page Flag Status <- Remove E **Business Phone 2** Full Name Callback Company Car Phone File As New Column... Company Main Phone Country/Region Contacts **Business Phone** Departmen **Business Fax** First Name Home Phone Flag Completed Date Mobile Phone Follow Up Flag E-mail Home Address Journal Home Fax Categories Delete Move Up Move Down Properties OK Cancel

Available fields:		and the second second	-
Attachment		Format:	Icon
Full Name Company File As		Label;	Attachment
Country/Region Business Phone Business Fax Home Phone Mobile Phone	ш	Width:	Speaffic width: 2.00     characters     Best fit
E-mail Journal	-	Alignment:	🕐 Left 🔘 Center 🕐 Right

	8	8	0		4
MY VIEW	Business C	Card	Phone	List	Ŧ
		Current View	N		

4.

escription	
Columns	Icon, Attachment, Flag Status, Full Name, Company, File As
Group By	None
Sort	File As (ascending)
Filter	Off
Other Settings	Fonts and other Table View settings
Conditional Formatting	User defined fonts on each message
Format Columns	Specify the display formats for each field
Reset Current View	OK Cancel

- Each element on the Advanced View Settings dialog box has its own dialog box. You click a button to edit each element of the view. The availability of each element depends on the view type you chose in Manage All Views.
  - **Columns** displays available fields on the left side of the Show Columns dialog box and fields that are actually used on the right. The fields displayed on the right are in the order in which they appear in the view you selected.
  - Group By allows you to choose how your items are grouped.
  - **Sort** alphabetically orders the contents. If Group By is also used, Sort will provide a secondary ordering within the groups.
  - Filter lets you filter by words, categories, and other advanced options.
  - Other Settings control how the data looks, such as the font style and size.
  - Conditional Formatting lets you set rules for the selected view.
  - Format Columns lets you change the format and labels of columns within a view.
- **6.** Make your selections for each element, and click **OK** to close the dialog box. When you have completed your selections, click **OK** at the Advanced View Settings dialog box to return to the Manage All Views dialog box.
- Click OK to save your new view. Your new view will appear on the list of available views.

N

ω

G

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

10

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

ŋ

00

ດ

### **MODIFY A VIEW**

You can modify an existing view to meet your needs.

- Open the Manage Views dialog box as described earlier. Select an existing view, and click Modify. The Advanced View Settings dialog box appears.
- 2. Follow steps 5–7 in "Create a New View."
- **3.** Click **OK** as required to close the dialog boxes.

### **RESET A VIEW**

If you have made changes to an existing view, you can reset that view to its original settings.

- Open the Manage Views dialog box as described in "Manage Your Contact Views" earlier in this chapter.
- 2. Select the view you modified. Click the Reset button.
- **3.** A warning appears asking if you are sure you want to restore the view to its original settings. Click **Yes** to restore the original settings.

### SORT CONTACTS BY FIELDS OR COLUMNS

When you work with either the Phone or List view, you can change how your contact information displays from the list without using the Manage All Views dialog box.

- 1. From your Outlook window, click **Contacts** in the Outlook View. Your Contacts list displays in the Contacts window.
- 2. In the Contacts window, click the column name by which you want to sort. A small arrow appears to the right of the column you selected.
- **3.** The default is to sort by ascending sequence—lowest number to highest number and then by A to Z. Click the column name a second time to reverse the sort order in descending sequence from highest number to lowest number and then by Z to A.

### **CHOOSE OTHER SORTING OPTIONS**

You can arrange your list views in other ways as well.

- 1. Open Outlook Contacts and click the View tab. Go to the Arrangement group.
  - Click Date to arrange your list by the date the contact was entered.
  - Click Company to sort your list by company name. Any contacts that do not include a company name appear at the top of the list.

N

ω

- $\mathbf{\nabla}$
- G

- 00

- ယ

- <u></u>

  - 0

91

Q	Arrange By		<u>D</u> ate
†↓	<u>R</u> everse Sort		Cat <u>eg</u> ories
7	Field <u>C</u> hooser		<u>C</u> ompany
	<u>R</u> emove This Column		Location
Z	<u>G</u> roup By This Field	-	Show in Groups
-	Group <u>b</u> y Box	6	Conversations
9	⊻iew Settings…	G	

- Click Categories to organize your list by category. Again, any contacts without a category are shown at the top.
- Click Location to organize the list by geographic location.
- Click the More arrow at the lower-right area of the Arrange group to open a context menu. From this menu, click **Show In Groups** to organize the contacts by groups.
- Click Reverse Sort to sort the column in Z–A order rather than the default A–Z.
- Click Add Column to open the Show Columns dialog box and add columns to your list.
- 2. To move one column to another location on your list, click the column name you want to change, hold down your left mouse key and drag it to its new location. Red arrows above and below the column names indicate where the dragged column will be inserted.

First Name	E-mail	File As
	File As	

- **3.** Right-click any column heading to see a context menu.
  - Click Arrange By to open an additional context menu that allows you to specify how the column is sorted.
  - Click Reverse Sort to sort from Z–A.
  - Click Field Chooser to add fields (columns) to this list view.
  - Click Remove This Column to delete the current column from this list.
  - Click Group By This Field to group this list by the selected column.
  - Click Group By Box to open a box above the column headers. Then drag a column header into the box in order to sort the contacts by that column.
  - Click View Settings to open the Advanced View Settings dialog box.

### **Find a Contact**

While you may use the Address Book that appears in the new message window for e-mail messages, you need to know how to find a contact for the other information it contains. The method you use will probably depend on how many contacts you have and the views you use. As with your e-mail items, the number of contacts you have in your Contacts folder is displayed on the lowerleft corner of the Contacts window.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

Ŋ

ဖ

 $\infty$ 

σ

### **USE THE SCROLL BAR**

If you have fewer than 50 contacts, scrolling will probably work just fine. When you use the Business Card view, the contacts move vertically when you drag the scroll button or click the scroll bar or scroll arrows. The Card view uses a horizontal scroll bar, which works in the same way as the vertical scroll bar.

### **USE THE SEARCH TOOL**

With the Search tool, you don't have to know the contact's whole name to start sifting through your contacts. This can be useful when you work with hundreds of contacts.

 Click in the Search Contacts text box above the column headers. Type as much of the name as needed to get the contact you want, and press ENTER. If there are several contacts with that name, the Choose Contact dialog box will appear. Double-click the contact you want to open that person's Contact window.

2

Search Contacts (Ctrl+E)

- You can use the Search Contacts box to search for any information that is included in your Contacts list. For example, to find all of your contacts in a certain city:
  - 1. Click in the Search Contacts box at the top of the Contacts list.
  - **2.** Type in the name of the city.

123

ab cd

ef

gh

ij

kl mn

op

ar

s t

uν

566

X

y z

- **3.** All of the contacts that meet the criteria you typed will immediately display without you needing to press **ENTER**.
- 4. Click X to clear the search.

### USE THE ALPHABETIC INDEX TO FIND A CONTACT

If you have a hundred or more contacts and the current view is one of the card views, you'll find the alphabet bar handy. The alphabet bar searches by the File As name. To use the alphabet bar:

- **1.** In the Contacts window, click a letter button on the alphabet bar to display the first name in your list beginning with that letter.
- 2. Use either the horizontal or vertical scroll bar (depending on the view you are in) to scroll to the name you want to use.

10

#### **USE FIND A CONTACT**

The Find tool, located in the Contacts window Home tab Find group, is another useful way of locating a contact.

- Click in the Find A Contact text box in Outlook View, and type the name you want.
   A small text box of possible matches will be displayed. Double-click the one you want.
   Find A Contact is also available on the title bar next to the Quick Access toolbar.
- Click Address Book in the Find group. The Address Book: Contacts window appears as search box.
  - Choose whether you want to search using the name only or more columns. Enter the name you want, and click Go. In the results, scroll to find the name, and double-click to open that person's Contact window.
  - 2. Click Advanced Find to open the Find dialog box. From this dialog box, type any part of the name you want to find, and click OK.

### **Print Contact Information**

Outlook lets you print contacts to fit a variety of standard organizers, as well as a standard list.

- 1. Sort your contacts, as described in "Arrange Contacts" earlier in this chapter, so that you print only the group you want in the order you want.
- Click the File tab, and click Print. The Print Settings dialog box appears, as seen in Figure 4-8.
- 3. Click the Printer down arrow to choose the printer you want to use.
- 4. Click Print Options to open the Print dialog box. Choose the print style in which you want to print. Not all options are available in every view. The options are:
  - Card Style prints your selected items on the selected paper size, grouped with each contact immediately following the one before it.
  - Small Booklet Style prints your list in a <sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-sheet booklet format.
  - Medium Booklet Style prints in a ¼-sheet booklet format.
  - Table Style prints each chosen record in a columnar style.
  - Memo Style prints only one contact.
  - Phone Directory Style prints on an 8½ × 11-inch sheet of paper.

N

ω

Find a Contact 👻

🛄 Address Book

Find

4



ရ

7

00

6

10



• Set the font face and size for both the headings and the body of your list, as well as choose to have gray shading to make the list easier to read



Figure 4-9: Use Print Options to tell Outlook where to print your contact list and which style to use.

### **b.** Click the **Paper** tab to:

- Select the paper size. The default is letter-size paper, 81/2 × 11 inches.
- Set the margins for your printed list
- Define the orientation: Portrait or Landscape
- Define what paper tray on your printer to use
- C. Click Header/Footer to:
  - Create a header and set its font
  - Create a footer and set its font
  - Delete the page number that appears on each page of your list by default by clicking the center Footer box, highlighting [Page #], and pressing DELETE.
- **d.** Click **OK** to close the Page Setup dialog box and return to the Print Options dialog box.

int styles:	
Card Style	Close
Small Booklet Style	Edit
Medium Booklet Style	Copy
Memo Style	Reset
Phone Directory Style	

- 7. Click **Define Styles** to make any changes to your selected print style.
  - a. Click Edit to make changes.
  - b. Click Close when you have completed your changes.
- 8. Click Page Range to select which pages to print.
- 9. Click Print Range to select the items you want to print.
- **10.** Select the number of pages and copies you want to print.
- **11.** Click **Preview** to see how your list will look when printed.
- **12.** When you are satisfied with all of the settings, click **Print** to print your page.

N

ω

 $\mathbf{P}$ 

ဂ

G

 $\sim$ 

10
N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

6	1	ć	-	١
1				"

-	
P	

00

Number to	o dial			
Contact:	Johnson, Jackson	-	Open Contact	
Number:	(360) 555-5444		Dialing Properties.	
	Create new Journal Entry w	hen star	ting new call	
Call statu	s: On hook			

#### **PRINT A SINGLE CONTACT**

- 1. From the Contacts window, double-click a contact to open the Contact window.
- 2. Click the File tab, and choose Print to open the Print Settings dialog box.
- **3.** Click the **Printer** down arrow to choose a printer, and click **Print Options** to review the settings. Make any changes you want, and click **Print** to print the information.

–Or–

On the Print Options dialog box, click **Preview** if you want to see how the information will look when printed.

4. From the Print view, click **Print** to print the information.

## **Phone a Contact**

If your computer has a modem and is connected to a phone line, you can have Outlook dial your contacts. If you have to dial up to connect to the Internet or use e-mail, then the modem is probably set up for automatic phone dialing. (Many new computers do not have a modem.) Give it a try and find out.

- **1.** Make sure you are not online if you have a dial-up connection.
- In the Contacts window, double-click a contact for whom you have entered a phone number. From the Contact tab Communicate group, click the More down arrow.
- More Address Check Business Picture Categorize Book Names Card C. Call Business: (360) 553-5571 Web Page Home: (555) 321-6677 🐴 Assign <u>T</u>ask Mobile: (555) 914-6571 Journal Entry Business Fax: (555) 321-6776 Map It Redial Speed Dial New Call...
- **3.** Click **Call**. The list of telephone numbers for this contact is displayed.
- **4.** Click a phone number. The New Call dialog box appears with the selected phone number in the Number field.
- 5. Click Start Call to dial the number. The Call Status dialog box appears. You are directed to lift the receiver and click Talk.
- A message appears if Outlook cannot locate a dial tone. Click OK to close the message box.
- 7. When you are finished with your call, hang up, click End Call, and click Close.

ດ

ettings for speed dialing			
lame	Phone number		
Bronwyn Calliopo	360 555 1138		Add
Name	Number	× 1	Delete
Charles Catzmer	(555) 551-1234		Delece
Bronwyn Calliope	(360) 555-1438		
Automatically add countr	ry/region code to local phone numbe	ers	
Dialing Properties			
Dialing Properties			

#### **USE SPEED DIALING**

For faster connections, there's speed dialing. Of course, you first need to enter the numbers.	N
1. From your Contacts window, double-click any contact to open the Contact window.	
2. In the Contact tab Communicate group, click More and then click Call.	ŝ
3. In the New Call dialog box, click <b>Dialing Options</b> to open the Dialing Options dialog box.	0.
<ol> <li>Type a name and phone number in the text boxes.</li> </ol>	
5. Click Add to add this number to the speed dialing settings.	
6. Enter any additional information required.	

7. Click OK and click Close.

- 8. To place a speed dial call, in the Communicate group, click the More down arrow. From the context menu that appears, click the Call arrow to display the Call submenu.
- 9. Click **Speed Dial** and choose a number. The New Call dialog box appears.

5	<u>R</u> edial 🕨	Tags	Zoom
	Speed <u>D</u> ial ≯	Charles Catzmer: (55	5) 551-1234
C	<u>N</u> ew Call	1	

ΤΙΡ

Click the Create New Journal Entry When Starting A New Call check box in the New Call dialog box if you want Outlook to time the call while you type notes. When you are finished, in the Journal Entry tab Actions group, click Save & Close.

Business	•	1 Microsoft Way Redmond WA 98052	
This is the r add <u>r</u> ess	1		Man I
<u>idual</u> ess			M <u>a</u> p I

If you have not used the 3D feature before, you are prompted to download and run the Bing Maps 3D Installer. **10.** Proceed as described earlier in "Phone a Contact."

## See a Map for a Contact's Address

If you have an Internet connection, you can use Outlook 2010 to obtain a map and get directions to an address you have recorded in your list of contacts. To see a map:

- 1. Open the Contact window for your selected contact.
- 2. Click the Addresses down arrow, and select the address you want from the menu that appears.
- 3. Click Map It to the right of the Address field.
- 4. A map displays, as seen in Figure 4-10.
- 5. By default, the map is displayed in two dimensions. On the top edge of the map, click 3D to see the map in a three-dimensional format.
- 6. Click Road to view the map as a standard road map.

တ

ယ

0

97



Figure 4-10: Using the Internet, the Outlook 2010 Map It utility can create a map for any address in your Contacts list.

7. Click Aerial to open a menu with two choices.

• Click Aerial to see a satellite photo of this address.

- Click **Bird's Eye** for details that you might see if you were flying over the address.
- 8. Click **Close** to close the map and return to your Contact window.

#### **GET DRIVING DIRECTIONS TO A CONTACT'S LOCATION**

On the map of the location:

- **1.** On the left navigational pane, click **Directions**. Type the address from which you want to start into the A field. The B field displays your contact address.
- **2.** Click **Shortest Time**, **Shortest Distance**, or **Get A Route Based On Traffic**, depending on which option you want.
- 3. Click Miles or Km.
- 4. If you choose not to save your destination history, clear the **Destination History** check box.
- **5.** Click **Get Directions**. A driving map appears with the driving directions on the left side of the map.

N

က

 $\mathbf{4}$ 

S

6

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

ດ

UICKFACTS

### USING KEYBOARD SHORTCUTS WITH CONTACTS

To save time in Outlook 2010, you can use keyboard shortcuts. A keyboard shortcut usually requires that you hold down one or two keys and then press another. Some of the most popular contact-related shortcuts in Outlook are shown in the following table.

SHORTCUT	ACTION PERFORMED
CTRL+N	Creates a new contact from anywhere in Contacts
CTRL+SHIFT+C	Creates a new contact from anywhere else in Outlook 2010
CTRL+D	Deletes a contact from any view
CTRL+1	Switches to your Mail folder
CTRL+2	Switches to your Calendar folder
CTRL+3	Switches to your Contacts folder from anywhere else in Outlook
CTRL+4	Switches to your Tasks folder
CTRL+SHIFT+L	Creates a new contact group (Inside a mail message, this shortcut produces a bullet)

Move

Actions

Mail Merge **6.** Click the **Print** icon at the bottom of the driving directions to open the Print Settings dialog box.



- Click Map And Text to print both.
- Click Map Only to print just the map.
- Click Text Only to print just the driving directions.
- Click **Print** to open the Print dialog box. Choose the printer you want to use, and click **Print**.
- 7. Click Close twice to close the map and return to Outlook.

## Create a Mail-Merged E-mail

From time to time, you might want to send a personalized message to several different contacts. You can use the Outlook Mail Merge feature, which works with Microsoft Word, to easily accomplish this task.

- 1. Open any Contacts view, and select the contacts you want to receive the e-mail.
- 2. From the Home tab, click Mail Merge in the Actions group.
- **3.** The Mail Merge Contacts dialog box appears, as seen in Figure 4-11.

ω

4

တ

 $\infty$ 

<u></u>

ഗ



Contacts	Fields to merge
🔘 All contacts in current view	All contact fields
Only selected contacts	Contact fields in current view
and then choose a command. Document file	mns in the current view, on the View tab, point
New document	
© Existing document:	
Contact data file	
To save this contact data for future us	e or reference, specify a file name.
Permanent file: Monthly Sp	becials Advisory
Merge options	
Document type: Merge to:	
Form Letters 💽 New Docur	ment 👻

Figure 4-11: Use the Mail Merge tool in Outlook to efficiently create personalized messages

- 4. From the Contacts section:
  - Click All Contacts In Current View to choose all the contacts in your current view.
  - Click Only Selected Contacts to send the e-mail message to only the contacts you selected in step 1.
- Depending on your choices in step 4, make any changes in the Fields To Merge section.
- 6. In the Document File section:
  - Click **New Document** if you are creating a message for the first time.
  - Click Existing Document and Browse to find a document you have already created.
- 7. In the Contact Data File section, specify a file name to save this contact data.
  - Click the **Permanent File** check box to save the set permanently.
  - Click Browse to find a file elsewhere on your computer and replace it with the information in this file.

**8.** In the Merge Options section:

- Click the **Document Type** down arrow to choose what type of document you are creating: Form Letters, Mailing Labels, Envelopes, or Catalog.
- Click the Merge To down arrow to choose between:
  - New Document, which creates a Word document that you can e-mail
  - **Printer** to send the messages directly to the printer
  - E-Mail to create a group of e-mails to be sent at the same time. If you choose to merge to e-mail, you are prompted to insert a message subject.
- 9. Click OK to continue.

If you have chosen either Mailing Labels or Envelopes, a Mail Merge Helper dialog box appears.

**10.** Continue through the Mail Merge Helper to complete your document. A new Word document appears, with the Mailings tab displayed.



N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

す

ဖ

S

 $\infty$ 

ດ

	Letters
	<u>E</u> -mail Messages
	En <u>v</u> elopes
0	L <u>a</u> bels
	<u>D</u> irectory
W	Normal Word Document
~	Step by Step Mail Merge <u>W</u> izard

- **11.** Click **Start Mail Merge**. From the context menu, choose between the following types of documents:
  - Letters
  - E-mail Messages
  - Envelopes
  - Labels
  - Directory
  - Normal Word Document
- 12. Click Start Mail Merge, and from the menu, click Step By Step Mail Merge Wizard to begin the mail merge. The Mail Merge task pane appears at the right side of your Word window.



Figure 4-12: Use Microsoft Word to create personalized messages for a group of contacts.

N

ω

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

\_ 0

Click **Match Fields** to correct any problems with the elements of your address block. Click **OK**.

Specify address elements	1	Preview	Unique Identifier	(not matched)	
V Insert recipient's name in this format:		Here is a preview from your recipient list:	Courtesy Title	Title	
Joshua			First Name	First_Name	-
Joshua Randall Jr.	<u>^</u>		Middle Name	Middle_Name	
Joshua Q. Randall Jr.		Chris Adams	Last Name	Last_Name	
Mr. Josh Randall Jr. Mr. Josh O. Randall Jr.		12874 S Ellingwood	Suffix	Suffix	
Mr. Joshua Randall Jr.	-	Linden, ST 98260	Nickname	Nickname	
Insert company name			Job Title	Job_Title	
V Insert postal address:			Company	Company	
			Address 1	Street_Address	
Never include the country/region in the address			Address 2	(not matched)	
Always include the country/region in the address		Correct Problems	City	City	
Only include the country/region if different than:		If items in your address block are missing or out of order, use	State	Shaha	
United States	-	Match Fields to identify the correct address elements from your	Use the drop-down lists to	choose the field from your database	se that

**17.** Click **Next: Preview Your Letters** to see how the merged document will appear. You can go through the letters one by one to verify their merges by clicking the back and next arrows in the Preview Results group.

(ABC)	M 4	3		M
Preview Results	Find Auto	Check	for Err	ors

**18.** Click Next: Complete The Merge to continue.

Step	5 of 6
	Next: Complete the merge
4	Previous: Write your letter

**19.** Click **Print** to print your letters.

4

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

က

S

00

ရ

## How to...

- Explore the Calendar
- 💐 Navigating the Calendar
- Customize the Calendar
- Using the Navigation and Reading Panes
- Customize Calendar Views
- Set Up the Calendar
- Maintain Multiple Calendars
- Share a Calendar
- Understanding Internet Calendars
- 🖏 Entering Dates and Times
- Create Appointments
- Enter Recurring Appointments
- Move Appointments
- Use Reminders
- Print Calendars
- Schedule a Meeting
- Respond to an Invitation

# Chapter 5 Scheduling and the Calendar

The Calendar is second only to mail in its importance in Outlook. The Calendar works closely with Contacts and Tasks to coordinate the use of your time and your interactions with others. The Calendar lets you schedule appointments and meetings, establish recurring activities, and tailor the Calendar to your area, region, and workdays.

In this chapter, you will see how to use and customize the Calendar, schedule and manage appointments, and schedule and track meetings and resources.

## **Use the Calendar**

The Calendar has a number of unique items in its Outlook window, as seen in Figure 5-1.

• Buttons allow you to quickly switch the view of your calendar between daily, weekly, and monthly views, as well as to show or hide details of your activities.

တ

 $\sim$ 

N

ω

ဖ

0

• The current date and each appointment are displayed on the calendar in Normal view.

• Your tasks appear at the bottom of each day in the Day, Work Week, and Week views.



Figure 5-1: The Outlook Calendar displays your day, week, work week, month, or schedule at a glance.

10

104

-

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

Appointments	Appointments only involve you.	
Meetings	Meetings happen at a scheduled time, just like an appointment. The difference is that other people are involved. You invite others via e-mail, and the meeting displays in your calendar with the location and organizer's name.	
Events	Events last all day. Events that you put on your calendar do not block out time like a meeting or an appointment, so you can have other entries for that day display on your calendar.	
Tasks	Tasks are activities that do not need time scheduled for them and are your own personal tasks, even if they are part of a larger project of which you are a team member. Your tasks will display in the Day and Week views of your calendar, as well as on your To-Do bar.	

Table 5-1: Common Calendar Activities

## **Explore the Calendar**

The Calendar is designed for you to easily keep track of appointments, meetings, events, due dates, anniversaries, birthdays, and any other date-related happening. You can schedule several different types of activities, as shown in Table 5-1.

	Calend			<u>88</u>	Show As: Busy 🔹 🜔	0	Private	2
Save & Dele Close	te Copy to My Calendar 🔊 OneNo		Appointment Scheduling	Invite Attendees	A Reminder: 15 minutes + Recurrence	e Time Zones	Categorize	Zoom
	Actions		Show	Attendees	Options	r <sub>a</sub>	Tags	Zoom
Manageme	nt							
ubject:	Call on Sam & Royce to d	iscuss I	building plans					
ocation:								
			[					
Start time:	Tue 12/22/2009	-		All day event				
End time:	Tue 12/22/2009	*	11:30 AM *					
	three existing quote ene & Joseph review r		odes for their areas					12 4
Have Hel								

Figure 5-2: An appointment or an all-day event can be any date-related activity, such as due dates or birthdays.

To open your calendar, start Outlook in one of the ways described in Chapter 1. Then:

Press CTRL+2 on the keyboard.

- 2. Click a date on the Calendar Navigator, and that day displays in Day view. If the calendar shows in Work Week, Week, or Month view, double-click any date on the calendar.
- A new Appointment window opens, as shown in Figure 5-2. See "Create Appointments" later in this chapter for more information.

105

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

 $\overline{}$ 

00

ယ

## 

## **NAVIGATING THE CALENDAR**

The Date Navigator, which by default is in the upper-left corner of the Outlook View, allows you to pick any date from April 1, 1601, to September 30, 4500. To cover this almost 2,900-year span, Outlook provides several efficient tools.

4	C	ece	mbe	r 20	09		•
Su	Mo	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa	
29	30	1	2	3	4	5	
6	7	8	9	10	11	12	
13	14	15	16	17	18	19	
20	21	22	23	24	25	26	
27	28	29	30	31	1	2	
3	4	5	6	7	8	9	

- **Display a day** by clicking it in the Date Navigator. Or, from anywhere in Outlook, click **Calendar** on the Outlook View.
- **Display a day with appointments** by clicking a boldface day in the Date Navigator.
- Display a week by clicking to the left of the first day of the week.
- Display several weeks by holding down CTRL while clicking to the left of the weeks.
- **Display a month** by dragging across the weeks of the month.
- Change the month from one to the next by clicking the left or right arrow in the month bar.
- Scroll through a list of months by clicking the month name in the Calendar Navigator to display a month list, and moving the pointer up or down to select an individual month.
- Directly display any date by clicking the Go To Date Dialog Box Launcher at the right of the Go To

group in the Home tab. This opens the Go To Date dialog box. Type in the date, and click **OK**. You can also open the Go To Date dialog box by pressing **CTRL+G**.

Date:	Wed 12/30/2009
Show in:	Month Calendar

- **4.** After you have entered your information, click **Save & Close** to close the Appointment window.
- In the ribbon's Home tab, click New Items and Task to open a Task window. In Outlook, a task is an item you track until it is completed. It may not have a specific timetable, but is something you want to monitor.
- After you have entered the task, click the appropriate choice in the Task ribbon's Follow Up group. Click Save & Close to close the Task window.

## **Customize the Calendar**

As you have seen with the rest of Outlook, there are many ways you can customize the calendar to meet your needs. You can change the way the calendar displays time intervals, the font size and face, the background color, and any additional options you require.

### **CHANGE THE TIME SCALES**

The default display of time intervals, or *scales*, on your Calendar grid is 30 minutes. If you want to change these scales to reflect another time interval:

- **1.** In the Calendar grid, right-click any blank area.
- 2. Click View Settings to open the Advanced View Settings | Calendar dialog box.

escription	
Columns	Start, End
Group By	)
Sort	]
Filter	] Off
Other Settings	Fonts and other Day/Week/Month View settings
Conditional Formatting	User defined colors for appointments
Format Columns	]
Reset Current View	OK Cance

3. Click Other Settings to open the Format Day/Week/Month View Settings dialog box.

4. Click the **Time Scale** down arrow to display a list of choices.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

ယ

S

0

4

ω

- G
- ဂ

<u></u>

00

ယ

10

- **5.** Click the scale you want to show in the calendar.
- Click OK to close the Format Day/Week/Month dialog box, and click OK again to close the Advanced View Settings Calendar dialog box.

#### **CHANGE THE FONT FACE AND SIZE**

You can change the font in both your calendar and your Task list.

- **1.** Right-click any blank area in the Calendar grid.
- 2. Click View Settings to open the Advanced View Settings Calendar dialog box.
- Click Other Settings to open the Format Day/Week/Month View dialog box.

–Or–

In the ribbon's View tab, click **View Settings** to open the Advanced View Settings Calendar dialog box, and click **Other Settings**.

Time Font	16 pt. Segoe UI	Time scale:	30 minutes	• C
Font	8 pt. Segoe UI			Ca
Month				
Font	8 pt. Segoe UI	Show end	d time	
General settings				
Bolded dates i	in Date Navigator represe	nt days containing	items	

- **4.** Click **Time Font** to open the Font dialog box to change the font face and size for times in the Day, Work Week, and Week views.
  - a. Click Font to change the font face.
  - **b.** Click **Font Style** to choose from the various font styles, such as Regular, Italic, Bold, and so on. The styles available will vary, depending on which font face you have chosen in step 4a.
  - C. Click Size to set the size of the font that will show the times on your calendar in Day, Work Week, and Week view.
  - d. Click OK to close the Font dialog box and save your choices.
- **5.** Click **Font** to open the Font dialog box to change how information other than the time displays in Day, Work Week, and Week views.





N

# NOTE

You can also access the time scale in the View tab Arrangement group.

S

00

ດ

TIP

to Work Week, Week, or Month view, click the appropriate button in the ribbon's View tab in the Arrangement group. The ribbon appears above the Calendar grid.

- 6. Click OK to close the Font dialog box and save your choices.
- 7. Click Font under Month, and follow steps 5–7.
- Click OK to close the Format Day/Week/Month View dialog box. Click OK once more to close the Advanced View Settings Calendar dialog box.

### SET ADDITIONAL SETTINGS

You can open the Advanced View Settings dialog box in two different ways:

- From the Calendar ribbon's View tab, click View Settings in the Current View group -Or-
- Right-click any blank section of the Calendar grid, and click **View Settings** at the bottom of the context menu.

From the Advanced View Settings dialog box, you can tell Calendar how to display the items in your Calendar and Date Navigators.

- In the Format Day/Week/Month View dialog box, under General Settings, Bolded Dates In Date Navigator is set by default. If you do not want these dates to appear in bold text, clear this check box.
- 2. Clear the **Bold Subjects In The Calendar** check box to have the headings or subjects of your activities appear in regular font in your Calendar grid.
- **3.** Click **OK** to close the dialog box.

### **UNDERSTANDING THE VIEW TAB**

The View tab includes several options, some of which are also available when you display a menu by right-clicking in a blank area of the Calendar grid

- 1. Open the Outlook Calendar, and click the View tab. The ribbon displays various options.
- 2. In the Arrangement group, you see several button options, including:
  - Day displays detailed information about each appointment in Day view.
  - Work Week displays all the appointments you have set on this calendar for the days you have set in your work week, normally Monday through Friday.
  - Week displays a seven-day work week, including Sunday, shown on the left of the week's Calendar grid, and Saturday, shown on the right.
  - Month shows an entire month on the Calendar grid. If you click the down arrow, a menu opens with options for displaying appointments in various degrees of details—from low detail to high detail.



## 

### USING THE NAVIGATION AND READING PANES

While the default views in Outlook Calendar are designed to display your information in the way many users need to see it, you can change how the Navigation and Reading panes display information.

#### USE THE OUTLOOK VIEW

By default, the Outlook View appears at the left of the Calendar grid. However, you can choose to minimize it, turn it off entirely, or change the buttons that display on it. To make these changes:

- On the View tab Layout group, click Outlook View to open a drop-down menu.
  - Click Minimized to minimize the Outlook View's display.
  - **b.** Click **Off** to turn it off entirely.
- Click **Options** to open the Outlook View Options dialog box from which you can choose which buttons appear on the Outlook View and the order in which they appear.
- 3. Click OK when you are finished making changes.

#### **USE THE READING PANE**

In Outlook Calendar, the Reading Pane is available when you want to see the contents of the appointments, meetings, and tasks displayed on your Calendar. By default it is turned off, but you can change this. From the Layout group in the View tab, click **Reading Pane** to open a drop-down menu.

- 1. Choose **Right** to display the Reading pane at the right side of the Calendar grid.
- 2. Select Bottom to display it at the bottom of the grid.

Continued . . .

- Schedule displays your appointments, meetings, and other commitments in a timeline format.
- **Time Scale** opens a menu on which you can change how time intervals in the time bar display on your Calendar grid, as well as a link to change the time zone.
- 3. Click **Color** in the Color group to change the default grid colors.
- 4. The Layout group lets you tell Outlook how to display the information you have entered.
  - Click Daily Task List to tell Outlook how to display your tasks in the Day, Work Week, and Week views.
  - Click Outlook View and Reading Pane to choose which buttons are displayed and in which order. See "Using the Navigation and Reading Panes" QuickSteps for more information.
  - Click **To-Do Bar** to tell Outlook how to display the To-Do bar.
- **5.** The People Pane group connects Outlook to online social networks such as LinkedIn and Facebook. You can connect with both your business and personal contacts without leaving Outlook. Click the down arrow to set your options.
  - Click Normal to display the People pane at the bottom of the Calendar grid.
  - Click the Minimized setting to shrink the People pane.
  - Click Off to turn off the Internet connection.
  - Click Account Settings to add new settings or modify your current settings.
- 6. The Window group has several buttons.
  - Click **Reminders Window** to see a list of open reminders.
  - Click Open In New Window to open your calendar in a new window.
  - Click Close All Items to open the Close Meeting dialog box.

## **Customize Calendar Views**

As with Mail and Contacts, you can create customized calendar views, either by modifying an existing view or by creating a new one. You create or modify a view from the ribbon's View tab Current View group.

### MODIFY A DAY, WORK WEEK, WEEK, OR MONTH VIEW

1. In Outlook, click **Calendar** in Outlook View to open the Calendar.

G

O

N

ω

4

00

0

109



2. From the View tab, click **Change View** in the Current View group.

	<u>S</u> ave	age Views Current View As a Ne y Current View to Oth			
anage All Vie	ws				2
iews for folder	"Calendar":				
View N	lame	Can Be Used On	View Type		New
Current view	settings:>	All Calendar folders	Day/Week/Month		
Calendar		All Calendar folders	Day/Week/Month		Copy
Preview		All Calendar folders	Day/Week/Month		
.ist		All Calendar folders	Table		Modify
Active		All Calendar folders	Table		Rename
					Reset
Description				Ŧ	
Fields:		Start, End			
Filter:		Off			

- From the drop-down menu, click Manage Views to open the Manage All Views dialog box.
- Select the view name you want to modify. Click Modify to open the Advanced View Settings dialog box for your selection as seen in Figure 5-3. To simplify your choices, click Only Show Views Created For This Folder.
- 5. Click the Columns button to open the Date/Time Fields dialog box. Select a field from the Available Date/Time Fields list. The Start and End fields set how each date and time item is displayed within the current view. Choose from the following:
  - Click Created if you want the start or end time to be the time and date the item was created.
  - **b.** Click **Due By** to have either the start or end time be the date and time at which the item must be completed.

N

က

4

S

ယ

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

ດ

/iews for folder "Calendar"			_	Advanced View Settings: Calendar	N
View Name <current settings="" view=""></current>	Can Be Used On All Calendar folders	View Type Day/Week/Month	* New	Description	
Calendar Preview .ist Active	All Calendar folders All Calendar folders All Calendar folders All Calendar folders	Day/Week/Month Day/Week/Month Table Table	Copy Modify	Group By	
Description			Rename	Sort Filter Off	C.
Fields:	Start, End			Other Settings Fonts and other Day/Week/Month View settings Conditional Formatting User defined colors for appointments	4
Filter:	Off			Format Columns  Reset Current View OK Cancel	
✓ Only show views create	d for this folder	w Close			

Figure 5-3: You can modify existing views as well as create new views to suit your needs.

	0
C. Click End to display the ending time or date in either the Start or End field.	
d. Click Recurrence Range End or Recurrence Range Start to show when a recurring appointment starts or ends.	
e. Click Start to show when an appointment begins.	7
f. Click End if the new field is to replace the End field.	
g. Click OK to close the dialog box.	
<b>6.</b> After you have made your selection from the Available Date/Time Fields list, click <b>Start</b> to have your choice appear in the Start field.	00
7. Click End to have it appear in the End field.	
8. Click the Select Available Fields From down arrow to open a list of other field lists from which you can choose.	(0)
<b>9.</b> Click <b>OK</b> when you have completed your choices. You are returned to the Advanced View Settings dialog box.	0

\_

-

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

 $\infty$ 

## 

You can also open the Advanced View Settings dialog box from a Day, Work Week, Week, or Month view by right-clicking an empty part of your Calendar grid and clicking **View Settings**.

- 10. Click Filter to open the Filter dialog box. You can use filters to create a customized view that shows only specific types of appointments. For example, you can create a view that shows only management meetings or family events.
  - **a.** In the Appointments And Meetings tab, enter any words by which you want to filter your calendar entries for this view.
  - **b.** In the More Choices tab, click **Categories** to select the category or multiple categories that you want to display.
  - **C.** Select what types of items you want to include in this view, as well as the size of the items to display.
  - **d.** In the Advanced tab, you can enter specific criteria to display in your view, as well as set conditions.
  - **e.** After you have finished making your choices, click **OK** to save your view and return to the Advanced View Settings dialog box.
  - f. Click OK one more time to return to the Manage All Views dialog box.
  - g. Click Apply View to set your new view.
  - h. Click OK or Close to close the dialog box.
- **11.** Click **Other Settings** to open the Format Day/Week/Month View Settings dialog box as described in "Customize the Calendar" earlier in this chapter.
- **12.** Click **Conditional Formatting** to open the Conditional Formatting dialog box.
  - a. Click Add to create a new rule.
  - **b.** Click in the **Name** text box, and type a name for this rule.
  - C. Click the Color down arrow to choose a color for this rule.
  - **d.** Click **Condition** to open the Filter dialog box. Type the word or words to create this filter.
  - e. Click In to choose where Outlook is to find the words you are searching for.
  - f. Enter any additional filter information you require.
  - g. Click OK to close the Filter dialog box.
  - h. Click OK to close the Customize View dialog box.
- **13.** Click **OK** to save your changes.
- **14.** If you want to undo a change you made to the current view, click **Reset Current View** in the Advanced View Settings dialog box.

ດ

Description	
Columns	Icon, Attachment, Subject, Location, Start, End, Recurrenc
Group By	Rocurronco (ascending)
Sort	Start (ascending)
Filter	Off
Other Settings	Fonts and other Table View settings
Conditional Formatting	User defined fonts on each message
Format Columns	Specify the display formats for each field
Reset Current View	OK Cancel

Figure 5-4: The Advanced View Settings: List dialog box offers more choices than the Calendar view.



The Active view displays all of your current events and items in a table. You can change how the items display in the Advanced View Settings dialog box.

My View Fype of view: Table Timeline	
Table	
Timeline	
Card Business Card	
Day/Week/Month	
Icon	
Can be used on	
🔘 This folder, visible t	o everyone
🔘 This folder, visible o	only to me
All Calendar folders	
-	

#### MODIFY A LIST VIEW

- 1. In Outlook, click **Calendar** on Outlook View to open the calendar.
- 2. Click Change View in the Current View group to view your choices.
- 3. Select List and Manage Views to open the Manage All Views dialog box, and click Modify.
- 4. The Advanced View Settings: List dialog box will appear, as seen in Figure 5-4.
- Click Columns to set the columns that will display in this modified view. Choose from the Available Columns list, and click Add to add them to your list.
  - Select an item in the Show These Columns In This Order list, and click Move Up or Move Down to change its position in your modified list.
  - Select an item in the Show These Columns In This Order list, and click Remove to delete the item from the list.
- 6. Click Group By to set how items are grouped.
- **7.** Click **Sort** to determine how the items are sorted. You can select up to four fields, and each field can be sorted either A–Z (ascending) or Z–A (descending).
- 8. Click Filter to set filters for this view.
- **9.** Follow the same steps as described in "Modify a Day, Work Week, Week, or Month View" earlier in this chapter for the Other Settings, Conditional Formatting, and Format Columns fields.
- **10.** Click **OK** to close the Advanced View Settings: List dialog box.

#### **CREATE A NEW VIEW**

- 1. In Outlook, click Calendar on Outlook View to open the calendar.
- 2. Click Change View in the Current View group to view your choices.
- **3.** Select **Manage Views** to open the Manage All Views dialog box, and click **New**.
- **4.** The Create A New View dialog box appears.
  - a. Type a name for this new view.
  - **b.** Click the type of view this will be from the six options displayed.
  - C. Click This Folder, Visible To Everyone if you want to make your new view available in this folder to everyone. Choose one of the other two options, if required.
  - **d.** Click **OK** to open the Advanced View Settings dialog box for your new view.

Depending on the view you are creating, options in the Advanced View Settings dialog box vary. Not all the options described in the "Modify a Day, Work Week, Week, or Month View" section are available for every type of view.

**e.** Click **OK** to save the new view and close the dialog box.

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

00

ယ

0

S

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

Outlook Options

General

Calendar

Contacts

Notes and Journal

Tasks

Search

Mobile

Work time

P

Work hours:

First day of week: Sunday

First week of year: Starts on Jan 1

Start time:

End time:

Mail

4

S

00





Change the settings for calendars, meetings, and time zones.

8:00 AM -

5:00 PM -

Work week: Sun V Mon V Tue V Wed V Thu V Fri Sat

-

- 5. Your new view will appear on the Manage All Views dialog box.
- 6. Click Apply View to immediately see the new view, or click Close to close the dialog box and stay in the current view. The next time you click Change View, the new view is included on the list.

8 3



## Set Up the Calendar

Calendar allows you to define your normal work week in terms of the days it contains and when it starts, the normal start and end of your working day, the holidays you observe, and what you consider the first week of the year. To set up your calendar:

 Click Calendar in the Outlook View. From the ribbon's Arrange group, click the Calendar Options Dialog Box Launcher at the bottom-right area to open the Outlook Options dialog box.



- In the Outlook Options dialog box, click Calendar to display the Calendar Options view, if it does not already appear, as shown in Figure 5-5.
- **3.** Click the **Start Time** down arrow to choose the normal start time for your working day if it is other than 8:00 A.M. Click the **End Time** down arrow to change the end of your working day if it is other than 5:00 P.M.
- *Figure 5-5:* You can set Calendar options, such as defining your work week and displaying week numbers, the time zone, and holidays.

10

4. Click the days of the week you consider workdays if they are different from the default of Monday through Friday. 5. Click the First Day Of Week down arrow to select the day of the week you want considered the first day of the week if it is a day other than Sunday. The weeks in the Date Navigator will begin with this day. 6. Click the First Week Of Year down arrow to choose a definition for the first week of the year if it does not begin January 1. If you turn on week numbering, week number 1 is defined in this manner. 7. Under Calendar Options, change the **Default Reminder** times to other than the 15 minutes that shows, if necessary. 8. Click Allow Attendees To Propose New Times For Meetings if you choose to allow this. 9. Click the Use This Response When You Propose New Meeting Times down arrow to change the automatic response to new meetings. **10.** Click Add Holidays to open the Add Holidays To Calendar dialog box. a. Click the check box for the country and/or religious holidays you want added. **b.** Click **OK** to close the dialog box. 11. Click the Free/Busy Options button if you want to make changes to how your time is displayed to others. See "Set Free/Busy Options" later in this chapter. 12. Click Enable Alternate Calendar, if desired, and use the drop-down lists to choose them. 13. Under most circumstances, it is best to leave the When Sending Meeting Requests check box selected. 14. Clear the Show Bell Icon check box if you do not want this reminder icon to display. 15. Clear Show "Click To Add" Prompts On The Calendar if you do not want this default prompt to display. 16. Under Display Options, click the **Default Color** down arrow to choose from a list of colors other than the default blue for the background on your Calendar grid. 17. Click Use This Color On All Calendars if you want this new color to be used on all calendars you create. **18.** Click the **Font** button to change the Date Navigator font. 19. Click Show Week Numbers In The Month View And Date Navigator to display week numbers.

-

N

ŝ

4

G

0

00

ယ

0

S

4	=		F
2		Ы	
		-	

S

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

:	Lahel:	ΜΥ ΠΜΕ		
-3	Time zone:	(UTC-08:00) Pacific Time (U:	5 & Canada)	
	91 - 193 - 193 194 - 195 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196 - 196	natically adjust for daylight	saving time	
	Label:	YOUR TIME	1	
	Time zone	: (UTC-07:00) Mountain 1	(ime (IIS & Canada)	

Options	
1	Free/busy information is used by people sending meeting requests, to determine when you are available for meetings.
	Publish 2 month(s) of Calendar free/busy information on the set
	Update free/busy information on the server every 15 minutes
Internet	Free/Busy
	Publish at my location:
	Search location:

- 20. Make any necessary changes to remaining options, including when you want to show your free time in Schedule View and to vary views when more than one calendar is displayed.
- Under Time Zones, make any changes necessary in the Time Zones section. You can define and name your current time zone, as well as an additional one, if you choose.
  - **a.** If you are going to use two time zones, click in the **Label** text box, and type a name that will identify the current time zone appearing in the Time Zone drop-down list.
  - b. Click Show A Second Time Zone to add a second time zone.
  - C. Click in the Label text box, and type a name identifying this second time zone.
  - **d.** Click the **Time Zone** down arrow to display a list of time zones from which you can choose.
  - e. Click Adjust For Daylight Saving Time if it applies to either time zone you've selected.
  - f. Click Swap Time Zones to swap which time zone displays on the left of the time bar.
- 22. Make any necessary adjustments in the Scheduling Assistant and Resource Scheduling sections to display calendar details or to manage resources, such as conference room or automobile availability.
- Click OK to save your changes.

#### **SET FREE/BUSY OPTIONS**

If you and your coworkers are part of a Microsoft Exchange network, are willing to share your schedules over the Internet, or can all access a common server, you can store your free/busy times and make them available to each other to schedule meetings and other times together. In this case, requests for meetings are handled automatically. The request will be matched against the group's free/busy schedule, and meetings will be scheduled at available times. For an individual to set up his or her free/busy options:

- 1. From the File tab, click **Options** and click **Calendar**.
- In the Calendar Options section, click Free/Busy Options. The Free/Busy Options dialog box appears.

00

 $\sim$ 

0

116

ດ

X Create New Folder Name: Work Calendar Folder contains: Calendar Items -Select where to place the folder: 🖌 🧐 Outlook Data File . 🗟 Inbox Drafts [1] Sent Items Deleted Items 🖌 🧰 Calendar Marv's Calendar SE Contacts 🚛 Journal 🔁 lunk F-mail OK Cancel



At least one calendar must always be displayed, but you can create up to 30 calendars if you choose.

- **3.** Click in the **Publish** box to type the number of months of free/busy information you want to store on the server.
- Click the Update Free/Busy Information text box to enter how often you want the server to update your information.
- 5. In the Internet Free/Busy section, click Publish At My Location, and enter the URL (Uniform Resource Locator, or Web address) of your Internet calendar if that applies to your situation. See the "Understanding Internet Calendars" QuickFacts later in this chapter.
- Click Search Location and type the URL of servers you want Outlook to search for the free/busy information of others.
- 7. Click OK to return to the Outlook Options dialog box.

## **Maintain Multiple Calendars**

If your calendar is becoming cluttered and hard to use, you might try separating it into two side-by-side calendars. For example, create one for business appointments and one for family appointments.

- 1. Click Calendar in the Outlook View.
- 2. On the Folder tab, click New Calendar in the New group.
- 3. Click Name and type a name for your new calendar.
- **4.** Click the **Folder Contains** down arrow, and select the type of information the calendar will contain.
- **5.** In the Select Where To Place The Folder area, determine where the calendar will be created.
- Click OK to close the Create New Folder dialog box. Your new calendar displays in the Outlook View.
- **7.** Click the check box to the left of your new calendar to display it side by side with your original calendar, as seen in Figure 5-6.

### VIEW MULTIPLE CALENDARS

You can view a calendar in a new window, side by side with other calendars, or stack transparent calendars over each other to find a common free time slot on several different calendars. N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

10



Figure 5-6: By displaying two calendars side-by-side, you can, for example, show personal appointments that have no effect on your work calendar.

To view a second calendar in a new window:

- **1.** Click **Calendar** in the Outlook View, and right-click the name of the second calendar in the Outlook View under My Calendars.
- 2. In the resulting menu, click Open In New Window.

To open several calendars side by side:

- 1. In the Calendar Outlook View, click the check box for each calendar you want to view.
- 2. All the calendars will be displayed next to each other in your Calendar grid.

00

σ

🔶 🕂 F	PERSONAL	CALENDAR	×
13	14	15	16

- To overlay your calendars:
- In the Calendar, from the Outlook View, click the check box for each calendar you want to stack. The calendars display next to each other in your Calendar grid.
- 2. On the tab of each calendar you want to stack, click the arrow that points to the left.
- **3.** All of the calendars are stacked atop each other, and you can see any dates that may be free on all calendars.
- To undo the stack, click the right-pointing arrow on the tab of each calendar. The calendars are once again displayed side by side.



## **Share a Calendar**

There are several ways to share your Outlook 2010 Calendar with others. You can send a calendar via e-mail, publish your calendar to Microsoft Office Online, or share your default Microsoft Exchange Calendar with others on the same server.

#### **SEND A CALENDAR IN E-MAIL**

You can send any calendar you own to another person in the body of an e-mail message. The person receiving the calendar will see a snapshot of it at a given moment in time. If the recipient uses Outlook 2010, he or she can open the calendar snapshot as an Outlook Calendar and display it either side by side or as an overlay with any other calendars. The downside of using a calendar snapshot is that the calendar you send is not automatically updated when you make changes. If the e-mail recipient needs a regularly updated calendar, consider publishing your calendar to Microsoft Office Online, using a calendar-publishing Web service, or, if your office has it, sharing your calendars via an Exchange server.

To share a calendar:

- 1. In Calendar's Outlook View, select the calendar you want to share.
- 2. On the Home tab, click E-mail Calendar in the Share group.
  - -Or-

N

ω

4

 $\sim$ 

00

ဖ

0

	alendar information you want to include.
Calendar:	Calendar
Date Range:	Next 30 days 🔹
	Mon 12/21/2009 through Tue 1/19/2010
Detail:	Availability only Time will be shown as "Free," "Busy," "Tentative," or "Out of Office"
	Show time within my working hours only Set working hours
Advanced:	Hide <<
	Include details of items marked private
	Include attachments within calendar items
	E-mail Layout: Daily schedule

# CAUTION

Be careful when you set the date range of a calendar snapshot. If you set it for a long period, the e-mail file might be too big for the recipient's e-mail Inbox.

	Publishing:	bcctg Calendar
10000	Time Span:	Previous 30 Days     through next 60 Days
		🔘 Whole calendar
	Detail:	Availability only Time will be shown as "Free," "Busy," "Tentative," or "Out of Office"
		Show time within my working hours only <u>Set working ho</u>
<b>II</b>	Permissions:	Only invited users can subscribe to this calendar Anyone can subscribe to this calendar

In the Outlook View, right-click the calendar you want to share. From the context menu, click **Share** and click **E-mail Calendar**.

In either case, an e-mail message box opens with the Send A Calendar Via E-Mail dialog box in the message portion of the e-mail window.

- **3.** Click the **Calendar** down arrow, and click the calendar you want to e-mail.
- **4.** Click the **Date Range** down arrow, and click the time period of the calendar that you want to send.
- **5.** Click the **Detail** icon, and select the type of calendar information you want to send.
- If you chose Availability Only in step 5, click Show Time Within My Working Hours Only if that is what you want.
- Click Advanced and, if desired, click Include Details Of Items Marked Private and/or click Include Attachments.
- 8. Click E-mail Layout and click either the Daily Schedule or List Of Events format.
- 9. Click OK to close the dialog box.
- **10.** Click **To** and type the recipient's e-mail address.
- 11. Click Send to send the e-mail.

#### **PUBLISH A CALENDAR TO MICROSOFT OFFICE ONLINE**

Microsoft offers a publishing service for your calendars. This method does not require Microsoft Exchange for either the user or the owner of the calendar. The first time you use the service, you must register using your Microsoft Windows Live ID account. If you don't yet have an account, you may follow the instructions on the screen to obtain one for free.

- 1. In Calendar's Outlook View, right-click the calendar you want to share.
- **2.** Click **Share** and click **Publish to Office.com**. Go through the registration procedure, if needed. The Publish Calendar To Office.com dialog box appears.
- Click a Time Span button to choose whether you want to send a section of the calendar (recommended) or all of it. If selecting a time range, click the Previous and Through Next down arrows to set the time span for the calendar.
- Click Only Invited Users Can Subscribe To This Calendar if you want to restrict access to your calendar.
- Click Anyone Can Subscribe To This Calendar if you want to share your Calendar with anyone.

L

0

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ



# QUICKFACTS

### UNDERSTANDING INTERNET CALENDARS

There are several types of Internet calendars. We've discussed sharing the calendar via e-mail and publishing it to Microsoft Office Online. There is another type of Internet calendar that is downloaded from calendar publishing services or special Web sites that host calendars. This downloaded calendar is created and saved in Outlook. Most Internet calendar companies charge a subscription fee for this service. While calendar snapshots are not updated with any regularity, a subscription to an Internet calendar means that your calendar is synchronized on a regular basis with a calendar saved on a Web server. The updates that result from the synchronization are downloaded to your Internet calendar.

## TIP

Try using text dates, as described in the "Entering Dates and Times" QuickSteps, and you'll be amazed at how Outlook can interpret what you enter.

- 6. Click Advanced to open the Published Calendar Settings dialog box.
- **7.** Click **Automatic Uploads** if you want Outlook 2010 to periodically update your published calendar automatically.
- 8. Click Single Upload if you do not want to have your calendar updated.
- 9. Click OK to publish your calendar.
- After your calendar has been successfully published, you are prompted to create an e-mail announcing this fact. Click Yes to create the e-mail, or click No to close the dialog box.



## **Use the Calendar**

Within the calendar, you can enter several types of activities.

- **Appointments** take time on your calendar, are less than 24 hours long, and do not require inviting others within Outlook to attend. Examples include a sales call, lunch with a buyer, or time you want to set aside to write a report.
- **Meetings** are appointments that require that others be invited and/or that resources be reserved. Meetings are set up using e-mail.
- All Day Events are 24 hours or longer, do not occupy time on your calendar, and appear as a banner on each day's calendar. Examples are conferences, birthdays, or your vacation.
- **Tasks** are activities that do not need specific time periods for them. Your tasks display in the Day, Work Week, and Week views of your calendar.
- All types of activities can be entered in several ways and with a number of options.

N

ω

4

G

တ

<u></u>

00

6

0



### **ENTERING DATES AND TIMES**

The Outlook Calendar allows you to enter dates and times as text and convert that text to numeric dates and times. For example, you can type "<u>next tue</u>" and be given next Tuesday's date, or you can type "<u>sep ninth</u>" and see that date. You can type this way in any date or time field in Outlook, such as the Go To Date dialog box, reached by pressing **CTRL+G**, or right-clicking any empty spot on the Calendar grid while in Day, Work Week, Week, or Month view. Likewise, you can type in the Start and End date and time fields in the appointment and event views or the Meeting dialog box. Some of the things you can do include:

- Abbreviate months and days (for example, *Dec* or *fri*).
- Ignore capitalization and other punctuation (for example, wednesday, april, and lincolns birthday).
- Use words that indicate dates and times (for example, noon, midnight, tomorrow, yesterday, today, now, next week, last month, five days ago, in three months, this Saturday, and two weeks from now). Words you can use include after, ago, before, beforehand, beginning, end, ending, following, for, from, last, next, now, previous, start, that, this, through, till, tomorrow, yesterday, today, and until.
- Spell out specific dates and times (for example, August ninth, first of December, April 19th, midnight, noon, two twenty p.m., and five o'clock a.m.).
- Indicate holidays that fall on the same date every year (for example, New Year's Eve, New Year's Day, Lincoln's Birthday, Valentine's Day, Washington's Birthday, St. Patrick's Day, Cinco de Mayo, Independence Day, Halloween, Veterans' Day, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, and Boxing Day).

## **Create Appointments**

Appointments can be entered in any view and in several different ways. Independent of the view you are using, the different ways can be grouped into direct entry and window entry. *Direct entry* means simply typing directly on the calendar, while *window entry* uses a window to gather the information, which is then displayed on the calendar. Direct entry is fast if you want to make a quick notation. Window entry allows you to select and set a number of options.

#### **ENTER APPOINTMENTS DIRECTLY**

You can directly enter an appointment on the calendar in any view by clicking a date or time and typing the description. If you want the entry longer or shorter than the default half hour (or whatever standard duration you have selected), just drag the top or bottom border up or down to change the time. If you want to move the appointment, simply drag it to where you want it in the current day or to another day in either the calendar itself or the Date Navigator. To change the properties of an appointment, double-click the appointment, which opens the context menu, where a number of properties can be set.

To directly enter appointments:

- Click any date and time in the Calendar grid in the Day, Work Week, Week, Month, or Schedule view. Type a short description of the appointment, and press ENTER.
- Place the mouse pointer on the sizing handle at the bottom border of the appointment. Drag the border down until the end of the appointment time.
- **3.** If you need to change the beginning time of your appointment, drag the top border up or down until the proper time is reflected in the calendar.

#### **ENTER ALL-DAY EVENTS DIRECTLY**

An all-day event is an activity that normally lasts at least 24 hours, although you can designate something as an event that lasts less than 24 hours but takes most of your time that day, such as a company picnic. Examples of events are conferences, seminars, and holidays. If events are tied to specific dates, they are considered annual events, such as a birthday or holiday. When you enter an event, it is considered free time, not busy. You create events differently than appointments.

00

ດ

0

N

ω

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

10

## TIP

Combine direct entry and window entry to get the benefits of both.

# NOTE

You can move an appointment without changing the duration by dragging it in any direction. This will change your start and end times but leave the duration constant.

All events appear in the banner at the top of the daily schedule, while all appointments are on the calendar itself. To directly enter an event:

- 1. With the Outlook Calendar open in Day, Work Week, or Week view, select a day in the Calendar grid when the event will take place.
- Click in the dark blue area at the top of the daily schedule, just under the date header, type the event name, and press ENTER.



#### **ENTER APPOINTMENTS IN A WINDOW**

As an alternative to directly entering appointments and events, you can use a New Appointment window, seen in Figure 5-7, to accomplish the same objective and immediately be able to enter a lot more information. To open a New Appointment window:

	Ŭ ☆ ♥   <del>=</del>				Prelminary Planning session	on -	- Appointment	3
File	Appointment Insert Calendar Copy to My Calendar Actions	r I +	Appointment Sche	ð	Add-Ins		E Busy IS minutes Options Private Pri	m
Subject:	Prelminary Planning sessio	n						
Location:	Joseph office							Ŧ
Start time:	Tue 12/22/2009	-	1:45 PM	+	Pacific Time (US & Canada)	-	🗌 All day event	
End time:	Tue 12/22/2009	-	3:30 PM	-	Pacific Time (US & Canada)	-		
	with Joseph Group – ta 2 – may need a conferer					sary	y to proceed with the Alpha project. Call Carissa to verify plans are	1 2 I

Figure 5-7: The Appointment window is used to set up or change an appointment.

- In the Outlook Calendar, in the Home tab, click New Appointment in the New group.
- 2. Click Subject and type the subject of the appointment. This text becomes the description in the calendar, with the location added parenthetically and the date and time determining where the appointment goes on the calendar.
- **3.** Press **TAB**. Type the location, if relevant, in the Location text box.
- Click the Start Time down arrow on the left to display a small calendar in which you can choose a date.

# 

Depending on where you click in the Calendar grid, the window that opens may be either an Appointment window or an Event window. The only difference, other than the title, is that All Day Event is selected and the free/busy indicator is set to Free for an event. If you get an Event window when you want an Appointment window, simply clear the All Day Event check box.



- 5. Click the down arrow on the right, and select a start time.
- Click the End Time down arrow, and select the end date and time. By default, the end date for an appointment is the same date as the start date unless you have selected All Day Event.
- **7.** If you have selected more than one time zone, select the appropriate time zone for this appointment.
- **8.** Type any notes or other information necessary in the message section of the Appointment dialog box.
- **9.** In the Appointment tab Options group, click the **Show As** down arrow, and tell Outlook how to display this time slot on your calendar.
  - Free This time is available to be scheduled for an appointment.
  - **Tentative** This time is potentially scheduled, but is currently not finalized.
  - **Busy** This time is now unavailable to be scheduled for anything else.
  - Out Of Office This time is unavailable and cannot be scheduled.
- **10.** In the Appointment tab Options group, click the **Reminder** down arrow, and set the reminder time. See "Use Reminders" later in this chapter for more information.
- In the Appointment tab Actions group, click Save & Close to save your appointment.

### **ENTER AN EVENT IN A WINDOW**

To enter an all-day event:

- 1. In the Outlook Calendar, from the ribbon's Home tab, click **New** Items in the New group.
- 2. Click All Day Event. The New Event window opens.
- Click Subject to enter text describing the event as it will appear on your calendar.
- Click Location to type information about the location. By default, All Day Event is selected.
- **5.** Repeat steps 8–11 from "Enter Appointments in a Window." The start and end times become unavailable; the reminder, by default, goes to 18 hours; and Show Time As changes to Free, as seen in Figure 5-8.



 $\sim$ 

က

00

ດ

0

# 

Recurring appointments and events can save you a lot of time re-entering activities, but they can also generate a lot of entries, which may unnecessarily fill your calendar. Enter only the recurring appointments that you want to remember.

Save & Del	Calence ete Copy to My Calendar	rd 🔹	Appointment S	cheduling	Invite Attendees	₩ Show As:		→ O → Recurrence	Time Zones	Categorize	<ul> <li>Private</li> <li>High Importance</li> <li>Low Importance</li> </ul>	Zoom
Actions		1	Show	i .	Attendees		Option:	5	Lones 13		Tags	Zoom
Subject:	Travel Time to Uncle Gab	riel's										
Location:	Uncle Gabriel's house											+
Start time:	Wed 12/23/2009	-	12:00 AM		All day event							
End time:	Wed 12/23/2009	-	12:00 AM									

Figure 5-8: An Event window looks much like the Appointment window, except All Day Event is selected.

Appointme	nt time	
Start:	7:00 AM	
End:	8:00 AM	
Duration:	1 hour	
Recurrence	e pattern	
<ul> <li>Daily</li> <li>Weekly</li> <li>Monthly</li> <li>Yearly</li> </ul>	Creiy moon	day(s) lay
Range of r	ecurrence	
Start: M	on 12/7/2009	O end date
		© End after: 10 occurrences
		C End by: Fri 12/18/2009

*Figure 5-9:* Use the Appointment Recurrence dialog box to schedule recurring appointments automatically.

## **Enter Recurring Appointments** Often, vou'll have appointments and events that recur p

Often, you'll have appointments and events that recur predictably, for example, a weekly staff meeting, a monthly planning meeting, a monthly lunch with a friend, and birthdays. You obviously do not want to re-enter these every week, month, or year. Outlook has a feature that allows you to enter these activities once and have them reappear on a given frequency for as long as you want.

- 1. Create a new appointment as described in "Enter Appointments in a Window."
- 2. In the Appointments tab Options group, click **Recurrence**. The Appointment Recurrence dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 5-9.



- 3. Click the Start down arrow, and select the start time of this recurring appointment.
- 4. Click the End down arrow, and select the end time.
- 5. Click the **Duration** down arrow, and select the length of time this appointment lasts.
- Click Recurrence Pattern and choose how often this appointment occurs. The specific fields you enter to complete the pattern will differ, depending on the appointment interval you choose.

N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

10

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4



You can delete a single instance of a recurring activity without affecting the rest of the series. If you choose to delete a recurring activity, the dialog box asks if you want to delete the current instance of the activity or the entire series.

ıЮ

- **7.** Under Range Of Recurrence, click the down arrow, select the date this appointment starts, the number of times it occurs, and its ending date.
- 8. Click **OK** to close the Appointment Recurrence dialog box.
- 9. Click Save & Close.

### EDIT RECURRING APPOINTMENTS

To change one instance of a recurring appointment:

- 1. In the Outlook Calendar, locate and double-click a recurring appointment in any calendar view. The Open Recurring Item dialog box appears.
- Click Open This Occurrence if you want to make a change to only this instance of the appointment.
- **3.** Click **OK** to open the Appointment window and make the necessary changes to this occurrence of the appointment.
- **4.** In the Appointment Occurrence tab Actions group, click **Save & Close**.

To change all instances of a recurring appointment:

- In the calendar, locate and double-click the recurring appointment in any calendar view. The Open Recurring Item dialog box appears.
- 2. Click **Open The Series** if you want to make a change to the recurring appointment itself.
- 3. Click OK to open the Appointment window.
- 4. In the Appointment Occurrence tab Options group, click Recurrence (if you forgot to click Open The Series in step 2, you will see "Edit Series" in place of "Recurrence"). The Appointment Recurrence dialog box appears.
- 5. Make the necessary changes to this appointment, and click OK.
- 6. In the Appointment Occurrence tab Actions group, click Save & Close.

## **Move Appointments**

If an appointment changes times within a day, you can move it to its new time by simply dragging it to that new time, as you saw earlier. If you entered an event on the wrong day, or if an appointment changes days, you can drag it to the correct day in the Work Week, Week, or Month view or in the Date Navigator. You cannot drag a recurring appointment to a date that skips over

ഹ

ဖ

00

ດ

0

TIP

You can copy an activity by right-dragging it (use the right mouse button) to where you want the copy and selecting **Copy** from the context menu that appears when you release the right mouse button.

Field calls - all day	11 <del>55</del> - 18
Start time: Wednesday, Decemb	er 16, 2009 8:30 AM
iubject	Due in
Field calls - all day	2 hours overdue
Dismiss All	Open Item Dismiss
Dismiss All	Open Item Dismiss



Reminders are wonderful if they are used sparingly. If they are constantly going off and you dismiss them, then they are of little value. The default is for a reminder to be automatically turned on, so you must turn it off in a new appointment if you don't want it. another occurrence of the same appointment. You can, however, change a recurring appointment to another date before the next one occurs. The different ways to move appointments or events are:

- Drag the appointment to the day you want in a Work Week, Week, or Month view; Calendar Navigator; or Date Navigator. You can drag an appointment anywhere in the Calendar grid by dragging from anywhere in the appointment, except at the expansion points on the middle of the sides.
- When you drag an appointment to a new day, it will be placed in the same time slot. You can change the time by dragging it to the new time, either before or after you move it to the new day.

## **Use Reminders**

When you have set a reminder for an appointment, the Reminder dialog box appears at the time you have set before the appointment. You have several choices in the dialog box.

- Click Dismiss All to close the reminder and tell it not to appear again.
- Click Snooze to tell the dialog box when to remind you again but close the reminder for now.
- Click Open Item to open the Appointment window so that you can make changes to the appointment, the reminder, or both.
- Click **Dismiss** to close only the highlighted reminder.

## **Print Calendars**

When you have completed making entries on your calendar, you may want to take it with you, away from your computer, for reference and to jot new appointments on. For this reason, Outlook includes a number of printed formats to fit your needs.

To print your calendar:

- 1. In any view in Outlook Calendar, click the File tab.
- 2. Click Print to open the Print Setting dialog box, as seen in Figure 5-10.

N

ω

4

G

 $\infty$ 

**S** 

0



Figure 5-10: You can print your Outlook Calendar in several different formats.

- **3.** In the Settings area, select the format for your printed calendar. There are several from which to choose, and each style will display in the Preview area.
- **4.** Click **Print Options** and click the print style you want to print. Your choices are determined by the Calendar view you have chosen.

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

က

- 4
- S
  - ဖ

- 00
- ດ

10

tyle name:	Weekly (	Calendar Style			
Format	Paper	Header/Footer	4		
			Preview:		
Options Arrange da	vs: AT	op to bottom	2.40	Fonts Date headings	
Hirdingo da	16221 (S.S.S.	eft to right		24 pt. Segoe UI	
Layout:	_	age/week	•	Appointments	
154		Tasks		8 pt. Segoe UI	Font
I <u>a</u> sks:				Shading	
Include:	E N	lotes area ( <u>b</u> lank) lotes area (lined)		V Print using gray shading	
Print fro <u>m</u> :	7:00	n am 💌			
Print <u>t</u> o:	7:00	D PM 📼			
🕅 Only Prir	nt <u>W</u> orkda	аус			

*Figure 5-11:* The Print Setup dialog box gives you considerable flexibility with regard to the print style, the format, paper specifications, and header/footer information.

- **5.** Click **Page Setup** to open the Print Setup dialog box shown in Figure 5-11.
  - **a.** Click the **Format** tab, and make any changes in the Options and Fonts sections.
  - **b.** Click the **Shading** check box if you want gray shading to be used in your printed calendar.
  - C. Click the Paper tab to choose the paper specifications.
  - **d.** Click the **Header/Footer** tab to add the professional touch of a header and/or a footer.
  - **e.** When you are ready, click **Preview** to see how your printed calendar will look.
  - f. Click **Print** to print your calendar.

## Plan Meetings and Request Attendance

In addition to using Outlook 2010 for scheduling appointments and events, you can use Outlook to plan and schedule meetings. In Outlook, a meeting is an appointment to which others are invited.

## **Schedule a Meeting**

You create a meeting by identifying the people you want to invite and picking a meeting time. You e-mail a meeting request to people in your Outlook Contacts who you want to attend.

- 1. Open the calendar.
- 2. From the Home tab, click New Meeting in the New group.

–Or–

#### Press CTRL+SHIFT+Q.

In either event, the New Meeting window opens, as seen in Figure 5-12.

N

ω

4

G

10

129

တ

 $\overline{\phantom{a}}$ 

00





- 3. Click To, double-click your attendees from your Contacts list, and click OK.
- **4.** Click in the **Subject** text box, and type a description for your meeting. This description will appear on all calendars.
- 5. Click in the Location text box, and type the location information, if necessary.
- 6. Click the Start Time down arrow, and select the date and time the meeting is to start.
- Click the End Time down arrow, and select the date and time the meeting is scheduled to end.
- 8. Click All Day Event, if necessary.
- Enter any additional information in the Notes section of the Meeting window that may be needed by the attendees.
- In the Meeting tab Show group, click Scheduling. In the All Attendees column, click Click Here To Add A Name to include others in the meeting. (If you don't see it, enlarge the window.) If necessary, click Add Others to add names.

9

130

N

က

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

elete Copy to My Calendar Actions	Appointme	nt Schedul	ing Ca	ncel ation 4	✔ Che	dress Book eck Names ponse Op dees		🚾 🖬 Bu:		• 🔮	Recurrence Fime Zones	Cat	egorize	Zo	R	
🖃 Send 📃 🔍 100% -	, December		9:00	10:00		11:00	12:00	1:00	2:00		3:00	4:00	5:00		6:00	
All Attendees     Gelarsand@finco.bt     Gelarsand@finco.bt     Genowyn Callope (bcalliope@     Genowyn Callone (bcalliope@     Gellarsand@finco.ct     Gell Schwartz (bills@ourbiz.btz)     Click here to add a name																
	•															
Add Others	Start time: End time:		/30/2009 /30/2009	•	2:00 4:30		•]									
Busy 🛛 Tentative 📕 Out of	f Office	No Inform	nation 🗍	Outs	ide of	working	hours						1000	1		

Figure 5-13: The Scheduling dialog box allows you to send out invitations, track who can attend, and schedule resources for the meeting.

## **Respond to an Invitation**

When you receive a meeting request, a message appears in your Inbox with an icon that is different from the normal e-mail icon.

- **1.** In Outlook, open the meeting notification or request.
- 2. On the Message tab Respond group, click one of the following:
  - Accept
  - Tentative
  - Decline
- 3. To send your response with no comments, click Send The Response Now. Click OK.
- **4.** To include comments with your response, click **Edit The Response Before Sending**.
- 5. Type your comments and click Send.
- 6. To send no response, click **Don't Send A Response**, and click **OK**. The meeting is added to your calendar.

- **11.** If you want to change the meeting times, you can enter the start and ending times, or you can drag the edges of the vertical meeting line, as shown in Figure 5-13.
- 12. Click Close to open the Close Meeting dialog box. Choose to save your changes and either send or not send the meeting announcement or not to save changes.



C)

N

ω

4

 $\sim$ 

00

9

10


## How to...

- Explore the Tasks Window
- View Tasks
- Customizing Task Settings
- Create a New Task from the Ribbon
- Set Recurring Tasks
- Categorize a Task
- Assign a New Task
- Accepting or Declining a Task Assignment
- Make a Task Private
- Mark a Task as Complete
- Choose to Not Display a
   Completed Task
- Delete a Task
- Rename a Task
- Linking a Task to a Contact
- Create Status Reports
- Add a Flag to an Existing Task
- Set a Quick Click Flag
- Set the To-Do Bar to Show Only Tasks

# Chapter 6

# **Using Tasks**

Keeping organized and meeting appointments and deadlines is important to us all. Outlook can help you stay organized and can even alert you to events and appointments. Outlook defines a task as something you create and track until the item is complete. Any incomplete tasks appear on the To-Do bar, along with other Outlook items you have marked for follow-up. The To-Do bar appears in every Outlook 2010 area, so you can see what you need to accomplish at a glance. An Outlook item can be an e-mail you need to answer, a contact you have marked to call back next week, or some other uncompleted task. In this chapter, you will learn how to create and manage tasks, mark items for follow-up by both you and e-mail recipients, modify and delete tasks, and share task information with others.

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

0

133

N

ω

G

# Use the Task Window

Tasks are Outlook items, just like e-mail and calendar entries, and when you create tasks, they are stored in a specific Outlook window. The Tasks window keeps all of your tasks in one place and automatically keeps them organized for you. In this section, you'll see how to use the Tasks window and how to view tasks.

#### **Explore the Tasks Window**

You can easily access the Tasks window and view your tasks.

- 1. Open Outlook as described in Chapter 1 if it is not already open.
- 2. From the Outlook View, click Tasks.
  - –Or–

Press CTRL+4.

💙 Tasks	
Notes	Tasks (Ctrl+4

In all cases, the Outlook Tasks view opens with your tasks listed in the center of the window, as shown in Figure 6-1. The window contains a listing of any existing tasks, which also appear in the Tasks section of the To-Do bar on the right side of the window.

#### **View Tasks**

By default, Outlook gives you a simple list view of your tasks in the Outlook Tasks view. You see the name of the task, the due date, the category, and any flags you have assigned to the task. However, you can re-sort these tasks in various ways using several different views, depending on the information you need, which can make your work easier.

1. Click the View tab to see the ribbon's groups.

P < Search Tasks (Ctrl+E) Due Date 🔺 Categories 🕅 🔺 🗅 🗹 Subject No upco... Click here to add a new Task Iders Call basketball coach re new sc... Wed 12/16/20... ~ \*\*\*\* 🗿 🔲 Take cat to vet Thu 12/17/2009 5 🗿 🔲 Redo minutes for community m... Fri 12/18/2009 🗿 🔲 Get budget figures for November Tue 12/22/2009 ٣ 🗿 🔲 Staff Holiday Lunch Wed 12/23/20 ... Today: ... Mon 12/20/20... Wed 12/30/20... 🌍 🔲 Pay bills 🔲 Meet with LI re new hires -Wed 12/30/20.. 77% Items: 8

🖂 Mail

Calendar

Seal Contacts

Notes

Shortcuts

Folder List

🏹 Tasks

Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Using Tasks

6

N

က

4

S

0

134



Figure 6-1: The Tasks window displays a listing of your tasks in both the center pane and in the To-Do bar.

To-Do bar with tasks displayed

135

10

ယ

File H	lome Seno	1 / Receive	Folder Vi
6		Cat <u>eg</u> ories	🚩 Sta <u>r</u> t (
Change View View • Settir	v Reset Iys View	f Importance	🔏 Assign
10		*	
Detailed	Simple List	To-Do List	Prioritized
		(P)=	1
Active	Completed	Today	Next 7 Days
	20		
Overdue	Assigned	Server Tasks	
Manage	Views		
<u>S</u> ave Cu	rrent View As a	New View	
Apply C	urrent View to	Other Task Fold	lers

- 2. In the Current View group, click **Change View**. You can change your view of the tasks by clicking the different options.
  - Simple List displays a listing of your tasks with the subject, due date, categories, and flags shown.
  - **Detailed** displays the subject, status, due date, date modified, folder location, categories, and flags, as shown in Figure 6-2.
  - Active is the same as Detailed, but only shows tasks that are currently active—that is, tasks that have not been deferred or completed.
  - **Overdue** is the same as Detailed, but only shows tasks that are overdue.
  - Completed shows you all tasks that have been completed.
  - **Assigned** shows you tasks that have been assigned to others. This view shows you the task, the owner, the due date, and the status of each task.

O   I → I → File Home	Send / Receive Folder V	T	asks - Outlook Data	File - Microsoft C	Dutlook		a (2)
Change View Reset View Settings View Current View	) Cat <u>eg</u> ories 🖤 Sta <u>r</u> t	Date <b>Y</b> D <u>u</u> e	Date + %=]A( ₹ ⊕= E)	everse Sort dd Columns xpand/Collapse *	Navigation Reading To-Do Pane * Pane * Layout	People Pane * People Pane	Reminders Open in New Close Window Window All Items Window
▲ My Tasks ▼ To-Do List			Sear	th Tasks (Ctrl+E)		٩	> December 2009
🛃 Tasks	Click here to add a new Task	Start Date	Reminder Time	Due Date 🔶	In Folder Categories	± 7 û	Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
l. l	<ul> <li>Y Flag: Due Date: Today</li> <li>drop off cleaning</li> <li>Y Flag: Due Date: Tomorroy</li> </ul>	Thu 12/17/2009	None	Thu 12/17/2009	-	= ۲	13         14         15         16         17         16         19           20         21         22         23         24         25         26           27         28         29         30         31         1         2           3         4         5         6         7         8         9
1	<ul> <li>Take cat to vet</li> <li>Type notes for community m</li> <li>Y Flag: Due Date: Next Wee</li> </ul>		None None	Fri 12/18/2009 Fri 12/18/2009	📙 Volunteer Ti	me 🚩	Today Employee Training Workshop 10:00 AM - 2:00 PM
3	Get November budget figures		None Tue 12/22/2009 6:	Tue 12/22/2009 Wed 12/23/2009	📙 Financial Ma	n 🕅 ₽ 🕅 💌	Client meeting with the Matthews Group 3:00 PM - 5:30 PM
Calendar							Arrange By: Flag: Due Date
Secontacts							▲ Y Today drop off cleaning
Filter applied					<u> A</u> Send/Receive	error 🔲 🛛	1 90% 🕘 👘 🕘 💡

Figure 6-2: Viewing your tasks in to-do list format can help you set daily priorities.

136

ດ

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

က

4

S

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

basketball

coach re new schedule vet

minutes for

You can change views at any time by simply clicking a different view option in the Arrangement group for the View tab, or the Current View group in the Home tab.

View Name	Can De Used On	View Type	-	New
<current settings="" view=""></current>	All Task folders	Table		
Detailed	All Lask folders	Lable		Copy
Simple List	All Task folders	Table	E	
To-Do List	All Task folders	Table		Mudify
Prioritized	All Task folders	Table		Ronamo
Active	All Task folders	Table		Rename
Completed	All Task folders	Table		Reset
Today	All Task folders	Table		
Next 7 Days	All Task folders	Table	-	
Description Fields: Group By:	Icon, Task Subject, Start I Arrangement Label (ascen		ne, Due	Date, In Fold
Fields:			ne, Due	Date, In Fold

figures for renew hires

Lunch

Montrose re

- To Do List shows the task subject, its start date, reminder time, due date, folder, N categories, and flags. This view groups the tasks by start date. Today is the same as Detailed, but only shows tasks for today. • Server Tasks are used with Microsoft Exchange accounts. This view includes the name of the person to whom the task has been assigned. ω • Prioritized shows the list grouped by priority. • Next 7 Days is the same as Detailed, but only shows tasks for the next seven days. **CREATE A NEW TASK VIEW** You can modify any task view to fit your needs. 4 1. Click the **View** tab to see the ribbon's View groups. 2. In the Current View group, click Change View. Click Manage Views to open the Manage All Views dialog box. 3. Click New to open the Create A New View dialog box. G 4. Type a name for your new view. Choose the type of view you want to create. • Click **Table** to create a view that displays the standard views in a table format.
  - Click **Timeline** to create a view that shows your tasks in a timeline format, as shown in Figure 6-3.
  - Click **Card** to display your tasks in a card format.
    - Click **Business Card** to display your tasks in the same format as a business card.
    - Click Day/Week/Month to display tasks in a calendar format.
    - Click lcons to display tasks as icons.

embe	r 2009 🖕										
ue 15	Wed 16	Thu 17	Fri 18	Sat 19	Sun 20	Mon 21	Tue 22	Wed 23	Thu 24	Fri 25	Sat 26
	🗟 Call bask	etball coach re i	new schedule			谢 Get budg	get figures for N	lovember		•	
		📓 Take cat	to vet				谢 Meet wi	th LJ re new hires	;		
			📓 Redo m	inutes for comm	unity meeting			遂 Staff Hol	liday Lunch		
											N.

Figure 6-3: Using the Timeline view can help you see your scheduled tasks according to calendar dates.

1

Pay bills

137

00

ယ

ဂ

Actual Work Assigned To Company Contacts Custom Status Notes Organizer Owner Recipient Name Recipient Name Recipient No Reassign Icon Icon Priority Contacts Icon Icon Priority Icon Priority Contacts Icon Icon Icon Icon Icon Icon Icon Icon	Maximum number of lines in Select available columns from				
% Complete       Add ->       Complete         Actual Work       Assigned To       Icon         Company       <- Remove       Priority         Contacts        Subject         Custom Status       New Column       Due Date         Modes       Organizer       Modified         Owner       Received Representing Name       Flag Status         Recipient None       Flag Status	Frequently-used fields	-			
Actual Work Assigned To Company Contacts Custom Status Notes Organizer Owner Recipient Name Recipient No Reassign Icon Icon Priority Attachment Subject Status Due Date Modified Date Completed In Folder Categories Flag Status	Available columns:			Show these colur	mns in this orde
	Actual Work Assigned To Company Contacts Custom Priority Custom Status Notes Organizer Owner Received Representing Nan Recipient Name Recipient No Reassign	E E	<- Remove	Icon Priority Attachment Subject Status Due Date Modified Date Completed In Folder Categories	

Figure 6-4: Choose items from the Available Columns list to create a personalized task view.

Column Font	8 pt. Segoe UI	Automatic column sizin
Column Ponc	o pr. segue ur	Allow in-cell editing
Row Font	8 pt. Segoe UI	Show "new item" row
Grid Lines and Grou	ip Headings	
Grid line style:	No grid lines	Show items in Groups
AutoPreview		
Font	8 pt. Segoe UI	🔘 Preview all items
		Preview unread items
		No AutoPreview
Reading Pane		
🔘 Right 🛛 🔘 Bo	ttom 🔘 Off	Hide header informatio
Other Options		
🔲 Use compact l	ayout in widths smaller th	han 100 characters
Always us	e single-line layout 🛛 🔘	Always use compact layout
Show message	es from all folders in exp	anded conversation groups
	and the second	ic Indented view

**5.** Once you have chosen the type of view and clicked OK, the Advanced View Settings dialog box appears.

escription	
Columns	Complete, Icon, Priority, Attachment, Subject, Status, Due
Group By	None
Sort	Due Date (ascending)
Filter	Off
Other Settings	Fonts and other Table View settings
Conditional Formatting	User defined fonts on each message
Format Columns	Specify the display formats for each field
Reset Current View	OK Cancel

- a. Click Columns to select the columns to display in your customized view, as seen in Figure 6-4.
- b. Choose the fields you want displayed in your Tasks window. Click OK when you are finished.
- 6. Click Group By, click the Group Items By down arrow, click the item on which to group, click Ascending or Descending, and choose whether to show the field. Repeat this process for up to three more subgroupings, and then click OK.
- Click Sort, click the Sort Items By down arrow, click the item on which to sort, and click Ascending or Descending. Repeat this process for up to three more subsorts, and then click OK.
- Click Filter, click in the Search For The Word(s) text box, type the words to search on, click the In down arrow, click where you want to search, and use the other fields to locate just tasks you want to work with. Enter any other criteria, and click OK.
- 9. Click Other Settings to set font size, font face, and other visual settings for your view. In the AutoPreview section, choose how you want to use AutoPreview, if and where you want the Reading pane, and make any desired changes in the Other Options section.
- **10.** Click **Conditional Formatting**. Set your desired rules, change the font if you desire, and click **OK**.

N

က

4

S

6

 $\sim$ 

00

10

138

ົ

# 

#### **CUSTOMIZING TASK SETTINGS**

You can customize options in the Outlook Tasks view by changing the default settings for it. To change the Tasks options:

1. With Tasks selected on the Outlook View, rightclick anywhere on the ribbon or the tabs. Click **Customize The Ribbon**.



- Click the File tab, and then click Options. On the Outlook Options dialog box, click Tasks.
- 3. In the Tasks view, click the Set Reminders On Tasks With Due Dates check box to have the option to set reminder times each time you create a task.
- 4. Click the **Default Reminder Time** down arrow, and if you want an alternate time other than the default of 8:00 A.M., click your choice.



Continued . . .

- **11.** Click **Format Columns**; click the field (or column) to format; and change the format, label, width, and alignment of the field you selected.
- 12. Click Reset Current View if you want to return to the view's default settings.
- 13. When you have made all of your changes, click OK to close the dialog box. Click Apply View to continue making changes, or click OK to close the Manage All Views dialog box.

# **Create Tasks**

To use the Outlook Tasks feature, you'll have to create tasks. As new appointments, jobs, and other tasks come your way, you can simply create a task in the Tasks window to organize your work. In this section, you'll see how to create a task from several different locations, change a task, make a recurring task, and more.

#### **Create a New Task from the Ribbon**

The ribbon, now an established part of Microsoft Outlook, is where new tasks are added. You'll see that Outlook 2010 continues this approach, making this familiar and easy.

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view Home tab New group, click New Task.
  - -Or-

From the Task pane, double-click **Click Here To Add a New Task** at the top of the pane. In the To-Do List view, you will see "Task Subject" above the new task field instead of "Subject," as displayed in the other views.

 ☑ Subject

 Click here to add a new Task

 ☑ ☑ Call basketball coach re new schedule

 ३ □ Take cat to vet

Either way, the new Task window opens, as shown in Figure 6-5.

- Click in the Subject text box, and type a name for this task. This is all the information you must enter for your task.
- **3.** If you choose, click the **Start Date** down arrow to display a calendar from which you can choose the starting date for this task, or simply type a date.

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

10

139

00



#### CUSTOMIZING TASK SETTINGS (Continued)

- 6. By default, the Send Status Report When I Complete An Assigned Task check box is selected. If you want, clear the check box by clicking it. Both of these items are used primarily by those users on Microsoft Exchange Server.
- Click the Overdue Task Color down arrow to display a drop-down list of other colors from which you can choose. Click the color you want to use instead of the default red.

Overdue task color:	2 -
<u>C</u> ompleted task color:	
Set Quick Click flag:	
ours	
Task working hours per	

- Click the Completed Task Color down arrow, and change the color of completed tasks to the color you want to use.
- Click the Quick Click button to assign flags to tasks with a single click.
- Set the number of working hours per day and per week using the up and down arrows in the spinners.
- 11. Click **OK** to close the Outlook Options dialog box.
- TIP

CTRL+SHIFT+K.

140

Save & Delete Close	Forward OneNote	Task	Details	Mark		nd Status Report	Recurrence	Categorize Fo	High Importance	Zoom
A	ctions	Sho	W		Manage Task		Recurrence		Tags	Zoom
Subject:	Check with Colette	about b	udgetin	g issues						
itart date:	Mon 11/30/2009		- Sta	tus: I	n Progress					
)ue date:	Mon 2/15/2010		* Pri	ority: H	ligh	• % Co	mplete: 15%	5 A		
Z Reminder:	Wed 2/10/2010	•	10	MA 00:	•	0wn	en bootg			
	udgets for 2010 ar nsure each depart					2010. Co	lette, Tom,	Paul & I will r	need to meet every tw	10

Figure 6-5: The new Task window helps you enter information about a job you must complete.

- 4. If you have chosen to enter a start date, the due date is automatically the same date. Click the **Due Date** down arrow to display a calendar from which you can choose the date this task is to be completed.
- **5.** You can keep track of the progress of this task with the Status, Priority, and %Complete boxes.
  - Click the **Status** down arrow to choose the current stage of this task.
  - Click **Priority** to set the importance of this task to low, normal, or high.
  - Click %Complete to enter what percentage of the task is currently complete. You can also use the up and down arrows to scroll among 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100%.
- 6. If you want to be reminded of this task, click the **Reminder** check box and then the down arrow, and choose a date on which to be reminded. Type a time for the reminder or choose one from the drop-down list.
- 7. Click the et a open the Reminder Sound dialog box.
  - Click Play This Sound to hear the sound that will play.
  - Click Browse to look for and select another sound file that you want to play as a reminder.
  - Click **OK** to close the dialog box.
- 8. Click in the task body to add any information or notes about this task.
- 9. To save the task, click Save & Close in the Actions group.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

00

ດ

Recurrence p	attern
🔘 Daily	Recur every 2 week(s) on
🖲 Weekly	Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday
O Monthly	Thursday
🖱 Yearly	© Regenerate new task 1 week(s) after each task is completed
Range of rec	
Start: Thu	12/17/2009 💿 No end date
	End after: 10 occurrences
	C End by: Thu 4/22/2010

*Figure 6-6:* The Task Recurrence dialog box is used when you create repeating tasks.



If you choose to have Outlook 2010 regenerate a new task after an earlier task is completed, make sure that you mark the original task as complete. The new task will not appear until you have marked the original task as completed.

#### **Set Recurring Tasks**

If you want to have a task reappear in your To-Do bar on a regular basis, such as paying your bills each month on the tenth, you need to tell Outlook.

- 1. From the Tasks pane, double-click the task you want to recur. The Task window opens.
- 2. On the Task tab Recurrence group, click **Recurrence** to open the Task Recurrence dialog box.
- Click Monthly if you want to have this task appear on a monthly basis. Choose one of the other options if they apply. The choices displayed will vary depending on the recurrence pattern you choose.
- 4. Click Day to set the day of the month on which this task is to appear, and enter how many months. For example, if you want your task to appear on the 30th of every month, type <u>30</u> and <u>1</u>, as seen in Figure 6-6.

问 <u>D</u> aily	🔘 D <u>a</u> y	30	of eve
问 <u>W</u> eekly	The	last	-
Monthly	O Decene	first	
⊘ <u>Y</u> early	() Regene	secon third fourth	
	L.,	last	

- **5.** Alternately, you can designate the first, last, or other week and corresponding day of the month.
- Click Regenerate New Task \_ Month(s) After Each Task Is Completed, and enter the number of months between appearances if this is a monthly, quarterly, or other repeating task, such as paying your bills.
- **7.** Click **No End Date** if the recurrence of the task is permanent—as in paying bills. If the task occurs for only a specific amount of time, choose the option that applies.
- 8. Click OK to close the dialog box. In the Task tab Actions group, click Save & Close.

#### **SKIP A RECURRING TASK**

- 1. From the Tasks pane, double-click the recurring task with which you want to work. The Task window opens.
- On the Task tab Recurrence group, click Skip Occurrence. The current occurrence of this task will be skipped, and the due date is set to the next regular occurrence.
- 3. Click Save & Close from the ribbon to save your change.
- If you have set a specific number of occurrences for this task, the number is reduced by one.



ဖ

0

\_

N

ŝ

4

G

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

N

4

S

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

# 

To change or remove the color category of an existing task, in the Task pane, right-click the **Categories** field, and choose **Clear All Categories** or choose another color category.

Arrange By: Flag: Due Date	Today on top	• *
Type a new task		
🔺 🥐 No Date		
Check with Madge about budge	ting issues	
🔺 🥐 Today		
drop off cleaning		
4 🚩 Tomorrow		
Type notes for community meetir	ng	0Y
Take cat to vet		
A Y Next Week		
Get November budget figures		٩V
Staff Holiday lunch	<del>Q</del>	$\Box \forall$
🔺 🦞 This Month		
<b>R</b> 100%	~	

#### **END A RECURRING TASK**

If you wish to end a recurring task:

- 1. From the Tasks pane, double-click the recurring task you want to end. The Task window will open.
- On the Task tab Recurrence group, click Recurrence to open the Task Recurrence dialog box.

Remove Recurrence

ategorize Follow

Up - Up - Up

Financial Tasks Personal Errands/Tasks

Volunteer Tasks

Orange Category

Purple Category

Yellow Category

All Categories...

- **3.** Click **Remove Recurrence** at the bottom of the dialog box.
- 4. Click Save & Close from the ribbon.

# Categorize a Task

If a task belongs with other Outlook items in a specific category:

- **1.** From the Tasks pane, double-click the task you want to categorize.
- On the Task tab Tags group, click Categorize to open the Color Category menu.
- **3.** Click the category to which this task belongs. The category appears at the top of the Task window.
- 4. From the ribbon, click Save & Close.

#### **CREATE A TASK IN THE TO-DO BAR**

By default, the To-Do bar appears in most Outlook views. However in the Calendar, you must choose Classic view to display the To-Do bar. You can easily create a new task in the To-Do bar itself.

- 1. In any Outlook view, click the task input panel. (You may see this as the Type A New Task text box.)
- **2.** The text box changes to an outlined box with a blinking cursor. Type a quick description for the task, and press **ENTER**.
- **3.** The new task will appear immediately in your Outlook Tasks view with today as both the start and due dates. The new task also appears under Today in the To-Do bar.
- 4. Double-click the new task in the To-Do bar to make any changes to it.

ດ

00



#### **CREATE A NEW TASK IN CALENDAR**

Type notes t	for comm 🛛 🖤
Take cat to v	vet 🗌 🚩
Click	to add task
1	Task
<u></u>	T
S	Task Re <u>q</u> uest

When you are working in the Day, Work Week, or Week view in the Outlook Calendar view, you can choose to display the Tasks list at the bottom of the Calendar grid. You can quickly add a new task from this list.

- In the Outlook Calendar view, click Day, Work Week, or Week. The Tasks list appears beneath the Calendar grid.
- Position your mouse pointer in a blank area of the Tasks list, and click the Click To Add Task message that appears under your mouse pointer. A text box appears.
- **3.** You may also right-click in a blank area to open a context menu. Click **Task** to open a Task dialog box.
- **4.** Type a name or subject for your task, and press **ENTER**. The task will be assigned the same start and end dates of the day in which the Tasks list appears.
- **5.** To change these dates, you can drag the task to the proper date or double-click the task and make the changes.

#### ADD A NEW TASK FROM AN E-MAIL MESSAGE

From time to time, you may receive an e-mail that you need to make into a task.

- 1. In Outlook, from the Mail view, click the e-mail to select it.
- Hold down the mouse button and drag the e-mail message to the Task button on the Outlook View.
- 3. The New Task window opens with a copy of the e-mail appearing in the task body. It may be placed beneath your e-mail window. If so, minimize the e-mail window so you can see the Task window. Make any changes or additions you need, as described in "Create a New Task from the Ribbon" earlier in this chapter.
- 4. From the Task ribbon, click Save & Close to save the new task.

#### **CHANGE A TASK**

Some of the tasks that you create will change. The report that was due in a month is suddenly due in a week, and the conference call you had planned for 10:00 A.M. changes to 4:00 P.M. You can easily change and edit your tasks. To change a task:

**1.** Double-click your selected task from the Outlook Tasks view.

–Or–

Double-click the selected task in the To-Do bar.

In either case, the Task window will open.

N

ŝ

4

G

10

143

**の** 

00

S <u>u</u> bject:	Get budget f	igures for N	ovemb	er			
S <u>t</u> art date:	Mon 12/21/2	009	-	Status <u>:</u>	In Progres	s	
<u>D</u> ue date:	Tue 12/29/20	09	-	Priority:	High	•	% Complete: 15% 🔹
Re <u>m</u> inder:	None	-		None	-	€	Owner: Ellar Sands

Figure 6-7: You can make many changes to a task.

Task Details

Show

Mon 12/21/2009

Mon 12/21/2009

Keep an updated copy of this task on my task list

Send me a status report when this task is complete

Mary, please prepare the schedules so we can review them by the 28<sup>th</sup>

Format Text

Mary Adams (adamsm@fineco.biz)

Create 1st quarter schedules

2 4 4 4 + =

H

Save &

Close

\_

Send

Contacts...

144

Task

Delete OneNote

To...

Subject:

Start date:

Due date:

Actions

Due in 13 days.

Insert

- 2. Make any desired changes to the task. For example, in Figure 6-7, we have changed the due date for the task, changed the status to In Progress, and changed its percentage complete to 15%. We have also added a note to remind us that the office will be closed on the 30th and 31st of December.
- 3. When you're done, click Save & Close from the ribbon.

#### Assign a New Task

You can easily create a task and assign it to someone else who is using Microsoft Outlook.

 In the Outlook Tasks view, on the Home tab New group, click New Task. The Task window will open, as shown in Figure 6-8.



2. From the Task tab Manage Task group, click Assign Task.

- O X

Zoom

Zoom

1

Up 🔻

Categorize Follow

Tags

0%

0 3

3

\*

- Click To and enter the name or e-mail address of the person to whom you are assigning the task.
- 4. Click Subject and enter a name for this new task.
- If you choose, click the Start Date and Due Date down arrows, and enter the beginning and due dates of this task, respectively.
- If you choose, click the Status and Priority down arrows to enter the current status and priority level of this task.
- If any part of the task has been completed, indicate the percentage in the % Complete field.
- Clear the Keep An Updated Copy Of This Task On My Task List check box (which is selected by default) if you do not want to have this task updated.
- Click the Send Me A Status Report When This Task Is Complete check box (also selected by default) if you don't want to receive a status report.
- **10.** Click in the body of the task, and type any additional information needed by the assignee.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

ത

Figure 6-8: Assigning a task to another Outlook user is as easy as sending an e-mail.

Create 1st quarter schedules - Task

Book

Add-Ins

Address Check

Names

Names

Not Started

High

Recurrence

Recurrence

▼ % Complete:

Review

Cancel

Assignment

Manage Task

▼ Status:

Priority:

# TIP

You can assign the same task to several people by simply typing all e-mail addresses in the To text box, just as you would with any e-mail.

# TIP

The recipient must accept the task that you send in order for it to be added to his or her Task window. You will receive an e-mail receipt from the recipient once the task is accepted.

Personal Vi	Detailed	Simple List	To-Do List
Prioritized	Active	Completed	Today
Next 7 Days	Overdue	Assigned	Server Tasks

File	Ta	sk In	sert	For	mat Text	t Rev
Save & Close	X Delete	Forward	OneN	Jote	<b>T</b> ask	Details
	A	ctions			Sh	ow

If you want this task to be recurring, in the Task tab Recurrence group, click Recurrence and follow the steps outlined in "Set Recurring Tasks" earlier in this chapter.
 Click Send to send the task request.

#### ASSIGN AN EXISTING TASK

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the task you want to assign. The Task window opens.
- In the Task tab Manage Task group, click Assign Task. The Assign Task window will open.
- Click To and type the e-mail address or name of the person to whom you are assigning this task. The e-mail subject will be the same name as the existing task.
- **4.** Follow steps 5–12 in "Assign a New Task" earlier in this chapter.

#### TRACK ASSIGNED TASKS

You can track assigned tasks in three ways: automatically keep copies, view assigned tasks, and view a list of people who have received assigned tasks.

To automatically keep copies:

1. In Outlook Tasks, right-click anywhere on the ribbon, and select **Customize The Ribbon**.

From the Outlook Options dialog box, click **Tasks** to open the Tasks view. Choose **Keep My Tasks List Updated With Copies Of Tasks I Assign To Other People**.

2. Click **OK** to close the Outlook Options dialog box.

#### VIEW ASSIGNED TASKS AND RECIPIENTS

To view tasks you have assigned to others:

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, from the View tab Current View group, click Change View.
- 2. Click Assigned. The list of assigned tasks is displayed in your Task window.
- To view a list of people who have received tasks:
- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the assigned task you want to view.
- **2.** From the Task tab Show group, click **Details** to see a list of people who have accepted the task. The names will appear in the Update List box.
- **3.** In the Task tab Actions group, click **Save & Close**.

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

7

00

9

10

#### ACCEPTING OR DECLINING A TASK ASSIGNMENT

**UICKSTEPS** 

You can easily accept or decline a task assignment given to you.

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the task to open it.
- In the Task tab Respond group, click Accept or Decline. The Accepting Task or Declining Task dialog box appears.
- If desired, click Edit The Response Before Sending; click OK; type any notes, questions, or comments in the message box; and click Send.
- If you do not want to include any comments, click Send The Response Now.

If you are a user on a private network, or one who uses Outlook for Internet e-mail, there is no advantage to

granted permission to see your Task window, Calendar,

making an item private. This feature is designed for networks where other users have specifically been

TIP

and other Outlook features.

#### **Make a Task Private**

In networks that use Microsoft Exchange Server, you can give other people access to your tasks. For example, let's say you are a team leader for a department. Within your department, several department coordinators may need to access your tasks and enter tasks that you need to complete. This allows others to manipulate and change your tasks, which you can, of course, also work on yourself.

However, in some instances, you may create a task that you want to keep private in an environment like this. This action will keep people who have permission to view your tasks from seeing that particular task. To make a task private:

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click a selected task to open it.
- 2. From the Task tab Tags group, click **Private**.
- 3. Click Save & Close. Your task is no longer visible to others.



# Manage Tasks

After you have created a task, Outlook provides several tools you can use to manage them, including marking them as completed, choosing whether to display them, deleting, and renaming them, as well as creating status reports on your tasks.

#### Mark a Task as Complete

Once you finish a task, you can mark it as having been completed. The task will be attached to the day on which you marked it complete, and it will appear with a line drawn through it.

There are several ways in which you can mark a task as complete.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

00

ດ

0

2	Call basketball coach re new s	Wed 12/16/2009
2	Take cat to vet	Thu-12/17/2009
20	verify holiday plans	Fri 12/18/2009
3 1	Redo minutes for community	Fri 12/18/2009

# 

If you want to change the status of a task you have marked as complete, click the item's **Status** field in Detailed List view to see a drop-down menu. Choose the status to which you want to change. From the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the selected task.
 On the Task tab Manage Tasks group, click Mark Complete. The task will be marked as complete, and the Task window will close. The task will appear on your Task list with a line drawn through it.

#### **CHANGE A TASK'S PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION**

- 1. From the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the selected task to open it.
- 2. Click the % Complete down arrow to change the percentage of complete.
  - % Complete: 50% 🚔
- 3. Click Save & Close to close the task.

# MARK A FLAGGED TASK AS COMPLETE FROM THE TASKS WINDOW

- 1. On the Outlook Tasks view, locate the task you want to mark as complete.
- **2.** Click the flag. The flag turns into a check mark, and a line is drawn through the task.

#### MARK A TASK AS COMPLETE FROM THE TO-DO BAR

- **1.** On the To-Do bar in any view of Outlook 2010, locate the task.
- 2. Right-click the task that you want to mark as complete.
- 3. Click Mark Complete on the context menu.

#### **Choose to Not Display a Completed Task**

Normally, when you complete a task, it remains on the Task list with a line through it. However, a task does not appear on the To-Do bar after it has been marked as complete.

#### SET COMPLETED ITEMS NOT TO DISPLAY IN A TASK LIST

- 1. In Outlook Tasks view, from the View tab Current View group, click Change View.
- 2. From the dialog box that appears, click **Active Tasks**. Only the active items will display on your list.

147

Today

Y

P

P

1

Tomorrow

This Week

Next Week

No Date

Custom...

Add Reminder...

<u>Mark Complete</u> Delete Task

Set Quick Click...

ω

4

1

00

ယ

Tasks More Choices	Advanced SQL	
Find items that match	these criteria:	
Date Completed Flag Completed Date	does not exist does not exist	
Define more criteria:		
Field	Condition: Value:	
	*	[

Сору Quick Print Q. Reply Reply All A Forward 1 Mark Complete 30 Assi<u>gn</u> Task Rename Task Categorize 1 Follow Up N One<u>N</u>ote X Delete

# 

148

Be careful *not* to delete tasks that you still need, even if they are completed. Completed tasks provide a record of what has been accomplished, so make sure you no longer need the task before you delete it.

#### SHOW COMPLETED ITEMS IN THE TO-DO BAR

By default, the To-Do bar does not display completed items. To change this:

- 1. In the To-Do bar, right-click Arrange By to open its context menu.
- 2. Click View Settings to open the Advanced View Settings: To-Do List dialog box.
- **3.** Click **Filter** to display the Filter dialog box.
- **4.** Click the **Advanced** tab.
- 5. Select **Remove** or **Clear All** to clear the default choices.
- 6. Click OK to close the Filter dialog box.
- 7. Click OK once more to close the dialog box.

#### SHOW COMPLETED ITEMS IN THE DAILY TASK LIST

 In the Outlook Calendar Day, Work Week, or Week view, click the View tab.



2. In the Layout group, click Daily Task List, and click Normal.

#### **Delete a Task**

Once a task has been completed, or should a task fall out of the scope of your responsibility, you can simply delete the task.

There are several ways to delete a task.

- 1. Right-click the task in the Outlook Tasks view, and click **Delete** on the context menu.
- Double-click the task in the To-Do bar or in any Task list to open the Task window and click **Delete** in the Task tab's Actions group.
- 3. Click the selected task in any list, and press CTRL+D.

#### **Rename a Task**

As projects progress, it may be necessary to rename a task. You can do this at any time.

- 1. In Outlook Tasks view, in any list view (or in the Daily Task list in Calendar), click the selected task.
- 2. Press F2. The insertion point is placed at the end of the current name.
- 3. Press BACKSPACE to delete the old name, and type the new name.
- 4. Press ENTER.

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

LO

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

You can rename a task from the To-Do bar by rightclicking the task name and selecting **Rename Task** from the context menu.

# 

#### LINKING A TASK TO A CONTACT

There may be occasions when you want to link a task to one of your contacts. Before you can do this, it is necessary to set contacts to appear in your Outlook Tasks view.

- In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the item for which you want to add contacts.
- Click File and click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box that appears, click Contacts.
- In the Linking section, click the Show Contacts Links To The Current Item check box. Click OK to close the Outlook Options dialog box.



 At the bottom of the Task window, click Contacts to display your Contacts list.



- 5. Double-click the name of the contact you want linked with this task. The name appears in the Contacts box in your task.
- 6. From the Task tab Actions group, click Save & Close.

## **Create Status Reports**

Outlook allows you to create a status report for a task, which, in reality, is an e-mail message summarizing the status of your task. You can then send the e-mail to anyone who needs the status information. You can also print a copy for your records.

- 1. In the Outlook Tasks view, double-click the task on which you want to report. The Task window will open.
- 2. In the Task tab Manage Task group, click **Send Status Report**. An e-mail message will open, as seen in Figure 6-9.



*Figure 6-9:* A status report provides a fast and easy way to e-mail progress information on a task.

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

149

00



- **3.** Click **To** and find and select the e-mail address or the name of the person to whom you are sending the report. If it isn't in your Address Book, type it in the To field.
- **4.** Click **Cc** if you want to send a carbon copy. Find and select the name or e-mail address in the Address Book, or type it in the Cc field.
- Click Bcc and follow the procedure in step 4 for a blind carbon copy. The e-mail subject line is already filled in with "Task Status Report" and the name of your task.
- **6.** Click in the message body, and type any additional comments or notes.
- 7. Click Send.

# Work with Follow-up Flags

When you add a flag to any item in Outlook 2010, it is a visual reminder that you need to do something with that item. There are several default settings for the follow-up flags in Outlook 2010. Each is based on a date. Table 6-1 explains how the dates work. You can, however, customize the dates for any flag, and you do not need to set a reminder.

When you add a flag to any item, it is shown in the To-Do bar, the Task list in Calendar, and all Task lists in Tasks.

FLAG	START DATE	DUE DATE	REMINDER SETTING
Today	Today's date.	Today's date.	The reminder will prompt you one hour before the end of your current workday.
Tomorrow	Tomorrow's date.	Tomorrow's date.	You will be reminded at the start of your next workday.
This Week	Today plus two days, but no later than the last workday of this week.	The last workday of this week.	You are sent a reminder at the start time of today's date plus two days.
Next Week	The first workday of the next work week.	The last workday of the next work week.	You are sent a reminder at the start time of the first workday next week.
No Date	No date is set.	No date is set.	You are reminded today.
Custom	You may choose a start date.	You choose a due date.	You are reminded on the due date you set.

Table 6-1: Default Settings for Follow-up Flags

N

က

4

S

6

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

150

ົ

P ollo Up	
٣	Today
8	T <u>o</u> morrow
Y	This <u>W</u> eek
Y	<u>N</u> ext Week
7	No D <u>a</u> te
٣	<u>C</u> ustom
4	Add <u>R</u> eminder
~	<u>M</u> ark Complete
	Set <u>Q</u> uick Click

#### Add a Flag to an Existing Task

A flag draws your attention to a task. It is a signal that you need to follow up on this item. If you did not mark a task for follow-up when you created it, you can add the flag at any time.

- 1. In Outlook, click **Tasks** on the Outlook View to show your Task list.
- 2. Double-click the task with which you want to work to open the Task window.
- **3.** In the Task tab Tags group, click **Follow Up**.
- 4. Click your selection from the menu.
- If you want to include a reminder with this task, click Follow Up and then click Add Reminder. The Custom dialog box appears.
- 6. Click the Flag To down arrow, and choose an option.
- 7. The Start Date and Due Date fields are filled in with information from the existing task. Click the **Reminder** down arrow, and choose the date and time at which you want to be reminded.
- 8. Click OK to save your changes and close the Custom dialog box.
- 9. In the Task tab Actions group, click **Save & Close**.
- You can also right-click the flag field on any task to set a follow-up date or add a reminder.

#### Set a Quick Click Flag

You can attach a Quick Click flag to any Outlook item. This flag, which is set to today's date by default, allows you to flag a task, contact, e-mail message, or other item with only one mouse click.

To add a Quick Click flag to a task:

- **1.** In any Task list, right-click in the **Flag** column.
- 2. Click Set Quick Click on the context menu. The Set Quick Click dialog box will appear.
- 3. Click the Flag down arrow to select the settings for the Quick Click flag.
- 4. Choose the flag from the drop-down list that will appear upon being clicked.
- **5.** Click **OK** to close the dialog box.



N

ω

4

G

<u></u>

00

ယ

0

# Work with the To-Do Bar

The To-Do bar has four parts, three of which can be hidden. The Task list remains displayed at all times.

#### Set the To-Do Bar to Show Only Tasks

Because, by default, all flagged items in Outlook are shown on the To-Do bar, there may be times when that is too much information. To turn off all items except your tasks:

- 1. Right-click in the top portion of the To-Do bar (immediately beneath the ribbon).
- 2. In the resulting context menu, clear the **Date Navigator** check box to hide the Date Navigator.
- Reopen the To-Do Bar context menu, and clear the Appointments check box to hide your appointments.
- **4.** To show either item again, reverse this procedure.

#### CHANGE THE SIZE OF THE TO-DO BAR

The To-Do bar can be resized using your mouse.

- **1.** Position your mouse pointer at the left edge of the To-Do bar.
- When the pointer changes to parallel lines with arrows, hold down the mouse button, and drag the To-do Bar to the width you want.

–Or–

Click the Minimize button at the top-left area of the To-Do bar to minimize it.

#### **TOGGLE THE TO-DO BAR DISPLAY**

By default, Outlook 2010 displays the To-Do bar in every view. However, you can choose to display it, minimize it, or turn it off in the current view. When you next start Outlook, the To-Do bar will still be turned off in the current view you were using when you last used Outlook.

- 1. To cycle through the To-Do bar display, press ALT+F2.
- 2. Use ALT+F1 to cycle through the Outlook View options.

 ✓ Normal Minimized Off
 ✓ Date Navigator
 ✓ Appointments
 ✓ Task List

Options...

N

က

4

S

6

00

ດ

## How to...

- Locate the Journal Icon
- Explore the Journal
- 🖏 Setting Up the Journal
- Add a Journal Entry
- Change a Journal Entry
- Delete a Journal Entry
- Move a Journal Entry in the Timeline
- Attach Contacts to Journal Entries
- 🖏 Viewing Journal Entries
- Assign a Category to a Journal Entry
- Print Journal Entries
- Find the Notes Folder
- Create Notes in Another
   Outlook View
- Add Notes in the Notes View
- Change the Note Icon Size
- Setting Up Notes
- Delete a Note
- Categorize Notes
- Using Notes in Other Outlook Areas
- Organize Notes by Category/Color
- Forward a Note
- View Notes
- Print Notes

# apter 7 Using a Journal and Making Notes

Microsoft Outlook contains two important features that help you stay organized and that can help you manage various pieces of information. These features—Journal and Notes are designed to help you manage information that you need to record, keep, and use in a variety of ways. In this chapter you'll learn how to use both the Journal and Notes features. You'll see how to work with journal entries, print your journal entries, and even share them. You'll also see how to organize your notes, print them, and use them with other Outlook features.

# **Explore the Journal**

The Outlook Journal is a great way to track and record different kinds of information. Designed for business use, the Journal can help you keep track of associated Office documents, e-mails to a certain contact, phone calls that you ရ

ဖ

00

153

N

ω

G



make, and other information. In other words, the Journal can help you keep track of your workflow so that you'll know what has been done. In this section you'll explore the Journal, set it up, work with journal entries, and print and share your journal.

#### Locate the Journal Icon

By default, the Journal is not one of the Outlook views in the Navigation pane or in the button bar at the bottom. You can, of course, access the Journal from the Mail view Home tab by clicking **New Items**, clicking **More Items**, and finally clicking **Journal Entry**; or by pressing **CTRL+8**. You can also change the Navigation pane to include the Journal in its list of views.

 Click Configure Buttons on the right of the button bar, and select Navigation Pane Options.

*	Show <u>M</u> ore Buttons Show Fe <u>w</u> er Buttons
-	Navigation Pane Options
	Add or Remove Buttons

- 2. On the Navigation Pane Options dialog box, click Journal.
- 3. Click Move Up to display the Journal as an Outlook view or in the button bar.
- 4. Click OK.

#### **Explore the Journal**

Although the Journal is not immediately visible on the Outlook navigation bar, it is a standard Outlook feature. Once you have found it and positioned it on your Outlook views pane or button bar, you can easily access it from any view and explore its basic structure. (See "Locate the Journal Icon.") As you can see in Figure 7-1, the Journal looks and works much like Tasks, Calendar, and other Outlook features.

ယ

σ



Figure 7-1: Journal entries are a way to collect and organize comments you have on phone calls, e-mails, meetings, and more.

Click Journal in the button bar (see "Locate the Journal Icon" to see how to place Journal in the Outlook views or button bar). In Outlook's Journal view, you will see the following features:

- The Navigation pane, on the left, shows the structure of Outlook folders. Within it is the Outlook views showing the Outlook windows you can access, such as Mail and Journal.
- The Journal folder, in the middle, by default gives you a listing of any existing journal entries.

00

ယ

\_ 0

# 

#### SETTING UP THE JOURNAL

If this is the first time you have used the Journal, you'll need to make a decision about how you will use it.

- If it isn't already displayed, click Journal in the button bar.
- A dialog box appears telling you that the Journal can track Office documents, as well as e-mail sent to contacts. However, the Activities tab on the contact's Properties dialog box is the easiest way

So, the question is whether you want to turn the Journal on for this purpose. Click **Yes** if you want to do this. You can turn it off later if you change your mind.

to track e-mail.

<u>^</u>	The Journal can automatically trad Microsoft Office documents and e- messages associated with a contao but the Activities page in a Contao tracks e-mail messages, and it doe require the Journal. Do you want to turn the Journal or Do you want to turn the Journal or	mail t, t also s not i7
	Yes No	

3. In the Journal Options dialog box that appears, shown in Figure 7-2, select the contacts you want Journal to track and what items you want to track for those contacts. Notice that you can also track other Microsoft Office documents. Click OK when you're done.

You can make changes to these options at any time by clicking **File** and then clicking **Options**. In the Outlook Options dialog box, click **Notes And Journal**. Then click **Journal Options**. You'll see the dialog box in Figure 7-2.

- The **Reading pane** displays the contents of the selected journal entry.
- The To-Do Bar, on the right, displays current task and calendar entries.
- The **Journal** option in the Outlook views allows you to open your Journal folder.
- The Button bar contains folders that are initially not shown in the Outlook views, such as Journal and Notes. It also contains the Configure button for reordering the Outlook views.

	Automatically record these items:	For these contacts:
0	E-mail Message     Meeting cancellation	Dan Parsons     David Johnson
	Meeting request	🗏 📃 Jennifer Sebo
	Meeting response	Jeremy Boscoe
	Task request	🔻 🔲 Julie Sparkle
	Microsoft Office Access	Opens the journal entry
	Microsoft Office Access	Opens the journal entry
	Microsoft Office Excel	Opens the item referred to by
	Microsoft PowerPoint Microsoft Word	the journal entry
	Microsort word	
		AutoArchive Journal Entries

Figure 7-2: You can select the items that you want the Journal to track, including contact e-mail data.

#### Add a Journal Entry

With the Journal open, you can quickly and easily add journal entries as you need them.

Journal

Entry

- **1.** On the Home tab, click **Journal Entry** in the New group.
- **2.** In the Journal Entry window, type a descriptive name for the journal entry in the Subject text box, as shown in Figure 7-3.
- 3. Click the Entry Type drop-down menu, and choose the type of entry you are creating.

Entry type:	Phone call	-
	Note	as as
Start time:	Phone call	
scole came.	Remote session	0.014949.00.004
	Task Task request	
Called Jer	Task request Task response	-

N

က

4

ယ

00

156

ດ

File	Journal Ei	ntry I	Insert	Forma	t Text	Review	Add-Ins		۵ 🕜
	Forward	Ğ	<b>A</b>		1	88	) 🦓		
iave & 🗙 Close Action			Pause Timer er	7	rize Privat Tags	Bool	ss Check K Names James		
ubject:	-	a coordina			1.4.21			N	
ntry type:	Phone of	- all					• Compa	iny:	
tart time:	Tue 1/10	9/2010		- 2	2:30 PM	-	Duration:	15 minutes	
care cille;	Ide DT								
Called Je be at the	erry and 9 e meeting	Sally to c g. I have	sched	uledar	neeting	on the 20	) <sup>th</sup> with he	n the 22 <sup>nd</sup> . Jan is u In to bring her up t Will be at the me	nable to 🛛 🔁

*Figure 7-3:* Creating a journal entry allows you to track the time you spend on important activities.

The Timer feature works great for items that need to be

timed for billing purposes, such as consultation meetings

and phone calls. These timed journal entries give you an

accurate time record within Outlook.

TIP

- Use the drop-down menus to select the start date and time. You can also use the drop-down menu to choose the duration of the event, if desired.
- **5.** Click in the large text box, and type the journal entry you want to make.
- 6. If you want to time the entry, such as in the case of a telephone call or meeting, click Start Timer in the Journal Entry tab Timer group. The results of the timer appear in the Duration field in even-minute increments. Click Pause Timer to stop the timer. You can add time to the existing time in the Duration field by clicking Start Timer again; reset the timer by clicking the Duration down arrow and clicking 0 Minutes.



 Click Save & Close. The new journal entry appears in your journal. ω

4

G

# **Change a Journal Entry**

Journal entries, like most anything else you might record in Outlook, may need to be changed. To do that:

1. In your journal, right-click the entry you want to change, and click **Open Journal Entry.** 

–Or–

Double-click the journal entry that you want to change.

- The Journal Entry window shown in Figure 7-3 opens. Make any desired changes to the item.
- 3. Click Save & Close.

157

00

ယ

-

2

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

It is always a good idea to pause and think carefully

JOT

before you delete a journal entry. Old journal entries make good records, so make sure you truly no longer need the item before you delete it.

Moving a journal entry does not change the start time of the item, document, or contact for that item.

You can easily and permanently remove journal entries from the journal. You can do this by simply deleting the entry item. To delete a journal entry, choose from these options:

- Right-click the entry in the journal, and click Delete.
  - –Or–
- Select the entry in the journal, and on the Home tab Delete group, click Delete.
   –Or–
- Select the entry in the journal, and press DELETE.

#### Move a Journal Entry in the Timeline

The time and date values placed on journal entries might change. For example, the phone call you were going to make at 10:00 A.M. might have been moved to 4:00 P.M., and meeting times and dates are certainly subject to change, along with most other journal items. You cannot directly drag items within the journal itself, but you can easily change the start date and time for an entry, thus moving it on the timeline.

 In your journal, right-click the entry you want to edit, and click Open Journal Entry. –Or–

Double-click the entry.

- 2. In the Journal Entry window, change the start date, time, and duration as needed.
- 3. Click Save & Close. The entry item will be updated on the timeline.

#### **Attach Contacts to Journal Entries**

You can attach a contact to a journal entry as you are creating a new entry, or you can decide to attach a contact later.

 For an existing entry, double-click the entry in the journal. If you are creating a new entry, click Journal Entry in the Home tab New group. In either case, the Journal Entry window will open.

00

ດ

0



- Entry List Removes the timeline and shows you a simple list view.
- Phone Calls Lists only phone calls.
- Last Seven Days Shows you a list of the journal entries for the last seven days.



Figure 7-4: Choose the contact(s) you want to associate with the journal entry.

- **2.** In the Journal Entry tab Names group, click **Address Book**. The Select Contacts window opens, as shown in Figure 7-4.
- Address Book Names

159

- 3. If it is not already selected, under Look In, click the Contacts folder. In the Items field, click the desired contact. If you want to select more than one contact, hold down CTRL while clicking several noncontiguous contacts, or hold down SHIFT while clicking the first and last in a series of contiguous contacts.
- 4. Click OK and then click Save & Close.

#### Assign a Category to a Journal Entry

You can assign categories to a journal entry. This feature makes it easier for you to keep track of the specific nature of the journal entries.

1. For an existing entry, double-click the entry in the journal. If you are creating a new entry, click the **New** button on the toolbar. In either case, the Journal Entry window will open.

N

ω

4

G

တ

.

00

ဖ

N

က

4

S

ယ

	-	88
Categorize		Address Book
Lea Lea	r All Cate	gories
and the second se	nge Categ	
Purp	le Catego	ory
📕 Blue	Categon	(
Gree	n Catego	ny
Red	Category	
Yello	w Catego	ory
All C	ategories	s

2. In the Journal Entry tab Tags group, click **Categorize**. The drop-down list of categories will appear.

-Or-

For an existing journal entry, right-click the entry in the journal, and click **Categorize** to open a similar drop-down list.

3. Click the desired category you want to assign. If the category is one of the initial color categories, the Rename Category dialog box will appear. Type the name of the category, change the color, assign a shortcut key, and click Yes. If you have already made the color a specific category, it will be immediately applied to the entry.

This is t rename		ne you ha	ve used "G	reen Catego	ry." Do yo	ou want to
<u>N</u> ame:	Green C	ategory				
Color:		Sho	rtcut Key:	(None)	•	

- 4. If you do not see a category in the drop-down list that accurately identifies your task, click All Categories to open the Color Categories dialog box. Click New to open the Add New Category dialog box. Type the name of the category, change the color, assign a shortcut key, and click OK. Your new category will appear in your category list with a check mark. Click OK again, and the new category will be attached to the journal entry.
- 5. Click Save & Close.
- To see the journal entries grouped by category, click the View tab, and click Categories in the Arrangement group. An example is shown in Figure 7-5.

#### **Print Journal Entries**

You can easily print journal entries.

 To print a memo-style copy of the journal entry, simply right-click the journal entry in the journal, and click **Quick Print**. The journal entry is sent to your default printer. What prints will depend on the current view you are in. For instance, if you are in the Entry List view, a list of all journal entries will print; if you are in the Timeline view, a memostyle printout of the entries in the selected group will print.

**೧** 

00

10

Ider View Add-In:						~ €
Categories Contact = Conversa	t Reverse Sort Signa Add Columns → Expand/Collapse → Navigation Parte →	Reading To-Do Parie * Bar * Parie *		Close		
Arrangement	L	ayout People Pane	Window			
			Searc	h Journal (Ctrl+E)	ļ	> <
Entry Type	Subject	Start	Duration	Contact	Categories 🔺	3
4. Cohenerieu (nono) (12 ike						Thu 2/4 9:00 AM: Budget Committee Meeting
<ul> <li>Categories: (none) (12 ite</li> <li>Phone call</li> </ul>	Meeting coordination	Tue 1/19/2010 2:30 PM	1 hour	Ellen Crawford, Ron Haker		2/4
Note	Update Marty	Wed 1/20/2010 12:30 PM	0 hours	Enen crawford, non naker		9:00
Microsoft Word	C:\Odd and Ends\PoundsAndInches.do		45 minutes			AL
Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Ori		0 hours			1: B
Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Pre		0 hours			gbu
I Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Pre		1 minute			let o
I Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Pre	26	0 hours			D D D
0 Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\MA	20	1 minute			Ĩ
🕘 Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Pre	Wed 1/20/2010 4:18 PM	0 hours			tee
🕘 Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Pre	Wed 1/20/2010 4:18 PM	0 hours			Me
Phone call	Presentation meeting	Wed 1/20/2010 10:29 PM	1 hour	David Johnson		etin
🚦 Task request	PowerPoint consultation	Wed 1/20/2010 10:31 PM	2 hours			ē
	274					*
Categories: Blue Cate Microsoft PowerPoint	gory (1 item) \\Constant\c\PowerPoint Pres\Business\	Wed 1/20/2010 2:18 AM	0 hours	*****	☐ Blue Category	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
16 massacromen sine			o nours			day
🧧 📕 Categories: Green Cat	egory (1 item)					Today: 0 Tasks
🕽 🕘 Microsoft PowerPoint	C:\PowerPoint Pres\Business\Recommer	Wed 1/20/2010 2:21 AM	28 minutes		📕 Green Category	asks
🔺 🔲 Categories: Orange C	ategory (1 item)					
🛯 🕘 Microsoft Word	C:\Lorian\Manifestation book insert\Ma	Wed 1/20/2010 4:00 PM	1 minute		📋 Orange Category	
🧧 📙 Categories: Purple Ca						
) 🖉 Microsoft PowerPoint	\\Constant\c\PowerPoint Pres\Business\		362 minutes		Purple Category	
Microsoft PowerPoint	\\Constant\c\PowerPoint Pres\Business\		0 hours		Purple Category	
Microsoft PowerPoint	\\Constant\r\PowerPoint Pres\Business\		0 hours		Purple Category	
Microsoft PowerPoint	C:\Users\Carole\Documents\Announcin		0 hours		Purple Category	
)  Microsoft PowerPoint	C:\QuickSteps 09\PowerPoint 09\Ch10\E		0 hours		Purple Category	
	\\Constant\c\PowerPoint Pres\Business\	yyeu 1/20/2010 2:21 AM	0 hours		Purple Category	
)  Microsoft PowerPoint	\\Constant\c\PowerPoint Pres\Business\		0 hours		Purple Category	

Figure 7-5: Assigning categories to journal entries allows you to group entries and more easily find them.

2. For additional printing options, select the entry in the journal, click File, and click Print.

- **3.** In the Print view, choose the print options you would like, as shown in Figure 7-6. Notice the check box that also allows you to print attached files.
- 4. Make your selections and click **OK** to start printing.

\_

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

00

10

🔜 Save As	Print Specify how you want the item to	) he	
Info	Print Print		
Open	Printer		
Print	HP psc 2400 Series	Carda M Sitian Engy Bre	
Help	Print Options	Serie Enst Eusystem Company	The mixide (c) 2:16 FM The mixide (c) 2:16 FM 1 Fair 1 Fair E Eller Cru-dong Rot Huller
Detions	Settings	Ciliadram schubbar	cand is live assault, not serve rand is live assault marks genth for our resering an the 20 <sup>rd</sup> , on burn blanche ar the resering live resering on the 20 <sup>rd</sup> with the or bring har up to doe an vitre ve decided an the constraint resering. Strange vitte ar the resering.
🔀 Exit	Table Style	- Tarres - Ana	
	Memo Style		

Figure 7-6: You can change the default print options as desired.

# **Make Notes**

If you are like most of us, notes are a way of life. Your desk might be littered with scraps of paper where you can scribble important things quickly. Of course, finding the note you need is another story. The great news is that you can keep all of the notes you want and simply let Outlook take care of them. Instead of scribbled notes on paper, you can use the Notes feature in Outlook to collect and organize them all. In this section, you'll learn how to create, manage, and work with your notes.

#### **Find the Notes Folder**

The Notes feature is not automatically shown in the Outlook views; by default, it is in the button bar. If you want it to be in the Outlook views, you must place it there.

1. In the button bar, click the Configure button, and select Navigation Pane Options.

N

က

4

S

6

00

TIP

162

10

If Notes is on the button bar, you can move it to Outlook

views by dragging the views pane up a bit.

🖂 Mail

splay buttons in this order	
<ul> <li>✓ Mail</li> <li>✓ Calendar</li> </ul>	Move Up
<ul> <li>✓ Contacts</li> <li>✓ Tasks</li> <li>✓ Journal</li> </ul>	Move Down
✓ Notes ✓ Folder List	Font
Shortcuts	Reset

View

(100000)

Call Janet

about

Last 7 Days 🚽

💽 📑 🦃 Find a Contact 🔹 🖙

Home

New New

Note Items

New

My Notes

Mail

Calendar

Sector Contacts

V Tasks

Journal

Notes

Items: ) 📮 Reminders: S

Notes

х

Delete

Delete

Send / Receive

Icon

5

<

Folder

Notes List

Phone Jerry

to see if he

would like to sit in on my

meeting with

Marty.

**Current View** 

Search Nules (ClrI+E)

Notes - Outlaak - Microsoft Outlaak

Categorize

Tags

Forward Move

Actions

Figure 7-7: Use the Notes view to manage all the notes you would create on paper or in another Outlook view.

Must email

this

Find a Contact \*

🛄 Address Book

Find

*p* >

Today

lomorrow

Saturday

Sunday

 In the Navigation Pane Options, select Notes (which should have a check mark already in the check box), and click Move Up to display Notes in the Outlook views.
 –Or–

- - X

0

If you want the Notes icon to remain in the button bar, simply click it to display the Notes view, displayed in Figure 7-7.

January 2010

Su Mo lu We Ih Fr Sa 27 28 29 30 31 1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9

10 11 12 13 14 15 16

17 18 19 20 21 22 23

24 25 26 27 28 29 30

31 1 2 3 4 5 6

Start search for a new editor: 1 😚 🌩

🏶 Start search for a new edito 🚊 🇭

🏘 Start search for a new edito 🏤 🕸

🗢 Start search for a new edito 🚊 🌩

4

1

Y

1.0

Arrange By: Flag: Due Date

Type a new task

a 🦞 Nu Dale

Meeting tomorrow

Meeting tomorrow

E 100%

4 V Next Month

Presentation for man....



#### Create Notes in Another Outlook View

You can create notes in another Outlook view or in its own view. When you create a note in another Outlook view, it appears as a small note on the screen. You simply fill in the text and click somewhere else to deselect the note. It is safely filed in your Notes folder where you can reference it later. It is also displayed on your desktop where you can drag it where you want it, as shown in Figure 7-8.

- 1. From another Outlook view, such as Mail, Calendar, Tasks, or Contacts, click the **Home** tab.
- In the New group, click New Items, click More Items, and then click Note. A small note will spring up in your window.
- Fill in the note, and either click outside it or click Close. The note will disappear. However, it will be stored in your Notes folder.

4

N

ω

00

ဖ

10

New New Delete	Notes List / Days 👻	Forward Move	Find a Contact *
New Delete	Current View	Artions	Tags Find
My Notes      Notes      Notes      Notes (This computer only)      Mail      Calendar      Contacts      Tasks      Journal	Search Notes (Ctrl+ E)	Remind Rhanda Call Janet about	<ul> <li>March 2010         Su Mo Tu We Th Fr         28 1 2 3 4 5         ( 8 9 10 11 12         14 15 16 17 18 19         21 22 23 24 25 26         28 29 30 31 1 2         4 5 6 6 7 8 9         Thursday         Chapter 6 due         10:00 AM - 10:30 AM         Call about proposal         12:00 PM - 12:30 PM         Monday. March 08. 2010         Weekly Staff Meetings         0:00 AM - 5:00 AM         Meeting Room - 5th Floor         Arrange By: Flag: Due Date         Type a new task         W ND Date     </li> </ul>
Notes			Meeting tomorrow Meeting tomorrow

# *Figure 7-8:* Keeping notes in Outlook keeps them from getting lost and helps you organize them.

Notice that there is no Save or Save As option for the

undo a change, you must retype the original material.

notes. Once you click the Close button, your changes are

automatically saved. Also, there isn't an Undo feature. To

#### Add Notes in the Notes View

You can quickly and easily create a note whenever you need to. To add a note to your Notes folder:

- Click Notes in either the Outlook view or the button bar. The Notes view is displayed.
- Click New Note in the Home tab New group. A note appears. Type the information you want directly on the note.

 When you're done, click the Close button on the note. The note now appears in your Notes folder.

You can also right-click anywhere within the Notes folder (provided you are not right-clicking an actual note), and click **New Note** to add a note to the folder.

	New Note
₽↓	Sort
Y	Fi <u>l</u> ter
	Ot <u>h</u> er Settings

#### **Change the Note Icon Size**

In the View tab, you can change the icon size of the notes from large icons to small icons, and even to a simple list. You can easily switch between these icon views as desired.

- 1. Click the View tab.
- 2. Click the view you want in the Arrangement group.
- **3.** If your notes are scattered in the folder view, click **Line Up Icons** to arrange them neatly.

nd / Rece	eive	Folder	View
<u>ם</u>	0- 0-	0-0- 0-0- 0-0-	
Large Icons	Small Icons	List	Line Up Icons
	Arran	gement	

1D

164

σ

10

N

က

4

S

ယ

G

တ

00

6

165

#### Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Using a Journal and Making Notes

# Delete a Note Notes are designed to be pieces of information that help you stay organized. As such, you'll probably need to update, change, and delete old notes fairly often. To delete a note: Right-click the note in the Notes folder, and click Delete. Or Select the note and press the DELETE button on the keyboard. Or Select the note, click the Home tab, and in the Delete group, click Delete.

#### **Categorize Notes**

As with other Outlook items, you can attach categories to your notes. When you use a category view (which you'll explore later in this chapter), you can easily

# Click Notes in the Outlook view or button bar. Click File and then click Options. In the Outlook Options view, click Notes And Journal. Under Note Options, click the Default size: Medium T

 Under Note Options, click the Default Color drop-down arrow, and click a color for your notes. The default is yellow.

UICKSTEPS

SETTING UP NOTES

TIP

as needed.

notes look.

 Click the Default Size drop-down arrow, and click the note size you want. The default size is medium.

Notes are designed to be short remarks or comments,

grammatical issues. However, you can type just about as much text as you want, if necessary. You can easily drag

the note's corner handle and expand the size of the note

You can make some quick and easy changes to the way

so don't worry about complete sentences or other

- Click the Font button to select a different font. In the Font window that opens (see Figure 7-9), you can choose the font, font style, size, and any effects you might want to use. Make your selections and click OK.
- 7. Click **OK** to close the Outlook Options dialog box.

Default <u>s</u>ize: Medium <u>Font...</u> 11 pt. Calibri Show gate and time that the Note was last modified

ont	Font style:		<u>Size:</u>		
alibri	Regular		11		OK
alibri 🔺	Regular	-	11 12	•	Cancel
Californian FB	Italic		14		
Calisto MT	Bold		16 18	ш	
ambria	Bold Italic		20		
ambria Math 🛛 👻		-	22	*	
Effects	Sample				
Strikeout	oumpio				
	AaBb	YyZz	2		
Underline					
<u>C</u> olor:					
Auto 👻	Sc <u>r</u> ipt:				
	Western			•	

Figure 7-9: Select a font that is easy for you to read.

# 

#### USING NOTES IN OTHER OUTLOOK AREAS

You can drag notes to other areas of Microsoft Outlook, where they will change accordingly.

- To automatically create an e-mail message using a note, drag the desired note to Mail in Outlook views, as shown in Figure 7-10.
- To send a note to your calendar, drag the note to Calendar on Outlook views. The note is converted to a calendar item, which you can configure as needed, as shown in Figure 7-11.
- Repeat this same process to turn a note into a task or a contact.

When you drag a note to Mail, Calendar, Tasks, or Contacts, the information is taken from the note to generate the desired item. However, your original note remains in your Notes folder; it is not moved or deleted.

Image: Solution of the second seco	🧿 📑 🌖 Find a Contact 🔹 🖙	Notes - Outlo	ok - Microsoft Outlook	
Change View Reset   Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Ling Ling Ling   Ling Ling Li	File Home Send / Receive	Folder View		۵
<sup>1</sup> Outlook <sup>1</sup> Search Notes (Ctrl + E) <sup>1</sup> January 2010 <sup>1</sup> Outlook <sup>1</sup> Inbox <sup>1</sup> January 2010 <sup>1</sup> Outlook <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Outlook <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Outlooke <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Outlook <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Michael by <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Michael by <sup>1</sup> Pickup <sup>1</sup> Pickup	Change View Reset View Settings View Current View Arr	II List Line Up Navig: s Icons Pan	ation Reading To Do Peop c Panc Bar Panc	e Reminders Open in New Close Window Window All Items
<ul> <li>Outlook</li> <li>Inbox</li> <li>Drafts [1]</li> <li>Sent Items</li> <li>Detected Items (4)</li> <li>Forums, projectscen.com</li> <li>Microsoft Communities</li> <li>Mews Feed</li> <li>Outbox</li> <li>Mail</li> <li>Calendar</li> <li>Contacts</li> <li>Tasks</li> <li>Journal</li> </ul>	1 00011005	Search Notes (Ctrl+E)		
Mail	Inbox Drafts [1] Sent Items Deleted Items (4) forums.projectseven.com Junk E-mail Microsoft Communities Nicrosoft Communities Outbox		to see if he about would like to sit in on my meeting with	27         28         29         30         31         1         2           Must t         3         4         5         6         7         8         9           10         11         12         13         14         15         16           10         11         12         13         14         15         16           17         18         19         0         21         22         23         24         25         26         27         20         29         30         31         1         2         3         4         5         6         Today         Statt search for a new editor;         1         1         1         3         4         5         6         Today         Statt search for a new editor;         1
				I Start search for a new edito <a> </a>
∑ Tasks ∑ Juund Juund	Calendar Sanat			🔶 Start search fur a new editu 👔
No Date				
heating tomorrow				
Items: 5 A Reminders: 5		•		MPPring manina (

#### Figure 7-10: You can drag the note to any Outlook view.

keep business notes separate from personal notes, and so on. To categorize a note:

- In the Notes folder, right-click the note and click Categorize. The Categories drop-down menu appears.
- Click the desired category you want to assign. If the category is one of the initial color categories, the Rename Category dialog box will appear. Type the name of the category, change the color, and assign a shortcut key. Click Yes. If you have already made the color a specific category, it will be immediately applied to the entry.



က

4

S

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

10

ດ

Actions Subject: Pr Location:	ione Jerry ti	Show		ttendees ttendees	*	*	Zoom	
1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970		o see if he wou	1		n on my m	eeting v		
S <u>t</u> art time: Th	u 1/21/2010	)	Ŧ	2:00 AM			- 🗆 All d	ay e <u>v</u> erit
En <u>d</u> time: Th	u 1/21/2010	)	•	2:30 AM	8		-	
Modified: Phone Jerry	to see if I	Thu 1/2 ne would like	13:00			eting w	rith Marty.	

Figure 7-11: Drag your note to the Calendar icon to turn it into a calendar item.



You can assign more than one category to a note. If this is not what you want, right-click the note, click **Categorize**, and click **All Categories**. Click the check boxes for the categories you want attached to the note, and click **OK**. 3. If you do not see a category in the drop-down list that accurately identifies your task, click All Categories to open the Color Categories dialog box. Click New to open the Add New Category dialog box. Type the name of the category, change the color, assign a shortcut key, and click OK. Your new category will appear in your category list with a check mark. Click OK again, and the new category will be attached to the note.

#### **Organize Notes by Category/Color**

By default, your notes are all the same color, depending on the color you originally chose in the Outlook Options dialog box. However, if you categorize your notes to better organize them, you can assign the categories any color you choose, thereby color-coding your notes. You might choose to color-code all of your personal notes with one color, all sales notes with another, and all finance notes with a third. Or, you might assign a certain color to urgent notes and another color to those that are not as pressing. No matter what your technique for assigning colors, you can easily use the Categorize feature to change a note's color at any time. With your notes colorcoded, it is easy to see the category each note is in, as shown in Figure 7-12. This is simply a by-product of categorization.

To view the notes by color:

- 1. Click Notes List in the Current View group of the Home tab.
- 2. Click the Arrange By field at the top of the list of notes, and click Categories. The list will be rearranged by category and hence, by color. (If your Note view Outlook window is wide enough, you will not see Arrange By and can just click the Categories field.)

#### **Forward a Note**

The notes you create in Outlook can be attached easily to e-mail and sent to other Outlook users. This feature enables you to easily share information with someone over e-mail without having to retype the information in the e-mail or having to cut and paste the information. To forward a note:

**1.** In the Notes folder, right-click the note and click **Forward**.

	-	5
5		<u>C</u> opy
ei h		<u>Q</u> uick Print
		Forward
0		Categorize
IS' +	×	<u>D</u> elete

167

N

ω

4

G

တ

00

6
				Cuntaut + dress Book
New New Delete Icon	Notes List Last 7 Days F	Actions Tags		Find
▲ My Notes 《	Count Nation (Chilly D)		0	>
📃 Notes	Search Notes (Ctrl+E)	a subsu		<ul> <li>January 2010</li> <li>Su Mo Tu We Th Fr</li> </ul>
	Arrange By: Categories	A on top		27 28 29 30 31 1
	a 🔲 Business			3 4 5 6 7 8 10 11 12 13 14 15
	Must email this attachment to J Business Must email this attachment to Je	erry before the 5th <end></end>		10       11       12       13       14       15         17       18       19       20       21       22         24       25       26       27       28       29         31       1       2       3       4       5
	Phone Jerry to see if he would I Business Phone Jerry to see if he would li with Marty, <end></end>			Today Start search for a new editor
	Remind Rhonda before meeting	g about the extra person		Tomorrow
	Business			Start search for a new ed
2	Remind Rhonda before meeting lunch <end></end>	g about the extra person at		Saturday
Mail	a 📕 Don't Forget To-Do			Start search for a new equipart search fo
Calendar	Must email this attachment to Jo Don't Forget To-Do Must email this attachment to Jo	•		Start search for a new ec
Tasks	📓 Pick up Michael by 4:30pm for D	" 사망 이 것 같아. 아이는 것 않아. 아이는 것 같아. 아이는 것 같아. 아이는 것 않아. 아이는		Arrange By: Flag: Due Date
	Dun't Forget To-Du Pick up Michael by 4:30pm for D	entist annointment cends		Type a new task
Journal Notes	Personal	enax appointment senus		🔺 🍸 No Date
	📕 Call Janet about Wednesday lui	nch Thu 1/21/2010 12:21 AM		Meeting tomorrow Meeting tomorrow

 A new e-mail message appears with the note included as an attachment, as you can see in Figure 7-13. Enter the recipient's e-mail address, and type your message.

**3.** Click **Send**.

## **View Notes**

The Notes views (available from either the Home tab Current View group or the View tab Current View group Change View command) gives you three options for viewing your notes in the Notes folder:

- Icons This default view shows your notes as icons, as seen in various illustrations in this section.
- Notes List Displays your notes as a list of items, as seen in Figure 7-12.
- Last 7 Days Displays the last seven days of notes as a list.

#### **CUSTOMIZE THE CURRENT VIEW**

You can customize the current view by working with advanced Notes settings.

- 1. In the View tab Current View group, click **Change View** and select the view you want.
- 2. In the Current View group, click **View Settings**. The Advanced View Settings Notes List dialog box will appear.
- **3.** Click the desired area button to make any changes that you want in the Advanced View Settings dialog box, shown in Figure 7-14. The function of each button is as follows:
  - **Columns** allows you set the number of columns and fields you want displayed in them.
  - Group By provides the means to group the items in the view.

 $\sim$ 

00

ດ

Figure 7-12: Color-coding gives you a quick way to visually identify related notes.



N

က

4

S

6

10

	Message	Insert Options F	ormat Text Revi	iew		۵
	8 B Z 3 857 - A 5	<ul> <li>↓11 × A* A*</li> <li>単 注: · 注: ·   非詳</li> <li>A ·   手 吾 書   喝</li> <li>Basic Text</li> </ul>	Address Check Book Names Names	<ul> <li>Attach File</li> <li>Attach Item *</li> <li>Signature *</li> <li>Include</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Follow Up +</li> <li>High Importance</li> <li>Low Importance</li> <li>Tags G</li> </ul>	R Zoom Zoom
	From *	Someone@isp.com				
<u>S</u> end	То	Rhonda				
	<u>C</u> c					
	<u>B</u> cc					
	Subject:	FW: Remind Rhonda before			-1-	
		rvv, Kellinu Khonua beron	e meeting about the	e extra person actum	cn	
Hi Rho	Aţtached:	Remind Rhonda before				
Hi Rhc One m Thank	Attached: onda, nore for the		meeting about the	extra person at lunc	<u>h (1 KB)</u>	

Figure 7-13: A note can be added automatically to an e-mail message as an attachment.

<ul> <li>Sort provides the means to sort the items in the view.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Filter allows you to select certain items to be displayed and exclude others.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Other Settings provides the means to select the fonts and other display settings.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Conditional Formatting allows you to select rules for formatting unread items, unread group headers, and overdue items.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Format Columns allows you to select the format, label, width, and alignment of each column.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Reset Current View returns all the settings to the original default setting.</li> </ul>
4. When you're done making your changes, click OK.
USE THE READING PANE
The Reading pane works with most Outlook features, including Notes. The Reading pane allows you to switch easily between scanning notes and reading



Figure 7-14: You can change the display options by clicking an option button.

N

ω

4

СЛ

ဂ

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

G

10

N

က

4

S

ယ

00

ດ

0

## 

You can print multiple notes at the same time. In the Notes folder, hold down the **CTRL** key on your keyboard, and click the notes you want to print. If your notes are a contiguous list, hold down the **SHIFT** key, and click the first and last note in the list. This creates a "multiple selection" of notes, which you can then print together in either of the two ways described in "Print Notes." the full content of a note without having to open it. To use the Reading pane with Notes:

 Click the View tab, and in the Layout group, click Reading Pane. Then click Right to view the notes in a pane to the right of the Note List; click Bottom to view notes below the Note List; click Off to restore the original view.

R	eading Pane 🛪
	Right
E	<u>B</u> ottom
	Off
	Optio <u>n</u> s

Click a note in order to view its text in the Reading pane to the right or below.

An alternative view using the Reading pane minimizes the Navigation pane and the To-Do bar and uses the extra space to display the notes. You use the

🛃 Save As 🐏 Save Attachments Info	Print Print Print	
Open	Printer	Distingui (antigrandari le formatione ) Falanta antigrandari le formatione ) Falanta antigrand a trifte matione : mai Falanta antigrand : matione : m
Print	HP psc 2400 Series	Advantage of the second s
Help	Print Options	Arren Bren Idee reda dad Fredu pre diset - res
Doptions	Settings	
🔀 Exit	Table Style	
	Memo Style	

Figure 7-15: You can print notes in either table or memo style.

entire window to view the notes. To do this click the **Reading Pane** icon 💷 in the status bar.

## **Print Notes**

You can easily print your notes, when desired. To print a memo-style copy of the note entry, simply right-click the note, and click **Quick Print**. The note is sent to your default printer. What is printed depends on the current view. For instance, if the Icon view is displayed, you'll get a memo-style printout; if Notes List, a list printout.

- 1. For additional printing options, select the note you want to print in the Notes folder, click **File**, and then click **Print**.
- In Print view (see Figure 7-15), choose the print options you would like, such as the Printer default, Print Options for the number of copies, the drop down lists beneath Settings, and so forth.
- Make your selections and click Print to start printing.

## How to...

- Create a Normal Folder
- Create a Search Folder
- Copying and Moving Folders
- Rename Folders
- Delete Folders
- Set Folder Properties
- 🖏 Viewing Files
- Delete Files
- Group Files
- Copying and Moving Files
- Sort Files
- Import and Export Files
- Set Security and Privacy Options
- Secure E-mail
- Revealed the Against Viruses
- Manage Add-ins

## Chapter 8 Managing Files and Folders

As you send and receive e-mail and work with your Outlook data, you'll need to organize and work with data files. Microsoft Outlook makes data management easy. In this chapter you'll see how to work with folders and manipulate files in Outlook. You'll also see how to make Outlook secure by setting security options and encrypting private messages.

## Work with Folders

Outlook manages data by storing information in folders, specifically, your personal folders. When you use e-mail, you see folders such as Inbox, Outbox, Deleted Items, Sent Items, and so forth. However, you are not limited to these basic folders. You can create and work with additional folders so that you can easily store e-mail messages and files in an organizational system that works best for you. In this section you'll see how to create different kinds of folders, share them, and work with them in a variety of ways. N

ω

C

တ

**\_** 

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

ယ

0



Figure 8-1: A new Outlook folder can contain only a specific kind of information.

:
:
_

Figure 8-2: Search folders allow you to search Outlook folders for a wide variety of criteria and to create your own folders.

### **Create a Normal Folder**

Outlook creates a basic set of folders when you create a new account so that you can store e-mail messages and files for that account. You may wish to also create folders based on work and family correspondence, or you can create any

structure that is helpful and meaningful to you. To create a normal folder:

1. Right-click your **Inbox** folder and, on the context menu, click **New Folder**.

4 Outlook	7	Arrar
🖂 Inbr×	Open in New <u>W</u> indow	
🔄 Sen 📷	New Folder	
🔄 Deli	Rename Folder	

- 2. In the Create New Folder dialog box, shown in Figure 8-1, enter a name for the folder. Click the Folder Contains drop-down menu, and choose the type of items you will store in the folder, such as Mail And Post Items. Finally, select the location where you want to store the folder, such as a subfolder within your Inbox.
- **3.** When you're done, click **OK**. The folder will appear in the place where you chose to store it.

### **Create a Search Folder**

Search folders are a helpful feature of Outlook. Using search folders, you can store messages and easily search them for certain types of content, for example, or based on the sender or another attribute. In short, search folders enable you not only to store large numbers of messages, but also to sort easily through and find certain kinds of messages.

Search folders aren't really folders at all. They are virtual folders that search other Outlook folders and give you a report of the messages and information you are looking for, rather than being just a collection of messages that are in one place at one time. This feature allows you to find any message that you

want and show it in the search folder, although the original message isn't actually moved there. To create a search folder:



- 1. Click the Folder tab, and in the New group, click New Search Folder.
  - In the New Search Folder dialog box, shown in Figure 8-2, choose one of the following options:

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

ယ

00

σ

## TIP

Once you have enabled search folders, you can simply access your search folders in the Navigation pane and click the one you want to perform the search again. The search folder is located in your personal folders.

Search Folders
 Go Unread Mail (155)

## 

### **COPYING AND MOVING FOLDERS**

You can easily copy and move folders around as needed.

#### **COPY A FOLDER**

 Right-click the folder in your personal folders hierarchy that you want to copy.

News Fe
Open in New Window
Control
Open in New Window
Search
Polder...
Polder
Copy Folder

- 2. Click Copy Folder.
- In the Copy Folder window, shown in Figure 8-3, choose the location where you want to copy the folder.
- Click OK. The folder and its contents are copied to the desired location.
- 5. Find and right-click the new folder, and click **Rename**. The folder name will be selected and ready for you to type the name you want for the folder. Then press **ENTER**.

#### **MOVE A FOLDER**

You can move the folders you create within your personal folders, but you cannot move the system-created folders such as Inbox, Outbox, and Sent Items.

Continued . . .

- Reading Mail:
  - Unread Mail Any mail you have not read in any folder.
  - Mail Flagged For Follow-Up Any mail that is flagged for follow-up in any folder.
  - Mail Either Unread Or Flagged For Follow-Up Unread mail or mail that has been flagged for follow-up in any folder.
  - Important Mail Mail that has been sent with high importance.





S

တ

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

6

0

173

#### • Mail From People And Lists:

- Mail From And To Specific People Mail from and to specific people in any folder.
- Mail From Specific People Mail from specific people in any folder.
- Mail Sent Directly To Me Mail that was sent directly to you (rather than by means of a distribution list or as a Cc or Bcc).
- Mail Sent To Public Groups Mail that was sent to a distribution list.
- Organizing Mail:
  - Categorized Mail Mail that has been identified with a category.
  - Large Mail Messages above a specific file size.
  - Old Mail Mail older than a specific date.
  - Mail With Attachments Mail that has an attachment.
  - Mail With Specific Words Mail that contains specific words.
- Custom:
  - Create A Custom Search Folder Allows you to create a custom folder that searches for the parameters you specify.
- **3.** Once you have selected the kind of search folder you want, click **OK**. The type of mail you searched for will appear in the Subject pane.

N

ŝ



## COPYING AND MOVING FOLDERS

(Continued)

- 1. In the Navigation pane, right-click the folder you want to move.
- 2. Click Move Folder.
- In the Move Folder window, choose the location where you want to move the folder, and click OK. The folder and its contents are moved to the desired location.

You also copy and move folders using the mouse. You can move the folders you have created by dragging them. You can copy any folder by right-dragging it to a new location and clicking **Copy** from the context menu that appears.





## **Rename Folders**

Folder names should be easily recognizable. To that end, you can change the name of a folder you have created at any time. You cannot change the name of the system folders, such as Inbox and Sent Items in your primary account. In that case, the Rename command will be grayed out (unavailable).

- 1. Right-click the folder in the Navigation pane, and click **Rename Folder**. The folder name is selected, and your cursor appears in the folder name box.
- Type a new name for the folder, and press ENTER.

## **Delete Folders**

You can delete the folders you have created, but not the system folders in your primary account (the Delete command will be unavailable to you). The folder contents are moved to the Deleted Items folder.

- 1. In the Navigation pane, right-click the folder you want, and click **Delete Folder**.
- 2. Click Yes in response to the warning message that appears.

Microsoft	Outlook X
<u>^</u>	Are you sure you want to delete the folder "News Feed" and move all of its contents into the Deleted Items folder?

## **Set Folder Properties**

Like all folders in Windows, Outlook folders have some basic properties that you can configure as needed. The tabs described here are available with most, but not all, Outlook folders.

- 1. Right-click the desired folder, and click **Properties**. You have the following options:
  - On the General tab, shown in Figure 8-4, you see the name of the folder and its general properties. You can enter a description and choose to show the number of total items in the folder or the number of unread items in the folder. You can click Folder Size to find out how much disk space your folder is taking up.

ດ

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

General Home Page AutoArchiv	/e
My News Feed	
Type: Folder containing Ma Location: \\Outlook\RSS Feed	
My stock and quote feeds	
Show number of unread items Show total number of items	
When posting to this folder, use:	IPM.Post
Folder Size	

*Figure 8-4:* You can get basic information about your folder on the General tab.



*Figure 8-5:* The AutoArchive settings give you the flexibility to automatically archive folder items in a way that works best for you.

- The **Home Page** tab allows you to configure a default home page for the folder, if your folders are Web-enabled (which is common for folders found on a company intranet).
- On the AutoArchive tab, shown in Figure 8-5, you can choose the method of archiving you want to use with this folder. The default will vary, depending on the folder selected. However, you can choose to automatically have the folder archived based on Outlook's default settings, or you can configure your own archive settings for the folder, as I have done in Figure 8-5.
- 2. Click OK when you are done making any desired changes.

## **Manipulate Files**

Just as you can work with individual folders in Outlook, you can also work with individual files and groups of files that are stored in those folders. In this  $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

6

#### က

4

S

To delete a file quickly, select it and press **DELETE** or **CTRL+D**. You'll be asked to confirm that the delete is what you want.

## 

TIP

You can easily select the files within your Outlook folders and then view the file contents in several ways.

- Select the folder in the Folder List, and then select the file in the Folder pane. You can then see the file's contents in the Reading pane.
- **2.** Double-click the file. This opens the file in a separate window so that you can view it.



section, you'll see how to manipulate files and work with them by copying, renaming, sharing, deleting, grouping, and sorting files. You'll also see how to import and export files in Outlook.

### **Delete Files**

You can delete individual files from within Outlook as needed. Let's say you have a folder that contains several older e-mail messages. You do not want to delete the entire folder, but you do want to delete all the unneeded messages from the folder. In this case, you can individually select the messages that you want to delete. Deleted messages are moved to your Deleted Items folder.

- 1. In the Navigation pane, select the folder that contains the file you want to delete.
- In the Folder pane, click the file and on the Home tab Delete group, click Delete.
   You can also right-click the file and click Delete.

Delete

### **Group Files**

You can have Outlook automatically group files for you as a part of Outlook's standard grouping arrangement, or you can manually group items. For example, you might want all e-mail from a specific person grouped into one folder, or you might want e-mail that contains attachments to be grouped into one folder. The choice is yours, but you can easily group items in almost any way that you need.

#### **CREATE A CUSTOM GROUPING**

- 1. Click the View tab, click the More button at the bottom of the scroll bar in the Arrangement group, and click View Settings.
- 2. In the Advanced View Settings dialog box, click Group By.
- In the Group By dialog box, if it is selected, clear the Automatically Group According To Arrangement check box. Then select the desired check boxes, and use the drop-down menus to determine how you want to group items within Outlook, as shown in Figure 8-6.
- 4. Click OK twice when you're done.

## 

### **COPYING AND MOVING FILES**

You can easily copy and move files between Outlook folders in basically the same manner as with standard Windows files.

#### **COPYING FILES**

- Select the folder that contains the file you want to move so that the files are displayed in the Folder pane.
- 2. In the Folder pane, right-drag the file that you want to copy to the folder you want. When you release the mouse, click **Copy** on the context menu.

To copy and paste a file, or cut and paste a file (to move it rather than copy it), first select a file. Then press CTRL+C to copy the file, or press CTRL-X to cut the file, and then paste it by pressing CTRL+V.

#### **MOVING FILES**

- Select the folder that contains the file you want to move so that the files are displayed in the Folder pane.
- In the Folder pane, right-click the file you want to move, and, on the context menu that appears, click Move. A submenu appear.



 In the Move Items window, choose the Outlook folder where you want to move the file.





N

ŝ

4

G

တ

<u></u>

*Figure 8-6:* You can group files by up to four items, such as attachments and categories.

#### **UNGROUP ITEMS**

X

OK

Cancel

New...

Should you need to ungroup items at any time, you can easily do so.

- 1. Click the View tab, click the More button in the Arrangement group, and click View Settings.
  - 2. In the Advanced View Settings dialog box, click Group By.
  - In the Group By dialog box, for each group setting, click the Group Items By drop-down menu, click None, and click OK twice.

## **Sort Files**

Outlook has the capability to sort files that you receive in your Inbox. This feature can automatically help you manage your e-mail, and is particularly helpful if you typically receive a large volume of e-mail.

- 1. Click the View tab, click More in the Arrangement group, and click View Settings.
- **2.** In the Advanced View Settings dialog box, click **Sort**.

0

<u>F</u> ort items by	
Flag Color	💽 🔘 Ascending
	Oescending
[hen by	
Conversation	💽 💿 Ascending
	💭 Descending
íhen <u>b</u> y	
(none)	Ascending
	C Descending
Then b <u>v</u>	
(none)	🚽 🔘 Ascending
	💭 Descending
lect available fields from:	
requently-used fields	

Figure 8-7: You can sort files in any folder by up to four levels of criteria.

## NOTE

The options you see in the Sort dialog box allow you to have up to four levels of sorting. For example, in Figure 8-7, the two-level sorting of files are sorted first by the flag color and then by the conversation of e-mail correspondence. This sorting feature can be helpful in locating items.

- **3.** In the Sort dialog box, shown in Figure 8-7, do the following:
  - Click the Sort Items By down arrow, and click a sort item, such as Attachment. Contacts, Cc, and so on.
  - Choose more sort criteria in the additional drop-down list boxes as needed.
- 4. Click **OK** when you are done, and click **OK** again on the Advanced View Settings dialog box. Your items in the current view are now sorted as you specified.

### **Import and Export Files**

You can import and explore Outlook files from a variety of sources and in a variety of formats.

#### **IMPORT FILES**

1. Click File. click Open. and then click Import.



- 2. In the Import And Export Wizard, choose what you would like to import, as shown in Figure 8-8. Make your selection and click Next. You have the following options:
  - Import A VCARD File (.vcf) allows you to import an Outlook vCard that you have received to your Contacts folder.
  - Import An iCalendar Or vCalendar File (.vcs) imports information from an iCalendar or vCalendar file directly into your calendar.
  - Import From Another Program Or File allows you to import items from other e-mail programs, such as ACT!, Lotus Organizer, and so forth. You can also import text and database files, as well as personal folders (.pst) from another Outlook program.
  - Import Internet Mail Account Settings allows you to import settings from Outlook Express or Eudora e-mail programs.
  - Import Internet Mail And Addresses allows you to import Internet mail and e-mail addresses directly from Outlook Express or Eudora e-mail programs.

S

	⊆hoose an action to perform:
×	Export RSS Feeds to an OPML file Export to a file Import a VCARD file (.vcf) Import an iCalendar (.ics) or vCalendar file (.vcs) Import from another program or file Import Internet Mail and Addresses Import Internet Mail and Addresses Import RSS Feeds from an OPML file Import RSS Feeds from the Common Feed List
	Description Import data from other programs or files, including ACTI, Lotus Organizer, Outlook data files (.PST), database files, text files, and others.

*Figure 8-8:* You can import a number of different kinds of files, including those created by Outlook Express, Eudora, ACT!, and Lotus Organizer.

Select the folder to export from:	
<ul> <li>forum</li> <li>Journal com</li> <li>Junk E-mail</li> <li>Microsoft Communities</li> <li>News Feed</li> <li>Notes</li> <li>Outbox</li> <li>Streads</li> <li>My News Feed</li> <li>Storane folders</li> </ul>	* <u> </u>
Include subfolders	ter

Figure 8-9: You can choose to export both individual folders and a folder with all of its subfolders.

- Import RSS Feeds From An OPML File or The Common Feed List allows you to bring syndicated information to which you subscribe and receive through RSS (Real Simple Syndication) into Outlook.
- 3. Complete the steps as instructed by the wizard to import the desired files.

#### **EXPORT FILES**

Just as you can import files, you can also export files so that they can be used with other programs, or as a way to back up your Outlook files.

- 1. Click File, click Open, and click Import.
- 2. In the Import And Export Wizard, click Export To A File. Click Next.
- **3.** Choose the kind of file you want to export to. You can choose Outlook Data File (.pst), which allows your files to be imported by other Outlook programs, or you can choose file types for other programs. See the other e-mail program for details about the kinds of files it will import so that you make the best decision depending on what you want to do. Click **Next**.
- **4.** Select the folder within Outlook that you want to export, as shown in Figure 8-9. If you choose a parent folder, it will include the subfolders beneath it.
- 5. If you are exporting to a personal folder file (.pst) and want to filter out some of the messages that you are exporting, click Filter, which opens the Filter window. Here, you can search for particular words in specified fields in order to filter out certain messages. For example, you can filter out messages that have certain subjects in the Subject line, messages sent directly to you, and so on. Click the More Choices and Advanced tabs for additional filtering options, and then click OK when you're done.
- **6.** Click **Next**. Choose an export location and file name for the file. Choose how you want to replace previously exported items and duplicate items, and click **Finish**.
- The Create Outlook Data File dialog box appears so that you can choose to password-protect the exported file so that no one can open it without your password.
- 8. Make your selections and click **OK**. The files are exported. This process may take some time, depending on the number of files that must be exported.

Add optional pass	word
eassword:	
erify Password:	
<u>S</u> ave this pass	word in your password list

179

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

0

N

4

S

0

## NOTE

It is important to point out that the security provided by Outlook and Microsoft Office is just one level of security against threats from the Internet. You probably also want to enable the Windows Personal Firewall (see the companion book Microsoft Windows 7 QuickSteps for further information on the Windows Firewall and other security measures at that level). You may also wish to purchase additional security software or hardware for maximum protection (from companies such as McAfee, Symantec, Zone Alarm, and WatchGuard) for a third level of protection.

## Make Outlook Secure

8 X

Expiration Date

Issued By

Outlook 2010 has a set of security options that you can configure to keep your e-mail, Calendar, Journal, and other Outlook items secure. In this section, you'll see how to set the security options, how to encrypt messages, and how to protect your computer against viruses that may be transmitted through e-mail.

## Set Security and Privacy Options

Outlook 2010 shares with the rest of the Microsoft Office 2010 family of programs the *Trust Center*, where you can set a variety of security and privacy options. The Trust Center allows you to set options that affect your privacy; determine if and how you want to secure your e-mail; and how you want to handle attachments, downloads, and macros. We'll explore securing your e-mail in the next section, and then look at virus protection from macros in the upcoming QuickSteps. This section explores the other settings in the Trust Center.

To open and explore the Trust Center:

- 1. Click the File tab, and then click Options. The Outlook Options dialog box will appear.
- 2. Click Trust Center. In the Trust Center view, click the Trust Center Settings button to open the Trust Center dialog box, shown in Figure 8-10.
- Click Trusted Publishers in the left column. A list of trusted software publishers will appear. The list will likely be empty. You add a publisher to the list when you install software or a macro by clicking Trust All Documents From This Publisher in the Security Alert dialog box that appears. In the Trust Center page, you can remove a publisher from the list and view a publisher's credentials by selecting a publisher in the list and clicking the relevant button at the bottom of the page.

Trusteu Publishers	Trusted Publishers
DEP Settings	Issued To 🔻
Privacy Options	Issued to +
E-mail Security	
Attachment Handling	
Automatic Download	
Macro Settings	
Programmatic Access	

Trust Center

ດ

00

OK Cancel Figure 8-10: The Trust Center is where you set options to ensure that your Outlook files are protected.



#### **Privacy Options**

- Connect to Office.com for updated content when I'm connected to the Internet. 0
- Download a file periodically that helps determine system problems (1)
- 📝 Sign up for the Customer Experience Improvement Program 🕕
- 🖉 Automatically detect installed Office applications to improve Office.com search results. 🕕
- Allow the Research task pane to check for and install new services

#### Read our privacy statement

#### Research & Reference

Translation Options...

Research Options...



The Research Options button on the Privacy Options page allows you to select the reference sources that will be searched when you choose to do a search.

- 4. Click DEP Settings, which is set by default, to enable the Data Execution Prevention mode. This helps prevent malicious code that might be embedded in data. Clear the check mark to enable data execution to take place.
- 5. Click Privacy Options in the left column of the Trust Center. Select which of the Microsoft programs you want to sign up for, all requiring varying degrees of disclosure on your part. For example, if you sign up for the Customer Experience Improvement Program, you will be expected to divulge some information about what you do with Microsoft Office.
- 6. Click E-mail Security to set encryption, digital IDs, and other security measures. See "Secure E-mail" next for a fuller explanation.
- Click Attachment Handling to add properties to attachments, turn off and on the ability to preview attachments, or specify which preview tools are enabled. Click Attachment And Document Previewers to select the applications being used to preview files.
- Click Automatic Downloads and determine how you want to handle the downloading of pictures in e-mail.
- Click Macro Security to see how to protect against viruses. See the "Protecting Against Viruses" QuickSteps later in this chapter to find out how to use this feature in the Trust Center.
- 10. Click Programmatic Access to enable Microsoft security to work in conjunction with your antivirus software to determine the level of warning you will be given when a program is trying to access your Address Book or send messages in your name.
- **11.** Click **OK** to close the Trust Center.

### **Secure E-mail**

You can secure your e-mail by encrypting it so that no one else can read it, and you can add a digital signature to your mail so that the recipient knows you sent it and no one has changed it. Encryption is the process of making an e-mail message unreadable to anyone who is not authorized to view it. Encryption takes a plain-text e-mail message and scrambles it so that it is unreadable. Your recipient must have a private key that matches a public key you used to write N

ω

4

G

တ

<u></u>

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

0

#### N

က

4

S

ယ

00

# In case you are wondering, Outlook uses the 3DES or

Triple DES encryption algorithm, which is a standard form of encryption used in the United States and other countries.

 Digital IDs (Certificates)

 Digital IDs or Certificates are documents t

 Import/Export...

 Get a Digital ID...



the message in order to decrypt and read the message. You can do this in a few different ways:

- Send a digitally signed message to the recipient. The recipient can then add your e-mail name to his or her Contacts list, which imports your certificate with a private key.
- Attach your certificate (.cer) file to a message you send to the recipient. The recipient can then import the .cer file and add it your contact card. The certificate can be used to exchange keys.
- Create a contact with your .cer file, and then send the contact card to the recipient.

No matter which way you choose to go, the recipient must have your .cer file in his or her Outlook program so Outlook can use that to exchange keys to decrypt any encrypted messages you send.

#### **GET A DIGITAL SIGNATURE**

A digital signature identifies you, proves the message and its attachments were not changed, and includes a certificate and public key. To get one:

- Click the File tab, and click Options. On the Outlook Options dialog box, click Trust Center.
- 2. Click Trust Center Settings. In the Trust Center dialog box, click E-Mail Security.
- Under Digital IDs (Certificates), click Get A Digital ID. A Microsoft Web site is displayed with suggestions for sources of digital IDs that, for a fee, will validate your identity and issue you a digital ID.
- **4.** Click the source you want, and follow the directions for getting the digital ID. When you are ready, click **OK** twice to close the Trust Center and Outlook Options dialog boxes.

#### ADD A DIGITAL SIGNATURE TO E-MAIL

To assign a digital signature to an individual message:

- 1. In a message's Options tab More Options group, click the **Dialog Box Launcher** in the lower-right corner.
- 2. In the Properties dialog box that appears, click Security Settings.
- 3. Click the Add Digital Signature To This Message check box.
- 4. Click OK and click Close to return to your message.

0

ດ

	ge contents and attachn	nents	
	nature to this message		
Send this	message as clear <u>t</u> ext si	gned	
<u>R</u> equest	5/MIME receipt for this m	essage	
ecurity Settings	8		
<u>S</u> ecurity setting	1		
<automatic></automatic>		▼] [	hange Settings
Security Label			
Policy Module:	<none></none>		Configure.
Classification:			-
Privacy Mark:			74

## Figure 8-11: You can encrypt an individual message through the Security Properties dialog box.





If you attempt to encrypt and send a message and you do not have a certificate, you will receive a "Invalid Certificate" message that Outlook cannot send the message for that reason. In that case, click **Change Security Settings** on the bottom of the dialog box, and clear the **Encrypt Message Contents And Attachments** check box. To add a digital signature to all your messages:

- 1. Click File and click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box, click Trust Center.
- 2. Click Trust Center Settings, and in the Trust Center dialog box on the left, click E-mail Security.
- **3.** In the Trust Center dialog box, under **Encrypted E-mail**, click the **Add Digital Signature To Outgoing Messages** check box.

Trusted Publishers	Encrypted e-mail	
DEP Settings	O_ Encrypt contents and attachm	ents for outgoing messages
Privacy Options	Add digital signature to outgo	승규는 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 많다.
E-mail Security	🔽 Send clear text signed messag	e when sending signed messages
	<u>R</u> equest S/MIME receipt for al	I S/MIME signed messages
Attachment Handling	Default Setting:	Settings

#### 4. Click OK twice.

#### **ENCRYPT AN INDIVIDUAL MESSAGE**

You can choose to encrypt an individual message as needed. You do need a valid digital ID before you can do this.

- 1. Create a new e-mail message addressed to the desired recipient.
- In the Options tab More Options group, click the Dialog Box Launcher in the lowerright corner.
- **3.** In the Properties dialog box that appears, click **Security Settings**. The Security Properties dialog box appears, shown in Figure 8-11.
- 4. Click the Encrypt Message Contents And Attachments check box.
- 5. Click OK and click Close to return to your message.
- 6. Click Send. The message will be encrypted and sent.



ယ

0

N

ω

4

G

တ

<u></u>



#### **PROTECTING AGAINST VIRUSES**

Computer viruses are a major headache in the computing world, and e-mail and Internet usage are major pathways for your computer to become infected. Outlook provides minimal protection against viruses. It is not equipped to scan your e-mail and remove viruses, so when Outlook tells you that it can help with virus protection, it really does mean that it "helps" only.

Outlook provides virus protection through macro security options. Different files, especially Microsoft Word files, can contain macros, which are little programs, and viruses can be implanted in macros. This is a common way for viruses to be spread. Outlook's macro security simply disables macros that are not from secure or trusted sources, thus reducing the likelihood of getting a macro virus. By default, Outlook disables macros that are unsigned and warns you about signed macros. You can change those settings if you wish.

- 1. Click File and click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box that appears, click Trust Center, and then click Trust Center Settings.
- 2. In the Trust Center dialog box, click Macro Settings in the left column.
- 3. Under Macro Settings, on the right, click one of the four options for handling macros. The second option is the default.

The second or third options for macro protection give you the best protection. You can still use macros, but in either case, you are warned before you use them; in the second case, they are not allowed if they are not signed.

4. Click OK twice to close the Trust Center and Outlook Options dialog boxes.

#### **ENCRYPT ALL OUTGOING E-MAIL**

You can also choose to encrypt all outgoing mail, which saves you from having to configure each e-mail message with encryption. However, keep in mind that this setting will encrypt every e-mail that you send and that everybody who receives your e-mail will need to have a key to open it.

- 1. Click File, click Options, and in the Outlook Options dialog box, click Trust Center.
- In the Trust Center view, click Trust Center Settings, and then click E-Mail Security.
- In the Trust Center dialog box, under Encrypted E-mail, click the Encrypt Contents And Attachments For Outgoing Messages check box, as shown in Figure 8-12.
- Click OK twice to close the Trust Center and Outlook Options dialog boxes.

ust Center	<u> २</u>
Trusted Publishers DEP Settings Privacy Options E-mail Security Attachment Handling	Macro Settings         O Disable all macros without notification         Image: Setting of the set of th
Automatic Download Macro Settings Programmatic Access	Add-ins
	OK Cancel

### **Manage Add-ins**

Add-ins are pieces of program code that add functionality to another program. The add-ins are placed on the list when they are installed. You can see which add-ins are currently on the list, activate, or add or remove them.

1. Click File and click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box that appears, click Add-Ins. A list of installed add-ins will appear, as shown in Figure 8-13.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

ယ

00

ດ

## CAUTION

Keep in mind that Outlook only helps reduce the *likelihood* of a macro virus; it is not a full antivirus program. You should install and use antivirus software on your computer. Visit www.mcafee.com or www.symantec .com to learn more about antivirus programs.

usted Publishers	Encrypted e-mail
P Settings	Q V Encrypt contents and attachments for outgoing messages
vacy Options	Add digital signature to outgoing messages
mail Security	Send clear text signed message when sending signed messages
tachment Handling	Request S/MIME receipt for all S/MIME signed messages
tomatic Download	Default Setting:
cro Settings	Digital IDs (Certificates)
ogrammatic Access	Digital IDs or Certificates are documents that allow you to prove your identity in electronic transactions. Import/Export Get a Digital ID
	Read as Plain Text
	Read all standard mail in plain text     Read all digitally signed mail in plain text
	Script in Folders
	4 m b

*Figure 8-12:* It is unlikely that you will want to encrypt and/or digitally sign all your mail, but you may want to encrypt individual messages in the e-mail message window.

- **2.** Click an add-in name to see the information on it below the list: name, publisher, compatibility information, location on your disk, and a description.
- **3.** To manage add-ins, click **Go** at the bottom of the page. The COM Add-Ins dialog box appears, where you can make an add-in active or inactive by selecting or clearing the check box, respectively, or add and remove an add-in with the buttons on the right.



ဂ

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

ယ

N	ſ	Outlook Options			8 X
		General	View and manage Microsoft Office Add-ins.		
		Calendar	Add-in Options		
က		Contacts Tasks	Launch Add-in options dialog: Add-in Options		
		Notes and Journal	Name -	Location	Туре
4		Search Mobile	Active Application Add-ins Business Connectivity Services Add-In Microsoft Exchange Add-in	C:\rosoft Office\Office14\ADDINS\BCSAddin.dll C:\ffice\Office14\ADDINS\UmOutlookAddin.dll	COM Add-in COM Add-in
4		Language Advanced	Microsoft Office SharePoint Server Colleague Import Add-in Microsoft Outlook Social Connector OneNote Notes about Outlook Items	C:\Office\Office14\ADDINS\ColleagueImport.dll C:\soft Office\Office14\SOCIALCONNECTOR.DLL C:\x86\\Microsoft Office\Office14\ONBttnOL.dll	COM Add-in COM Add-in COM Add-in
		Customize Ribbon Quick Access Toolbar	Inactive Application Add-ins Microsoft Access Outlook Add-in for Data Collection and Publishing		COM Add-in COM Add-in
Q		Add-Ins	Microsoft VBA for Outlook Addin TMAS Addin	C:\rosoft Office\Office14\ADDINS\OUTLVBA,DLL C:\cro\Internet Security\TMAS_OL\TMAS_OLA.dll	COM Add-in COM Add-in
		Trust Center	Disabled Application Add-ins PDFMOutlook SnagIt Add-in Windows Search Email Indexer	C:\0\PDFMaker\Mail\Outlook\PDFMOutlook.dll C:\6\\TechSmith\SnagIt 8\SnagItOfficeAddin.dll C:\Windows\System32\mssphtb.dll	COM Add-in COM Add-in COM Add-in
9			Add-in: OneNote Notes about Outlook Items Publisher: Microsoft Corporation Compatibility: No compatibility information available		
			Location: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microsoft Office\Office14\ON Description: Adds Send to OneNote and Notes about this Item b		
			Manage: COM Add-ins 💌 <u>G</u> o		
				ОК	Cancel

Figure 8-13: Most add-ins are from trusted publishers like Microsoft and Adobe, but it is a good idea to keep an eye on them just in case.

ດ

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

## How to...

- Explore Outlook Forms in Developer Tab
- Modify a Standard Form
- Create a Custom Form
- Use the Control Toolbox
- Change the Tab Order
- Use Separate Compose and Read Layouts
- Creating and Using a Template
- Publish a Form
- Use a Custom Form
- Selecting Contacts
- Prepare Contacts
- Prepare a Mail Merge Document
   in Word
- Perform a Mail Merge
- Print Labels
- Print Envelopes

## napter 9 Using Forms, Labels, and Mail Merge

You've seen that Outlook is a lot more than a mail program. In this chapter we'll expand on that and you'll see how to modify existing forms and create custom forms, how to create and use templates in many Outlook views, and how to set up Outlook to perform a mail merge, as well as how to print both labels and envelopes.

## **Use Forms**

Much of Outlook is built around forms: message forms, appointment forms, contact forms, and many others. *Forms* provide the means to collect information. Forms are built around *fields*, which are individual pieces of information collected by the form, such as the addressee and subject in the e-mail message form shown in Figure 9-1.

0

187

N

ω

G

ത

 $\sim$ 



### **Explore Outlook Forms** in the Developer Tab

In earlier chapters you saw how to use various forms from within each of the views. You can also see all the forms together. But first you need to display the Developer tab.

- Click File and click Options. In the Outlook Options dialog box, click Customize Ribbon.
- In the right tabs list, under Main Tabs, click **Developer** to select it. Click **OK**. The Developer tab will appear on the ribbon. Now you can find the forms.

🖃 🔽 Developer
🕀 Code
🗄 Add-Ins
🗄 Custom Forms

**3.** Click the **Developer** tab, and in the Custom Forms group, click **Choose Form**. The Choose Form dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 9-2.



- 4. Click Look In to see the forms available in each folder. Click one of the forms, and click Advanced. You'll see a description of the form, who created it, and the message class, which is used in programming for Outlook.
- 5. Open a form by clicking it and then clicking **Open**.

–Or–

Double-click the form.

6. Click Close to close the form.

00

တ

0

ook In:	itandard Forms Library	💌 Browse 🔡 🏢 🛍
Appointme Contact Distribution Journal En Meeting Re Message Note	n List try	
Post Standard I Task Task Requ		
Post Standard I Task	est	Open

Figure 9-2: In the Standard Forms Library folder, you will find 11 standard forms that can be modified.

### **Modify a Standard Form**

You can modify any of the standard forms and then use the revised form in the same way you did as before it was modified.

- 1. Click the **Developer** tab, and in the Custom Forms group, click **Design A Form**.
- 2. Click the Look In drop-down list, and click the folder that holds the form you want to modify. This feature is particularly useful for the message form, which is used in several different folders.

Look In:	Standard Forms Library	
	Standard Forms Library	
	Personal Forms Library	
	Outlook Folders	
Journal E	Standard Templates	
Meeting F	User Templates in R System Inbox	
Message	Inbox	

3. Click the form you want to modify, and click Open. The form will open in Design mode and, if you can add fields to the form, the Field Chooser dialog box will appear beside it (see Figure 9-3).



0

189

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

4. In the Developer tab Form group, click the Page down arrow, and choose between
changing the form as the sender will see it (click Edit Compose Page) or as the
recipient will see it (click Edit Read Page).

- **5.** Choose from among the following changes that can be made on the form:
  - Click a field whose size you want to change. A shaded border with sizing handles (small black or white squares) appears around the field. Drag one of the sizing handles to change the size of the field.
  - Click a field you want to delete, and press DELETE.
  - Click the field categories drop-down list at the top of the Field Chooser dialog box (Frequently Used Fields is selected by default), click a category, and drag a predefined field to the place on the form where you want it.
  - To insert a new field in the form, click New in the Field Chooser dialog box. In the New Column dialog box that appears, enter a name, select a type and format, and click OK. Drag the new field to the place on the form where you want it.
  - Click the **Developer** tab, and click **Publish** in the Form group. Click **Publish Form** As from the menu. Accepting the default, Personal Forms Library, type the Form Name, type the Display Name, and click Publish. (If you want the two names to be the same, type the Display Name first and the Form Name will be duplicated.) The form will appear in the Personal Forms Library under the Display Name.
- 6. If you are not ready to publish the form, save it by selecting the File tab and clicking Save As. Select the folder in which you want to save the form. Enter the file name for the form, click Save, and close the form.

## Create a Custom Form

Creating a custom form is the same as modifying a form, because Outlook does not allow you to start with a blank form. You can create a form easily, however, by starting with an existing form, deleting all the fields you don't wantpossibly all of them-and adding the fields you want. Also, there are a number of additional tools on the Developer ribbon you can use to customize a form, including the Form Design toolbar.



Ö



See both "Modify a Standard Form" and "Create a Custom Form" for the full range of modifications you can make to a form.

TIP

က

N

4

S

ဖ

00

တ

0

NOTE

Adding code and programming a form and working with add-ins are beyond the scope of this book.



Use add-ins to enhance forms

Developer

A 12 17 15 in. \* =

🕍 Visual Basic

A Macro Security

Code

🔜 Macros 🕶

#### **USE THE DEVELOPER TAB**

	The Developer tab and ribbon in the Form Design window allow you to perform the following functions:	N
	<ul> <li>Program small scripts and macros to automate a form.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Publish the form to a server so that you or anyone else with access can use it.</li> </ul>	ω
	<ul> <li>View Visual Basic script code you have added to the form.</li> </ul>	00
	<ul> <li>Display or rename a page.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Create a new form region or rename a current one.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Choose to edit the page as the sender or the reader will see it.</li> </ul>	4
	<ul> <li>Open and close the Field Chooser and the Control toolbox.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Open the Properties dialog boxes for a field.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Position and align fields.</li> </ul>	
	To perform these functions, the Developer tab has a number of unique options, as shown in Figure 9-4.	σı
_	The more important options on the Developer tab are as follows:	
m	Form group:	0
	• <b>Publish</b> allows you to prepare your form for formal testing and use. You publish the form to a personal library or folder, which then can be referred to in the Choose Form dialog box.	
	<ul> <li>View Code allows you to add and change Visual Basic code associated with a control on the form.</li> </ul>	7
	the form and test and set Lay out and Fools to add and Position tabs and position, a form for recurring use Save the form define fields order, and size fields	00
-	Untitled - Message (HTML) (Design)	

Add code to automate the form

Figure 9-4: The Developer tab provides a number of form design tools.

\*

-0

Add-Ins Items

Add-Ins

OM Disabled Publish

🐙 View Code

🗟 Page 💌

Form

🗿 Run This Form

۵ ()

191

🛱 Align 🔻

Group -

Tab Order - Size \*

Arrange

Region Ordering

Layout -

\_\_\_\_\_

10

6

Field Chooser

Property Sheet

Control Advanced Properties Toolbox Tools

R

٠

New Form

Region

Design

\_

2

က

4

Ŋ

ဖ

 $\infty$ 



New Form Region Design

Control Toolbox Tools



- Run This Form allows you to test your form's appearance and action.
- Page allows you to select the Display This Page and Rename Page options with which you can display add-on pages (in addition to the ones displayed in the tabs beneath the ribbon named P.2 through P.6) and rename them from "Message" (or whatever name the standard tab is) and "P.x" to your choice. If your ending form contains one new page, you would activate the page to use it in the final form. When the new form is opened, it will contain only the pages you have included in the modified form. This is also where you choose whether you want to edit the compose page or the read page.
- Design group:
  - New Form Region allows you to create a form region, which provides for the inclusion of Web pages and ActiveX controls on a form. Each region is a separate page connected to a form.
  - Open Form Region, Save Region, and Close Form Region opens, saves, and closes a form region.
- Tools group:
  - **Control Toolbox** contains tools you can use to build a form, as described in "Use the Control Toolbox" later in this chapter.
  - Field Chooser opens and closes the Field Chooser dialog box.
  - Property Sheet and Advanced Properties allow you to enter detailed specifications, including the name, position, font, color, initial value, and any validation rules you want to establish for a field.
- Arrange group:
  - **Region Layout** allows you to specify that a layout will automatically resize itself when the form is resized, or you can manually resize a



layout to a fixed form size that you set. You can select a control for your region here.

- Ordering displays a menu that allows you to move a selected field toward the reader ("front") or away from the reader ("back").
- **Tab Order** allows you to specify the order in which the user will progress from one field to the next. See "Change the Tab Order" later in this chapter.
- Align opens a menu that helps you align multiple fields when they are selected together. This includes options for aligning each of the four sides and centering, as well as options to turn on and use the Snap To Grid, which is a "magnetic" property that causes fields to automatically align with the grid intersections.

10

It works best if the label and content fields are sized and aligned separately. It is also helpful to align fields that are all in a vertical column or all in a horizontal row. Finally, if you are having problems sizing and aligning three or more fields, do them two at a time, with one of the two the way you want all the fields.

Sisplay Layout Vali	ue Validation					
<u>N</u> ame:	Label2					
<u>⊂</u> aption:	Flag Status:					
Font and Color ——						
Eont	8 pt. Segoe UI					
Foreground color:	Button Text 🗸					
Background color:	Button Face					
Settings Visible Enabled Read only	Sunken					
	OK Cancel Apply					

Figure 9-5: You can align and similarly size two fields by making all but one of their coordinates the same.

- **Group** and **Ungroup** allow you to combine two or more fields and then move and place them without disturbing the layout within the group.
- **Size** allows you to make two or more selected objects the same size in width, height, or both and to fit objects within a given space or the grid.

#### **POSITION AND ALIGN TWO FIELDS**

To align two fields, first use the Properties dialog box and then the alignment tools on the Developer ribbon. The following steps serve as an example:

- Click the Developer tab, and in the Custom Forms group, click Design A Form. Double-click the existing form that will be the foundation of a new form.
- **2.** Delete any existing fields you do not need. Drag two new fields from the Field Chooser dialog box to the new form, and purposely make them unaligned and of different sizes.

Flag Status: Unflagged 👻	Categories:	:	1
	Flag Status:	Unflagged 💌	Ŀ

- 3. Click the field that will remain in its current position, and make sure its left edge is where you want it. In the Developer tab Tools group, click the **Property Sheet** icon to open the Properties dialog box, as shown in Figure 9-5.
- 4. Click the Layout tab, note the four position numbers, and close the dialog box. You could simply use those coordinates to align and size the fields, but there is an easier way. Close the Properties dialog box.

Position (in	pixels) ——		
<u>T</u> op:	104	Left:	104
<u>H</u> eight:	16	<u>W</u> idth:	68
Automatic	Layout		

- Click the field that will remain in its current position, and make sure its left edge is where you want it. It is important that the field that will stay constant be selected first.
- Hold down SHIFT while clicking the second field. Note that the first field has white selection handles, while the second field has black selection handles.

Categories: D Grand D Flag	Categories:	100000000000000000000000000000000000000	• •	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠
Unflagged	Ucategories:U	Here Here Here Here Here Here Here Here	• •	23	-				-		-	-							-
		UCategories: U	• •	- 23															
Unflagged 🗸	Unflagged 🗸		• •	23															
📕 📲 📜 Unflagged 💌	Unflagged 🔻	10000000000000000	. 1	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fidy			•	IL.	Int	fla	hα	a	er	d									•
	eriag erit bother -		10.1					2										-	-

N

ω

4

G

တ

<u></u>

00

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

### 2

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

TIP

You can use either **CTRL** or **SHIFT** to select multiple fields, but there is a difference. When you use **CTRL**, the *first* field selected is the one that will move when you align them and will have black selection handles after both fields are selected; the fixed field will have white selection handles. If you use **SHIFT** to select multiple fields, the *last* field selected is the one that will move and will have the black selection handles.

ဖ

တ



Figure 9-6: Controls and features are added to a new form from the Control toolbox.

- 7. In the Developer tab Arrange group, click the Align drop-down arrow, and click Left. In the same group, click the Size drop-down arrow, click Make Same Size, and click Both. Note that the field with the black handles was the one that moved in both instances.
- Repeat steps 5–7 with the two field labels, and then with each of the labels and their fields. The result should be four perfectly sized aligned fields, like this:

Categories:		
	. 1	
	Unflagged	

#### **USE THE DESIGN TABS**

When you use the Design A Form feature and select a form to use, you'll see that beneath the ribbon in the content area, the Form Design window has a number of new tabs, depending on the type of form. For example, the message form contains eight new tabs in addition to the single Message tab on the standard form. Of the eight new tabs, five are additional blank pages for the form. The three other tabs specify additional aspects of the form.

(P.2) (P.3) (P.4) (P.5) (P.6) (All Fields) (Properties) (Actions)

- All Fields allows you to define new fields (by clicking New at the bottom of the window) and specify the initial or default value of a field.
- Properties allows you to specify the form's categories, version, form number, icons, contact, and description.
- Actions contains the user actions that are implemented for the form, such as reply and forward.

### **Use the Control Toolbox**

The Control toolbox is used to add new fields and labels to a form. The Control toolbox is opened with the Control Toolbox button in the Developer tab Tools group, and it contains 15 tools, as shown in Figure 9-6. For example, you can use the Control toolbox to create a combo box and a label.

- Click the Developer tab, and in the Custom Forms group, click Design A Form. Double-click an existing form that will be the foundation of a new form.
- Delete any existing fields you do not need, and otherwise make room, such as moving fields, to add a new label and combo box. In the Developer tab Tools group, click **Control Toolbox**. (If the window is not maximized, you will only see the icon in the Tools group.)



- Enter values to be displayed in the drop-down list. Create a new database field separated by semicolons X Properties Display Layout Value Validation Field and Format of Control Choose Field 🔻 Region New .... Type: Text Format: Text List Type: Dropdown -Property to use: -Value Possible values: Northwest; Northeast; Southeast; Sou Initial Value Set the initial value of this field to: Northwest Edit... Calculate this formula when I compose a new f Calculate this formula automatically Enter the initial or default value OK Cancel Apply
- Figure 9-7: The Properties dialog box allows you to set the defaults and values for a field.

- **3.** Click the **Label** ("Text Label" in Figure 9-6) tool. Then, on your form, place the label by clicking to the left of where you want the combo box to be. (Be sure that the label is not placed on another field or you won't be able to type in it.)
- **4.** With the label selected, click the label again until the text box border has slanted lines and the insertion point is available. Then, if there is existing text in the label, drag across the existing text to select it, and type the label you want.
- **5.** In the Control toolbox, click the **Combo Box** tool, and drag a combo box from the right edge of the label to make a box about two inches long and a quarter of an inch wide.
- 6. Right-click in the new combo box, and click **Properties** from the context menu to open the Properties dialog box. In the Display tab, type the name you want in the Name text box.
- 7. Click the Value tab, and click the New button to create a new field in the Outlook field list. In the New Column dialog box, type the field name in the Name text box, indicate what kind of field it is in the Type field, and choose the format you want in the Format drop-down list.



Region

Northwest

Northeast

Southeast

Southwest

Display Layout Value Validation

Regions

Properties

Name:

8. Click OK to close the New Field dialog box. In

the Properties dialog box, on the Value tab, click in the **Possible Values** text box, and type the values that are to be displayed in the drop-down list, separated by semicolons.

- **9.** Click the **Set The Initial Value Of This Field To** check box, click in the text box, and type the value from the drop-down list that you want to be the default. If you have numbers in the default value, place quotation marks around the value. When you are done, your dialog box should look something like that shown in Figure 9-7.
- Click OK to close the Properties dialog box. To see how your new combo box works, in the Developer tab Form group, click Run This Form. You should see the default value in the combo box, and if you open the box, you should see the alternatives that you entered. This is what ours looked like.
- 11. Click the Close button to close the sample form that was opened and return to the Design view. With the new combo box still selected, hold down CTRL and click the field's label. In the Developer tab Arrange group, click the Group down arrow, and click Group to group the label and the combo box together.
- **12.** Click **File**, click **Save As**, locate the folder in which you want to save the form, type a name for the form, and click **Save**.



0

G

ဂ

<u></u>

00

4

N

ω



က

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

<u>T</u> ab Order	
FullName JobTitleLabel	OK
JobTitle	Cancel
CompanyLabel Company	<u>12</u>
Phone1Label Phone1Button	Move Up
Phone1	Move <u>o</u> p
FullNameButton Region	Move <u>D</u> ow
Region contents	



 $\infty$ 

တ

## 

196

Separate read and compose layouts allow you to tailor a form to a specific audience and to add features that are important to either the person filling out the form or the person reading it, but not to both.

## **Change the Tab Order**

The tab order of a form is the order in which you go from field to field as you are filling out the form by pressing **TAB**. How this works is important, because the tab order should follow, as much as possible, how users would logically move through the form if they were to click each field. With the Form Design window open:

- 1. In a new form's Developer tab Arrange group, click **Tab Order** to open the Tab Order dialog box.
- **2.** In the Tab Order dialog box, the fields in a form are listed in the order in which they will be selected as you go through the form. You can change the order by moving fields up and down the list.
- 3. Click a field you want to change, and move it by clicking Move Down or Move Up.
- **4.** Click **OK** to close the Tab Order dialog box.

## **Use Separate Compose and Read Layouts**

Outlook allows you to have a form for the person who initially fills it out be different from the form for the person who reads it. When you create a form, you can choose to have the *compose layout*—the form the way you fill it out—be different from the *read layout*—the form the way it will be read. You can initiate this feature in the Form Design window in the Developer tab Form group on the Page menu by making sure that **Separate Read Layout** is selected. When this is selected, you will have two options enabled that allow you to switch between the compose layout, and the read layout. (These are also referred to as the compose page or read page.)

The easiest way to see the difference between a compose page and a read page is by using the standard Outlook e-mail message form. The way you first see the form in Design view is as the compose page, as shown in Figure 9-8. In the Developer tab Form group, click **Page** and then click **Edit Read Page**, and you will see a number of changes, as shown in Figure 9-9.



compose layout provides special fields useful to the person creating it.



\_ 0

6

197

N

ω

4

CЛ

ဂ

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

## 

#### **CREATING AND USING A TEMPLATE**

A *template* is a blank message form with custom text in the body of the message that can be used as a standard e-mail message. For instance, you might set up a standard reply to professional inquiries you receive. A template uses the same fields as the standard form, whereas the custom forms we've been discussing change those fields.

#### **CREATE A TEMPLATE**

Templates are an easy way to send a lot of repetitive e-mail. If you are sending the same message to three or more people, you should probably create a template.

- From the Mail window, with the Inbox open, click New E-mail in the New group to open a new message window.
- Leave the To and Cc text boxes blank, type the Subject text, and type the template's message text.
- Click File, click Save As, and using the Navigation pane, navigate to and open your Templates folder (this often is C:\Users\yourname\ AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Templates).
- Accept the text from your template's subject line as the file name. Under Save As Type, click Outlook Template (\*.oft), and click Save. The new template will be saved.
- Click Close to close your message window, and click No when asked if you want to save the file (that is, if you want to save it in your Inbox, which you don't—you've already saved it as a template).

Continued . . .

Save As

 $\Theta \odot$ 

📙 « Roaming 🕨 Microsoft 🕨 Templates 🕨

File name: Order Confirmation.oft

Save as type: Outlook Template (\*.oft)

## **Publish a Form**

When you are ready for people to start using a form, you need to *publish* it. Publishing a form puts it into a different state than just saving it. When you save a form and then reopen and use it, you are using the original and only copy of the form—it can only be used once. If you publish the form and then open and use it, you are using a copy and not the original—it can be reused multiple times. Every time you use a published form, you are using a copy of the form. To publish a form that is open in the Form Design window:

1. In the new form's Developer tab Form group, click **Publish** and then click **Publish Form**.



 Click the folder you want to use (Personal Forms Library is recommended), type the name of the form in the Display Name box (it is automatically repeated in the Form Name box, but you can change it), and click **Publish**, as shown in Figure 9-10.

.ook In:	Perso	nal Forms Li	ibrary		Browse	
Display na	me:	Advertisin	g Contact			Publish

Figure 9-10: Publishing a form allows it to be used over and over.

N

တ

## 

### **CREATING AND USING A TEMPLATE**

(Continued)

#### USE A TEMPLATE

- In the Home tab New group, click the New Items down arrow in the toolbar, click More Items, and then click Choose Form. The Choose Form dialog box appears.
- In the Look In drop-down list, click User Templates In File System. The template you just created should be displayed.

Look In:	User Templates in File System 👻 👻	Browse
	s\Carole\AppData\Roaming\Microsoft\Templates\*.oft	

 Double-click your template name, and it opens as a new message window, with the subject line and body filled in according to the template. All you need to do is fill in the To information and click Send, as you can see in Figure 9-11. Of course, you can modify or add to the text.

### TIP

Any of the built-in Outlook forms you see in the Developer tab Custom Forms group can be customized by you and then saved under a new template name. Select the form you want to customize by clicking **Choose Form**.

9	U +		Order Cor	firmation - Mess	age (HTML)	- 0	×
File	Message	Insert	Options	Format Text R	eview Developer		∞ 🕜
0 🛄 2 🏂 -	Table	Picture C	Lip Shapes	🕵 Hyperlink A Bookmark	▲ Text Box ▼       ▲ Drop Cap ▼         Quick Parts ▼       Date & Time         WordArt ▼       W Object	Ω Symbols	
Include	Tables	III	ustrations	Links	Text		
	From •						
Send	То						
	Cc						
	Bcc						
S	subject:	Order C	onfirmation				
			received your here: <u>Order No</u>		shipped within 48 hours. To ve	erify	
Thank yo							-
IVICIVI ETI	terprises	<b>)</b>					
							^

Figure 9-11: Custom forms can be handy for such things as order confirmations.

- **3.** If you are asked if you want to save the form definition with the form, click **Yes**. (It's very important to save the form definition information with the message if you're going to send it to someone who doesn't have the form.)
- **4.** When you are done, close your Form Design window, clicking **Yes** when asked if you want to save your changes.

### **Use a Custom Form**

Using a custom form is easy.

- In one of the Outlook views, such as Mail window, click the New Items down arrow in the New group. On the menu, click More Items, and then click Choose Forms, and the Choose Form dialog box appears. Click the Look In down arrow, click Personal Forms Library, and you will see the display name of your custom form.
- 2. Double-click your form and it will open, ready to be filled in, as you can see in Figure 9-12.

00



က

4

LO

(0)

00

တ

You can do many things with forms when they are tied to

one or more of the Outlook views. For example, you can tie a schedule reminder message to the Calendar or tie a task list confirmation to Tasks.

# SELECTING CONTACTS

You can select contacts to use in a mail merge in four ways: manually, using Outlook's Mail Merge feature; using Outlook's filters; or using Word's Mail Merge feature. The first three are discussed here. The fourth is discussed in "Prepare a Mail Merge Document in Word" later in this chapter.

#### SELECT CONTACTS MANUALLY

To add contacts to a mail merge folder:

- In the Navigation pane, click Contacts in the Outlook views pane. The contacts will be displayed in the Folder pane.
- Right-drag contacts from your main Contacts folder to your new mail merge folder, and click Copy.
  - -Or-

Select several contacts, either by holding down CTRL while clicking the contacts you want or by holding down SHIFT while clicking the first and last members of a contiguous range of contacts. These can then be dragged to the new folder or used directly in Outlook's Mail Merge feature.

#### **USE OUTLOOK'S MAIL MERGE FEATURE**

This technique is often used when you are ready to do the mail merge in "real time." You have the contacts and the letter or document you are going to send them, and *Continued* ....



Figure 9-12: Templates can speed up the handling of a large volume of e-mail.

## Perform a Mail Merge

Performing a mail merge allows you to merge a form letter with your Outlook contacts, thereby sending each contact a unique letter addressed just to him or her. This can be done with all contacts in a folder or just a subset of them. This section discusses sending form letters to a subset of your contacts, although the steps for sending form letters to all of your contacts are much the same—and simpler.

There are three steps to performing a mail merge using the Contacts list in Outlook with a Microsoft Word document. First, within Outlook, you prepare the contacts you wish to use in the mail merge, and then you export them in a form that Word can use with its Mail Merge feature. Second, in Word, you create the document that will be used to perform the mail merge. Finally, you perform the mail merge itself in Word.

## NOTE

If your contacts are in more than one folder, you either need to perform multiple mail merges (one with each of the folders designated as the data source), or you must create one folder to combine the contacts, either by merging the folders or by creating a new folder and copying the contacts to it.

## UICKSTEPS

### SELECTING CONTACTS (Continued)

you are ready to move right into the actual merge. In this approach, you link your contacts (either in the Contacts folder or your own folder of selected contacts) to a previously prepared Word document containing the mail merge text.

- 1. In the Navigation pane, click Contacts in Outlook views so that the contacts are displayed in the Folders pane.
- 2. In the Home tab Actions group, click Mail Merge. The Mail Merge Contacts dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 9-14.
- 3. Either click All Contacts In Current View, which can be filtered (see "Use Outlook Filtering") or click Only Selected Contacts when contacts have been manually selected (see "Select Contacts Manually").
- 4. Click either New Document or Existing Document, which you can then identify.
- 5. Click Permanent File and browse to or type the file name you wish to use. This will be the file for saving the selected contacts.

Continued . .

## **Prepare Contacts**

If you are only going to perform a mail merge on some of your contacts, it is a good idea to first create a new folder to hold the contacts you wish to include in the mail merge. Then, in Word, you select that folder as your data source. To create a new folder and export it:

- **1.** In the Navigation pane, click **Contacts** in the Outlook views pane.
- 2. Right-click the Contacts folder, and choose New Folder. The Create New Folder dialog box appears.
- SX Create New Folder Name: Sales Letter Folder contains: Contact Items -Select where to place the folder: 4 🥸 Outlook Inbox Diafts [6] Sent Items Deleted Items (3) 🛄 Calendar A S= Contacts Sales Letter forums.projectseven.com laurnal OK Cancel

Figure 9-13: Creating a special folder for a mail merge allows you to easily send mail to the same people in the future.

**3.** Type the name for the new folder, and make sure that Contact Items is selected under Folder Contains and that Contacts is

at the top of the Folder List.

highlighted under Select Where To Place The Folder, as shown in Figure 9-13. My Contacts 4. Click **OK**. Your new folder appears below the Contacts folders S Contacts Sales Letter

Contacts	Fields to merge
All contacts in current view	All contact fields
O Only selected contacts	Contact fields in current view
and then choose a command.	s in the current view, on the View tab, point to Current View,
Document file	
New document	
Existing document:	Browse
Contact data file	
To save this contact data for future use o	r reference, specify a file name.
Permanent file:	Browse
Merge options	
Document type: Merge to:	
Form Letters  New Documer	ot 💌

Figure 9-14: Outlook will help you set up your contacts for a mail merge and then will open Word to access the document and do the merge.

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

00

 $\mathbf{O}$ 



#### SELECTING CONTACTS (Continued)

 Select the merge options, such as form letters, labels, or envelopes to a new document, printer, or e-mail that are correct for you, and then click OK.

Outlook will prepare your contact data, open Microsoft Word, and create a new mail merge document linked to your contact data and ready for you to type the message contents. See "Prepare a Mail Merge Document in Word."

#### **USE OUTLOOK FILTERING**

Outlook's filtering capability allows you to select the contacts you want to use in a mail merge. The filtered contacts are placed in a file within a new folder you create specifically for the mail merge.

- 1. With the Contacts list still open, click the View tab, and in the current group, click View Settings.
- Click Filter in the Advanced View Settings dialog box. In the Filter dialog box, type the criteria to select only the contacts you want, and then click OK twice. The list of filtered contacts will appear in the Contacts pane.
- Click a name in the Contacts list and press CTRL+A for Select All. Right-drag the contacts to the new folder you created, and click Copy in the context menu to keep the contacts also in the Contacts folder.
- Click your new folder in the Folder List to see the selected contacts, as shown in Figure 9-15. This folder can now be used to merge contacts into a Word document.

## **Prepare a Mail Merge Document in Word**

You can approach a mail merge from Outlook and then use Microsoft Word just to produce a document, or you can start from Word and just use Outlook to supply the contacts. Since this book is on Outlook, we will use the first approach and assume you have used Outlook's Mail Merge feature (see the "Selecting Contacts" QuickSteps) to prepare your contacts and then opened Word to create a new mail merge document. You should, therefore, have Word open on your screen to type the document and place field names where you want the Outlook contact information.

- 1. Type the body of a new letter, or paste an existing one that you will be sending to your selected contacts. Leave blank the areas that will contain the recipient's name and address.
- When the body of the letter is the way you want it, return to the top of the page. In the Mailings tab Write & Insert Fields group, click Address Block. The Insert Address Block dialog box appears.
- Review the default settings. In most cases, they work well. Click Match Fields. Make sure the field on the right matches the required information on the left. Click OK twice when ready.
- 4. Under the address block that just appeared, leave a blank line or two. Then, in the Mailings tab Write & Insert Fields group, click Greeting Line. The Insert Greeting Line dialog box appears. Select the options that are correct for you, and click OK.

Dear 🔻	Mr. Randall 💌 🧳 🗸
Greeting line for	invalid recipient names:
Dear Sir or I	Madam, 💌
Preview	
Here is a preview	w from your recipient list:
4	N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N
Dear Jenni	ifer Sebo,
Correct Probler	
	r greeting line are missing or out of order, use Match Fields to rrect address elements from your mailing list.
identify the co	
identify the co	Match Fields

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

0

တ

New Contact. New Contact. New Contact. New Construction of the second	File Home Send /	<b>↓</b> Receive Folder View	Sales Letter - Outlook - Developer	Microsoft Outlook		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Search Sales Letter (Ctrl+E)       Bog - She         Search Sales Letter (Ctrl+E)       Cavrord, Ellen         Full Name:       Mic         Full Name:       Mic         Full Name:       Mic         Boscoe, Jeremy       Full Name:         Full Name:       Job Titl:         Business:       123 st         Business:       124 st <th>New New Contact New ontact Group Items •</th> <th>Delete E-mail Meeting Mo</th> <th>re Business C Card 👳</th> <th>Move Mail OneNote ▼ Merge</th> <th>Share Contacts</th> <th>Y Follow Up - 🔛 Address Book</th>	New New Contact New ontact Group Items •	Delete E-mail Meeting Mo	re Business C Card 👳	Move Mail OneNote ▼ Merge	Share Contacts	Y Follow Up - 🔛 Address Book
Suggested Contacts       Boggs, Michael       Image: Crawford, Ellen       Full Name: Mic       Full Name: Mic       Full Name: Crawford, Ellen       Full Name: Crawford, Ellen <td< td=""><td>Contacts</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>🔹 February 2010 🕨</td></td<>	Contacts					🔹 February 2010 🕨
Mail   Mail   Carole   Full Name:   Calendar   E-mail:   Contacts   Dinson, David   Full Name:   Free   Full Name:   Contacts   Johnson, David   Full Name:   Davin   Journal   Notes     Notes     Carole     Business:   123 La   Free   Full Name:   Davin   Business:   Gam   Variation Contacts   Seat   Business:   Image: Contacts   Seat   Business:   Seat   Business:   Gam   Variation Contacts   Seat   Business:   Contacts   Seat   Business:   Seat   Business:   Contacts   Seat   Business:   Seat   Business:   Contacts   Seat   Business:   Seat		Full Name:       Mii         Home:       (55         E-mail:       mid         Boscoe, Jeremy       Full Name:         Full Name:       Jer         Business:       12:         Iss       Iss:         Business:       (55	Full Name:         Elle           Job Title:         Pres           Job Title:         Pres           Company:         Cra           Business:         Crass           PO 55         San           sc         Business:         (505           E-mail:         elle           S         Haker, Ron	Full Name: Home: E-mail: Lycendee, Gerard Full Name: Home: E-mail: Matthews, Carole	Par:           Ann         Full         ab           (367         Job         cd           ako         Cor         Bus         ef           Hor         gh         E-m         ij           ger         Seb         kl         Full           Bus         mn         ii         Seb	31       1       2       3       4       5       6         7       8       9       10       11       12       13         14       15       16       17       18       19       20         21       22       23       24       25       26       27         28       1       2       3       4       5       6         7       8       9       10       11       12       13    Today   Budget Committee Meeting
Tasks       Business:       0987 T         Journal       Issa       Business:       (555         Notes       Image: Construction of the state of the	Calendar	Full Name: Cai Business: 244 Fre	Business: 123 La Free 8 E-mail: rha Johnson, David	E-mail: MATTHEWS, Marty Full Name: Department:	cma Bus op E-m qr Mar She st FIN Full uv	Presentation to Management 2:00 PM - 2:30 PM රු
			Issa	Business: Home:	Seat Cor (555 Bus × (555 E-m y mar	Type a new task
The time the time to the time	🗀 🗷	•	III			Meeting tomorrow

Figure 9-15: Use one of several options within Outlook to select contacts for use in a mail merge.

5. In the Mailings tab Start Mail Merge group, click Edit Recipient List. Here you can make a final selection of your recipients, as shown in Figure 9-16. Use the check boxes on the left to select individuals; click a column heading to sort the list on that column; click the down arrow in a column heading to select a particular entry in the column, including "blanks" and "nonblanks"; click the data source in the lower-left area; and then click Edit to change an individual record. When you have the recipients the way you want them, click OK.

6

 $\mathbf{0}$
Data Source	Last_Name	om the merge. When you First_Name	 Title	- Con	npany 👻	Stree
C:\Users\Carole\ C:\Users\Carole\ C:\Users\Carole\	<ul> <li>✓ Johnson</li> <li>✓ Sparkle</li> <li>✓ Haker</li> </ul>	David Julie Ron		Eleg	nson Manufacturing gant Catering Igerson Realty	0987 123 L
C:\Users\Carole\	Sebo	Jennifer			o's Photograthy	6543
C:\Users\Carole\	Matthews	Carole		111111111	tthews Technology	III ISAACIACI
< ™ Data Source	Rel	ine recipient list				Þ
<	Data\Locs 🔺 🕺	↓ <u>Sort</u>	 			<u>_</u>
۲۰۰۲ (The second secon	Data\Locs 🔺 🙎	a said				Þ

Figure 9-16: Word provides a means of filtering, sorting, and selecting contacts in the Mail Merge Recipients dialog box.

> Checking and Reporting Errors Simulate the merge and report errors in a new document. Complete the merge, pausing to report each error as it occurs. Complete the merge without pausing. Report errors in a new document. OK. Cancel

6. In the Mailings tab Preview Results group, click Preview Results to display your contacts merged with the letter (if vour Word window is narrow and there is a down arrow under Preview Results, you'll need to click Preview Results a second time in the drop-down options). Use the arrows at the top of the Preview Results group to cycle through your letters. An example is shown in Figure 9-17.



7. When the document is as you want it, click Save on the Quick Access toolbar.

## **Perform a Mail Merge**

When you perform a mail merge, you can print letters, mailing labels, or envelopes, or you can send e-mail messages to Outlook contacts. Once you have the document and contacts the way you want them, run tests—first of the data and then of the merge-to see if any fields are missing in the data and if the merge is picking up the right fields. When you are satisfied with the results, print the actual letters, labels, or envelopes, or send the e-mail.

- 1. In Word's Mailings tab Preview Results group, click Auto Check For Errors to see if there are any needed fields missing. In the Checking And Reporting Errors dialog box, click Simulate The Merge And Report Errors In A New Document, and click OK. You will receive either a message of errors in the data or a message that there are no errors.
- 2. When you have fixed any errors, in the Mailings tab Finish group, click Finish & Merge, click Edit Individual Documents, accept the default selection (ALL) to merge all records, and click OK. A new document will be created containing all of the letters you want created. Use the scroll bar in the Word window to scroll down and look at the succession of letters you have created.



တ

0

6

 $\sim$ 



Figure 9-17: A well-done mail merge letter is impossible to tell from an individually typed letter.

 When you are ready to print your merged letters, click File and then click Print. You'll see a letter in the Preview pane. In the Print view, you can click the Next Page and Previous Page arrows at the bottom of the Preview pane. When you're ready, click Print. -Or-

In place of creating the individual merged documents in step 2, in the Mailings tab Finish group, click **Finish & Merge** and then click **Print Documents**, or click **Send E-mail** Messages.

 If you wish, save your new merged document, and once more save the original mail merge document.

Microsoft Office Outlook 2010 QuickSteps Using Forms, Labels, and Mail Merge

N

ω

4

G

ဂ

<u></u>

00

0

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

N

က

4

S

6

 $\sim$ 

## **Print Labels**

Printing labels is done the same way as the mail merge. First, you prepare your data file in Outlook (which you've already done while preparing for the mail merge). Then switch to Word, create a blank document, and perform a mail merge.

- If you haven't already prepared a contacts file for the mail merge, follow the steps described in "Prepare Contacts" and in the "Selecting Contacts" QuickSteps earlier in this chapter to get a data file for the names and addresses.
- 2. In Word, open a new, blank document. Then, in the Mailings tab Start Mail Merge group, click the **Start Mail Merge** down arrow, and click **Labels**. The Label Options dialog box appears.

Label Options	8 ×
Printer information	
Label vendors: Avery US Letter	
Find updates on Office Online Product number:	Label information
5146 Print or Write Name Badge Labels 5147 Print or Write Name Badge Labels 5155 Easy Peel Return Address Labels 5159 Mailing Labels 5160 Easy Peel Address Labels 5160 Easy Peel Address Labels	Type:     Easy Peel Address Labels       Height:     1"       Width:     4"       Page size:     8.5" X 11"
S161 Easy Peel Address Labels       Details       New Label       Delete	OK Cancel

- Select the label vendor and product number you want to use (Avery 5160 or its equivalent is a common 30-per-sheet address label), and click OK. The label outlines will appear as divisions in the rulers and, if paragraph marks are displayed, on the Word document page.
- 4. In the Mailings tab Start Mail Merge group, click Select Recipients and click Select From Outlook Contacts. Double-click the Contacts folder you want to use, make any needed selections or changes in the Mail Merge Recipients dialog box (shown earlier in Figure 9-16), and click OK. Your Word page will be filled with label fields, mostly <<Next Record>>.
- Click in the upper-left corner label (the first label on the sheet—the insertion point may already be there). Then, in the Mailings tab Write & Insert Fields group, click

Address Block. Make any needed changes to the address block, check for any unmatched fields, and click **OK**.

- 6. In the Mailings tab Write & Insert Fields group, click the **Update Labels** icon
- In the Mailings tab Preview Results group, click Preview Results (if your Word window is narrow and there is a down arrow under Preview Results, you'll need to click Preview Results a second time in the drop-down options), and you will see the labels populated with your contact list, as you can see in Figure 9-18.

Home	Insert Page	Layout Refere	nces Mailings	Review Vie	w Devel	oper Des	ign Layou	t	2	0
	t Mail Select rge * Recipients * Start Mail Me	Recipient List Me	ighlight rge Fields 🔐 Insert Write & Ins	ing Line 🔹		Find Rec	eck for Errors	Finish & Merge * Finish	Merge to Adobe PD Acrobat	F
Marty Matth Matthews T 6497 Lende Seattle, WA	echnology n	E	Michael Boggs Boggs Sign Shop 500 First Street Raton, NM 87555		N 64	arole Matth latthews Te 197 Lenden 2attle, WA 9	chnology			
Jennifer Sek Sebo's Flow 6543 22nd Everett, WA	ers	۲ 1	Ron Haker Tradestone Builda .23 Land Ave Freeland, WA 985!		El 85	Julie Sparkle Elegant Catering 8548 Stone Way White Flag, Wa 97250				
David Johns Johnson Ma 0987 Torran Issaquah, W	nufacturing ce	E 1	erem y Boscoe Boscoe Press .23 some Street ssaquah, WA		SI 95	usan Sheridi heridan Net 500 Rainier, eattle, WA 9	work Ave			
Dan Parsons Home Build PO Box 4567 Tostol, CA 8	ing, Inc. 7	C F	Illen Crawford Crawford Mfg Crawford Manufa O 5555	A 80	Ann Korbel Able Printing 80234 NE 121 <sup>st</sup> Street Kirkland, WA 98555				* ± 0 *	

*Figure 9-18:* Word has a series of Mail Merge pages that can lead you through all types of mail merges, including letters, labels, and envelopes.

N

ω

4

S

ဂ

 $\overline{}$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 

6

S

4

S

ယ

 $\sim$ 

00

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

Envelope Options	Printing Options	
Envelope <u>s</u> ize:		_
Size 10	(4 1/8 × 9 1/2 in)	
Delivery address —		
Eont	From left:	Auto
	From <u>t</u> op:	Auto
Return address		
Font	Fro <u>m</u> left:	Auto
Ponc		
	From top:	Auto
Preview		

Scroll through the preview document. After making sure your blank labels are correctly loaded in your printer, in the Mailings tab Finish group, click Finish & Merge and then click Print Documents. If you want to save your merged labels document for later use, click Save in the Quick Access toolbar, enter a name, select a folder, and click Save.

## **Print Envelopes**

You may want to print names and addresses directly onto envelopes. As with the mail merge and printing labels, printing envelopes first requires that you create a contacts data file. This is described earlier in "Prepare Contacts" and in the "Selecting Contacts" QuickSteps. After that, you can create a mail merge envelope document in Word.

- In Word, open a new, blank document. In the Mailings tab Start Mail Merge group, click the Start Mail Merge down arrow, and click Envelopes. The Envelope Options dialog box will appear.
- Make any needed changes, and click OK. An envelope-shaped document will be displayed.
- 3. In the Mailings tab Start Mail Merge group, click Select Recipients and click Select From Outlook Contacts. Double-click the Contacts folder you want to use, make any needed selections or changes in the Mail Merge Recipients dialog box (shown earlier in Figure 9-16), and click OK.
- 4. With the insertion point in the addressee area in the middle of the envelope, click Address Block in the Mailings tab Write & Insert Fields group. Make any needed changes to the address block, check for any unmatched fields, and click OK.
- **5.** Click in the upper-left corner of the envelope displayed in Word, and type the return address if the envelopes aren't preprinted.
- In the Mailings tab Preview Results group, click Preview Results (if your Word window is narrow and there is a down arrow under Preview Results, you'll need to click Preview Results a second time in the drop-down options), and you will see your first address appear on the envelope, as shown in Figure 9-19.



Figure 9-19: Generating mail merge envelopes is almost the same as creating labels.

7. After making sure your envelopes are loaded correctly in your printer, in the Mailings tab Finish group, click Finish & Merge and then click Print Documents. If you want to save the merged envelope document for later use, click Save in the Quick Access toolbar, type a name, select a folder, and click Save.

 $\overline{}$ 

 $\mathbf{0}$ 



## How to...

- Set Up Instant Messaging
- Respond to an Instant Message
   and Chat
- Locate and Subscribe to RSS Feeds
- Read and Work with
   RSS Articles
- 🖏 Organizing RSS Articles
- Transfer RSS Feeds
- Cancel an RSS Feed
- Use the Office Clipboard
- Using Microsoft Word Features
- Create Electronic Business
   Cards

# pter 10 Using Outlook in Other Ways

Being a part of Microsoft Office and the Microsoft family brings a number of features and capabilities to Outlook that extend what it can do and how it functions. In this chapter you'll see some of those features and capabilities, including using Outlook with instant messaging and with a potpourri of extensions. These supplementary applications, such as Office Clipboard and business cards, help integrate Outlook with fellow members of the Office suite or, in the case of using Outlook as a Web browser, with the Windows product line.

## **Use Instant Messaging with Outlook**

If you're addicted to instant messaging, you'll be glad to know that Outlook can launch you right into a conversation. If you've never used instant messaging, now's the time to try it, because Outlook 2010 has instant messaging built into it.

211

ഗ

N

ω

G

ത

 $\sim$ 



00

ດ

Instant messaging and IM are general terms for real-time communication over the Internet that may include using audio, video, telephones, and text messaging, as well as the typing of text. In the Microsoft family of products, IM is accomplished with Windows Live Messenger, which can be downloaded from most Windows Vista or Windows 7 editions.



Figure 10-1: Other persons using the same computer can use their Passport accounts to sign on to instant messaging.

212

You just might get hooked on this quick and easy tool for making plans, solving problems, or catching up. You can do it with one person or with several at a time. If you have a Microsoft Passport or MSN Hotmail account, you're ready to go. If not, get one and come back when you're ready.

## **Set Up Instant Messaging**

Get some IM-savvy friends to send you the e-mail addresses they use for in IM. If an address is different from the person's regular e-mail address, enter it the IM Address field in your Contacts list. Send yours to your friends, too, of course. Once you have done that, you can proceed to enter the world of IM-ing.

### FIND WINDOWS LIVE MESSENGER

Windows Vista and Windows 7 install Windows Live Messenger by default. In this case, it automatically will be displayed when you turn on your computer. In this book we assume Windows Live Messenger is already on your computer. However, if it doesn't appear when you first turn on your computer, you can easily find and activate it.

- If you have previously installed Windows Live Messenger and it didn't automatically start when you started Windows, click Start, click All Programs, scroll down and click Windows Live, and click Windows Live Messenger. The Windows Live Messenger window will open, as shown in Figure 10-1.
- 2. Assuming you have already signed up for a Windows Live or Hotmail ID, enter your e-mail address (ID) and password.
- **3.** Indicate whether you want your computer to remember your ID and password and whether you should be signed in automatically to this account.
- 4. Click Sign In to complete the action.
- 5. A Welcome To Windows Live Messenger message appears, informing you about connecting with others, as seen in Figure 10-2. Click **Do It Now** on the Thanks For Choosing Windows Live Messenger window, or click **Add A Contact** from the Welcome To Windows Live Messenger dialog box beneath to immediately add contacts from Facebook, MySpace, or your e-mail Address Book; or click **Close** to do it later.

\_

N

က





If you want to create a new ID but seem stuck with the one you have set up sometime in the distant past, click the ID field down arrow, and select **Sign Out From Here**. Then in the Sign In window, click **Sign In With A Different Windows Live ID**. Then type your desired e-mail address and password to add a new IM identity. Figure 10-2: Windows Live Messenger offers access to Web sites such as Facebook and MySpace, video, audio, games, telephone service, and text messaging.

### **ACTIVATE INSTANT MESSAGING IN OUTLOOK**

You can also access instant messaging from within Outlook without affecting your ability to do so from Windows Live Messenger. Using IM from Outlook allows you to easily access Outlook's features at the same time. Start by activating IM in Outlook.

**1.** Click **File**, click **Options**, and click **Contacts**.

00

ယ



A Smart Tag is a small button that appears in Microsoft Office products to allow you to perform some function related to a piece of information next to the button. In this case, when you point to a person's name in an e-mail field, a green Windows Messaging button will appear if that person has been entered as an IM contact and is available. The button will be red if the contact is busy; it will be clear (or it may look yellow) if the contact is away. Clicking the button opens a menu of various options, including replying with an instant message.

Marty Matthews

Enter the perso	on's information
	ing address, mobile device number, or both. When you add they also become part of your network on Windows Live.
Instant m <u>e</u> ssaging addr	ess:
someone@e-mail addr	ess
Example: example@live.	com or example@yahoo.com
Markilla da da ante a construcción de la construcci	(for sending IMs as text messages):
	(or schang has as text messages).
United States (1)	(ioi senaing twis as text messages).
	(in sending lives as text messages).
United States (1)	(in sending lives as text messages).
United States (1)	
United States (1)	
United States (1)	

Figure 10-3: Your IM contacts have to be added manually, since there is not a way to transfer them from Outlook.

2. Under Online Status And Photographs, click the **Display Online Status Next To Name** check box, if it is not already selected, and click **OK**.

Online s	tatus and photographs
25	<ul> <li>Display online status next to name</li> <li>Show user photographs when available (requires restarting Outlook)</li> </ul>

This allows you to see who is online at the moment through a Smart Tag (a colored square) next to an e-mail sender's name in the Reading pane. This tells you that you can then use the Outlook messaging feature to send a message.

### **CREATE A NEW IM CONTACT**

 Click Add A Contact on the right of the text box in the Windows Live Messenger window. Click Add A Contact from the menu. The Enter The Person's Information dialog box appears, as you can see in Figure 10-3.



- Type the contact's instant messaging address (usually the same as his or her e-mail address, but not always), a mobile phone number for text messaging, and a category. Click Next.
- In the next dialog box, you can type your message or invitation to your contact (this is optional) and ask them to add you to their Windows Live Messenger Contacts list.
- 4. Click Send Invitation.

### **RESPOND TO AN OUTLOOK INVITATION**

You may receive an invitation via e-mail to communicate by IM. Adding a new contact is easy.

- **1.** Click the e-mail invitation in the Message pane to select it.
- 2. In the Home tab Respond group, click the IM down arrow, and click Reply With IM.



 $\mathbf{c}$ 

ດ

214



Whether or not you send a personal invitation, the contact will get a notice asking if they want to allow you to see when they are online and to contact them. The e-mail message simply adds another request in case their IM program is not turned on.

# 

As you create IM contacts, they will be automatically notified that you have done so and will see an option to add you to their list of contacts.



**3.** In the IM dialog box, click **Add To Contact List**. The contact will be automatically added to your IM list of contacts.



## **Respond to an Instant Message and Chat**

You can respond to an e-mail with an instant message, if the person is online. Once they get your message, the two of you can carry on a real-time chat. See if the person is online by pointing to his or her name in any of these locations:

- New message window
- Reading pane return address
- Opened message



Figure 10-4: You can initiate a real-time conversation with another person online.

 Point to a Smart Tag for someone who is online, and a menu opens.



- Click Send An Instant Message To. An IM window will open.
- 3. Start typing a greeting or message in the lower pane. When you press ENTER, it will be sent. You can see it in the upper pane along with any replies that come back from your contact, as seen in Figure 10-4. You can tell that someone is responding to you by the icon above the text box.
- **4.** You can change fonts for your text, add emoticons, and more by clicking the icons at the bottom of the window.
- 5. When you're finished, click Close.

N

ŝ

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

ယ

N

က

4

S

ယ

You can decide how your name appears to other people you may not want your real e-mail address showing in your IM window. In the Windows Live Messenger window, click the down arrow to the right of your ID, click **Options**, and in the Options dialog box, enter your choice for a name in the top text box. Click **OK** to close.

### **MAKE IT A PARTY**

Several people can talk at a time when you are using IM, provided that you have already set them up as IM contacts. Get a conversation going with one other person, and then:

 Click Invite in the toolbar to add another person to the conversation (if you haven't set up another person as an IM contact, the Invite menu option will not appear on the toolbar). The dialog box lets you see which of your IM contacts are currently online.



- 2. Select the person and click OK.
- 3. Continue conversing as before.

### STATE YOUR AVAILABILITY

Click the down arrow to the left of your display name, and select a status.



## **Implement RSS Feeds**

*RSS*, or *Really Simple Syndication*, allows you to receive and store in one place information from a number of sources on an on-going basis. The information can be from any source on the Web that has implemented RSS and to which you have subscribed, often for free, but sometimes at a cost. Normally, the information is from sites that frequently update their content, such as news organizations like CNN, MSN, and CNET, or active blogs (personal Web logs

## **TIP**

TIP

By default, Windows Live Messenger does not display its menus. You can display them temporarily or permanently by clicking the **Show Menu** icon on the far right of the Contact Search text box. The menu will be displayed. Select the **Show The Menu Bar** check box. The menu bar will appear at the top of the Windows Live Messenger window.

Contacts Actions Tools Holp		File	•
Tools		Contacts	•
		Actions	•
Halp		Tools	•
and share w	and chare w	Help	•



With RSS feeds, the RSS publisher has no way of contacting you, since you do not have to give them your name, e-mail address, or other information, unless you pay for the service.

## TIP

You can share RSS feeds and content with others by sending or receiving the RSS Internet address, or URL, in an e-mail message and by exporting and transferring RSS content using .opml files. or online journals) from both individuals and companies. The information frequently consists of short summary text headings in the form of a link that you can click to download and read the full article; but increasingly, the RSS feed includes larger blocks of text, pictures, and even multimedia content, which are called *podcasts*.

The primary reason for RSS feeds is that they allow you to collect information from a number of sources without having to visit many different sites. You subscribe to the feed, and it is automatically downloaded for you by the program handling the RSS feed. You might do this because of a particular interest you have, or a desire to stay informed, or because it supports your work.

You can receive RSS feeds from many sources using a number of different programs, including Internet Explorer, the Windows Sidebar in Windows Vista, and the Windows Gadgets in Windows 7. Outlook allows you to subscribe, receive, read, organize, store, and delete RSS content. The process is similar to how e-mail is handled.

- Locate and subscribe to an RSS feed.
- Outlook creates a folder for that feed under the RSS Feeds folder in the Navigation pane.
- Outlook periodically goes out to the RSS publisher's server and downloads any new or updated articles.
- On your own schedule, you can open the folder, read the new content, move it to new folders, or delete it. You can also forward it to someone else and flag it.

## Locate and Subscribe to RSS Feeds

You can locate RSS feeds by having the Internet address, or URL, sent to you in an e-mail message, see it in an article or publication, or find an RSS link in a Web site. Also, you can do searches on Google or MSN, or look at lists of RSS feeds by clicking the **RSS Feeds** folder in Outlook or at www.search4rss.com and www.syndic8.com. On Web pages, RSS feeds usually are identified with an icon.



N

ω

4

G

တ

**S** 

General	
Eeed Name:	MSN Money Latest Articles
Channel Name:	MSN Money Latest Articles
Location:	http://articles.moneycentral.msn.com/Feeds/RSS/latestrss.aspx
Description:	Investing & Personal Finance Articles by MSN Experts
Delivery Locati	on
Items from this	RSS Feed will be delivered to the following location:
Change Folde	Outlook\R55 Feeds\M5N Money Latest Articles (C:\Users\Carole\Documents\Outlook Files\Outlook.pst)
Downloads	
🔄 Automaticall	/ download enclosures for this RSS Feed
🔄 Download th	e full article as an .html attachment
Update Limit —	
	isher update recommendation. Send/Receive groups do not update more frequent ommended limit to prevent your RSS Feed from being suspended by the content
	vider limit: Not published.

Figure 10-5: When you add an RSS feed to Outlook, you can determine how you want feeds handled.

TIP To view your RSS feeds in Internet Explorer, click Favorites (the star icon) on the far left of the tab bar.

Three tabs are displayed below it. Click the middle one, **Feeds**. You can then click the feed you want to view.

Favorites	Feeds	History	
📕 Feeds	for Uni	ted Kingd	lom
🔊 NI	IS Choi	ces - Behi	nd the Headlines
鷆 Micro	soft Fee	eds	

### SUBSCRIBE TO AN RSS FEED FROM A WEB SITE

Internet Explorer 8 and Outlook 2010 work together to capture and use RSS feeds. The feeds can be added in either program and, once captured, can be accessed in either program.

- In Internet Explorer, open the Web site in which you want to capture an RSS feed.
- 2. When you see an RSS feed icon S or SS, click the icon. A page displaying examples of what that RSS feed offers will be displayed and possibly offer a menu of subscription options. One option that works particularly well with Outlook is NewsGator Outlook Edition.
- 3. Click Subscribe or follow whatever directions are given for access to the RSS feed. The RSS feed will appear in an RSS folder. If you don't see an option to easily transfer your feed into Outlook, copy the URL of the page and paste it into the Outlook RSS folder, as described in "Use an RSS Feed in an E-mail."
- If you copy and paste the URL, a dialog box will ask if you want to add this to Outlook. Before you continue, click Advanced to set certain options, as shown in Figure 10-5.



- 5. Consider changing the folder to automatically downloading enclosures, downloading the full article, and using the publisher's recommended update frequency; and make the needed changes. Under most circumstances, the default settings shown in Figure 10-5 are recommended.
- When you are ready, click OK and click Yes. You'll see the new RSS feed folder added to your RSS Feeds folder.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

6

00

ດ

### **USE AN RSS LINK IN AN E-MAIL**



If someone sends you a link with the URL for an RSS feed, such as the one in Figure 10-6, you can add it to Outlook's RSS folders.

- 1. In Outlook, with the Inbox open, click the message with the RSS link, drag across the link to select it, and press CTRL+C to copy the link to the Clipboard.
- 2. In the Navigation pane, right click the RSS Feeds folder, and click Add An RSS Feed. The New RSS Feed dialog box appears.



Figure 10-6: You can get an RSS feed in an e-mail from a friend.

N

21<u>9</u>



## 

In case you want to check the settings for current RSS feeds or to change or remove them, you can also display the RSS Feed Options dialog box by double-clicking an RSS entry in the Account Settings dialog box. To do this, click **File**, in the Info option, click **Account Settings**, and click **Account Settings** on the menu. The RSS Feed Options dialog box appears. Click the **RSS Feeds** tab, and double-click the specific RSS feed you want to change.

## CAUTION

RSS feeds can potentially download a lot of information that can both clog your Internet connection and take up a lot of room on your hard disk. Start out by downloading as little as possible and look at the impact caused before choosing to download attachments or full articles.

- **3.** Click in the text box, press **CTRL+V** to paste the link into the dialog box, and click **Add**. A dialog box appears confirming that you want to add the feed to Outlook.
- 4. Click Yes to add it, or click Advanced to set some conditions described in the previous section. If you click Advanced, you'll see the RSS Feed Options dialog box, as shown in Figure 10-5. When you click Yes, the new RSS feed folder is added to your RSS Feeds folder.

## **Read and Work with RSS Articles**

Reading and working with RSS articles is exactly like reading and working with e-mail messages.

### **SELECT AND VIEW RSS ARTICLES**

- 1. In Outlook, click Mail from the Outlook View.
- In the Navigation pane under Personal Folders or your top-level primary folder, scroll down until you see RSS Feeds. Then click the white triangle opposite RSS Feeds to open the folder.
- **3.** Click the RSS feed folder you want to view, and it will open and display its articles in the Folder pane.
- 4. Click the article that you want to read.
- 5. If the Reading pane isn't already open, click the View menu, click Reading Pane, and click Right, unless you want it on the bottom. The RSS article will appear in the Reading pane for you to read, as shown in Figure 10-7.

### **OPEN THE RSS WINDOW**

You can open a window containing special tools that you can use to download content, share the feed with others, categorize it, or flag it with a follow-up flag. Figure 10-8 shows an example of the ribbon tools you'll find.

- **1.** Double-click the RSS article in the Folder pane to open the article in its own window (see Figure 10-8).
- **2.** In the RSS Article tab Forward/RSS/Tags groups, click one of these options:
  - Forward the article to someone else you know would be interested in it using e-mail.
  - **Download Content** to download attachments and the full article.
  - Share This Feed to e-mail the RSS feed to someone else.

N

က

4

S

6



Figure 10-7: RSS feed articles look, behave, and are treated just like e-mail messages.

- View Article to view the article in a browser.
- Mark Unread to keep the article bold so you won't forget about it.
- **Categorize** to assign a color code to it so you can organize it better (see the "Organizing RSS Articles" QuickSteps).
- Follow-Up to assign a flag or send yourself a reminder (see "Flag and Forward RSS Articles").

00

6

X Delete	Forward	liangle Move to: ? I Manager I Team E-mail		e P P P P P P P P P P P P P	Download	Share View Fhis Feed Article	Mark Unread	Categorize Foll		Zoo
Delete	Respond	Quick Steps	15	Move		RSS	Officad	Tags	Find	Zoo
Feed: Posted Author: Subject	On: Tue 2/ Barron	Money Latest Articles 9/2010 1:00 PM 's hips to buy for the loi	ng run							
Posted Author: Subject	On: Tue 2/: Barron Blue d ominent k	9/2010 1:00 PM s	ly notable b	ear disagree	on the mark	(et's future, b	ut both :	see big poten	itial in giants liki	e Mei
Posted Author: Subject	On: Tue 2/: Barron Blue d ominent k	9/2010 1:00 PM 's hips to buy for the loo bull and an equal	ly notable b	ear disagree	on the mark	ket's future, b	ut both :	see big poten	itial in giants liki	e Me

Figure 10-8: The RSS article window has a number of tools you can use to work with RSS articles.

### FLAG AND FORWARD RSS ARTICLES

You can either flag the RSS article for further handling or immediately forward it on to someone else.

To forward or flag the RSS article:

- Click the RSS article in the Folder pane that you want to forward. In the Home tab Respond group, click Forward. An e-mail message window will open. Address the message and click Send.
- Click the RSS article in the Folder pane. In the Home tab Tags group, click Follow Up and click a flag signifying when you want to return to the RSS item. You may also click Add Reminder to set a date on which you want to be reminded.

### **DELETE RSS ARTICLES**

- 1. Click the RSS article in the Folder pane that you want to delete.
- 2. Click **Delete** on the Home tab Delete group.

-Or-

Press DELETE.

 $\sim$ 

က

4

S

ဖ

00

σ

0



## 

## **ORGANIZING RSS ARTICLES**

By default, RSS articles are placed in the originating feed folder. That may work for some RSS feeds, but for others, you may want to separate the articles into categories or some other segregation. This is especially true for general news feeds, where it is almost required that you provide some organization for the articles you keep. Do this by first adding folders, and then by moving the articles to the folders.

### **CREATE ADDITIONAL FOLDERS**

Set up the folder structure you need to organize a particular RSS feed.

- Right-click the folder for the feed, and click New Folder. The Create New Folder dialog box appears.
- Type the name of the new folder, click the parent folder that will contain the new folder (as shown in Figure 10-9), and click OK.
- **3.** Repeat steps 1 and 2 as needed to create the folder structure you want.

### **MOVE ARTICLES TO FOLDERS**

Once you have the folder structure in place, you then have to get the articles into the folders.

- To display and identify the articles that you want to move into another folder, click the folder containing the RSS feeds. The Folder pane displays the potential articles to be moved.
- 2. Drag an article from the Folder pane to the desired folder in the Folder List in the Navigation pane.
- **3.** Repeat step 2 as needed to move the articles you want segregated.

Name:
Health Care Issues
Folder contains:
Mail and Post Items
Select where to place the folder:
🔯 Junk E-mail
🗀 Microsoft Communities
🚞 News Feed
Notes 🗉
Outbox [2]
RSS Feeds
CNN Political Ticker (35)
MSN Money Latest Articles (8)
Norade folders
OK Cancel

Figure 10-9: By setting up a folder structure and separating out your RSS feed articles, you'll be better able to find what you want in the future.

## **Transfer RSS Feeds**

As you build up a collection of RSS feeds, you may want to share those feeds with others. You can do that for a single feed or for a group of feeds.

### SEND AN RSS FEED

To send an RSS feed to another person:

1. Right-click an article from the RSS feed you want to send, and click **Share This Feed**. An e-mail message will open with the RSS feed attached.

-Or-

Double-click an article from the RSS feed you want to send to open the article in its own window. In the RSS Article tab RSS group, click **Share This Feed**.



တ

<u></u>

00

0

	• • ق (•	>  ∓	MSN Money Late	st Articles - RSS Feed	d - Share		
File	Share	Insert Options	Format Text Review	Developer			۵ 🕜
1	🛃 Macros 🔻						
	<u> M</u> acro Secu	and the second sec	Design Design Publish This Form a Form 🔻				
Dasic	Code	Add-Ins Add-Ins	Form				
	From *	On Gmail					
Send	То	Gerard Lycendee (ge	eraldlycendee@qamail.com)				
Senu	Cc						
	Bcc						
	Subject:	MSN Money Latest Art	ticles - RSS Feed				
		MSN Money Latest A	rticles				
		RSS Feed http://articles.moneyc	entral.msn.com/Feeds/RSS/la	testrss.aspx			
		Investing & Personal F	Finance Articles by MSN Expe	rts			
Hi Ge	rrv.						ne
l thou	ight you mig		ome of the articles you c	an find in this RSS	Sfeed. Several good artic	cles on investing, and sor	ne 📋
on tra Carol	iding as well	l.					
Carui	=						-
R	Gerard Lycen	dee					2 .

#### Figure 10-10: An RSS feed in an e-mail is just a specialized attachment.

**2.** Address the e-mail message, add any comments you want (as shown in Figure 10-10), and click **Send**.

 Upon receiving an RSS feed in an e-mail, the recipient opens the message and clicks Add This RSS Feed on the left of the Share tab to have the RSS feed added to the list of feeds in Outlook.

### SEND SEVERAL RSS FEEDS

If you want to send several RSS feeds in a single transaction, the best approach is to export feeds to an .opml file, e-mail that file or copy it to a shared folder or removable media (CD, DVD, or flash memory stick), and then have the recipient import the file to his or her Outlook program.

1. In Outlook, click the File tab, click **Open**, and click **Import**. The Import And Export Wizard starts.

 $\infty$ 

σ

N

က

4

S

6

224

You can import and export RSS feeds as .opml files. Exporting your RSS feeds to an .opml file is an efficient way to back up your RSS feeds, should you want to save them for future reference. Refer to Chapter 8 for information on exporting and importing files.



- Click Export RSS Feeds To An OPML File, and click Next. A list of your RSS feeds appears. By default, all your RSS feeds are selected to be exported.
   Click the feeds you do not want to export to deselect them, and click Next.
- 4. Click **Browse** and locate the folder to store the file in. Type the file name for the exported file, click **Save**, and then click **Next**.
- 5. To move the exported file to a shared folder or removable drive, open Windows Explorer, locate the folder where the file is stored (by default, this is the Documents or My Documents folder), and drag the file to the folder or drive.
- 6. To send the file as an attachment in an e-mail message, in Outlook, with Mail selected, click New; type an address, subject, and message; drag the file to the message; and click Send.

## **Cancel an RSS Feed**

<b>tS5 Feeds</b> You can add or remove an	RSS Feed. You car	a select an RSS Feed	and change its settings	5.
ail Data Files RSS Feeds	SharePoint Lists	Internet Calendars	Published Calendars	Address Books
<u>N</u> ew 🚰 Ch <u>a</u> nge 🕽	K Remove			
eed Name	-0	L	ast Updated On	
NN Political Ticker		2	/10/2010 1:25 AM	
		9 - NA - 1999		
hange Fulger	SS Feeds\CNN Po	-	pst)	
hange Folder Outlook\R	<b>55 Feeds\CNN Po</b> arole\Documents\C ed once during eac	D <b>litical Ticker</b> Dutlook Files\Outlook.		S Feed from possibly

If you are not getting what you want from an RSS feed and want to discontinue receiving its articles, you can either cancel the feed and keep the articles, or cancel the feed and delete the articles.

### CANCEL A FEED AND KEEP ARTICLES

- In Outlook Mail, click the File tab Info view, click Account Settings, and click Account Settings again. The Account Settings dialog box appears.
- 2. Click the RSS Feeds tab.
- Click the name of the feed you want to remove, click Remove, and click Yes when asked to confirm the removal. The folder for the feed and the articles will remain in Outlook, but no more articles will be downloaded.
- Repeat step 2 to remove several feeds, or use SHIFT or CTRL to select several feeds, and then click Remove. Click Close to close the Account Settings dialog box.

### DELETE RSS ARTICLES OR THE RSS FOLDER

You can delete just the RSS articles in the RSS Feeds folder, or you can delete the whole folder. When you delete just N

ω

4

G

တ

 $\sim$ 

00

6

225

A 🛐 RSS Feeds 4 0 Open in New Window New Folder... A = D 🧔 Sei 📷 Rename Folder 🗅 🚞 Sto P Copy Folder 4 🛅 Wł 🛅 🖥 <u>M</u>ove Folder Delete Folder D 🛄 🖬 Mark All as Read

the articles, you can keep them up to date by downloading the current issues. When you delete both the articles and the folder, you cannot download current issues any longer.

- To delete just the RSS articles, right-click the RSS folder containing the articles you want to delete. On the context menu, click **Delete All**. When asked to confirm the action, click **Yes**. This will delete the articles but retain the folder. To bring in new articles, click **Download Content** in the Home tab RSS group.
- To delete the RSS folder and all of the articles, right-click the RSS folder, and click Delete Folder. When you are asked to confirm, click Yes. This will delete the folder and all the articles. You will have to subscribe again to this RSS feed to be able to download articles from it again.

## **Use Other Extensions of Outlook**

Looking across the Office and Microsoft family of products, you can see that many add features to Outlook. Among those discussed here are the Office Clipboard, using Word as an e-mail editor, and using handwriting in Outlook.

## **Use the Office Clipboard**

The Microsoft Office Clipboard connects all the programs in the Office suite, letting you copy items from various programs and paste them into others. That means you can lift a paragraph and a picture out of Word, a slide out of a PowerPoint presentation, or a graph from Excel. Then you can select from the Clipboard the items that best serve your needs and paste them into an Outlook message.

- 1. Start a Microsoft Office 2010 program other than Outlook, and either create or open a document with that program, such as:
  - An Excel workbook
  - A Word document
  - A PowerPoint presentation or slide
  - An Access database
  - A Publisher publication

N

က

4

S

ယ

00

ດ



- 2. In the program, select the items or text you want to copy, and in the Home tab Clipboard group, click **Copy** or press **CTRL+C**.
- **3.** In the Home tab Clipboard group, click the **Clipboard Dialog Box Launcher**. You'll see the item you copied. An example is shown in Figure 10-11.



Figure 10-11: The Clipboard displays copied items in thumbnail size, with their source program identified.

227

N

က

4



- Start or display Outlook, and in the Outlook Mail view New group, click New E-mail to create a new message.
- Click in the message body, and in the Message tab Clipboard group, click the Dialog Box Launcher. The Clipboard task pane opens next to the message.
- **6.** Click the desired item on the Clipboard. This "pastes" the item into the message where the cursor was located, as shown in Figure 10-12.



Figure 10-12: You can use the Clipboard task pane to paste several items at the same time, but you can also copy or cut and paste a single item between Office (and many other) programs by simply using CTRL+C, CTRL+X, and CTRL+V, respectively.

- Ŋ
- ဖ
- 2

 $\infty$ 

ရ

### USING MICROSOFT WORD FEATURES

Outlook 2010 uses Microsoft Office Word 2010 to create and edit e-mail messages. This gives you access to many special features in Word. See Chapter 3 for information on basic e-mail editing. Several of the more useful features in Word that you can use are AutoCorrect, AutoFormat, and the Table menu.

#### **USE AUTOCORRECT**

AutoCorrect, which automatically corrects many common typing and spelling errors, is turned on from the Outlook window.

- Click the File tab, click Options, and click Mail. In the Mail view in the Compose Messages section, click Editor Options. The Editor Options dialog box appears.
- Click the Proofing tab, and then click AutoCorrect Options. The AutoCorrect In Email dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 10-13.

#### AutoCorrect Options...

- 3. Click Show AutoCorrect Options Buttons, if it isn't already selected and if you want to be able to right-click a potentially misspelled word or grammatical error, see potential corrections, and select other options.
- Set the other options for correction conventions as you see fit.
- If it isn't already selected and you want to use it, click Replace Text As You Type to use that feature.

Continued . . .



### **CLEAR ITEMS FROM THE CLIPBOARD**

Although the Clipboard holds up to 24 items, you might want to discard some items as you go.	N
<ul> <li>Right-click an item on the Clipboard that you want to remove, and click Delete.</li> </ul>	
–Or–	ယ
Click the item, click the down arrow on the item, and click Delete.	00
• When c Baste reader to	4

from a bu X Delete

• To remove all items from the Clipboard, click Clear All.

AutoFormat		Actions	
AutoCorrect	Math AutoCorrect	AutoFormat As You Type	
🔽 S <u>h</u> ow Auto	Correct Options buttons		
Correct TW	o INitial CApitals	Exceptions	
🗸 Capitalize f	irst letter of sentences		
······································	irst letter of table <u>c</u> ells		
🔽 Capitalize <u>r</u>	1770		
	idental usage of cAPS LOCK key		
Replace:	xt as you type <u>W</u> ith:	atted text	
dont	don't		
dosn't	doesn't		
driveing	driving		
drnik	drink		
	éclair		
eclair efel	feel		

Figure 10-13: AutoCorrect will automatically make changes to your text as you type.

G

ဂ

<u></u>

00

ယ

## 

### USING MICROSOFT WORD FEATURES (Continued)

- Scroll through the list of common typographical errors, select any you do not want, and click Delete.
- Type your common personal typos and their corrections in the Replace and With text boxes, and click Add.

### **USE AUTOFORMAT**

In the AutoCorrect dialog box, click the other tabs to see additional popular options, such as:

- AutoFormat automatically applies formatting, such as typographical quotation marks, superscripted ordinals (1<sup>st</sup>), fraction characters (½), and em-dashes (—).
- Math AutoCorrect replaces written math symbols with the actual symbol. For example, it replaces "\pi" with "Π," "/int" with "Ĵ," or "/div" with "÷."
- AutoFormat As You Type defines styles based on formatting you set, automatically creates bulleted and numbered lists, and turns e-mail addresses and URLs into hyperlinks when you press SPACEBAR.
- Actions tell Outlook (really Word) to flag certain data types in an e-mail so that you can do something. For example, if you type an e-mail address, you can add it to your Address Book. If you type a date, you can schedule a meeting. You determine the action, and a Smart Tag is assigned to the data type. You click the Smart Tag and choose an action from a menu.

Continued . .

## **Create Electronic Business Cards**

Electronic business cards encapsulate personal information in a way that can be easily transferred to others, either as an attachment to an e-mail message or as an e-mail signature. Electronic business cards look like their paper equivalent, and you can customize them with photos and logos, as well as text. When you receive someone else's electronic business card, you can save it to a Contacts folder and forward it to others. When you create a new entry in your Contacts folder, you are creating an electronic business card.

### **CREATE YOUR OWN ELECTRONIC BUSINESS CARD**

Start the construction of an electronic business card by choosing a layout and background; follow this by adding a picture, logo, or other graphic element; and finish by adding text fields.

 Click Contacts in the Outlook view bar. In Contacts, in the Home tab New group, click New Contact.



- In the Contact tab Options group, click Business Card. The Edit Business Card dialog box will appear.
- **3.** To change the layout, click the **Layout** down arrow, and select a different position, text only, or a background image.
- **4.** To insert an image, click **Change**, locate the folder with the image you want to use, and double-click the image. Adjust the image area and alignment as you see fit.
- **5.** Under Fields, select the first field you want on the card. If this is not the first field in the list, click the up arrow to move it to the top.
- **6.** With the first field selected, type what you want in the Edit text box on the right, and apply any of the formatting attributes above the text box.
- 7. Repeat steps 5 and 6 for the remaining fields you want on the card. If there is a field in the list that you don't want, click it and click **Remove**. If you want to use a field that is not on the list, click **Add** and click the field name.
- 8. See Figure 10-14 for an example of a finished card. When you are ready, click **OK** to save the electronic business card, and click **Save & Close** to close the Contact window.

N

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

4

S

0

00

0

## UICKSTEPS

### **USING MICROSOFT WORD** FEATURES (Continued)

Click OK to close the AutoCorrect In Email dialog box, and then click **OK** twice to close the Editor Options and Outlook Options dialog boxes.

Table

7x6 Tabl

Ins Ins

1 Dra

+

🔲 Qu

### MAKE A TABLE

Use Word's Table menu to organize information into a grid that will display properly, even for recipients who don't use Word.

1. Create a new message by clicking New E-Mail in the Home tab New group. In the Outlook Message window, click in the Message pane. In the Insert tab Tables group, click Table, and in the menu that opens, drag the pointer across the squares to give you the table size you want, and then click.

#### -Or-

In the same Table menu, click Insert Table, type or use the spinner to enter the numbers of columns and rows to start with, and click OK.

2. Add or delete columns and rows, and format the table using the Table Tools Design and Layout tabs that appear on the ribbon, as shown in Figure 10-15.

## NOTE

Placing characters in parentheses (1/4) as you type shields them from AutoFormat, so add the parentheses after you type the characters, and press SPACEBAR after the closing parentheses to indicate that you want the (1/4) changed to  $(\frac{1}{4})$ .

	Edit Business Card	×	
e Picture Clip Shapes	Matthews Technology Carole Matthews Owner (555) 555-1234 Work cbm@someplace.com	Card Design Layout: Image Left  Background:  Change Image Area: 32% Image Align: Top Left	N.
Table			
	Eields Blank Line Company Full Name Job Title Blank Line	Edit       A* A* B I U E E E A       Matthews Technology       Label:     No Label	4
Insert Table	Business Phone E-mail Blank Line Blank Line Blank Line Blank Line		
Draw Table Convert Text to Table Excel Spreadsheet	Blank Line Blank Line Blank Line Blank Line Blank Line		C
Quick Tables	Add Remove 👔 🕹		
		Reget Card OK Cancel	σ

Figure 10-14: Outlook provides a comprehensive tool for creating and editing electronic business cards.

### SEND AN ELECTRONIC BUSINESS CARD

You can send an electronic business card with an e-mail message.

- 1. In Outlook Mail view, on the Home tab New group, click **New E-mail** to open a new message form. Type an address, subject, and message as normal.
- 2. In the Message tab Include group, click Attach Item, click Business Card, and click the name you want (the list shows the last 10 business cards you inserted). If you don't see the name you want, click Other Business Cards, click the name you want, and click OK.



3. The card will be added as a .vcf attachment to the e-mail message, as shown in Figure 10-16. When you are ready, click Send.

ດ

00

0

Pile S	) (J 🔺 Messag			al - Message (HT nat Text Reviev		De	Table Tools esign Layout		
k∂ Select View G Proper Tabl	▼ Fridlines	Delete In + Ab	Insert Below Insert Left Insert Right & Columns	Merge Cells	<b>↓</b> ]] 0.19"	: ## : ##	Text Cell	Data	
Send	From To Cc Bcc	 	d Johnson (djohnson@y	ahoo.com)					
-	Subject:	Propos	ed Deal						
•	nvestm	ient	Ownership	Poss	ible Return				
	\$20,00	0	5%	0-	5% of net				
	\$15,00	0	7.5%	0-	7.5% of net				
2	David Johr	ison	<u></u>						2



### INCLUDE AN ELECTRONIC BUSINESS CARD IN YOUR SIGNATURE



Business Card

You can also add your electronic business card to your e-mail signature and automatically include it in all the e-mail you send. An example is shown in Figure 10-16.

- In Outlook Mail view, in the Home tab New group, click New E-mail to open a new message form. In the Message tab Include group, click Signature and then click Signatures.
- 2. In the E-mail Signature tab, click New. Type a name for the signature, and click OK.
- **3.** Under Edit Signature, click in the text box and add the text, graphics, and possible link you may want in the signature area, and then format it as needed.
- Position the insertion point where you want the electronic business card positioned, click Business Card in the toolbar, click the name of the person on the business card, and click OK.

N

က

4

S

6

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{c}$ 

σ



Figure 10-16: Including an electronic business card in an e-mail is a fast way to give the recipient all your contact information.

- 5. Click the E-mail Account down arrow, and select the e-mail account you want the signature to apply to and whether to apply it to either or both new and reply e-mails. Make any other adjustments to the signature, and click OK. Close the original message used to edit the signature.
- 6. In Outlook Mail view, again click New E-mail to open another message. If you chose to automatically add your signature to all new messages, you'll see your signature with the business card. Also, your business card .vcf file will be attached.

00

ယ

<b>7.</b> If you chose to not have your signature automatically added to your messages, you can add a signature. In the Message tab Include group, click <b>Signature</b> and click the name of your signature. Again, your signature with the business card and the attached .vcf file appears in the message.
RECEIVE AND STORE AN ELECTRONIC BUSINESS CARD
When an e-mail message is received with an electronic business card attached, the recipient will see an image of the card, provided he or she is using Outlook 2010 or is using HTML to view the message in older versions of Outlook. The recipient will also receive an attachment with the card. To store the electronic business card in Contacts:
<ol> <li>In Outlook Mail view, double-click the message in the Inbox to open the message window.</li> </ol>
2. Double-click the attached .vcf file. A new Contact window will open with all the

information on the electronic business card placed in the proper fields.3. Make any needed changes or additions to the Contact form, and click Save & Close.

Close the message that contained the electronic business card.

-

 $\mathbf{N}$ 

က

4

S

Q

 $\sim$ 

 $\mathbf{\infty}$ 

ດ

## Number

3D feature, using with maps for contacts, 97

## **Symbols**

() (parentheses), using to prevent AutoFormat, 231; (semicolons), using with fields, 195

## Α

accounts adding, 28-29 removing, 34 add-ins, managing, 184-186 Address Book, using with messages, 54 addresses completing automatically, 54 typing for messages, 53 alerts, establishing rules for, 45 ALT key. See keyboard shortcuts antivirus software. See also viruses availability of, 185 option in Trust Center, 181 appointments defined, 105, 121 entering in Calendar, 122 entering in window, 123-124 moving, 123, 126–127 recurring, 124-126 attachments. See also files adding notes as, 169 including contacts as, 84-85 opening, 48 previewing, 49 saving, 48 selecting, 49 AutoComplete feature, turning off for addresses, 54

AutoCorrect feature, using in Word, 229–230 AutoFormat feature preventing in Word, 231 using in Word, 230 Auto-Send feature, turning off, 72

### B

Bcc (blind carbon copy) adding to messages, 55-56 removing from messages, 55 using with contact groups, 83 borders, inserting in messages, 59 bulleted lists, using in messages, 59 business cards (electronic) creating, 230-231 creating contacts from, 81 including contacts as, 85 including in signature, 232-234 receiving, 234 sending, 231 storing, 234 Button bar described, 7 location of, 8, 11 buttons, changing on button bar, 12

### С

Calendar accessing time scale, 108 adding time zones to, 116 Advanced View Settings dialog box, 108 appointments, 105, 121–122 Arrangement group, 108 changing font face and size, 107–108 changing time scales in, 106–107 copying activities in, 127 creating tasks in, 143



calendars. See also Internet calendars displaying side-by-side, 117-118 maintaining, 117 overlaying, 118 printing, 127-129 publishing to Microsoft Office Online, 120-121 sending in e-mail, 119-120 sharing, 119-120 viewing, 117-119 categories assigning to e-mail, 44 assigning to Journal entries, 159-160 assigning to notes, 165-167 creating, 44 deleting, 44 renaming, 44 reversing sort order of, 45 Cc (carbon copy), adding to messages, 55 .cer file, requirement of, 182 chatting via IM (instant messaging), 215-216 Clipboard clearing items from, 229 using, 226-228 Close button described, 7 location of, 8 Collapse/Expand buttons described.7 location of, 8 color categories creating, 86 deleting, 87 removing from tasks, 142 renaming, 87 using with e-mail, 44 combo box, creating for form, 195

command tabs, using, 10 completed tasks. See also tasks preventing display of, 147-148 showing in To-Do bar, 148 compose layout, using with forms, 196-197 contact addresses, seeing maps for, 97-99 contact groups categorizing, 86 creating, 81-83 keyboard shortcut for, 99 removing names from, 83 sending, 85 sending e-mail to, 83 using, 55 using Bccs with, 83 contact information, printing, 93-96 contact views arranging list views, 90-91 choosing columns for sorting, 90 creating, 88-89 displaying context menus for columns, 91 managing, 87-88 modifying, 90 moving columns in, 91 resetting, 90 saving, 89 sorting contacts in, 90 contacts adding, 78-80 adding files to, 82 adding from same company, 80 adding items to, 82 adding pictures to, 81 adding to e-mail, 84-85 adding to mail merge folder, 200-201 attaching to Journal entries, 158-159 categorizing, 86 changing views of, 87

copying from e-mail, 81 creating by dragging, 81 creating from electronic business cards, 81 deleting, 99 displaying in Phone List view, 87 entering information for, 79 finding, 91–93 including as attachments, 84-85 including as electronic business cards, 85 keyboard shortcuts for, 99 linking tasks to, 149 personalizing messages for, 99-102 phoning, 96-97 preparing for Mail Merge feature, 201-202 selecting, 85 speed dialing, 97 using alphabetic index with, 92 using Find tool with, 93 using Journal Entry feature with, 97 using scroll bar with, 92 using Search tool with, 92 Contacts window components of, 76 creating e-mail messages from, 79 fields in, 77 ribbon, 77-78 Control menu described, 6 location of, 8 Control toolbox, using with forms, 194-195 conversations, grouping, 43 copying and pasting to Clipboard, 228 CTRL key. See keyboard shortcuts Custom flag, using, 150

### D

dates, entering in Calendar, 122 Deleted Items folder, emptying, 30, 47

### deleting

categories, 44 color categories, 87 contacts, 99 files, 176 folders, 174 Iournal entries, 158 lines from messages, 56 messages, 47 notes, 165 paragraphs from messages, 56 recurring activities, 126 RSS articles, 222, 225-226 RSS folder, 225-226 tasks, 148 words from messages, 56 Design mode, opening forms in, 189 Design tabs, using with forms, 194 Developer tab Arrange group, 192–193 Design group, 192 displaying for forms, 188 Form group, 191 Tools group, 192 using with forms, 191-193 **Dialog Box Launcher** described, 7 location of, 8 dictionary adding words to, 67 editing, 68 digital certificate, acquiring, 66 digital ID, importing and exporting, 66 digital signatures adding to e-mail, 182-183 adding to messages, 66 getting, 182 domain, defined, 39 driving directions, getting for contacts, 98-99

## E

electronic business cards creating, 230-231 creating contacts from, 81 including contacts as, 85 including in signature, 232-234 receiving, 234 sending, 231 storing, 234 e-mail. See also IM (instant messaging); junk mail; messages accessing, 33 adding contacts to, 84-85 adding digital signatures to, 182-183 assigning categories to, 44 checking for, 34-35 copying contacts from, 81 encrypting, 181–182 including hyperlinks in, 61 mail merging, 99–102 message window, 37 reading, 36 receiving automatically, 36 receiving headers manually, 37 sending to contact groups, 83 sorting, 45-46 using RSS links in, 219-220 e-mail accounts adding, 28-29 removing, 34 e-mail attachments. See also files adding notes as, 169 including contacts as, 84-85 opening, 48 previewing, 49 saving, 48 selecting, 49 e-mail data files, locating, 34

e-mail files, importing into Outlook, 4-5 e-mail messages. See also messages in folders adding Bccs to, 55-56 adding Ccs to, 55-56 adding digital signatures to, 66, 183 adding tasks from, 143 archiving, 48 changing search options for, 24-25 changing time for being read, 41-42 checking spelling in, 67-68 completing addresses automatically, 54 creating, 52 creating from Contacts window, 79 delaying delivery of, 72-73 deleting, 47 dragging files to, 61 editing, 56-58 embedding pictures into, 63-64 encrypting, 183 forwarding, 70 inserting files in, 62 inserting signatures in, 65-66 marking as read or unread, 41 obtaining receipts for, 71-72 performing instant searches, 22-23 personalizing for contacts, 99–102 printing, 48-49 refining searches of, 23-24 replying to, 68-69 scrolling through, 42 selecting from Address Book, 54 sending, 72 timing sending of, 72-73 turning off Auto-Send, 72 typing addresses for, 53 unblocking, 39 using Flag options with, 42-43 using Today red flag with, 42 window for, 53

e-mail programs, upgrading from, 4 Empty Folder option, using, 30 encrypting e-mail, 181–183 envelopes, printing, 208–209 events defined, 105, 121 entering in Calendar, 122–123 entering in windows, 124 exporting files, 179

### =

fields aligning for forms, 193-194 creating in field list, 195 positioning for forms, 193-194 selecting for forms, 194 setting properties for, 195 file extensions, displaying, 26 File tab described, 6 features of, 9-10 location of, 8 File view, displaying, 15 files. See also attachments adding to contacts, 82 copying, 177 deleting, 176 dragging to messages, 61 exporting, 179 grouping, 176-177 importing, 178-179 inserting in messages, 62 moving, 177 sorting, 177-178 ungrouping items in, 177 viewing, 176 filter lists, using for junk mail, 39-40 Filter option, using with mail merge, 202 Flag options, using with messages, 42-43 flags adding to tasks, 151 features of, 150 Ouick Click, 151 Folder list described, 7 location of, 8, 11 Folder pane described, 7 location of, 8 folders copying, 173 creating for Mail Merge feature, 201 creating for RSS articles, 223 creating normal type of, 79, 172 creating search type of, 172-173 deleting, 174 moving, 173-174 moving RSS articles to, 223 opening, 11 renaming, 174 searching, 23 selecting all items in, 47 setting properties for, 174-175 Follow-up Flags, default settings for, 150 fonts choosing for messages, 58 coloring, 59 selecting for notes, 165 forms adding labels to, 195 aligning fields for, 193-194 capabilities of, 199 changing tab order for, 196 compose and read layouts for, 196-197 creating combo boxes for, 195 customizing, 190-194, 199-200 displaying Developer tab for, 188

modifying, 189–190 opening in Design mode, 189 positioning fields for, 193–194 publishing, 198–199 selecting fields for, 194 tailoring for audiences, 196–197 using Control toolbox with, 194–195 using Design tabs with, 194 using Developer tab with, 191–193 Forward option, using with messages, 70

## G

Gmail account getting, 33 setting up, 32 Go To Date dialog box, keyboard shortcut for, 122 Google e-mail account. *See* Gmail account

## Η

headers marking for copying, 38 marking for deletion, 38 marking for downloading, 38 processing, 38 receiving automatically, 38 receiving manually, 37 Help icon described, 7 location of, 8 Help options, accessing, 21 Help window asking questions in, 21 displaying, 20-21 holidays, entering in Calendar, 122 Home & Business version, availability of, 6 Home & Student version, availability of, 6 HTML format, using in messages, 56

HTTP (HyperText Transfer Protocol), 33 hyperlinks, including in e-mail, 61

IM (instant messaging). See also e-mail; messages; Windows Live Messenger activating in Outlook, 213-214 changing appearance of name in, 216 chatting, 215-216 creating contacts for, 214-215 explained, 212 finding Windows Live Messenger, 212-213 initiating real-time conversations, 215 responding to, 215-216 responding to Outlook invitations, 214-215 seeing who is online, 214-215 stating availability, 216 Import Summary report, saving, 4 imported messages, locating, 5 Inbox, opening, 35 Inbox arrangements, availability of, 43 Indexing Status, using in searches, 23 Insert File dialog box, displaying, 62 Instant Search feature, using, 22-23 Internet calendars, types of, 121. See also calendars Internet e-mail. See e-mail Internet Explorer, viewing RSS feeds in, 218 invitations receiving via e-mail, 214-215 responding to, 131 ISP (Internet service provider), finding, 34

#### Journal

features of, 155–156 setting up, 156 using Timer feature with, 157

### journal entries

adding, 156–157 assigning categories to, 159–160 attaching contacts to, 158–159 changing, 157 deleting, 158 moving in timeline, 158 printing, 160–162 viewing, 159 Journal icon, locating, 154 junk mail. *See also* e-mail adding addresses to filter lists, 39–40 choosing protection level for, 39–40 filtering, 39 unblocking picture downloads, 41 updating lists quickly, 40

### K

keyboard shortcuts assigning to categories, 45 Calendar, 105 contact groups, 83 contacts, 79, 99 copying and pasting files, 177 copying to Clipboard, 228 cutting operations for Clipboard, 228 deleting files, 176 exiting Outlook, 5 Help window, 21 Journal, 154 minimizing ribbon, 10 pasting operations for Clipboard, 228 resizing ribbon, 52 scheduling meetings, 129 selecting all items in folders, 47 sending and receiving e-mail, 34 tasks, 140 Tasks window, 134

## labels

adding to forms, 195 printing, 206–208 letters, printing, 102 lines deleting from messages, 56 inserting in messages, 56 replacing in messages, 56 lists, using in messages, 59

## Μ

Macro Security option, setting, 181 mail. See e-mail Mail Merge feature creating folder for, 201 preparing contacts for, 201 preparing documents in Word, 202-204 using filtering capability with, 202 mail merge folder, adding contacts to, 200-201 mail merge, performing, 204-205 Mail view, operations in, 34-35 mail-merged e-mail, creating, 99-102 MAP (Messaging Application Programming Interface), 33 Map It utility, using with contacts, 97-99 Maximize button described, 7 location of, 8 meetings defined, 105, 121 scheduling, 129-131 menus, using, 10 merging form letters. See mail merge message format, selecting, 57-58

message formatting aligning paragraphs, 59 Bold effect, 58 borders, 59 bulleted lists, 59 coloring fonts, 59 fonts, 58 Italic effect, 58 lines, 59 multilevel lists, 59 numbered lists, 59 shifting paragraphs, 59 sizes, 58 Strikethrough effect, 58 Underline effect, 58 message priority, setting, 71 message request, receiving, 131 Message window, maximizing, 60 messages. See also e-mail; IM (instant messaging) adding Bccs to, 55-56 adding Ccs to, 55-56 adding digital signatures to, 66, 183 adding tasks from, 143 archiving, 48 changing search options for, 24-25 changing time for being read, 41-42 checking spelling in, 67-68 completing addresses automatically, 54 creating, 52 creating from Contacts window, 79 delaying delivery of, 72-73 deleting, 47 dragging files to, 61 editing, 56-58 embedding pictures into, 63-64 encrypting, 183 forwarding, 70

inserting files in, 62 inserting signatures in, 65-66 marking as read or unread, 41 obtaining receipts for, 71-72 performing instant searches, 22-23 personalizing for contacts, 99–102 printing, 48-49 refining searches of, 23-24 replying to, 68-69 scrolling through, 42 selecting from Address Book, 54 sending, 72 timing sending of, 72-73 turning off Auto-Send, 72 typing addresses for, 53 unblocking, 39 using Flag options with, 42-43 using Today red flag with, 42 window for, 53 messages in folders adding colored categories to, 44 arranging, 43 contract symbols for, 44 editing categories, 44-45 expand symbols for, 44 Minimize button described, 7 location of, 8 Minimize Navigation pane described. 7 location of, 8 Minimize ribbon described, 7 location of, 8 Minimize To-Do bar described, 7 location of, 8 Mobile version, accessing, 6

## Ν

Navigation pane Button bar in, 11 described, 7 Folder list in, 11 location of, 8 minimizing, 12 Outlook views in, 11 reordering buttons in, 12 Next Week flag, using, 150 No Date flag, using, 150 Note icon, resizing, 164 notes adding as e-mail attachments, 169 adding in Notes view, 163-164 categorizing, 165-167 color-coding, 167-168 composing, 165 creating in views, 163 customizing current view, 168-169 deleting, 165 dragging in Outlook, 166-167 forwarding, 167-168 organizing, 167 printing, 170 selecting fonts for, 165 setting up, 165 using Reading pane with, 169-170 viewing, 168-170 viewing by category, 167 viewing by color, 167 Notes folder, finding, 162-163 numbered lists, using in messages, 59

## 0

Office 2010, versions of, 6–7 Office Clipboard clearing items from, 229 using, 226–228 .opml files, sending RSS feeds as, 224 Outlook academic edition, 7 enterprise editions, 7 exiting, 5 getting summary of info in, 13-14 pinning to taskbar, 4 starting, 2-4 updating, 30 upgrading to, 4-5 window features, 6-8 Outlook Todav changing, 14 making default page, 14 opening, 13 Outlook views changing, 10, 137 changing display of, 12 creating notes in, 163 displaying, 11 selecting, 11

### Ρ

paragraphs aligning in messages, 59 deleting from messages, 56 moving in messages, 56 shifting in messages, 56 shifting in messages, 59 parentheses (), using to prevent AutoFormat, 231 People pane described, 7 location of, 8 Phone List view, displaying contacts in, 87 pictures adding to contacts, 81 embedding into messages, 63–64 plain text format using in messages, 56 using with contacts, 84 podcast, defined, 217 POP3 (Post Office Protocol 3), 33 preferences adding e-mail accounts, 28-29 setting advanced options, 26-28 setting General options, 25-26 Print Setup dialog box, options in, 129 printing calendars, 127-129 contact information, 93-96 envelopes, 208-209 labels, 206-208 letters, 102 messages, 48-49 notes, 170 privacy options, setting, 180-181 Professional version, availability of, 7

### $\mathbf{O}$

Quick Access toolbar adding commands to, 19 customizing, 19 described, 6 features of, 10 location of, 8 moving, 20 rearranging tools on, 20 Quick Click flag, setting, 151 Quick Launch toolbar, starting Outlook from, 3

R

read layout, using with forms, 196–197 Reading pane described, 6 location of, 8

opening, 27 placing beneath Folder pane, 34 using with notes, 169-170 Really Simple Syndication (RSS), overview of, 216-217 receipts, obtaining for messages, 71-72 recipients, replying to, 69 red X, appearance of, 64 reference tools, availability of, 24 reminders, using, 127 reply layout, changing, 69 Reply options using with messages, 68-69 Research Options button, explained, 181 ribbon adding commands and tools to, 18 automatic adjustment of, 9 in Contacts window, 77-78 creating tabs and groups on, 17 creating tasks from, 139-140 customizing, 16, 18 described, 6 features of, 9-10 location of, 8 minimizing, 10, 52 rearranging tabs and groups on, 16-17 removing commands and tools from, 18 resetting, 17 ribbon, 8 tabs in, 15-16 tabs on, 6 ribbon groups described, 6 location of, 8 Rich Text Format (RTF), using in messages, 56 RSS (Really Simple Syndication), overview of, 216-217 RSS articles creating folders for, 223 deleting, 225-226

RSS articles (cont.) deselecting, 222 flagging and forwarding, 222 moving to folders, 223 organizing, 223 selecting and viewing, 220 RSS feeds adding to Outlook, 218 canceling, 225-226 checking settings for, 220 considering size of, 220 downloading, 220 exporting as .opml files, 224-225 finding, 217 importing as .opml files, 224 sending, 223-225 sharing, 217 subscribing to, 218 viewing in Internet Explorer, 218 RSS folder, deleting, 225-226 RSS link, using in e-mail, 219–220 RSS window, opening, 220-222 RTF (Rich Text Format), using in messages, 56 rules basing on messages, 47 canceling, 47 changing, 46 for delaying delivery of messages, 72-73 learning, 46 making, 46-47 rearranging, 47 Rules Wizard, opening, 45

## S

Safe Senders feature, using, 39 saving attachments, 48 contact views, 89

Import Summary report, 4 sent messages, 73 scheduled tasks, viewing, 137 Scheduling dialog box, displaying, 131 Scroll arrow described.7 location of, 8 Scroll bar described, 7 location of, 8 Scroll button described, 7 location of, 8 search folder, creating, 172-173 search text box, accessing, 22-23 Search Tools Search feature, using, 23-24 security, options for, 180. See also Trust Center semicolons (;), using with fields, 195 sent messages, saving, 73 Separate Read Layout option, using with forms, 196 shortcut, creating to start Outlook, 3 signatures assigning to accounts, 65 creating, 64-65 including electronic business cards in, 232-234 inserting in messages, 65-66 Smart Tag, appearance of, 214 sort bar, using with categories, 45 sorting e-mail, 45-46 files, 177-178 speed dialing, using with contacts, 97 spelling, checking in messages, 67-68 Start menu, using, 2 Starter version, availability of, 6 Startup Wizard, using, 3-4 stationery applying to messages, 59 defined, 51 stopping use of, 60–61

stationery theme, setting default for, 58–59 Status bar, location of, 8 status reports, creating for tasks, 149–150 Support window, opening, 21

## Г

tab order, changing for forms, 196 tables, making in Word, 231 tabs, using, 10 task assignments accepting, 146 declining, 146 task lists, showing completed items in, 148 task settings, customizing, 139-140 task views changing, 137 creating, 137-139 taskbar pinning Outlook to, 4 starting Outlook from, 3 tasks. See also completed tasks adding flags to, 151 adding from e-mail messages, 143 assigning, 144-145 categorizing, 142-144 changing, 143–144 changing color categories of, 142 changing percentage of completion, 147 changing statuses of, 147 creating from ribbon, 139-140 creating in Calendar, 143 creating in To-Do bar, 142 creating status reports for, 149-150 defined, 105, 121 deleting, 148 ending recurring, 142 linking to contacts, 149 making private, 146

marking as complete, 146-147 recurring, 141 removing color categories of, 142 renaming, 148-149 showing in To-Do bar, 152 skipping recurring, 141 tracking, 145 viewing, 134, 136-137, 145 viewing in to-do list format, 136 Tasks window accessing, 134 components of, 135 opening, 143 templates creating, 198 using, 199 themes searching online, 61 using, 60 This Week flag, using, 150 Timeline view, using, 137 Timer feature, using with Journal, 157 times, entering in Calendar, 122 Title bar described, 6 location of, 8 To button, using, 55 Today flag, using, 150

Today red flag, inserting beside messages, 42 To-Do bar creating tasks in, 142 customizing, 12 described, 7 location of, 8 minimizing, 13 resizing, 152 setting to show tasks, 152 showing completed tasks in, 148 toggling display of, 152 Tomorrow flag, using, 150 Trust Center, opening, 180–181. *See also* security

## U

updates, checking for, 30

### V

View buttons described, 7 location of, 8, 11 views changing, 10, 137 changing display of, 12 creating notes in, 163 displaying, 11 selecting, 11 viruses, protecting against, 184. *See also* antivirus software voting options, inserting, 64

### W

Web Apps version, accessing, 6 Windows Live Messenger. See also IM (instant messaging) changing ID in, 213 displaying menus in, 216 finding for IM, 212-213 Word AutoCorrect feature, 229-230 AutoFormat feature, 230-231 Mail Merge pages in, 207 making tables in, 231 preparing mail merge documents in, 202-204 words adding to dictionary, 67 deleting from messages, 56 moving in messages, 56 replacing in messages, 56 work week, defining in Calendar, 114-116

Zoom buttons described, 7 location of, 8

